
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 
 

 

 

 

 
Date: 22 March 2021 

 

MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

Remote meeting via Zoom 
 

Wednesday 31 March 2021 at 9.30am 
and 

Thursday 1 April 2021 at 9.30 am 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

Temporary measures during the Coronavirus Pandemic: 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in the public forum are advised that 
all Plans meetings taking place during the Covid-19 Pandemic will be filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the YouTube channel - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 
To: 

 
Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, D McGeough, P Watson 
and R Wiseman 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the Meeting 

 

AGENDA 
 

Wednesday 31 March 2021 at 9.30am 

  

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 
 

https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube


 

 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 12) 
 

 To receive the Minutes from the meeting held on 4 March 2021. 
 

3.   Declaration of Interest  
 

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 
 
Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 
considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 
consider the application afresh. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  
 

5.   Urgent Matters  
 

 Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair. 
 

6.   Public Participation  
 

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 
 

7.   Planning Applications  

 The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 
meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting. 
 
 

(a)   Application No. 1/1126/2020/FULM (Pages 13 - 127) 
 

 
 

Demolition of existing site buildings and mixed use redevelopment providing 
residential units, commercial units (Class E) with public open space, car parking, 
floating pontoon and associated landscaping works - Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple 
Street, Bideford 
 



 

 

  
 

AGENDA  
 

THURSDAY 1
ST

 APRIL 2021 AT 9.30am 
 
 
 

(b)   Application No. 1/0073/2021/OUT (Pages 128 - 150) 
 

 Outline application for 5no. dwellings with all matters reserved except access - Land 
Adjacent Honnacotts, Bradworthy, Devon. 
 

(c)   Application No. 1/0490/2020/FULM (Pages 151 - 234) 
 

 Residential development of 138 dwellings consisting of 120 houses, 14 bungalows 
and 4 flats along with an allotment site, public open space and associated 
infrastructure. - Land Between Tadworthy Road And Golf Links Road, Westward Ho!, 
Northam. 
 

(d)   Application No. 1/1179/2020/ADV (Pages 235 - 240) 
 

 Installation of 2no. pole mounted free-standing signs - Gammaton Road, Huntshaw, 
Devon 
 

(e)   Application No. 1/1134/2020/FUL (Pages 241 - 251) 
 

 Alterations & extensions to existing dwelling - Appletree Cottage, Chope Road, 
Northam. 
 

(f)   Application No. 1/0033/2021/FUL (Pages 252 - 260) 
 

 First floor side extension - Hillside, Broadwoodwidger, Lifton 
 

(g)   Application No. 1/0104/2021/LA (Pages 261 - 266) 
 

 Part retrospective application for two existing storage containers and the installation 
of two further storage containers. - Unit 24, Farm Road, Caddsdown Industrial Park 
 

(h)   Application No. 1/0057/2021/LBC (Pages 267 - 270) 

 Replacement of existing window with wooden window at front of the property - Flat 2, 
4 Bridge Street, Bideford. 
 
 



 

 

8.   Appeal Decisions Summary (Pages 271 - 277) 

 Appeal Decision Summary and Reports of Planning Inspectorate 
 
Summary 
 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/0320/2020/AGMB 
 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/0371/2020/AGMB 
 

9.   Costs on Appeals  

 There are no Costs on Appeals 
 

10.   Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications (Page 278) 

11.   Planning Decisions (Pages 279 - 286) 

 List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 
enclosed 19 February 2021 to 18 March 2021. 
 

12.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move:- 
 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

13.   Part II - Closed Session  

 There are no Part II items. 
 

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents: 
 

- The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case) 
- North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted October 2018) 
- Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements 
- Any other documents specifically referred to in the report. 

 
All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours. 

 

NOTE TO MEMBERS 
 
All letters of representations are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 
website and public access.  If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly. 
 
Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received. 

 



 

 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 
 

 
For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 
Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 

 

 
 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


1 
 

 
 

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Virtual meeting via Zoom 
 

Thursday, 4 March 2021 - 9.30 am 
 

PRESENT Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
 Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillors R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, 

D McGeough, P Watson and  R Wiseman  
 
 

ALSO PRESENT S Dorey - Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring 
Officer) 

 D Hunter - Legal Services Manager 
 S Harrington - Planning Manager 
 H Smith - Development Management Team Leader 
 T Blackmore - Principal Planning Officer 
 P Stapley - Graduate Planning Officer 

 
                       Councillor P Pennington (for application 1/0871/2020/REMM) 

   
106.    MINUTES  

 
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor Watson and – 
 
Resolved: 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2021 and the Special meeting held 
on 4 February 2021 be agreed and signed as a correct record. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   
 

(Vote: For - Unanimous) 
 
 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

107.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair reminded Members to declare their interests when the relevant item was 
up for discussion.  Declarations of interest were made as indicated below and in 
accordance with the previously agreed arrangements for “dual-hatted” Members. 
 

108.    AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II  
 
There were no Part II items. 
 

109.    URGENT MATTERS  
 
With the permission of the Chair, Councillor Christie asked when the posting of site 
notices on application sites would be reinstated.   The Planning Manager explained 
that the Planning Department are currently working on lockdown protocol.  The 
previous protocol will resume at the end of lockdown (March 27th), in line with the 
Government roadmap. 
 
The Planning Manager confirmed that the area for neighbour notification letters had 
been extended. 
 

110.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
The Chair advised the Committee and members of the public of the details in 
respect of the Council‟s public participation scheme.  
 

111.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
(a)   Application No. 1/1100/2020/FUL 

 
 Application No. 1/1100/2020/FUL - Two storey rear extension, 

extension to existing porch and garage. - Kenmar, 5 Cottingham 
Crescent, Bideford. 
 
Interests:   Councillor Christie declared a personal interest – dual 
hatted – Bideford Town Council 
 
Officer recommendation:       Grant 
 
 
The planning application had been referred to Plans Committee as 
the applicant is related to a member of staff within the Planning Team 
at Torridge District Council. 
 
The Graduate Planning Officer presented the report and informed the 
Committee of the main planning considerations. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Watson 
that the application be approved. 
 

Page 7



3 
 

 
 

 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote:   For – Unanimous) 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be Granted subject to the conditions as set out in 
the report. 
 
 

(b)   Application No. 1/1143/2020/LA 
 

 Application No. 1/1143/2020/LA  -  Improvements to the existing 
access road adjacent to Sandymere "lake". - The Burrows, 
Sandymere Road, Northam. 
 
Interests:    None 
 
Officer recommendation:       Grant 
 
 
The planning application had been referred to Plans Committee due 
to the land being in the ownership of Torridge District Council. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report and informed the 
Committee of the main planning considerations. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor Lock 
that the application be approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Page 8



4 
 

 
 

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
(Vote:   For – Unanimous) 
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be Granted subject to the conditions as set out in 
the report. 
 
 

(c)   Application No. 1/0871/2020/REMM 
 

 Application No.1/0871/2020/REMM  -  Reserved matters application 
for appearance, landscaping, layout & scale pursuant to planning 
approval 1/1343/2018/OUTM for the erection of 88 residential 
dwellings, associated infrastructure and open space. - Land At 
Wooda Road, Pitt Lane, Appledore 
 
Interests:   None 
 
Officer recommendation:     Grant 
 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
Cllr Hames as Ward Member for the following reason: 
 
„1.  Adverse traffic impact on cyclists and pedestrians using Pitt 
Lane, particularly children attending Appledore 5chool and given that 
a further adjacent development will also impact the narrow lane.    
Local Plan Policy references DM05, DM01 and ST10 as there are no 
plans shown to mitigate the traffic impact. 
 
2 .lnadequate landscaping and green infrastructure on site given 
NOR07 requirement that the development 'minimises any loss of 
landscape character of the surrounding area'. 
 
3. lnadequate play area to serve the development and situated 
so it will be difficult for residents at north of site to access e.g. 
crossing Pitt Lane. 
 
4. Possible impact on biodiversity of the site from recent removal 
of boundary trees and other vegetation. This means the wildlife 
assessment submitted by the applicant could no longer be valid. (Ref 
LP Policy ST14) 

Page 9



5 
 

 
 

 
5. lnsufficient energy conservation and alternative energy 
measures shown in the application contrary to Local Plan policy 
ST05.‟ 
 
 
Prior to the presentation Members were advised of the following 
updates: 
 
Revised Plans and Consultation – Changes related to the removal of 
one dwelling from 89 previously to 88.  Concerns for Plot 59 had 
been raised by the Devon County Flood Risk team – that part of the 
site is now open space. There were other minor changes relating to 
pedestrian access to address comments raised by DCC Highways 
and boundary treatments to address comments by the Designing out 
Crime Officer. These changes did not necessitate a further public 
consultation.  
 
Representations –  
 
Letter of objection received due to confusion over statutory 
consultation date.  The date that had appeared on the website related 
to a notification to the Town Council that the application would be 
considered at this committee. This had now been rectified, and for 
transparency, Members had been copied into the email sent to the 
member of public who had raised the concern.  
 
25 further representations had been received – a number of the 
concerns had previously been raised.   Other concerns raised 
included: 
 

 Access being a material consideration at this stage 

 Suggestion of the site being over developed (too many 
houses on the site) 

 Surface water drainage.   As this is a technical matter 
this concern will be forwarded to the Devon County 
Flood Risk Team. 

 Impact on Pitt Lane 

 Lack of coherent open space strategy 

 Insufficient tree planting to replace those that had been 
felled on the site 

 Letter from the Chair of Battle of Northam who had 
raised three points in relation to archaeology, the level 
of green infrastructure/open space and safe pedestrian 
access for battle walks. The archaeology concerns will 
be shared with the County Archaeologist 

 Safe pedestrian access and egress onto Pitt Lane 
 
An objection letter, the objector had requested the letter is read out in 
detail to the Committee.   Having discussed this with the Head of 

Page 10



6 
 

 
 

Legal and Governance, there is a procedure for public contributions.  
The comments related to the level of open space provision, highways 
– impact on Pitt Lane, trees and wildlife. 
 
Statutory Consultees – further correspondence had been received 
from Historic England – impact on Tapeley Park and as this had been 
discussed at the Outline stage, they confirmed they do not need to be 
involved at this stage. 
 
Open Space Scheme – this had now been received as required by 
the S106 Agreement to be submitted at the Reserved Matters stage. 
 
Conditions and Plans – If Members were minded to approve the 
application, it is recommended that a condition be imposed to secure 
the Open Space Scheme and for the wording of the Condition to be 
delegated to Officers and the Chair of Plans Committee. 
 
Plans – two Plans to be changed: 

o Plan 063209 should be 063309 
o Plan 0632 201 does not need to be on the report as it 

relates to the discharge of conditions on the outline 
permission 

 
The Development Management Team Leader presented the report 
and informed the Committee of the main planning considerations. 
 
During the debate the following matters were raised: 
 
This proposal is a vast improvement on the Indicative plans 
submitted at the Outline stage.  The Committee gave their support to 
the proposal for bungalows to be erected on the site.  Members 
commented that it is an extremely good, well laid out site with a 
mixture of dwellings. 
 
The reduction in the number of dwellings is an improvement. 
 
Concerns raised regarding the proposal for a LAP and not a LEAP 
and the lack of play equipment.    Members were advised that the 
open space provision proposed for the site is very much determined 
by the Legal Agreement and that is linked to Policy DM10.   A LEAP 
is not required under this level of provision. 
 
Access onto Pitt Hill and Pitt Lane and highway safety.   It was 
confirmed by the Development Management Team Leader that 
supporting Transport Assessment/Statement had been submitted at 
the Outline Stage and had been looked at in detail by the Highways 
Authority.  The County Highways Officer addressed the concerns 
raised and confirmed that the impact on Pitt Lane was a matter for 
the outline stage.  He stated that should this and an application to the 
north of the site be approved, the Developers would be required to 

Page 11



7 
 

 
 

work jointly to ensure highway safety. 
 
Attenuation crate - 2m underground - concerns regarding the trees 
being planted on top of the crate.  The trees are to be ornamental 
trees and not large trees.   Alternative trees can be requested if 
necessary. 
 
Archaeological investigations – details had been provided at the 
Outline stage.  The Archaeology Officer had recommended a 
condition requiring a written scheme of investigations. That document 
had been received and had been given support by the County 
Archaeologist. 
 
Tree Planting in Kenwith Valley – the Officer to ascertain where in 
Kenwith Valley the trees will be planted, and to forward the 
information to Councillor Christie. 
 
Councillor Christie commented that this is an allocated site in the 
Local Plan and yet there are drainage issues on the site.  Due to the 
expense involved in rectifying these issues there will now only be 5% 
affordable housing.  Sites are being allocated without site 
investigations being carried out.   He requested that no sites be 
allocated in the Local Plan until such time as serious site 
investigations had been carried out. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Lock 
that the application be approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie  X  

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough  X  

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote:   For 7, Against 2) 
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be Granted subject to the conditions as set out in 
the report, an additional condition to secure the Open Space Scheme 
and two plan reference amendments. 

Page 12



8 
 

 
 

 
 
Mr P Steer addressed the Committee objecting to the application. 
Mr K Goodred addressed the Committee objecting to the application. 
Mr G Hutton, Applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application. 
Councillor Hames, Ward Member, addressed the Committee. 
 
 
 

112.    APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY  
 
There were no Appeal Decisions. 
 

113.    COSTS ON APPEALS  
 
There were no Costs on Appeals. 
 

114.    DELEGATED DECISIONS - AGMB APPLICATIONS  
 
The Committee noted the Delegated Decisions. 

 
115.    PLANNING DECISIONS  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Planning decisions for the period 22 January 2021 – 18 February 2021 be 
noted. 
 

 
 
The meeting commenced at 9.30am and closed at 11.40am. 
 
 
Chair:  Date:  
 
 

Page 13



 
Committee Report – 31st March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/1126/2020/FULM 

Registration date: 9 December 2020 

Expiry date:  10 March 2021 

Applicant:  Red Earth Bideford Ltd.  

Agent:  AWW 

Case Officer:  Shaun Harrington 

Site Address:  Brunswick Wharf,  
Barnstaple Street,  
Bideford, 
Devon, 
EX39 4AE,   
 

Proposal:  Demolition of existing site buildings and mixed 
use redevelopment providing residential units, 
commercial units (Class E) with public open 
space, car parking, floating pontoon and 
associated landscaping works 

Recommendation: Grant  

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7a



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The site is owned by Torridge District Council. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/1489/1980 NEW ENLARGED 
IDENTIFICATION BOARD 
TO REPLACE EXISTING 

REF 14.10.1980 

   

1/1545/1985 CHANGE OF USE FROM 
BUILDERS MERCHANTS 
STORAGE TO LIGHT 
INDUESTRIAL CLASS III 
AND STORAGE CLASS X 

PER 10.03.1986 

   

1/0323/1992 EXTENSION OF USE OF 
TEMPORARY CAR PARK 
UNTIL 31ST MAY 1992 

PER 31.03.1992 

     

1/1126/1988 CHANGE OF USE FROM 
CAR PARK TO FORM 
EXTENSION TO EXISTING 
COAL YARD 

PER 22.11.1988 

   

1/1810/1992 RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT (FLATS 
AND HOUSES) WITH CAR 
PARKING AND RIVERSIDE 
WALK 

WDN 12.08.1993 

    

1/0868/2010/FUL Change of use of ground floor 
to museum & educational 
display centre. General yard 
area for community events & 
construction of historical 
wooden sailing craft. Open 
front brick building for ship 
restoration bench work. 

NPW 04.11.2010 

   

1/0578/2014/FULM Mixed use development 
comprising of 52 residential 
units, approximately 763 sq 
metres of retail / commercial 
development, open space, 
car parking, marina (including 
managers accommodation) 
and associated development 

PER 02.07.2015 

   

1/1266/2016/ADV Retrospective Installation of 
two temporary for sale boards 

PER 09.02.2017 

       

   
   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
 
The site (which covers some 0.99ha) is located within the urban area of Bideford and occupies a key 
riverside location on the eastern banks of the River Torridge at East-The-Water. Bideford is the 
second largest settlement in northern Devon and acts as a locally significant centre providing vital 
services to Westward Ho!, Northam and Appledore and surrounding rural communities. The town 
fulfils this role by providing a range of services, retail options, education, health and community 
facilities and employment opportunities.  The site the subject of this application was historically an 
important shipbuilding and commercial wharf site containing the former Brunswick, Queen’s, Steamer 
and Clarence Wharves. Shipbuilding had occurred at the site for some 400 years until its closure in 
1886, upon which the site became commercial warehousing with substantial buildings occupying the 
site. During the 1970’s and 80s, many of these buildings were demolished as the commercial uses 
ceased resulting in a site that has been vacant for a number of years.  
 
Today the site is found to comprise a mix of redundant wharf land, a number of vacant and redundant 
buildings and a 117 space public car park. The site is bordered to the north by Wooda Surgery with 
Ethelwynne Brown Close beyond, to the east by Barnstaple Street, to the south the highway 
alongside the Long Bridge and the west by the River Torridge. The buildings currently at the site 
include vacant garages to the north, a substantial stone warehouse building backing onto Barnstaple 
Street and a red brick former office which fronts onto Barnstaple Street. The key building is Brunswick 
Wharf warehouse which is at the southern extent of the site and lies alongside the Bridge. This 
building of stone and render forms an important historic feature and forms a strong relationship with 
the bridge. Its façade onto Barnstaple Street is an attractive feature, sited alongside the current mini-
roundabout and opposite the Royal Hotel. 
 
The area is rich in heritage assets, with a number of Grade II Listed Buildings adjoining the site, these 
are Nos 17, 18, 26, 27 & 28 Barnstaple Street and the Grade I Royal Hotel. The 16th century Grade I 
Listed bridge runs to the south of the site. The site is located within the East-The-Water Conservation 
Area, and is widely visibly from the Bideford Conservation area which covers a large part of the town 
centre to the west of the River. A granite milepost in Barnstaple Street is in situ alongside the Bus 
Stop to the east of the site. 
 
The immediate wider area consists of a mix of uses including residential properties, the Wooda 
Surgery, Royal Hotel, Public Houses, takeaways and commercial premises. The site is well served by 
a variety of transport modes including pedestrian, public transport and car, with access to the Tarka 
Trail and South West Coast Path available in close proximity.  
 
The site is adjacent to and within the Taw & Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
and lies within ‘Flood Zone 3’ (high probability of flooding) according to the Environment Agency’s 
Flood Risk Map as well as within a Critical Drainage Area (CDA). The topography of the site is such 
that levels generally fall from approximately 5.7m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) on the eastern 
boundary to 5.2m AOD on the western boundary. Levels within the central area of the site just south 
of Clarence Wharf car park are slightly lower, falling from approximately 5.5m AOD to 5.0m AOD. 
 
Proposal 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of existing buildings and a mixed use 
re-development providing residential units, commercial units (Class E) with public open space, car 
parking, floating pontoon and associated landscaping works. The application has been accompanied 
by : 
 

• Site Location Plan; 

• Existing and Proposed Drawings (as detailed on the application covering letter); 

• Design and Access Statement (DAS); 

• Planning Statement; 

Page 16



• Heritage Impact Assessment; 

• Ecological impact Assessment, Wildlife Trigger Checklist and Defra Bio-diversity Metric; 

• Affordable Housing Statement; 

• Statement of Community Involvement; 

• Phase I report (contaminated land); 

• Asbestos Survey; 

• Crime and Disorder Statement (contained within DAS); 

• Financial Viability Assessment; 

• Financial Sensitivity Analysis; 

• Flood Risk Assessment; 

• Foul Drainage Assessment (contained with FRA); 

• Sewerage Assessment (contained with FRA); 

• Environmental Management Plan (including Method of Work); 

• Incident Risk Reduction Plan; 

• Environmental Emergency Response Plans; 

• Environmental Considerations and Risk Assessment (ERA); 

• Baseline Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment; 

• Massing & Plan Typology Study; 

• Landscape Plans and Strategy; 

• External Lighting Strategy; 

• Regeneration Statement; 

• Energy Strategy; 

• Surface Water Drainage Strategy (contained within FRA); 

• Transport Assessment; 

• Travel Plan; 

• Building for Life 12 Assessment (contained with DAS); 

• Waste Management Statement;  

• Archaeological Desk Based Assessment; and 

• Archaeology Written Scheme of Investigation 
 
The development will consist of 85 apartments and commercial units over four principal blocks 
(referred to as Brunswick Wharf, Steamer Wharf, Queens Wharf & Clarence Wharf), being a mix of 1, 
2, 3 and 5 bedroom properties. The mixed-use development also proposals 1 restaurant, 1 café, 5 
design studios with a potential for live / work accommodation, 8 retail units, a public square, a 
riverside walk with a floating pontoon adjacent the quay wall, private and public carparking and private 
and public cycle stands. The proposed floor areas are as follows – 
 

• Residential – 87748 sq ft; 

• Retail – 6824 sq ft; 

• Restaurant – 2002 sq ft; 

• Café – 1173 sq ft; 

• Design Studios – 1722 sq ft. 
 
The public square is proposed to the southern section of the site, with the commercial elements 
around the three edges of the square, and a café sitting central to the square. Pedestrian connections 
will be available via Barnstaple Street as well as through the Memorial Gardens accessed via 
Bideford Bridge which will lead to the square and new riverside walk.  
  
The proposal includes both hard and soft landscaping, roadside tree planting and the future provision 
of public art within the square and on Barnstaple Street. An extended pavement on Barnstaple Street 
will included a shared cycle path along the frontage of the site. 
 
To facilitate the proposal, works are required to repair the quay wall, a flood defence / prevention 
scheme, demolition of existing buildings and site decontamination. 
 
 

Page 17



 

Consultee representations: 

 
Bideford Parish/Town Council:   
 
RESOLVED: That the application is not approved on the following grounds: 
' No affordable housing,  
' Loss of car parking 
' Difficult access for services from a busy road 
 
The Environment Agency:  
 
First Response 
 
Thank you for consulting us on the above planning application. We apologise for the delay in 
responding. 
Environment Agency position 
We object to this application on grounds that insufficient information was originally submitted with the 
application to demonstrate that the loss of intertidal habitat has been quantified, mitigated and 
compensated for and that there will be no adverse impacts to fish migration. 
Before you determine the application we recommend that you consult with Natural England regarding 
the impact of the development on protected species (i.e. overwintering birds and bats) and your 
Emergency Planners to determine whether they consider safe refuge to be an acceptable alternative 
to a safe access/egress route in this instance. 
The reasons for this position are set out below together with advice on flood risk, contaminated land, 
pollution prevention and waste management. 
Reasons – Biodiversity 
The site is located within the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI, which is designated for its mudflats and bird 
assemblage. The pontoon will potentially result in a loss of mudflats and disturbance of the birds. This 
needs to be properly addressed in the biodiversity metric and any impacts mitigated and 
compensated for. It is likely that the results of the overwintering bird surveys, as well as the intended 
use of the pontoon will be needed before Natural England will be able to take a position with regard to 
the impact on birds. 
In addition, the timing and method of construction of the pontoon and wall repairs has the potential to 
impact fish migration. Piling construction of the pontoon would cause disturbance to fish through 
sound. Therefore, the construction details are also required for us to assess these impacts. 
There is also a loss of habitat in the harbor wall niches through the wall repairs, which will also needs 
to be considered in the biodiversity metric and compensated for. 
Please note that, to date, we have only reviewed the summary table of the biodiversity metric. Once 
we have reviewed the detailed version and further information provided by the consultant we will be 
able to update our position. 
Whilst we are not the lead Authority for assessing impacts to birds and bats, we also highlight that the 
ecological report mentioned swift boxes on drawings ...0305, ...0301, …0303, …0304, but no 
numbers of boxes are mentioned on these drawings and they are not included at all on 0305. The 
same is true of bat boxes (drawings 0305 & 0301). 
To ensure the appropriate amount of mitigation, we would recommend that the number of boxes on 
each should be stated. With regard to lighting, a bat box will not be used if there is a flood light 
outside it, and we think the lighting strategy needs more detail to ensure the required mitigation is 
met. 
Advice – Flood Risk 
The applicant submitted further information was to us via an email on the 20 January 
2021, with six additional drawings which clarified the design of the flood defence (tidal 
and surface water), proposed height of site and room levels, and the balcony position 
and dimensions. The new tidal defence, when combined with our proposed new 
defence scheme (subject to securing funding), will provide a significant betterment to all 
existing properties along Barnstaple Street and Ethelwynne Brown Close. The 
additional of a surface water overflow system will also reduce the impact of surface 

Page 18



water flooding in Barnstaple Street. Should your Authority be minded to approve the 
application we would recommend that conditions are included within any permission 
granted to secure the detailed design of all flood defences future maintenance 
responsibilities, as well as flood resilience measures in the design. 
In addition to the planning permission and discharge of the conditions, a Flood Risk 
Activities Permit will be required for the permanent and temporary works for the flood 
defences, quay wall repairs and pontoon. 
Technical Notes on the FRA and mitigation measures:- 
The Design Flood Level (DFL) for the site is from the 0.5% chance tidal storm in the 
year 2121 (residential development lifetime of 100 years’ time). This requires the use of 
the Upper End climate change allowances for sea level rise (SLR), not the higher 
central as used in the FRA. 
The Tidal 0.5% storm level in 2017 is 5.95mAOD (baseline data provided to the 
applicant), plus 1.5m of SLR, gives a DFL of 7.45mAOD. This would require a minimum 
residential floor level of 8.05mAOD, with the normal freeboards applied. All residential 
units are above this height. 
The minimum flood defence level should normally be 7.75mAOD (DFL plus freeboard) 
however, given that this defence is ‘set back’ from the quay edge, wave 
overtopping/heights will be lower than normally considered. Therefore in this instance we are able to 
lower the freeboard requirements for part of this development to set a 
defence level of 7.65mAOD to deal with tidal flood risks. 
We also have to be pragmatic about the constraint of the legal covenant for the hotel, 
and the rest of the East the Water flood defences. This is why we have accepted a 
7.6mAOD level with the Plaza between Brunswick and Steamer Wharf. 
Drawing 11211- FRA 3A Tidal Defence Strategy rev P5 shows the position and height 
of the defences that mitigate tidal, surface water and tide locking flooding and are 
acceptable to us. 
The passive defences, dealing with surface water flooding, includes a level for all 
entrances of 5.85mAOD given the speed of flooding and lack of time to install 
demountable defences. 
In addition to this ‘passive defence line’, demountable defences to 7.65mAOD and flood 
resistant/resilience construction are required on the lower ground floors to fully deal with 
the tidal flooding. Buried utilities can be below this height, but must not effect the water 
resistant function of the main flood walls or the flood resistant room’s construction. 
There is also an internal passive flood line around part of the lower car parking to 
overcome tidal locking issues. 
Safe Access and Egress 
During the design tidal flood event, there will be no safe access and egress route. Safe 
refuge will be the only suitable alternative if the LPA find this acceptable. It is hoped 
that the remaining flood defences in East the Water will be upgraded, to provide a 
similar level of protection for the whole flood area, which will provide a safe access and 
egress route at some point in the future. 
Surface Water Drainage 
The proposal Barnstaple Street surface water flooding alleviation overflow system is 
welcomed. This will help to alleviate the localised flooding, compensate for the small 
loss of storage the site currently provides and remove the existing exceedance routes. 
We can also confirm that the Critical Drainage Area (CDA) requirements are not 
applicable given the direct discharge to the River Torridge. The consideration of a tidal 
locking situation is also welcomed. 
Maintenance of flood defences 
The responsibility for the ongoing erection of the demountable defence, staff training, 
storage and maintenance of all the defences must be agreed. This could be agreed as 
part of the s106 agreement and management/company arrangements or discharge of a 
planning condition. We are unable to take on responsibilities for these private defences 
in any manner. 
It will also need to be agreed what ‘triggers’ the erection of the demountable defences. 
At the moment, with the provision of a full passive defence of 5.85mAOD, it is likely to 
only be required on the issuing of a ‘serve flood warning’. This will change with the 

Page 19



effect of climate change and will need to be review with us, every 5 years by the 
responsible body. 
Advice – Contaminated Land 
We have reviewed the Phase1 Environmental Desktop report dated 19 June 2018, No14466/R2, 
which considers the potential impact of the proposed development on the 
water interests. An appropriate assessment of land and groundwater contamination 
needs to be established and mitigation measures to minimise the risk of impact during 
construction and operational phases. 
We support the recommendations provided in the report to confirm the risk associated 
with potential contamination. With this in mind, we consider that if you are minded to 
support the application, planning conditions should be included within any permission 
granted to secure this further risk assessment work. 
Advice – Pollution Prevention 
We refer the applicant to the advice contained within our Pollution Prevention 
Guidelines (PPGs), in particular PPG5 – Works and maintenance in or near water and 
PPG6 – Working at construction and demolition sites. These can be viewed via the 
following link: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/pollution-prevention-guidance-ppg 
We recommend that a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) is 
produced to pull together and manage the pollution control and waste management 
requirements during the construction phase. A CEMP is best prepared with the main 
Contractor. If you are minded to approve the application we would recommend that a 
condition is included with any permission granted to secure a detailed CEMP for the site 
construction phase. 
Run off from exposed ground / soils can pose a significant risk of pollution to nearby 
watercourses, particularly through soil/sediment run off and the CEMP should address 
how such run-off can be minimised, controlled and treated (if necessary). Please 
ensure that this is considered well in advance because some treatment methods can 
require an Environmental Permit to be obtained. 
Advice – Waste management 
The developer must apply the waste hierarchy as a priority order of prevention, re-use, 
recycling before considering other recovery or disposal options. Government guidance 
on the waste hierarchy in England can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69403/pb 
13530-waste-hierarchy-guidance.pdf. 
Site Waste Management Plans (SWMP) are no longer a legal requirement, however, in 
terms of meeting the objectives of the waste hierarchy and your duty of care, they are a 
useful tool and considered to be best practice. 
Use of waste on-site 
As much material as possible should be re-used on site. If materials that are potentially 
waste are to be used on-site, the applicant will need to ensure they can comply with the 
exclusion from the Waste Framework Directive (WFD) (article 2(1) (c)) for the use of, 
‘uncontaminated soil and other naturally occurring material excavated in the course of 
construction activities, etc…’ in order for the material not to be considered as waste. 
Meeting these criteria will mean waste permitting requirements do not apply. 
Where the applicant cannot meet the criteria, they will be required to obtain the 
appropriate waste permit or exemption from us. 
The applicant is advised to contact our National Permitting Service on 03708 506 506 
for further advice and to discuss the issues likely to be raised. Should a permit be required, they 
should be aware that there is no guarantee that it will be granted. 
Movement of waste off-site 
The Environmental Protection (Duty of Care) Regulations 1991 for dealing with waste 
materials are applicable to any off-site movements of wastes. The code of practice 
applies to you if you produce, carry, keep, dispose of, treat, import or have control of 
waste in England or Wales. 
The law requires anyone dealing with waste to keep it safe and make sure it’s dealt with 
responsibly and only given to businesses authorised to take it. The code of practice can 
be found here: 

Page 20



https://www.gov.uk//uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data///waste-duty-care-codepractice- 
2016.pdf. 
Please contact us again if you require any further advice.  
 
Second Response 
 
Further to our response dated 3 February 2021, we have now reviewed the additional 
information provided by Rory Chanter (Richard Green Ecology Ltd), including the full 
Biodiversity Metric 2.0 Calculation Tool. 
Environment Agency position 
We maintain our previous objection to the proposal on grounds that insufficient 
information was originally submitted with the application to demonstrate that the loss of 
intertidal habitat has been quantified, mitigated and compensated for and that there will 
be no adverse impacts to fish migration. 
The reasons for this position is set out below. 
Reasons – Biodiversity 
We consider that the review of the additional information has not addressed our initial 
concerns regarding loss of intertidal mudflats and impact on fish migration. 
Loss of mudflats 
As advised in our previous letter the loss of mudflats needs to be properly addressed 
within the biodiversity metric. Whilst the applicant may consider the loss to be negligible 
in the context of the estuary as a whole, the proposed pontoon will still represent a loss, 
as would any mooring space which has not been considered. 
It has been suggested that the previous moorings took up a significantly greater area 
which may be the case, but the location of these moorings is on the edge and these 
mudflats could be exposed more frequently with tides. As a result, these mudflats may 
not be of the same quality as those further in the channel, or vice versa. There may  
also need to be consideration of scour as a result of the pontoon. A proper assessment 
of these matters will need to be undertaken and included in the biodiversity metric, in 
line with the metric guidance on intertidal habitats. This should consider the baseline 
and true footprint of impact – i.e. boats and not just pontoon, and propose 
mitigation/compensation as necessary. 
In addition, the loss of niche habitats in the wall has also been omitted from the 
biodiversity metric. This should also be included within the metric and can easily be 
compensated for. 
The mudflats and the birds are the interest features of the SSSI and the completion of 
the bird surveys, together with the above assessment, would help support their 
arguments and provide assurance that there will be no net loss of the intertidal mudflats 
and, therefore, impacts on the SSSI features. 
Fish migration 
Our concerns about impacts to fish are not around the permanent situation of the 
pontoon, but the construction of it. We need more details on the proposed construction 
method and the type of piling to be used. The applicant needs to undertake their own 
assessment to inform appropriate mitigation. 
The vibration and noise created by certain methods of piling in water can cause severe 
behavioural (avoidance) effects in fish attempting to seasonally migrate up and 
downstream through the tideway (including salmon, sea trout and shad). In extreme 
cases, direct physical harm to sensitive fish species can occur within close proximity to 
the piling. 
The corridor for fish migrating through this part of the estuary is narrow, which will force 
any fish undertaking obligatory migrations to pass the work area within a relatively close 
proximity to the works. Appropriate mitigation may include only piling at times of low 
water (i.e. exclusively in-air without ant part of the pile submerged), so that sound and 
vibrations do not travel through the water. However, potential for sound to travel 
through any shallow foreshore bedrock will have to be considered. 
Shad are known to be at least seasonally present in the Torridge Estuary and are 
particularly sensitive to impact from underwater noise, so require specific consideration. 
We remind you to consult with Natural England regarding the impact of the development 

Page 21



on protected species (i.e. overwintering birds and bats). 
If you are minded to approve the application at this stage please also remember to 
consult with your Emergency planners with regard to emergency evacuation in the 
event of a flood and re-contact us again so that we can recommend conditions relating 
to flood risk, contaminated land and pollution prevention as set out in our earlier 
response. 
 
Third Response 
 
Further to the additional information submitted by Simon Friend by email on 12 
February 2021 we are able to update our position as follows. 
Environment Agency position 
We consider that the revised design of the pontoon and the additional information has 
satisfied our previous concerns regarding the potential loss of intertidal habitat and 
adverse impacts on migratory fish. We can therefore remove our objection to this 
proposal provided that conditions can be included within any permission granted in 
respect of: 

 Ecology Addendum report: implementation; 
 Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP): implementation; 
 Flood defence: detailed design and maintenance arrangements; 
 Flood resilience: details of measures to be incorporated in the design; 
 Contaminated Land: Site investigation and remediation; and 
 Contaminated Land: Unsuspected contamination. 

Before you determine the application we recommend that you consult with Natural 
England regarding the impact of the development on protected species (i.e. 
overwintering birds and bats) and your Emergency Planners to determine whether they 
consider safe refuge to be an acceptable alternative to a safe access/egress route in 
this instance. 
The suggested wording for the recommended planning conditions is set out below. 
Advice on flood risk, contaminated land, pollution prevention and waste management is 
set out in our earlier letter dated 3 February 2021. 
Condition – Ecology 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Ecology 
Addendum Report (Richard Green Ecology Ltd, February 2021) and shall deliver at 
least a 10% overall net gain in biodiversity. In particular, the detailed design of the 
repaired wall shall include ecological niches as detailed in the report. The mitigation 
measures set out in the report shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently maintained for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason: To ensure that adequate measures are put in place to protect ecology. 
Condition – Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Construction 
Environment Management Plan (CEMP) by Red Earth Ltd dated February 2021 for the 
pontoon installation and river wall repairs. The mitigation measures set out in the 
CEMP shall be fully implemented during the construction phase of the development. 
Reason: To ensure that adequate measures are put in place to protect ecology and 
avoid or manage the risk of pollution or waste production during the course of the 
development works. 
Condition – Detailed design of the flood defences 
The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as the 
detailed design of all flood defences (shown in drawing 11211- FRA 3A Tidal Defence 
Strategy rev P5) and a plan for their future maintenance has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The flood defences shall be fully 
implemented and subsequently maintained in accordance with the agreed details. 
Reason: To ensure the development is safe from flooding over its lifetime. 
Condition – Flood resilience measure 
No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme to 
minimise flood damage to the proposed development by utilising flood resilient 
construction techniques to an appropriate level has been submitted to and approved in 

Page 22



writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To minimise the damage to the building from flood events. 
Condition – Site Investigation and Remediation 
No development approved by this planning permission shall take place until a 
remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the local planning authority: 
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

 all previous uses 
 potential contaminants associated with those uses 
 a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
 potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) 
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of 
the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. This is in 
line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
Condition – Unsuspected Contamination 
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation 
strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination 
shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the local planning authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. This is in 
line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
Informative – Environmental Permitting 
The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 require a Flood 
Risk Activity Permit to be obtained for any activities which will take place: 

 on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal) 
 on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culvert (16 metres if tidal) 

In this case a permit will be required for the permanent and temporary works for the 
flood defences, quay wall repairs and pontoon. 
For further guidance please visit https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activitiesenvironmental- 
permits or contact SW_Exeter-PSO@environment-agency.gov.uk 
A permit is separate to and in addition to any planning permission granted. The 
applicant should not assume that a permit will automatically be forthcoming once 
planning permission has been granted. 
Please contact us again if you require any further advice. 
  
 
Marine Management Organisation:  
  
Marine Licensing, Wildlife Licences and other permissions 
Dear Sir/Madam, 

Page 23



Please be aware that any works within the Marine area require a licence from the Marine 
Management Organisation. It is down to the applicant themselves to take the necessary steps to 
ascertain whether their works will fall below the Mean High Water Springs mark. 
Response to your consultation 
The Marine Management Organisation (MMO) is a non-departmental public body responsible for 
the management of England’s marine area on behalf of the UK government. The MMO’s delivery 
functions are; marine planning, marine licensing, wildlife licensing and enforcement, marine 
protected area management, marine emergencies, fisheries management and issuing European 
grants. 
Marine Licensing 
Works activities taking place below the mean high water mark may require a marine licence 
in accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act (MCAA) 2009. 
Such activities include the construction, alteration or improvement of any works, dredging, or a 
deposit or removal of a substance or object below the mean high water springs mark or in any 
tidal river to the extent of the tidal influence. 
Applicants should be directed to the MMO’s online portal to register for an application for marine 
licence 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/make-a-marine-licence-application 
You can also apply to the MMO for consent under the Electricity Act 1989 (as amended) for 
offshore generating stations between 1 and 100 megawatts in English waters. 
The MMO is also the authority responsible for processing and determining Harbour Orders in 
England, together with granting consent under various local Acts and orders regarding harbours. 
A wildlife licence is also required for activities that that would affect a UK or European protected 
marine species. 
The MMO is a signatory to the coastal concordat and operates in accordance with its principles. 
Should the activities subject to planning permission meet the above criteria then the applicant 
should be directed to the follow pages: check if you need a marine licence and asked to quote the 
following information on any resultant marine licence application: 

 local planning authority name, 
 planning officer name and contact details, 
 planning application reference. 

Following submission of a marine licence application a case team will be in touch with the relevant 
planning officer to discuss next steps. 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
With respect to projects that require a marine licence the EIA Directive (codified in Directive 
2011/92/EU) is transposed into UK law by the Marine Works (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2007 (the MWR), as amended. Before a marine licence can be granted for projects 
that require EIA, MMO must ensure that applications for a marine licence are compliant with the 
MWR. 
In cases where a project requires both a marine licence and terrestrial planning permission, both 
the MWR and The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made may be applicable. 
If this consultation request relates to a project capable of falling within either set of EIA 
regulations, then it is advised that the applicant submit a request directly to the MMO to ensure 
any requirements under the MWR are considered adequately at the following link 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/make-a-marine-licence-application 
Marine Planning 
Under the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 ch.4, 58, public authorities must make decisions 
in accordance with marine policy documents and if it takes a decision that is against these policies 
it must state its reasons. MMO as such are responsible for implementing the relevant Marine 
Plans for their area, through existing regulatory and decision-making processes. 
Marine plans will inform and guide decision makers on development in marine and coastal areas. 
Proposals should conform with all relevant policies, taking account of economic, environmental and 
social considerations. 
At its landward extent, a marine plan will apply up to the mean high water springs mark, which 
includes the tidal extent of any rivers. As marine plan boundaries extend up to the level of the mean 
high water spring tides mark, there will be an overlap with terrestrial plans which generally extend to 
the mean low water springs mark. 

Page 24



The East Inshore and Offshore marine plans were adopted on the 2nd April 2014. The South Inshore 
and Offshore marine plans were adopted on the 17th July 2018. Both plans are a statutory 
consideration for public authorities with decision making functions. The East Inshore and East 
Offshore Marine Plans cover the coast and seas from Flamborough Head to Felixstowe; the South 
Inshore and South Offshore Marine Plans cover the coast and seas from Folkestone to the River Dart 
in Devon. 
From 14 January 2020 the draft North East, draft North West, draft South East, and draft South 
West Marine Plans are now a material for consideration for public authorities with decision making 
functions. This is the final stage of statutory public consultation before the marine plans are submitted. 
A map showing how England's waters have been split into 6 marine plan areas is available on our 
website. 
For further information on how to apply the marine plans please visit our Explore Marine Plans 
service. 
Planning documents for areas with a coastal influence may wish to make reference to the MMO’s 
licensing requirements and any relevant marine plans to ensure that necessary regulations are 
adhered to. All public authorities taking authorisation or enforcement decisions that affect or might 
affect the UK marine area must do so in accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act and the 
UK Marine Policy Statement unless relevant considerations indicate otherwise. Local authorities may 
also wish to refer to our online guidance and the Planning Advisory Service soundness self-
assessment checklist. If you wish to contact your local marine planning officer you can find their 
details on our gov.uk page. 
Minerals and waste plans and local aggregate assessments 
If you are consulting on a mineral/waste plan or local aggregate assessment, the MMO 
recommend reference to marine aggregates is included and reference to be made to the 
documents below; 

 The Marine Policy Statement (MPS), section 3.5 which highlights the importance of marine 
aggregates and its supply to England’s (and the UK) construction industry. 

 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which sets out policies for national 
(England) construction minerals supply. 

 The Managed Aggregate Supply System (MASS) which includes specific references to the 
role of marine aggregates in the wider portfolio of supply. 

 The National and regional guidelines for aggregates provision in England 2005-2020 
predict likely aggregate demand over this period including marine supply. 
The NPPF informed MASS guidance requires local mineral planning authorities to prepare Local 
Aggregate Assessments, these assessments have to consider the opportunities and constraints of 
all mineral supplies into their planning regions – including marine. This means that even landlocked 
counties, may have to consider the role that marine sourced supplies (delivered by rail or 
river) play – particularly where land based resources are becoming increasingly constrained. 
If you require further guidance on the Marine Licencing process, please follow the link 
https://www.gov.uk/topic/planning-development/marine-licences 
 
Chief Education Officer:  
 
 Regarding the above planning application, Devon County Council has identified that a development 
up to 73 family type dwellings will generate an additional 18 primary pupils and 11 secondary pupils 
which would have a direct impact on West Croft Primary school, St Mary’s Primary school, East the 
Water Primary School, Bideford College and Atlantic Academy. 
 
In order to make the development acceptable in planning terms, an education contribution to mitigate 
its impact will be requested. This is set out below: 
 
Primary Provision:  
When factoring in both approved but unimplemented housing developments, and Local Plan 
allocations DCC has forecast that local primary schools have capacity for 20% of the pupils coming 
forward within the Bideford Town area. Therefore, Devon County Council request contributions 
against the remaining 80% of pupils generated by this development which will be used towards 
additional education infrastructure to serve the address of the proposed development. The Local Plan 
identifies that new primary provision is required to serve Bideford allocations. 

Page 25



 
The Primary contribution sought is £283,488 (based on the DfE new build rate of £19,417 per pupil x 
80%). This equates to a per dwelling rate of £3883.40. The contributions will be used towards 
additional primary provision. 
 
As new primary provision is required, DCC also request a proportionate land contribution of 10sqm 
per family-type dwelling. Based upon a land value of £440,000 per hectare, this land contribution 
would equate to £25,696 and would be used to assist in the procurement of the new school site. This 
is calculated as £440 x 73 dwellings x 80%. 
 
Secondary Provision:  
The nearest secondary school to the development has sufficient capacity for the number of secondary 
pupils likely to be generated by the proposed development and therefore a contribution towards 
secondary education would not be sought. 
 
Early Years Provision: 
A contribution towards Early Years provision is needed to ensure delivery of provision for 2, 3 and 4 
year olds. This is calculated at £250 per dwelling and therefore a contribution of £18,250 is sought. 
This contribution will be used to provide additional early years provision for children likely to be 
generated by the proposed development. 
 
All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should be noted that education 
infrastructure contributions are based on March 2019 rates and any indexation applied to 
contributions requested should be applied from this date. 
 
The amount requested is based on established educational formulae (which related to the number of 
primary and secondary age children that are likely to be living in this type of accommodation) and is 
considered that this is an appropriate methodology to ensure that the contribution is fairly and 
reasonably related in scale to the development proposed which complies with CIL Regulation 122. 
 
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to recover legal 
costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. Legal costs are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education contribution. 
However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the legal costs 
are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
 
Thank you for this application. 
Having reviewed the available documents and drawings, Police have no objections in principle to the 
proposals. I note and welcome the brief reference to Crime & Disorder page 44 of the Design and 
Access Statement. It is now widely accepted that a key strand in the design of a ‘sustainable’ 
development is its resistance to crime and antisocial behaviour. Please note the following information, 
advice and recommendations from a designing out crime, fear of crime, antisocial behaviour (ASB) 
and conflict perspective:- 
To fully comply with the requirements of Residential - Building Regulations – Approved Document Q - 
Security, it is recommended that all doors and windows meet the standards and specifications of 
Secured by Design (SBD). SBD requires that doors and windows are not only tested by the product 
manufacturer, but that independent third-party certification from an accredited UKAS certification 
authority is also in place. This requirement exceeds the requirements of ADQ. Secured by Design 
(SBD) is a crime prevention initiative managed by Police Crime Prevention Initiatives Ltd (PCPI) on 
behalf of the UK police services. 
SBD aims to reduce crime, the fear of crime and opportunities for antisocial behaviour and conflict 
within developments by applying the attributes of Environmental Design, as follows, in conjunction 
with appropriate physical security measures. 
• Access and movement: Places with well-defined and well used routes, with spaces and entrances 
that provide for convenient movement without compromising security 
• Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses do not cause conflict 

Page 26



• Surveillance: Places where all publicly accessible spaces are overlooked, have a purpose and 
managed to prevent creating problem areas which can attract the antisocial to gather, dumping and 
dog fouling etc 
• Ownership: Places that promote a sense of ownership, respect, territorial responsibility and 
community 
• Physical protection: Places that include necessary, well-designed security features as laid out in 
SBD Homes 2016 
• Activity - Places where the level of human activity is appropriate to the location and creates a 
reduced risk of crime and a sense of safety at all times. 
• Management and maintenance - Places that are designed with management and maintenance in 
mind, to discourage crime and ASB. 
This will be particularly relevant with regard to the physical security of the buildings and dwellings in 
terms of standards and specifications for example, shared access doors, apartment doors and 
windows (ground floor and easily accessible, including roof lights), access control, mail delivery 
systems, utility readings etc. 
Access control should be applied to all levels, including parking, limiting residents and visitors access 
only to their own level and the communal areas of the building. 
It is essential to ensure that criminal opportunity is minimised and that the day to day access and 
emergency egress from all levels does not undermine the security of the residential building above. 
For example, it is preferable inward opening automatic gates or roller grilles be located at the building 
line or at the top of parking ramps to avoid the creation of a recess. They must be capable of being 
operated remotely by the driver whilst sitting in the vehicle, the operation speed of the gates or 
shutters shall be as quick as possible to avoid tailgating by other vehicles. This will allow easy access 
by a disabled driver, and should satisfy the requirements of the Highways Department who under 
normal circumstances do not permit vehicles to obstruct the pedestrian footway whilst the 
driver is unlocking a gate. Automatic roller shutters must be certificated to one of the following 
minimum security standards: 
• LPS 1175 Issue 7.2:2014 Security Rating 1, or 
• LPS 1175 Issue 8:2018 A1 Security Rating 1, or 
• STS 202 Issue 7:2016 Burglary Rating 1, or 
• LPS 2081 Issue 1.1:2016 Security Rating A. 
To avoid the potential for conflict, the needs of pedestrians should be taken into account when 
designing the layout of parking. This includes both those who have parked and those accessing the 
development on foot. Within the car park, provision should be made so that pedestrians walk 
through it easily and safely. The provision of raised footways through the car park and crossing points 
across main vehicle routes will help to alleviate conflict between pedestrians and vehicles. A tactile 
distinction should be made between pedestrian areas and vehicular areas, in order that people with 
visual impairment can distinguish between the two. The provision of raised areas, footway areas and 
tactile paving at all dropped kerbs should achieve this. 
Motorcycle parking bays can be made more secure by the installation of ground anchors, or robust 
metal support stands running at the side of adjacent paving. They provide a firm and immovable 
object to affix the rear wheel of a motorcycle. 
I welcome the proposed intention to close the public parking out of hours. 
To avoid conflict with pedestrians, vehicular access control, including for emergency vehicles, 
deliveries and refuse collection, to the public areas will also require careful consideration. 
The inclusion of CCTV throughout the development site is noted. CCTV systems should be registered 
with the Information Commissioners Office (IOC) and be compliant with guidelines in respect to Data 
Protection and Human Rights legislation. Further information is available via www.ico.gov.uk if 
needed. 
The Passport to Compliance will help an organisation comply with the Surveillance Camera Code of 
Practice. The hotel should review the document and provide evidence that any actions have been 
undertaken. Further information can be found here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/passport-to-compliance. 
A quality site wide lighting scheme has multiple potential benefits, for example: 

 preventing night-time personal injury accidents (PIAs) 
 reducing street crime and the fear of street crime 
 increasing the opportunity for natural surveillance 
 promoting sustainable transport, public transport, cycling and walking 

Page 27



 assisting social inclusion by providing the freedom to use streets after dark 
 allowing the effective use of CCTV systems at night 

With regard to the proposed public open space, designing out the opportunity to commit vandalism 
and anti-social behaviour, can help reduce the possibility of a crime being committed. Communal 
areas, including playgrounds, toddler play areas, seating facilities have the potential to generate 
crime, the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour. They should be designed to allow natural 
surveillance from nearby dwellings with safe and accessible routes for users to come and go, 
designed with due regard for wayfinding and natural surveillance. Boundaries between public and 
private space should be clearly defined and open spaces must have features which prevent 
unauthorised vehicular access. Seating can be a valuable amenity or a focus for anti-social 
behaviour. The positioning of street furniture and artwork requires careful consideration to reduce the 
likelihood of inappropriate uses such as skateboarding. Skateboard guards prevent damage by 
adding obstacles along the smooth edges of railings, benches, and short concrete walls that 
skateboarders like to grind along. Typically, they should be spaced about 24″ (2 feet) apart, with 
between 12″ and 18″ of space from either end of the surface they are guarding. Long unobstructed 
runs of smooth surfaces and ramps should be avoided with consideration given to incorporating tactile 
surfaces to break up these areas. 
Commercial Units (Class E) 
Doors to private areas such as staff offices, safe, stock and plant rooms should have a form of access 
control. 
External doors and windows are recommended to be independently security tested and certificated 
products to an appropriate nationally recognised standard such as PAS24:2016 or similar. 
All ground floor and easily accessible glazing must incorporate glass successfully tested to BS EN 
356:2000 Glass in building. Security glazing–resistance to manual attack to category P1A. 
Roof lights should also be independently security tested to an appropriate standard such as LPS 1175 
or STS 202. 
Any proposed shutters must be certified to at least LPS1175 or STS202 to provide additional 
protection to both doors and windows.  
The provision and use of CCTV fits well within the overall framework of a security management plan 
but it should not be relied upon as a panacea to all criminal and anti-social behaviour. 
To deter and prevent unauthorised access to the building when not in use, it is recommended that 
enhanced security standards and specifications for doors and windows are considered, as even the 
best CCTV and lighting can easily be undermined by an offender concealing their identity by wearing 
a hoody, hat, mask etc. It is my understanding that the units will also be fitted with an intruder alarm, it 
is recommended this be a monitored system. 
Any proposed lighting scheme should be co-ordinated with any CCTV installation. 
Consideration should also be given to the shell of the building being treated with an anti-graffiti finish. 
Pontoon Will this area have access control, if so what is proposed? The inclusion of suitable and 
appropriate water safety equipment must also be considered. 
Should you or the applicant require any clarification in respect of the above requirements, please do 
not hesitate to contact me. 
  
Second Response (following applicants response to first consultation response) 
 
Many thanks for the attached, I have no further comments at this time and must admit I was surprised 
to see the overall proposal receive some negative press. 
 
Historic England - Southwest Casework:  
 
First Response 
 
Thank you for your letter of 11 December 2020 regarding the above application for planning 
permission. On the basis of the information available to date, we offer the following advice to assist 
your authority in determining the application. 
Summary 
Historic England acknowledges the wider regenerative aims of this planning application, and the 
aspirations of Torridge Council as described within the site specific policy within the adopted North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2011-2031). We have no objection to the principle of mixed use 

Page 28



housing and retail development on the site. We note the difficulties that the site presents, given the 
previous uses, condition, issues of flooding, and also of viability. Several aspects of the proposals 
generate no heritage concerns. 
Historic England supports good quality, contextually appropriate and sympathetic contemporary 
design. We believe that historic areas are often at the core of successful regeneration projects, and 
can help to positively shape the places where we live. 
However, Historic England considers that in this instance, the proposed large housing blocks within 
the development generate high levels of cumulative and individual harm to several nearby heritage 
assets, given their scale, massing and design. The dominance of the buildings in collective views 
towards the site creates harm to the significance of the grade I listed Bideford Bridge, the grade I 
listed Royal Hotel and both the East-the-Water and Bideford conservation areas, where a part of that 
significance stems from their setting. The special interest and significance of the listed buildings would 
not be conserved, nor would the conservation areas be preserved or enhanced. 
As a consequence of the high levels of harm caused by those elements of the scheme (the large 
residential blocks), Historic England objects to the planning application. 
Historic England Advice 
The Significance of the Heritage Assets 
a) Bideford 
Bideford is a Saxon settlement that became a borough and then a market town in the 13th century. Its 
location beside the River Torridge led to significant expansion during the 16th and 17th century, with 
the port function an essential factor in its success and growth. Development spanned across both 
sides of the river with the wealth of the town being reflected in the very high quality architecture in 
both domestic and civic buildings. Today Bideford and East-the-Water are attractive settlements with 
good retention of historic character. There are numerous important designated and non-designated 
heritage assets in Bideford's town centre and within East-the-Water. 
b) Conservation Areas 
Conservation areas encompass much of Bideford and also East-the-Water, reflecting the special 
character and appearance, and the desirability for preservation and enhancement of the historic 
environment in those areas. 
Large areas of Bideford and East-the-Water can be seen from multiple view points along the western 
river side and from the bridge, where main vehicular and pedestrian routes are located. The varied 
roof shapes and smaller masses and volumes of domestic buildings is a typical feature of a port town 
of historic origins. 
Civic and ecclesiastical buildings are identifiable by dominant features such as spires, towers, and 
single-phased confident designs. They are often taller, have greater depth and scale, and are located 
in prominent positions within the town. 
East-the-Water has a more sporadic development layout and has a greener backdrop that frames its 
water front in views. The hierarchy of building function, size and prominence is an important 
contributing factor to the historic legibility of the town. 
c) Listed Buildings 
Of particular note (and of specific importance to this development proposal given proximity and inter-
visibility) are the following grade I listed structures: 

 Bideford Bridge (including parapet walls and gates of east abutment) -(List Entry Number (LEN) 
1200873). The stone and granite bridge is 15th century and likely encases an earlier 13th century 
timber bridge. 

 The Royal Hotel - (LEN 1200870). This 17th century hotel (previously a private dwelling) contains 
some of the finest plasterwork in Devon and is a key corner landmark building in East-the-Water. 
Grade I listed buildings represent the top 2% of all listed buildings in England and are of 'exceptional 
interest'. There are also multiple grade II listed buildings on both sides of the river which, as well as 
their individual significance, collectively contribute to the density and quality of the historic 
environment. 
d) Brunswick Wharf 
Brunswick Wharf is a formalisation of an earlier quay, and is thought to be 17th century and 18th 
century in origin. It is clear from regression mapping that there has been some land reclamation in the 
19th century. Ship building was carried out extensively on the site with associated ancillary functions. 
The site held many (primarily) east-west oriented linear buildings, of considerable size for the 
purposes of ship building, with some open yards and smaller structures. 

Page 29



Much of the site has now been cleared although some buildings remain. These are in variable 
condition and are of mixed historic and architectural value (as outlined in the Listing notification report 
from Historic England, 2018). Historic England assessed the site in 2018 for designation, but did not 
consider that the buildings met the required criteria for recommendation for listed status. 
The Principle of Development on the Site 
Historic England acknowledges that the site is allocated in the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
(2011-2031) and Policy BID07, with identified regeneration aims. We have no objection to the 
principle of mixed use regenerative development on this site. 
We agree with the submitted heritage statement, that the site currently makes a negative contribution 
to the East-the-Water conservation area, and that increased activity through development would be 
beneficial to the site and to the area. The current condition and vacancy of most of the site does not 
create a positive backdrop to East-the-Water and the heritage assets within and near to it. 
We note that a previous application for 52 houses on the same site (your ref. 1/0578/2014/FULM) was 
granted permission in 2015 but not built out. We commented on that application in 2014, raising 
concerns about issues of scale, massing and design. We made various recommendations for 
amendment, including lowering the accommodation blocks and varying their ridge lines to create 
variety in the roof scape to better reflect the character of East-the-Water. 
The currently proposed residential blocks are both wider and taller than those previously consented, 
being a mixture of three, four and five storey accommodation over flood defence. The combination of 
the increased width and height of the accommodation in the current scheme results in even greater 
perceived mass, scale and dominance. This has led our position to move from one of concerns in 
2014, to one of objection. 
Historic England supports good quality, contextually appropriate and sympathetic contemporary 
design. We believe that historic areas are often at the core of good regeneration projects, and can 
help to positively shape the places where we live. Place making is an intrinsic element of good urban 
design, but requires development to be respectful of context. The Government's National Design 
Guidance (January 2021) and the Planning White Paper (August 2020) both emphasise the 
importance of good design, beautiful places, and sustainability in development. 
High density development is not in itself a negative design approach for this site, but the choice of tall, 
wide buildings to achieve this density has associated impacts. The applicant has carried out a 
massing study to demonstrate that there is no opportunity to amend the scale and massing and 
lessen the harm generated, whilst keeping the scheme viable. We consider that this study has not 
considered more radical or imaginative changes to the layout of the site, and that further opportunities 
may well exist to provide high density development with less harmful impacts. (See recommendations 
below). 
The Impact of the Proposals on the Heritage Assets 
We have no heritage concerns about several aspects of the proposals. Those parts of the scheme 
are: 
1. The Café 
2. The approach to, and details of, the publicly accessible spaces 
3. The approach to, and details of, the hard and soft landscaping 
4. The reconstruction of the Goods building in the same location but on top of the flood defence 
5. The live / work unit 
However, we have identified that harm is caused to the significance of several heritage assets, 
individually and cumulatively, where a part of that significance stems from their setting. This harm is 
caused by the dominance, scale and massing of the larger residential blocks. 
a) Conservation Areas 
We consider that the larger residential blocks proposed create a dominant and overwhelming effect in 
views towards East-the-Water from the west of the river and the Grade I listed bridge. The green 
backdrop and sporadic nature of development on the hillside behind the site (a distinctly different built 
form from that of Bideford), is obscured by the scheme in these views. Views from Bideford and from 
the bridge are important contributing factors to the significance of the conservation areas and form a 
part of their character. 
Located in an otherwise much smaller scaled urban landscape, the design is out of keeping with the 
character of the area. Whilst gaps between blocks provide some views through the site to the green 
hill behind, the massing and height of the residential buildings creates a blocking effect in some 
views. Views towards the hillside behind are important as a green backdrop to East-the-Water. The 

Page 30



proposals, in numerous dynamic views from the western side of the river and from the bridge, will 
obscure those views. 
The scale of the development is out of keeping with the existing character of the East-the-Water 
conservation area, deviating from the local distinctiveness of the area, and of the history of 
development on the site itself. The bulk and massing of the blocks, and the lack of variety in their 
rooflines and height creates an over-regimented effect that does not reflect the grain of the site or 
East-the-Water. 
In our opinion, whilst the relationship of the development to Barnstaple Street has been somewhat 
improved in changes made at pre-application stage, it continues to generate an uncomfortable sense 
of enclosure and dominance given the differing scale on opposite sides of the road. The combination 
of the width and height of the accommodation in the current scheme results in even greater perceived 
mass and scale, dominance and bulk. This impact will be felt in Barnstaple Street where some 
domestic properties will be dwarfed by development over double their height (albeit slightly recessed 
from the existing pavement line). 
The result is that the development fails to meet the requisite test (as outlined within the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, section 72) to either ‘preserve or enhance’ the 
conservation areas of both Bideford and East-the-Water. Harm is caused to important dynamic views 
towards the site and to the experience and character of East-the-Water along Barnstaple Street. 
b) The Bideford Bridge and Royal Hotel 
The prominence and primacy of these very highly graded listed buildings is eroded by the scale of the 
proposed accommodation blocks and the resulting visual competition that they generate. Views to the 
listed buildings currently highlight them as being focal features within the built environment. The 
proposed accommodation blocks will replace them, leading the eye and dominating multiple views. 
This will obscure the contribution that the listed buildings make to the historic environment, and 
reduce their status as landmark and focal features. 
The scale of development is such that the setting of these heritage assets is radically altered. An 
important part of the setting of both listed buildings stems from the experience of collective views, and 
the scale and grain of their surroundings. Setting is a contributory part of the significance of both 
assets, in particular the bridge, given its relationship to the river and its function. 
Because of the position and visibility of the site and the scale of the larger residential blocks, there are 
impacts on several other heritage assets (in particular those on Barnstaple Street), some of which are 
grade II listed and therefore within the remit of the local authority to identify. 
Cumulatively, we consider that the harm generated to listed buildings is high due to the number of 
assets affected. 
Below Ground Archaeological Issues 
The underground car parking, piling and foundation works will impact on any below ground 
archaeological and palaeo-environmental remains, which are highly likely to exist within the 
boundaries of the site. We recommend that your authority seeks the input of Devon County Council's 
archaeology service to discuss requirements for investigation and recording. Historic England's 
Science Advisor can offer support to Devon County Council in this specialist area, if required. 
The Planning Policy Context 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2011-2031) has several policies that are relevant to this 
site, including Policy ST04 ‘Improving the Quality of Development’, Policy ST15 ‘Conserving Heritage 
Assets’, DM04 ‘Design Principles’, DM07 ‘Historic Environment’. We consider that the current form of 
proposed development does not meet the objectives of these policies. 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies in paragraph 192, the importance of local 
authorities taking into account the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness. We consider that the development does not meet this goal in its 
current form. 
Your authority should take the significance of the heritage assets into account when considering the 
impact of the proposal on those assets, to avoid or minimise conflict between their conservation and 
any aspect of the proposal (NPPF, paragraph 190). 
The conservation of heritage assets is a key guiding principle of the NPPF as explained in paragraph 
193. Great weight must be given in decision making to a heritage asset’s conservation, with greater 
weight being applied the more important the asset. We have identified in our advice that the 
significance of various heritage assets (including very highly graded listed buildings) will not be 
conserved by this development. 

Page 31



Where harm is proposed, it must have clear and convincing justification (NPPF, paragraph 194). 
Where a development generates harm and an alternative scheme may deliver the same (or similar) 
development but would result in lesser harm, the justification becomes weak. We remain of the 
opinion that alternative layouts and designs may be able to provide a similar number of housing units, 
and would reduce or remove the identified harm. 
The three overarching objectives of sustainable development (NPPF, paragraph 8) which need to be 
pursued in mutually supportive ways are economic, social and environmental. In our opinion, these 
three goals are not weighted correctly against one another in this proposal, with environmental 
considerations (the historic environment specifically) being given insufficient consideration. 
Historic England’s Position 
Several aspects of the proposals generate no heritage concerns. However, for those reasons 
identified above in detail, Historic England objects to the proposals due to the high levels of harm that 
the large accommodation blocks cause to the significance of various highly graded heritage assets 
both individually and cumulatively, where a part of their significance stems from their setting. These 
assets include the Bideford Bridge, the Royal Hotel, Bideford conservation area, and East-the-Water 
conservation area. 
We consider that the blocks dominate and in some instances block, important views. They do not 
reflect the local distinctiveness of Bideford or East-the-Water, and are out of scale with their historic 
surroundings. They also compete with the primacy and landmark status of the grade I listed buildings. 
Issues of viability have been presented as justification for the scale of the development. We 
understand that the constraints of the site create additional financial implications. Nonetheless, we do 
not consider that increasing the level of development in this form and thus generating permanent, 
very harmful impacts is a sustainable solution. 
Recommendation 
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds. Our objection stems from the harm 
caused by the large accommodation blocks proposed, through their scale, massing, blocking effect in 
views, lack of local distinctiveness, and competition for primacy within collective views. We 
recommend that your authority seeks amendments to the proposed accommodation blocks to reduce 
the harm that we have identified. We are not opposed to the principle of larger scale buildings in 
principle, but the current proposal is overly-dominated by that approach. 
Amendments recommended are: 

 An overall reduction in height of two elements of the accommodation blocks (the southern half of 
Clarence Wharf, and Queens Wharf) through the removal of a storey, and; 

 Changes of heights within the roof and ridge lines of the large residential blocks (check identifiers) 
to introduce meaningful variety within and between blocks, or; 

 Consideration of distributing the accommodation in a greater number of linear blocks, but at lower 
height and width; such blocks might be attached to one another. (We appreciate that this may require 
some changes to the provision of public space, but in our opinion this could achieve a more 
successful balance across the site). 
Other design solutions may also be available that would result in reduced levels of harm. Successful 
development proposals for this site should, for example: 
 
1. Avoid significant blocking of the important green backdrop in views from the bridge and from 
Bideford (lower image, page 7, Design and Access statement); 
2. Reflect the locally distinctive tight urban grain, scale and variety of East-the-Water, and integrate 
well into it; 
3. Consider the development pattern of buildings previously on the site to guide choices for layout if 
possible; 
4. Introduce massing, design and materiality in a contextually appropriate manner. (This does not 
mean that we support pastiche architecture, but rather design that has complementary (not identical) 
scale, patterns, colours and materials); 
5. Demonstrate engaging and innovative architecture that conserves the setting of the two highly 
graded listed buildings by ensuring that new development does not dominate the historic buildings 
through inappropriate scale; 
6. Be an exemplar for future development in the area setting a standard for quality waterside 
regeneration in the area. 
We do not consider that the application meets the requirements of the NPPF in its current form, in 
relation to sustainable development (NPPF 8), the avoidance or minimising of conflict between the 

Page 32



conservation of heritage assets and development proposals (NPPF 190), achieving positive 
contribution through development to local character and distinctiveness (NPPF 192), the conservation 
of heritage assets (NPPF 193) or the need for clear and convincing justification for any harm caused 
(NPPF 194). 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which they possess. In addition, under section 72(1) of the same Act, to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If you 
propose to determine the application in its current form, please inform us of the date of the committee 
and send us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Second Response 
 
Thank you for your letter of 12 February 2021 regarding further information on the above application 
for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the following advice to assist your 
authority in determining the application. 
Historic England Advice 
Introduction 
Historic England provided an initial letter of advice to your authority dated 5 February 2020. We ask 
that our letters are considered together. 
In our previous letter, we acknowledged the regenerative aims of the planning applications, and wider 
aspirations of Torridge Council. We stated that we have no objection to the principle of mixed use 
housing and retail development on the site. 
However, we found that parts of the development proposal (the large housing blocks) generated high 
levels of cumulative and individual harm to several nearby heritage assets, given their scale, massing 
and design. The dominance of the buildings in collective views caused harm to the significance of the 
listed buildings and conservation areas, where a part of that significance stems from their setting. The 
conservation areas would not be preserved or enhanced by the proposals, and the special interest of 
the listed buildings would also not be preserved (as required by the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990). 
As a consequence of the high levels of harm caused by those elements of the scheme (the large 
residential blocks), Historic England objected to the planning application. 
Clarification sought by Torridge District Council 
Torridge Council has asked for further clarification in the following areas: 
1. The significance of both the individual heritage assets, and their cumulative significance; and 
whether Historic England agrees with the findings of the application’s submitted Heritage Impact 
Assessment (HIA). 
2. Our assessment of the level of harm caused to the significance of the heritage assets. In other 
words, ‘less than substantial harm’ or ‘substantial harm’ as defined in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) in paragraphs 195 and 196. 
The significance of the heritage assets 
Historic England agrees with the HIA’s statements of significance in relation to the Royal Hotel, 
Bideford Bridge, Bideford Conservation Area and Bideford East Conservation Area. We also agree 
with the associated assessments of setting, and the suggested contributions to the overall 
significance of the assets. These assessments are based on the appearance, condition and form of 
the application site in its current form, and the HIA acknowledges that they would be changed by 
development on the site. 
However, we disagree with the HIA in its conclusions regarding the impact of the proposed 
development. We have outlined our own assessment of impact in our first letter, in detail and refer 
you to that. Further specific areas of difference (although not exhaustive) are outlined below: 
a) The HIA states that the proposed buildings reflect the previous historic wharf side buildings (page 
46), and better reference the layout and densities, and replicate the urban grain (page 56 and 59). We 
disagree. Whilst the proposed buildings are linear and aligned east-west, the vast majority of the 
previous wharf side buildings were substantially smaller in height, width, depth, the variety of 
roofscape, building type, as was the site grain. Their scale was very different from those proposed. 

Page 33



b) The HIA states that the buildings sit below the ridge line and that this results in it retaining its 
prominence (page 46). We disagree. The out of scale nature of the development will dominate views 
towards East-the-Water, with the development drawing the eye and competing with the existing 
natural and built environment. 
c) The HIA states that the development will create sufficient spatial buffer so that the Royal Hotel will 
retain is legibility as a prominent building (page 55). We disagree, as the new development will be 
seen in multiple joint views along with the Hotel, and will dominate those views to a level that 
diminishes the focal landmark function of the Hotel. 
d) The HIA states that the proposed development will have no impact on key elements of Bideford 
Bridge (page 56). We disagree, as the setting of the bridge is acknowledged elsewhere within the HIA 
as being a major contributor to its significance. The reduction of prominence of the bridge is 
acknowledged within the HIA (same page) but is considered to affect only particular, limited views. 
We disagree – the setting of the bridge is extensive and given the prominence of the development 
and its proximity to the bridge, there will be multiple short, medium and long distance views that will 
be affected negatively. 
e) The HIA states that the proposed development will enhance the understanding and appreciation of 
the Bideford East conservation area by introducing buildings of a more historic scale. The increased 
prominence is considered appropriate in terms of historic character (page 60). We disagree. The 
domestic scale of East-the-Water will be changed drastically through the introduction of overly-large 
buildings which do not reflect historic scale. The increased prominence will lead to many buildings 
along Barnstaple Street being dwarfed by the development. This neither preserves nor enhances the 
character or appearance of the conservation area. 
The HIA does not discuss cumulative significance or impacts. We consider that this is an important 
element of consideration, as there is a considerable density of buildings, structures and areas of 
special interest within Bideford. That density reflects the historic development, importance, status and 
quality of the town. The retention of that overall historic quality and character is an important factor in 
decision making. 
The introduction of development within such a visible, central site will create impacts on a wide area, 
and multiple designated and undesignated heritage assets. These cannot be seen as impacts just on 
each individual building, but also need to be considered cumulatively on the group as a whole, 
especially where there are collective views and experiences of setting. 
Levels of Harm 
There are two levels of harm as described by the NPPF are substantial harm (NPPF 195) and less 
than substantial harm (NPPF 196). 
Substantial harm has been identified within appeal decisions as being the total loss of a heritage 
asset, or harm at such a high level as to remove significance either entirely or almost entirely. 
Substantial harm may be caused, for example, by total or substantial demolition, or the complete 
removal of those elements of a structure that give it historic value and which generate its special 
interest. 
Substantial harm can also be caused by development within the setting of a heritage asset, for 
example that described within the appeal relating to the erection of a wind turbine at St Eval Recycling 
Centre, Cornwall (ref. APP/D0840/A/13/2204465). Substantial harm has a high bar, and one that is 
relatively unusual. You may wish to use Historic England’s online appeals database search function to 
review some of the decisions where it has been concluded that substantial harm is caused. 
Less than substantial harm has been identified within various appeal decisions as being on a scale, 
with lower, middle and high levels. We have identified in our previous letter that high levels of harm 
are caused by the current proposal, to both of the grade I listed buildings (the Royal Hotel and 
Bideford Bridge) and to two conservation areas (Bideford and, in particular, East-the-Water). The 
cumulative impact of these high levels of harm to multiple heritage assets (some of which are very 
highly graded) increases that harm still further – there is an incremental intensification of impact. 
We consider that these levels of individual harm and cumulative harm are at the high end of the ‘less 
than substantial’ range. However, less than substantial harm, does not mean less than substantial 
weight should be applied to the conservation of those assets (again, as referenced in various appeal 
decisions). 
Local authorities should give “special regard to the desirability of preserving” listed buildings or their 
settings (Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, section 66), and give “special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing” the character or appearance of conservation 
areas (same Act, section 72(1). The NPPF reiterates these aims in paragraph 193, where it states 

Page 34



that great weight should be given to the conservation of heritage assets, with greater weight being 
applied the more important the asset. 
Recommendation 
We hope that our letter provides the additional clarification sought by the Council. We note that some 
amendments have been made to the application, however, these do not relate to our heritage 
concerns. Therefore, Historic England continues to object to the application on heritage grounds. 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which they possess; and section 72(1) of the same Act to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If you 
propose to determine the application in its current form, please inform us of the date of the committee 
and send us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity. 
Please contact me if we can be of further assistance. 
 
Economic Regeneration Officer:  
  
The redevelopment of Brunswick Wharf is of central importance to the overall regeneration of 
Bideford and the elevation of the local economy. The site currently acts as a constant visible reminder 
of decline, with immense impact both upon the physical amenity of the town but also at a 
psychological level. With Bideford not having being chosen for Future High Street Funding by the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government now is the time when investment and 
resulting momentum for the town are most needed. 
Torridge District Council Economic Development team is therefore highly supportive of the proposals 
to develop Brunswick Wharf submitted by Red Earth. 
The proposal seeks to capitalise upon the natural beauty of the river-front setting, not only with the 
provision of quality accommodation to cater for both locals but also to attract inward investment and 
further establish Bideford as a great place to live, work and visit. The much-needed works to the Quay 
wall will also create not only a visual impact but also opens up the space to facilitate community 
access and use, strengthening the lifestyle offer of the town. The £22m investment into the site will 
stimulate around 300 construction jobs, with others also arising from the commercial elements within 
the final development. Beyond that, this investment will create significant wider economic benefits for 
the town, creating an appealing destination and also stimulating further knock-on regeneration 
opportunities in East-the-Water. 
The environmental ambitions for the site also harmonise with Torridge District Council’s own green 
ambitions as part of our Climate Emergency declaration. 
Beyond this, we are also pleased with the proactive nature that has so far been adopted by Red Earth 
in terms of liaising with wider regeneration efforts in the town. It is essential to ensure that the 
Brunswick Wharf and proposed Isaac’s Yard site are complimentary and create a holistic economic 
impact for the town and wider economy of northern Devon for years to come. 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments are outlined below. 
 
Land Quality 
The Phase 1 Environmental Desktop Report is certainly detailed and identifies a number of potentially 
contaminative historic uses. The recommendation to instigate intrusive groundworks to assess the 
extent and impact of any contamination is deemed necessary and supported by the Environmental 
Protection Team. It is noted that the Desktop Report was carried out in 2018 and although unlikely, it 
would be useful to receive confirmation that there has been no significant land use at the application 
site in the intervening period that would alter the findings or conclusions of the Report. Having regard 
for the real potential for contamination and given the sensitive end use, the Environmental Protection 
Team recommends the imposition of the Authority's full standard contaminated land condition. 
 
The Asbestos Survey Report is thorough and identifies a significant amount of asbestos containing 
materials located within the application site. Disruption or damage to asbestos containing materials 

Page 35



during removal can result in fibres being released which are potentially harmful to health. The Report 
provides appropriate advice for the removal and disposal of the materials in accordance with relevant 
guidance. The Environmental Protection Team is satisfied that an appropriate survey has been 
undertaken to investigate the presence of asbestos and having regard for the findings, recommends 
the imposition of the following condition: 
 
The removal and disposal of asbestos containing materials must be carried out in accordance with the 
Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and HSG248 by a suitably qualified contractor with an 
appropriate waste carrier licence. 
Reason: To ensure that occupiers of the site and neighbouring properties are protected from 
potentially harmful emissions to air from asbestos 
 
Residential Amenity 
The proposed development has the potential to result in detriment to amenity value for the dwellings 
and hotel sited in Barnstaple Street to the east as well as disturbance to the surgery located to the 
north. Having regard for these sensitive neighbouring receptors, it is essential control measures are in 
place to prevent or minimise disturbance during the development should planning consent be granted. 
Detriment to amenity can be significantly mitigated through adherence to a detailed and 
comprehensive Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). Subsequently, should 
planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the 
following condition: 
 
Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 
construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local Planning 
Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to manage 
the impacts of construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CEMP shall include: 
a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include wheel-washing 
facilities; 
g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust suppression; 
h) mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, dust and lighting (any assessments undertaken 
must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan should demonstrate the adoption and 
use of best practice to reduce impacts); 
i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings; 
j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works and the 
provision made for access thereto; 
k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 
complaints will be addressed. 
The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to ensure continuing 
compliance during the construction of the development. 
 
In addition to the above, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of a 
condition restricting construction works and site deliveries to 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday 
and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays with no works permitted on Sundays and Bank Holidays in 
order to protect residential amenity. 
 
It is noted that the proposed development will contain a mix of residential and commercial use. The 
commercial premises, in particular food premises proposed, are likely to require external plant to 
provide appropriate extraction and ventilation. Such plant has the potential to adversely impact 
residential amenity from noise and odour emissions. The design of external plant will need to be 
carefully considered so as not to cause detriment to the residential elements of the proposed 
development as well as any existing neighbouring residential properties. The Environmental 

Page 36



Protection Team would require noise and air emissions assessments, using appropriate and relevant 
guidance, for any external plant serving the food premises or any other commercial elements. 
However, it is acknowledged that the final internal design of any commercial premises may not be 
available at this time. Subsequently, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition 
of the following condition: 
 
The introduction of external plant or equipment, including extraction and air conditioning, or alterations 
to the elevations of the commercial buildings, including openings, shall not be permitted without prior 
approval from the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 
 
In summary, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections in principle but recommends 
imposition of the above-mentioned conditions.  
 
Strategic Enabling Officer:  
  
In terms of Affordable Housing, Local Plan Policy ST18 is applicable with the requirement for 30% of 
the overall housing provision to be provided as Affordable Housing, and therefore where 85 units are 
provided overall, 25.5 Affordable Housing units are required. The tenure mix should reflect 75% 
provided at a Social Rent level and 25% at an ‘intermediate’ level - the associated definitions being 
detailed in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
Local Plan Policy ST18(3) stipulates that where a fraction of an affordable dwelling is required by 
policy, such provision will be collected through a financial contribution of broadly equivalent value to 
that which would have been required on site. 
In terms of the mix of Affordable housing, the following details the ideal mix to best address identified 
need:- 
 
 
 Bedroom  Percentage of overall 

AH provision  
Minimum Size  

1b2p  30 - 35%  46 sqm  
2b4p  35 - 40%  76 sqm  
3b5p  20 - 25%  86 sqm  
4b6p  5 - 10%  106 sqm  
 
However the applicant has presented a case that the development cannot viably deliver the provision 
of 30% affordable housing. Evidence to support this position has been submitted by the applicant in 
the form of a development viability appraisal and this has now been assessed on behalf of Torridge 
District Council by Bailey Venning Associates. Through this assessment, Bailey Venning Associates 
have concluded the development cannot viably deliver any Affordable Housing. 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
 
Recommendation: 
At this stage, we have no in-principle objections to the above planning application, from a surface 
water drainage perspective, assuming that the following pre-commencement planning conditions are 
imposed on any approved permission: 

 No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy. 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
(e) Correspondence from Devon County Council's Highways confirming that the proposals for 
the surface water drainage system within Barnstaple Street are acceptable. 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and implemented 

Page 37



in accordance with the details under (a) - (i) above. 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system 
will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or 
downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and 
PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed surface 
water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary 
delays during construction when site layout is fixed. 
Observations: 
The applicant has proposed to discharge surface water into the estuary. The outfall has been 
modelled during a tidal-locking event to ensure that surface water can be stored within the car park. 
The applicant has proposed areas with green roofs and living walls. The applicant may also be 
interested in the using rain gardens, such as raised planters at the base of downpipes. These raised 
planters could have overflow pipes which would allow surface water to initially fill the planter and then 
carry on flowing into the main system. 
The applicant may be interested in collecting and reusing rainwater. 
  
Devon County Council (Highways):  
  
First Response 
 
Observations: 
The site consists of a car park and a number of old industrial buildings. A previous planning 
permission for a marina and dwellings has lapsed, and no part of that application can be 
considered a fallback position. 
The proposal would not be likely to result in an increase in traffic generation compared to the 
existing permitted uses. The site is in close proximity to the town centre and various services 
and facilities meaning that people will have the chance to walk and cycle to school, shops 
and employment opportunities. 
The redevelopment of the site should make the most possible opportunity to maximise the 
potential for non-car travel. The high level of cycle parking for residents is noted, but 
additional cycle parking is requested along the river frontage and in the open spaces such 
that visitors have cycle parking available in a well observed location not tucked away in a 
corner of the site. 
The development should also take the opportunity to improve links to the nearby Tarka Trail, 
and therefore a contribution of £85,000 is requested towards future cycle link improvements 
in the area. 
While I have no objection to the principle of development of this site, I do have concerns 
regarding the proposed access to the site for delivery vehicles. The proposed layby on Barnstaple 
Street is considered unsafe due to its proximity to the 
roundabout without adequate visibility beyond Brunswick Wharf. The Longbridge is subject to 
a weight limit, and therefore deliveries will most likely access the site from the north. The 
delivery layby is therefore on the 'wrong' side of the road, and could result in vehicles 
attempting to turn in the road. 
This issues are exacerbated by the current plan to ban deliveries and waiting on Barnstaple 
Street, making it illegal to stop elsewhere on this road. Additionally, the refuse and recycling 
vehicles requiring access to the bin stores in residential buildings will have a significant walk 
down the footway with 85 bins to the layby. 
Postal and courier deliveries will require daily access to the site along with deliveries of fresh 
food for the cafe and goods for the commercial units. Delivery access to the existing uses on 
site are all made within the site, and this should continue, with use of the access to the sub 
station, pontoon and river front. Detail of this access is not shown on any plan, visibility splays 
and kerb radii should be shown for this access. 
'A' layby for deliveries on Barnstaple is considered necessary, however the location of the 
proposed layby is considered dangerous. Moving the layby north should be considered. 
A road safety audit is required to consider the safety implications of the changes to the 
highway, including the layby. Amending the location of the layby is recommenced before 
carrying out the road safety audit, as it is likely to raise the location of the layby as a concern, 
and then require a new audit. 

Page 38



The applicant shall need to enter into a highway agreement with the Highway Authority for 
changes to the existing highway and adoption of new footway. The adopted path should be 
built in tarmac or concrete imprint finish due to future maintenance requirements. The 
highway agreement will include a requirement for the applicant to pay for all required costs for 
a traffic regulation order to amend on-street parking restrictions to allow deliveries, but 
prohibit parking. 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF 
DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, IS LIKELY TO 
RECOMMEND REFUSAL OF PLANNING PERMISSION, IN THE ABSENCE OF FURTHER 
INFORMATION 
 
Second response 
 
Observations: 
I have noted the previous comments made regarding the proposed lay-by and the request 
that this should be subject to a Road Safety Audit (RSA). I also note that the drawings which 
were subject to the RSA had been updated to include junction radii and visibility splays. 
Following the request for an RSA to be conducted I can confirm receipt of this as well as the 
subsequent response from the scheme designers. I note that no significant issues have been 
raised by the auditor and I do not take issue with this. 
I would again reiterate the need for the applicant to enter into a highway agreement with the 
Highway Authority for the proposed alterations to the existing highway; I see that my 
colleague has previously identified the material specifications and processes for this, which 
would make this acceptable in terms of long term maintenance. I would add that the Highway 
Authority would not adopt any trees that are proposed within this area and these should be 
excluded from any future adoption drawings; instead, arrangements will need to be made for 
these to be maintained privately. 
Although I accept that the immediate site offers ‘safe and suitable’ access, I note in his 
observations my colleague has requested a sum of £85,000 as a contribution towards cycle 
link improvements to the wider existing cycling network. I agree with this request and would 
reiterate the necessity of this contribution to be included in any S106 agreement. 
My understanding is that the internal highway within the site is not to be offered for adoption 
through the S38 process and to be kept under private management and maintenance; 
therefore, I do not believe I need to comment further on this layout. 
As a result, subject to the above comments and requests as well as the offered conditons, I 
can confirm that I believe the proposed development offers ‘safe and suitable’ access and 
that the cumulative impact of the development would not be ‘severe’, as are the tests of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF 
DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF 
PERMISSION 
1. The site accesses and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained for 
that purpose in accordance with the attached Diagram 10124/202 where the visibility 
splays provide intervisibility between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 
metres above the adjacent carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer 
edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres. The 
visibility distances along the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway ( 
identified as Y ) shall be 43 metres in both directions for the northern of the two 
accesses and 25 metres in both directions for the southern of the two accesses. 
REASON: To provide a satisfactory access to the site with and to provide adequate 
visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
2. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none 
drains on to any County Highway 
REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 

Page 39



Third response 
 
Observations: 
Further to my previous recommendation, I can confirm that ongoing discussions have been 
conducted with the applicant’s representatives. To ensure a wider link to the Tarka Trail cycle 
network, a 3 metre wide cycleway / footway will be ensured across the site frontage. I believe 
this as an acceptable contribution toward the wider cycleway network and will improve cycling 
options to and from the proposed site. 
 
In addition to the two conditions that I previously offered in my earlier recommendation, dated 
29 January 2021, please note the below condition, which I also offer. 
 
As a result, subject to the submitted conditions, I can confirm that I believe the proposed 
development offers ‘safe and suitable’ access and that the cumulative impact of the 
development would not be ‘severe’, as are the tests of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF 
DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF 
PERMISSION 
 
1. The footway along the site's Barnstaple Street frontage as shown 10124/200 rev B 
shall be constructed laid out and maintained to provide for its use as a shared footway 
/ cycleway with a minimum width of 3 metres which will run from the north eastern 
corner of the proposed Brunswick Wharf Building through to the existing controlled 
crossing of Barnstaple Street at the northern end of the development. 
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
 
First response 
  
My ref: Arch/DM/TO/36148a 
I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. The proposed development lies in an 
area of archaeological potential with regard to medieval and later riverside activity and industries such 
as ship building and water transportation. The extant buildings on the site are likely to date from the 
18th century and have the appearance of industrial buildings. The archaeological potential of the site 
is highlighted in the archaeological desk-based assessment submitted in support of this planning 
application (Thames Valley Archaeological Services Ltd report ref: BWB 14/162, dated 21/8/20). 
The proposed development of the site will involve the demolition of the extant buildings as well as 
ground disturbance for the construction of residential units etc which has the potential to expose and 
destroy archaeological and artefactual deposits associated with the historic use of the site. In addition, 
any groundworks within the foreshore associated with any the construction of the pontoon and 
repair/stabilisation of the quay wall have the potential to expose waterlogged palaeoenvironmental 
deposits that can contain significant information on the past environment and human impact upon 
it. Foreshore deposits also have the potential for containing waterlogged organic artefacts, such as 
timber and leather. The impact of development upon the heritage assets across the site and foreshore 
should therefore be mitigated by a programme of archaeological and historic building recording work 
that should investigate, record and analyse the heritage and palaeoenvironmental evidence that will 
otherwise be destroyed by the proposed development. 
The Historic Environment Team recommends that this application should be supported by the 
submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) setting out a programme of archaeological and 
historic building work to be undertaken in mitigation for the loss of heritage assets. The WSI should be 
based on national standards and guidance and be approved by the Historic Environment Team. 
If a Written Scheme of Investigation is not submitted prior to determination the Historic Environment 
Team would advise, for the above reasons and in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

Page 40



(2019), that any consent your Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded 
below, based on model Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 
 
‘No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme 
of (i) archaeological and (ii) historic building recording work in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation (WSI) which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, 
or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason 
'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that an appropriate record is 
made of archaeological evidence and historic building fabric that will be affected by the development' 
This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are agreed and 
implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the commencement of 
preparatory and/or construction works. 
Please note that the above condition is a variation on the usually recommended heritage condition. 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of: 

 An appropriate historic building record of the extant buildings made prior to demolition and 
supplemented by observations during demolition, and 

 A staged programme of archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of 
evaluative trenches to determine the presence and significance of any heritage assets with 
archaeological interest and palaeoenvironmental deposits that will be affected by the 
development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of any 
further archaeological mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or during 
construction works. This archaeological mitigation work may take the form of full area excavation in 
advance of groundworks or the monitoring and recording of groundworks associated with the 
construction of the proposed development to allow for the identification, investigation and 
recording of any exposed archaeological or artefactual deposits. 
The results of the fieldwork and any post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented 
in an appropriately detailed and illustrated report, and the finds and archive deposited in accordance 
with relevant national and local guidelines. 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. The Historic Environment 
Team can also provide the applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact 
details for archaeological contractors who would be able to undertake this work. Provision of detailed 
advice to nonhouseholder developers may incur a charge. For further information on the historic 
environment and planning, and our charging schedule please refer the applicant to: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management/. 
 
Second response 
 
My ref: Arch/DM/TO/36148b 
I refer to the above application and the Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) submitted to the 
County Historic Environment Team in support of this application - copy attached. This document sets 
out the scope of the archaeological work and historic building recording to be undertaken in mitigation 
for the impact of the proposed development upon the heritage assets within the application area and 
is acceptable to the Historic Environment Team, and should be formally submitted by you, the 
applicant or their agent to the Local Planning Authority. 
If this document is submitted prior to determination of the planning application, the Historic 
Environment Team would withdraw its previous advice (email ref: ARCH/DM/TO/36148a, dated 5th 
January 2021) and instead recommend to the Local Planning Authority that any consent that they 
may be minded to grant should be conditional upon the following worded condition: 
‘The development shall proceed in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation prepared by 
AC Archaeology (document ref: ACD2447/1/2, dated 4th February 2021) and submitted in support of 
this planning application. The development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the 
approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.’ 
Reason 

Page 41



'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that an appropriate record is 
made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development' 
This response has been copied to the Local Planning Authority so that they are aware of our 
comments on the WSI prepared by your organisation and that they can be taken into consideration 
upon their formal receipt of the WSI. 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. 
 
South West Water:  
  
I write to confirm that South West Water have no objections to the proposed works. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
 
 Summary  
The proposal for re-using this wharf site is welcome after lying empty for 30 plus years. The 
consideration of the scheme falls into two sections which are the mixed commercial and residential 
south part of the proposal. This is sited in front of the Royal Hotel, Springfield Terrace and numbers 
21 to 28 Barnstaple Street. The Royal Hotel is grade I and Springfield Terrace and numbers 26, 27 
and 28 Barnstaple Street are grade II listed. The north of the site comprises residential development 
sited in front of 4 to 18 Barnstaple Street of which numbers 17 and 18 are Grade II listed with the 
listed milepost sited adjoining the bus shelter fronting the site.  
There is no objection in principle to the development on the south section of the site which retains the 
views to the front of the Royal Hotel and the Longbridge. It is acknowledged that the buildings on site 
will be cleared and reconstructed above the flood level.  
The residential development to the north of the site, while within the development boundary for 
Bideford, is the element that is not considered appropriate for this location by reason of the height , 
massing and scale of the structures. The height, massing and scale of the residential blocks are 
considered to harm views into, out of and within the conservation area at East the Water and 
additionally harm to the views into the Bideford Conservation area and the setting of the heritage 
assets clustered in these areas. Thus the residential element of the scheme is not considered to 
preserve and enhance the character and appearance of the East the Water Conservation area as set 
out in paragraph 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  
The proposal is also considered to have an adverse impact on the setting of the grade II listed 
buildings along Barnstaple Street. These are domestic in scale and character and will be set opposite 
development that is in some cases is over twice the height of the listed building.  
The level of harm to the East the Water conservation area and setting of the grade II listed buildings is 
considered to be less than substantial when individual assets are considered but the overall 
cumulative impact of the proposal leads to harm to the setting of these heritage assets which 
contribute to the visual character of the area along the Barnstaple Street. The guidance as set out in 
paragraphs 196 and 200 of the NPPF requires the level of harm to be’ weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.’ 
 
Natural England:  
 
First Response 
 
 
 Thank you for your consultation email dated and received by Natural England on 20 January 2021 
regarding the above application. Based on the information provided we have the following comment.  
 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND’S ADVICE 
Designated sites: Further information advised to determine impacts 

 Further consideration is required regarding impacts and mitigation for the Taw Torridge Estuary 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 
Details are provided below. Without this information, Natural England may need to object to the 
proposal. Please re-consult Natural England once this information has been obtained. 
Natural England’s advice on other natural environment issues is also set out below. 

Page 42



 
Designated sites  
The development site is adjacent to and within the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI and has triggered 
Natural England’s Impact Risk Zones2 (IRZ). The SSSI is notified for its overwintering bird interest 
and intertidal habitats. Further information about the special interest features can be found at 
www.magic.gov.uk The composition of the SSSI bird assemblage alters through time as species 
populations fluctuate. Therefore any native wetland bird species (in practice waders and wildfowl) will 
be a legitimate part of the bird assemblage. 
 
Designated sites are material planning considerations. A proposal within or close to a SSSI needs to 
be consistent with maintaining and enhancing the special interest of the protected site. It must be 
demonstrated that harm will not accrue and that the development will not have an adverse impact on 
the interest features of the site or be contrary to local and national policy.  
Further consideration therefore needs to be given to the potential impacts on the special interest of 
the designated sites so that the LPA is able to make a fully informed decision in line with their NERC 
section 40 duty to have regard to conserving biodiversity as part of your decision making and the 
need to take reasonable steps to conserve and enhance the special features of sites of special 
scientific interest.  
Our advice is that a sufficiently detailed method statement for the works (what, when, how) is 
required, to allow Natural England and your Authority to evaluate the potential impacts, during 
construction and operation. Mitigation needs to be agreed pre determination rather than secured via 
conditions to ensure that it is appropriate and deliverable. A formal licence application to the Marine 
Management Organisation (MMO) will also be required for works below mean high water.  
The method statement should consider:  
Habitat loss  

 Based on the information provided the project will result in the loss of 60m2 of priority intertidal 
habitat, as a result of the pontoon, which cannot be compensated. Whilst not large in the context of 
the estuary this does represent a net loss of SSSI intertidal habitat which is not in line with national 
and local policies.  

 An assessment of the intertidal mud habitat would allow a better understanding of the potential 
impacts and the significance of the loss.  

 Vessels moored up alongside the pontoon for long periods of time would increase the footprint of 
mud habitat lost, so a guide on how long vessels are permitted to be attached to the pontoon should 
be included.  

 The potential for scour resulting from the installation of the pontoon should also be included in any 
assessment.  

 The sea wall renovations provide an opportunity for habitat enhancement / mitigation measures to 
increase the biodiversity value of the development.  
 
Piling  

 Piling typically involves high amounts of vibration and noise, therefore a key consideration is visual 
and/or noise disturbance to sensitive species including overwintering birds and other sensitive mobile 
species such as spawning or migrating fish.  
 
Noise & Lighting  

 It is known that noise and lighting can lead to both the displacement and disturbance of some 
wildlife. The main concerns are to ensure that noise and light disturbance from any source is 
considered and that design measures to avoid and mitigate disturbance are incorporated into the 
proposal.  
 
Pollution  

 Consideration needs to be given to measures to protect the marine environment during the 
demolition of existing structures, the removal of materials, and during the construction phase. There is 
the potential for release of sediment and contaminants into the estuary particularly during piling and 
renovation of the seawall.  

 It is not clear whether maintenance dredges will be required for the pontoon which could lead to 
disturbance of sediments and subtidal communities.  
 

Page 43



Surface water  
 Principles outlined in the Ciria SuDS Manual and / or guidance presented in reputable sources such 

as the Susdrain website should be used to inform the SuDS design, ensuring that any anticipated 
contaminants will be sufficiently attenuated before they reach the SSSI. The design should be clearly 
presented and the mechanisms by which the SSSI will be protected should be clearly explained. This 
could include features such as permeable surfaces and rain gardens to take water at source and the 
use of hydrocarbon capturing membranes such as Permafilter in carpark areas.  
 
Recreational disturbance  

 Given the location of the development, Natural England’s advice is that this application has the 
potential to affect the bird interest of the SSSI cumulatively because the development of housing will 
add to the recreational activity on and around the estuary, both terrestrial and water-based, and thus 
contribute to disturbance and displacement effects on the overwintering water birds. It is not clear how 
much of an increase in disturbance is expected as a result of the planned use for the pontoon and 
whether the pontoon will be dismantled over winter (as per the previous application).  

 The data gathered through the Taw Torridge Estuary High Tide Roost and Recreational Impacts 
study3, of which your Authority is a partner, provides the evidence of recreational impacts on 
important high tide roosts and for birds feeding through all states of the tide. It identifies that, although 
the area around Bideford old bridge (low tide sections CT016 and CT017, and high tide sections 1184 
and 1185) does not support significant numbers, it is used by birds at low tide including golden plover, 
curlew, lapwing, and oystercatcher. More recent data will be available via the BTO WeBS counts.  

 A strategic approach to mitigation would secure better environmental outcomes with all 
development adding to recreational impacts on the SSSI making a financial contribution to measures 
that avoid impacts.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that ‘when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity. If significant harm resulting 
from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, 
then planning permission should be refused.’  
Please note that if your authority is minded to grant planning permission contrary to the advice in this 
letter, you are required under Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
to notify Natural England of the permission, the terms on which it is proposed to grant it and how, if at 
all, your authority has taken account of Natural England’s advice. You must also allow a further period 
of 21 days before the operation can commence.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain  
Development provides opportunities to secure a net gain for nature as outlined in paragraphs 170 and 
174 of the NPPF and within the Defra 25 year Environment Plan. Policy ST14 of the Joint Torridge 
and North Devon Local Plan also expects all development to provide a net gain in biodiversity.  
We advise you first to follow the mitigation hierarchy as set out in paragraph 175 of the NPPF and 
consider what existing environmental features on and around a site can be retained or enhanced 
before considering what new features could be incorporated into a development proposal.  
An evidence based approach to biodiversity net gain can help LPAs demonstrate compliance with 
their duty to have regard for biodiversity in the exercise of their functions4 (under Section 40 NERC 
Act, 2006). Biodiversity metrics5 are available to assist developers and local authorities in quantifying 
and securing net gain. Local Authorities can set their own net gain thresholds but the Environment Bill 
currently proposes a 10% threshold. 
 
We would recommend incorporating nest sites for swallow, house martin, house sparrow, swift boxes 
and bat boxes into the design of new buildings and using native plants in landscaping schemes as 
they provide better nectar and seed sources for bees and birds.  
The use of SuDS to manage surface water run-off can also contribute towards green infrastructure by 
increasing biodiversity value. Amenity value can also be increased with careful design to manage risk 
(CIRIA). . The RSPB/WWT6 has produced a guide for developers and planners on designing and 
managing SuDS features that are also good for wildlife. We would recommend that management of 
the SuDS is included in an ecological management plan as maintenance of these features is key to a 
properly functioning system.  
 

Page 44



Local Sites  
We would expect the Local Planning Authority (LPA) to assess and consider the other possible 
impacts resulting from this proposal on local sites when determining this application. Natural England 
does not hold locally specific information. These remain material considerations in the determination 
of this planning application and we recommend that you seek further information from the local 
records centre in order to ensure the LPA has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of 
the proposal before it determines the application.  
Kynoch’s Foreshore Local Nature Reserve (LNR) is in close proximity to the development site and 
includes one of the most significant areas of saltmarsh in the Taw Torridge Estuary complex. The 
Council’s LNR management plan will provide more information about the interest and objectives for 
the site. This area is also designated as Torridge Estuary County Wildlife Site (CWS). Further 
information about this designation can be found through the Devon Biodiversity Records Centre 
(www.dbrc.org.uk).  
 
Protected species  
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on protected species.  
Natural England has produced standing advice7 to help planning authorities understand the impact of 
particular developments on protected species. We advise you to refer to this advice. Natural England 
will only provide bespoke advice on protected species where they form part of a SSSI or in 
exceptional circumstances.  
The Institute of Lighting Professionals has produced practical guidance on considering the impact on 
bats when designing lighting schemes - Guidance Note 8 Bats and Artificial Lighting8. They have 
partnered with the Bat Conservation Trust and ecological consultants to write this document on 
avoiding or reducing the harmful effects which artificial lighting may have on bats and their habitats.  
This document should be used to design site wide lighting to avoid light spill onto natural habitats.  
Rights of Way, Access land, Coastal access and National Trails  
Paragraph 98 of the NPPF highlights the importance of public rights of way and access. Development 
should consider potential impacts on access land, common land, rights of way and coastal access 
routes in the vicinity of the development.  
The proposal is in close proximity to the South West Coast Path National Trail and the Tarka Trail. 
We therefore advise you to seek the advice of the National Trail Officer and/or the Coast Path Officer 
for North Devon to ensure there are no adverse effects on the Trail. Their knowledge of the location 
and wider landscape setting of the development should help to confirm whether or not it would impact 
significantly on the SWCP NT/Tarka Trail. The National Trails website9 provides information including 
contact details for the National Trail Officers. Appropriate mitigation measures should be incorporated 
for any adverse impacts. 
The site is also within the margin of the England Coast Path (ECP). The plans show that the riverside 
area will be available to the public which will benefit ECP walkers. 
 
Landscape 
This proposal is not located within, or within the setting of, any nationally designated landscape. All 
proposals however should complement and where possible enhance local distinctiveness and be 
guided by your Authority’s landscape character assessment where available, and the policies 
protecting landscape character in your local plan or development framework. 
Should the application change, or if the applicant submits further information relating to the impact of 
this proposal on the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI, Natural England will be happy to consider it, and 
amend our position as appropriate. Following submission of this advice to the LPA we are able to 
consider offering advice to the developer through our Discretionary Advice Service. 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you wish to discuss anything further. 
 
Second response 
 
 Planning consultation: amendment/further information - Demolition of existing site buildings and 
mixed use redevelopment providing residential units, commercial units (Class E) with public open 
space, car parking, floating pontoon and associated landscaping works  
Location: Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford.  

Page 45

http://www.dbrc.org.uk/


Thank you for your consultation email dated and received by Natural England on 12 February 2021 
regarding the above application. Based on the amendment/additional information provided we have 
the following comment 
 
 
 SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND’S ADVICE  
No objection subject to securing appropriate mitigation.  
Without appropriate mitigation the application could damage or destroy the interest features for which 
the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest has been notified.  
In order to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development acceptable, mitigation measures 
are required / should be secured. Our more detailed advice is set out below.  
We advise that an appropriate planning condition or obligation is attached to any planning permission 
to secure these measures. 
 
 
 Designated sites  
The development site is adjacent to and within the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). The SSSI is notified for its overwintering bird interest and intertidal habitats.  
Natural England welcomes the amendment to the design of the pontoon and the additional 
information submitted which addresses the concerns raised in our consultation response of 2nd 
February 2021 (ref: 341018). 
 
The revised pontoon design parallel to the quay will unarguably minimise impacts on the intertidal 
habitat. Although not significant, it would still be a net loss of habitat. 
We would therefore welcome the additional mitigation, proposed in the documentation, being secured 
as part of the mitigation package, to further mitigate the effects of the development. This includes: 

 exchanging wooden deck planks for micro-grid flooring on the pontoon, which allows greater light 
transmissivity, would further reduce shading of SSSI intertidal habitats. 

 the pile guides to be engineered to curtail just above the mud flats, thereby reducing the risk of 
scour even further. 
It is our view that the designated features of the SSSI would not be damaged or destroyed subject to 
the environmental / ecological mitigation proposed in the application being secured via suitably 
worded conditions. On this basis, Natural England has no objection. 
In general terms for works on the intertidal, where required, we advise that the work area on the 
foreshore should be clearly marked out and adhered to. Vehicle movements (if any) on the foreshore 
are kept to a minimum and access/egress routes clearly defined and no storage of materials or 
equipment on the foreshore. 
The ecological addendum acknowledges the proposal has the potential to negatively affect the bird 
interest of the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI cumulatively due to an increase in terrestrial and water-
based recreational activity as a result of additional residential dwellings. We welcome the applicant’s 
commitment to agreeing detailed mitigation measures in discussion with the LPA at the detailed 
design stage. In addition to information panels on site, this is likely to include measures as part of a 
strategic approach such as: 

 information leaflets/packs for residents to underline the message about conduct on or near the 
water. 

 financial contributions to projects delivering new intertidal habitats within the estuary. 
Should the proposal change, please consult us again. 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you wish to discuss anything further. 
  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  44  Number of letters of support:  82 
Number of representations received:  96 Number of neutral representations: 10 
Number of objection letters:  5  

 
Summary of Representations received: 

Page 46



 
 Objection / Neutral Support 

Access 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Access 
continued 

Road alongside Royal Hotel is 
often partially blocked by 
delivery vehicles or in the 
evening by people collecting 
takeaways. What steps will be 
taken to avoid accidents at the 
car park exit?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Access is good, not requiring 
traffic to pass over the long 
bridge when approaching from 
A361, yet offers a short flat 
walk into or from the main 
town. River access by means of 
pontoon also benefit.  
 
Implement pontoon in a 
sensible way, bearing in mind 
huge tidal variations and the 
massive accumulations of river 
mud on that side of the river. 
Simply attaching a floating 
pontoon to the quayside will 
not be of any use. It will require 
huge amounts of regular 
dredging and the pontoon 
needs to be some way out into 
the channel attached to pilings 
so that there is enough depth 
of water at all high tides to 
moor up. Finger pontoon 
leading back to the shore. 
Without a locking gate to the 
pontoons, I guarantee that 
boats will be cast 
adrift/vandalised on a very 
regular basis.  
 
Will dredging be done to 
accommodate pontoon? 
 
I like the introduction of an 
open to the public waterfront 
area visually connected as it 
will be to the Tarka Trail. 
 
If cycling and cycle tourism is to 
be expanded, then easy access 
to Bideford from the Tarka Trail 
must be a priority and this 
development should facilitate 
this. The development must 
provide a link to both sides of 
the river for walkers and 
cyclists. 
 
Brend Hotel director (Grade I 
Royal Hotel) confirms that 
access has been agreed to 
memorial gardens with 
developer. 

Parking 
 
 
 

When removing derelict 
buildings, widen road to 
provide parking on both sides.  
 

This development will bring 
more parking. 
 
I like the concealed parking 

Page 47



 Objection / Neutral Support 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Parking 
continued 

How will parking provision be 
maintained? Where will local 
residents park? 
 
Lack of public parking means 
that people who live further 
will not be able to visit. 
Combined with developments 
off Manteo Way and Torrington 
Street it will be very busy.  
 
People currently use the 
existing car park to access 
Wooda Surgery when the 
surgery car park is full. People 
use the car park if they unable 
to walk or cycle up or down the 
steep hills in the area.  
 
People using the Tarka Trail 
park here. This is the only 
legitimate convenient car park 
for Tarka Trail users, otherwise 
they use lay-bys and lanes. 
Parking should be provided to 
make businesses viable.  
 
When designing the car park, 
consider that cars may have 
bikes strapped to back or roofs.  
 
When the Clay boat is in port, 
and the Quay car park Bideford 
side is closed for events, where 
will visitors and locals park?  
 
As some apartments are big 
enough for 8 people, there are 
too few private parking spaces. 
It is common for households to 
have more than one car. 45 
public parking spaces is too few 
as people use the current car 
park for work and access to the 
Tarka Trail. Parking spaces in 
East-the-Water limited already. 
Bideford has steep hills and 
therefore although it is good to 
encourage people to cycle, 
people will not cycle.  
 
Development may increase 
number of cars parking on-
street.  

element. 
 
Bideford Town Council citing 
loss of car park is short-sighted. 
Bideford must evolve..  
 
All Bideford is, is a load of 
carparks, so I am dismayed that 
this has been objected to. Have 
some vision. 

Massing Height; keep development 
same height as current 
buildings.  
Keep new buildings low to 
maintain visual amenity of 

Loss of view is compromise 
worth making, even if own view 
is affected 

Page 48



 Objection / Neutral Support 

listed buildings.  
 
Resubmit plans with less 
intrusive design on 
neighbouring properties. 
 
Height of proposal is out of 
keeping with surrounding 
buildings, many of which are 
Grade II listed. The maximum 
height of the buildings should 
be significantly lower.  
 
I objected to previous 
application in 2015, on massing 
grounds. Some concerns of my 
previous objections have been 
addressed in this new 
application. Massing of new 
buildings would be similar to 
that of (previous) 
Queens/Steamer Wharf 
complex, although differently 
distributed.  
 
The design references the 
Western Counties Agricultural 
Co-Operative building, which 
lay opposite 1/1a Barnstaple 
Street.  
 
At five storeys, development is 
higher than anything else in the 
area. Mass of buildings would 
impact on the view of the 
Longbridge from the historic 
Chudleigh Fort. Limit height to 
three storeys. 
 
Substantive reservations over 
scale and height. 

Amenity 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Welcomes improvements on 
neglected site. However, 
development should not 
remove views of existing 
dwellings.  
 
Removal of derelict buildings 
would allow views across the 
river, both from and of the 
Royal Hotel listed building. This 
is a great visual asset for the 
town.  
 
How will local residents and 
wildlife be compensated for 
loss of view and peace. Could it 
not be a park instead, with one 
storey eateries and businesses 

Will attract water users who 
will stop by and use the 
facilities.  
 
Will improve the view from 
across the river.  
 
Mix of residential and 
commercial. 
 
like the idea of a nice café, 
restaurant and square - and the 
idea of looking at a different 
view when resting on the 
quayside on the Bideford side 
of the river.  
 
pleased about the idea of retail 

Page 49



 Objection / Neutral Support 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Once this prime site has been 
developed, there will be 
nowhere left in Bideford to 
accommodate a pleasant green 
riverside area. The Royal Hotel 
will be hidden from sight. 
 
Studio spaces look good, but 
only if affordable for local 
artists. If rent is too high, then 
it will be unviable and will be 
turned into accommodation or 
shops at a later stage.  
 
No indoor community space 
provided. There should be 
accessible community space 
available for providing local 
activities such as music 
workshops. Bideford lacks 
community space for these 
events.  
 
Majority of local residents, 
myself included, will never 
have known the site as 
anything other than the fairly 
open waterside area that it has 
been for much of their life. 
 
Open area appreciated, yet 
redevelopment needed of 
southern end.  
 
Overlooking of Wooda Surgery-  
substantive overlooking of their 
Surgery which will negatively 
impact on the way they provide 
health care from their building    
 
Health Impact of substation on 
users of Wooda surgery – 
health impact and impact on 
medical equipment. 
 

units dedicated to local crafts.  
 
East-the-water rather sparse on 
amenities so this development 
helps. 
 
Plenty of seating areas for the 
public some under cover and of 
green areas including a variety 
of evergreen and deciduous 
trees.  
 
Being located directly opposite 
the development, I love the 
idea of being able to walk along 
the waterfront for the first time 
ever. This will be an exciting 
evolution to the historic 
dockside.  
 
Development brings vibrance. 
 
Creation of walkway along 
quayside in area previously 
industrial or closed to public 
creates a whole new viewpoint 
for visitors. 
 
This will lift the profile of the 
"forgotten side of the river" 
and in time encourage 
improvement in other areas. 
Opportunity to develop a 
restaurant and café culture to 
enjoy 7 days a week while 
looking over the beautiful 
historic quayside. 
 
Beneficial to waterfront and 
local area. 
 
Transformation of brownfield 
site  
 
This space is currently wasted. 
The development will be an 
improvement on a currently 
unused prime waterfront asset.  
 
All my life Brunswick Wharf has 
been an eyesore in a prominent 
place. This proposal would 
achieve sensitive, attractive, 
and beneficial development to 
the town.  
 
Excellent opportunity for 
Bideford to have its first 
Changing Places facility within 

Page 50



 Objection / Neutral Support 

the town centre. This would 
make a significant difference to 
the lives of many disabled 
people. Are there any plans to 
build a Changing Places facility 
on this site? I would urge you 
to consider this now.  
 
This creates a 'Gateway' into 
Bideford. This will encourage 
people to explore the medieval 
Longbridge. 
 
“Cultural benefits” 
 
Bideford railway museum: This 
development will form 
important tourist focus, which 
we will support with short train 
rides. This site will celebrate 
Bideford Black, Shipbuilding, 
Arrival of railway, industrial and 
commercial use unique to East-
the-Water.  
 
The Grade I listed hotel does 
not complement a derelict 
wharf well. It is increasingly 
difficult to attract guests. New 
development will improve this 
situation.  

Design, 
Landscaping 
&impact on 
heritage assets 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Good to see use of similar 
stone and the retention of 
locally iconic sign. It is planned 
to introduce fenestration on 
the bridge-ward side, where 
none exists at present. The 
current lack of windows is not 
original as several windows on 
that side were removed in the 
early C20.  
 
View south from the northern 
end of Barnstaple Street 
recalled similar views from the 
1920s.  
 
What will happen to the granite 
capstones on the Queen's 
Wharf gate-posts or to the 
decorative carvings at the west 
end of the Baker Building? They 
are obvious features to retain 
with reference to the former 
use of the site. If they are not 
incorporated to the site then 
they should be retained to be 
used close by.  
 

Improvement in aesthetics of 
current site, and design is very 
sympathetic to the history of 
the site. 
 
This design completes the 
modern view of the riverside 
buildings along East-the-Water. 
 
The aesthetics, integration of 
art, the sensitivity to local 
history and the clear desire to 
bring something of good quality 
to our town is admirable. Look 
forward to the day I can see 
something that contributes to 
the built environment and does 
not detract.  
 
Brunswick site has been 
eyesore and embarrassment to 
the local community. We now 
have a major opportunity to 
change this and bring Bideford 
into the 21st C and put the 
town on the map  
 
Respect for past in plans whilst 

Page 51



 Objection / Neutral Support 

Retain the river wall's date-
stone and be careful, as it is 
historically significant and 
celebrates the final phase of 
the wharves' expansion.  
 
Unacceptable impact on 
properties. high levels of 
cumulative and individual harm 
to several nearby heritage 
assets, given their scale, 
massing and design’ and it is 
clear that the visually intrusive, 
unduly assertive and dominant 
design now propose fails to 
reflect sound design principles 
required by Policy DM04 and 
also strategic Policy ST04:  
 
The reference to Heritage 
Assets in the Planning 
Statement which in turn 
references the Heritage Impact 
Assessment (HIA) submitted by 
the applicants concludes “in 
summary, the proposals do not 
give rise to direct harm to the 
significance or setting of the 
heritage assets and any harm 
identified is considered to be 
less than substantial”. 
This generalisation is at odds 
with the independent scrutiny 
provided by Historic England 
and the Council’s specialist 
conservation advisor and little 
weight may thereby be 
attached to the submitted 
Heritage Impact Assessment or 
the applicant’s Planning 
Statement. 

having an innovative 
contemporary approach. Will 
revitalise Bideford with its lively 
atmosphere, incorporating 
live/work design studios, which 
honours ceramic heritage. This 
supports Bideford's existing 
status of area art capitol.  
 
Landscaping well thought out. 
 
Thinks it will enhance the 
Grade I listed buildings.  
 
Proposed design will enhance 
the Grade I listed building and 
provide economic 
regeneration.  
 
Many other development sites 
are generic design. This one 
seems forward thinking and 
sympathetic to Bideford.  
 
This is a bold design that 
members would be 
congratulated on embracing.  
 
Visionary project for neglected 
part of town 
 
Well thought-out proposal in 
heart of Bideford. This is a 
fantastic opportunity for 
regeneration at heart of 
Bideford.  
 
From Way of the Wharves: 
History elements suggested by 
this group were incorporated 
by developer, e.g., 
interpretation panels. 
 
 

Housing There should be no holiday 
homes or retirement 
properties. 
 
Resubmit plans with fewer 
properties. 
 
There is a local need for 
affordable and accessible 
housing for local families. 
Concern: This development will 
attract investors, and second 
home buyers, so the area 
would end up being a glorified 
holiday village and not 

I hope there will be a good 
selection of differently prices 
homes to give a diverse 
community.  
 
This mix of modern apartments 
and retail units, restaurants 
and others are needed in 
Bideford. Modern apartments 
are lacking in the area.  
 
Further housing allows for 
higher Council Tax revenues to 
invest in affordable housing 
elsewhere.  

Page 52



 Objection / Neutral Support 

connected to local community.  
 
Add occupancy restriction on 
some of the residential units to 
prevent them being used as 
holiday or second homes. It 
would be great to see the 
development occupied all-year. 
Proportion of dwellings should 
be places under 'local needs' 
clause.  
 
Units should be spread around 
the site and not clustered in 
once block to allow a mix of  
occupancy. 
 
No affordable housing 
provision contrary to Policy 
ST18. 

 
 
Light 

 
 
Houses in Barnstaple Street 
Placed in shadow.  
 
Tall buildings will block out light 
to existing residential buildings 
 
Overshadowing of Wooda 
surgery – negative impact on 
solar pv.  

 

Skills and mental 
health 

 
 

Could developer invest in 
mental health provision or the 
provision of skill training for 
unemployed people or 
vulnerable groups. E.g., The 
Jigsaw Project in the park has 
recently been abandoned due 
to lack of funds.  

Traffic/Highways 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposal does not alleviate 
traffic bottleneck on Barnstaple 
Street; unloading buses and 
vehicles at the Royal Hotel and 
Auction Rooms. The extra 
traffic from this development 
will accentuate this problem 
unless opportunity taken to 
widen the street with parking 
both sides once derelict 
building removed.  
 
Safety concerns for road users 
and Tarka Trail users due to 
increased traffic problems; 
widen the road to alleviate. 
 
How are you going to facilitate 
for additional cars, traffic, 

Expand bridge with a 
bicycle/pedestrian lane hanging 
from the side.  
 
More strongly enforce the 
20mph speed limit 
 
Introduce road calming 
measure up the road towards 
Instow. 
 

Page 53



 Objection / Neutral Support 

 
 
 

people? 
 
already a difficult road, new 
housing developments on 
Torrington Street and Manteo 
way will increase traffic by at 
least 300 vehicles a day. 
Delivery lorries, buses, cars, 
and cycles all trying to get 
through safely. 
 
Does this proposal consider the 
proposals at Manteo Way and 
Torrington Street, etc, which 
will increase daily traffic.  
 
Concerns about traffic safety by 
roundabout at Royal Hotel.  
 
should widen Old Barnstaple 
Street by removal of pavement 
on the new development side 
opposite the Royal Hotel to 
ensure traffic and pedestrian 
safety. This would force 
pedestrians to walk across the 
new paved area and exit into 
Barnstaple Street further down; 
a safer choice for those 
pedestrians passing pushchairs, 
invalid carriage and dogs all 
trying to walk to the 
Longbridge.  
 
Introduce service layby for 
deliveries to allay traffic issues. 
Possible that traffic lights are 
required.  
 

Policy and 
constraints 

Not ‘Sustainable development’ 
the present proposal clearly 
fails to address environmental 
and social gains 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The whole site should have 
been levelled by TDC pending 
any sale before planning 
proposals and if the area had 
been privately owned then a 
s.215 notice would have been 
issued.  
 
Add a constraint that stipulates 
when substantial work should 
commence. We do not want to 
be left with a Market Place 
situation where demolition 
proceeded in a designation 
conservation area and then no 
building work had commenced 
for years, in contravention of 
TDCs own guidelines.  
 
Draw up a timeline, or a 

Page 54



 Objection / Neutral Support 

statement from both TDC and 
developer to ensure that the 
develop does not drag on.  

Pedestrian This design improves the 
experience of pedestrians by 
widening the pavement and 
introducing greenery.  

Expand bridge with a 
bicycle/pedestrian lane hanging 
from the side.  

Cycling 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Good to see cycle racks, but no 
cycle way is mentioned. Many 
cyclists do not venture into 
town because it means crossing 
the old bridge. This 
development could be a good 
opportunity to improve this.   
 
From North Devon Cycling 
campaign: 
Unsatisfactory: 1. Does not 
comply with the NPPF to 'give 
priority first to pedestrian and 
cycle movements, both within 
the scheme and with the 
neighbouring areas'.   
 
Also, does not match DCCs 
development brief; Although 
permeable to pedestrians, 
there is no mention of cycle 
route along riverside and 
access through to Bideford.  
This gives impression that 
cyclists not welcome. The 
developer is not providing a 
direct cycle link over Bideford 
Longbridge on the grounds it is 
thought that Bridge Trust might 
object. This is misleading since 
we understand that the Bridge 
Trust has had no responsibility 
for the Longbridge since 1968. 
Vehicle traffic damages bridge 
more than cycles. Without 
encourage for cycling, vehicle 
damage to bridge will increase.  
 
2. Proposal does not comply 
with transport strategy NDTLP 
ST10. Existing accesses to Tarka 
Trail not safe or easy to use for 
families, individuals, or even 
experienced cyclists. This 
proposal would suit outsiders 
but not local people. Please 
contact me to discuss 
alterations as it is recognised 
that redevelopment is needed 
at the site.  

Expand bridge with a 
bicycle/pedestrian lane hanging 
from the side as it is currently 
not safe. 

Economy  This will be an attraction. 

Page 55



 Objection / Neutral Support 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Will maintain and attract 
wealth to area. 
 
This will be a boost to local 
economy by generating jobs in 
construction and the ongoing 
businesses it will support.   
 
This development will 
encourage tourists to visit and 
increase Bideford's visual and 
riverfront assets for locals.  
 
Will create a 'reason to visit 
Bideford hub' (place making?). 
Increased footfall means 
increased spend.  
 
Will rejuvenate East-the-Water. 
 
The area of Bideford is not 
interesting to visitors unless 
you like derelict history.  
 
I hope that businesses are local 
companies and not chain stores 
or restaurants and café.  
 
Provision of one or two more 
commercial units would have 
preferable but on the whole 
support. 
 
This will further support 
continued growth in Bideford. 
It will play a vital role in 
regenerating Bideford as well 
as enhancing tourism. Locals 
are steering away from 
Barnstaple due to the dying 
high street. Bideford has 
bucked the trend with new 
independent stores opening. 
The development of Brunswick 
Wharf will help.  
 
This will lift the profile of the 
"forgotten side of the river" 
and in time encourage 
improvement in other areas. 
 
Investment benefit at a time 
when Covid-19 has had a 
devastating impact upon local 
employment. 
Momentum of Bideford small 
businesses doing well will be 
supported by this 

Page 56



 Objection / Neutral Support 

development.  
 
Bideford side has places of 
refreshment, but East the 
Water currently does not. This 
development will increase the 
flow of visitors bringing 
revenue. 
 
Council tax revenues from the 
site will help pay for affordable 
housing. Bideford must evolve 
or it will become a wasteland.  
 
Investment of £20 million 
amidst economic devastation 
of pandemic is just the injection 
places would jump at. 
 
Well thought-out proposal in 
heart of Bideford. This is a 
fantastic opportunity for 
regeneration at heart of 
Bideford.  
 
From Brend Hotels: Running a 
hotel that looks on to a derelict 
site is not easy.  

Environment Will you provide green areas 
for disturbed wildlife? 
 
Has a bat roost inspection as 
mandatory under the 1981 and 
2017 regulations been made 
and if not when will this take 
place?  
 
Last spring the site was cleared 
of all vegetation including 
buddleia and lots of mature ivy 
on the buildings but the man 
carrying out the work told me 
had not checked for nests at 
the height of the nesting 
season.  
 
I like the attention to details in 
landscaping, use of renewable 
technology and biodiversity. 
 
Nice to see planting proposal in 
this application where 2015 
application proposed parking.  
 
Choice of Ginko adds a touch of 
class to the planting alongside 
street artwork.  
 
Tellima grandiflora, whilst 

Green walls are good, and this 
development aims to increase 
biodiversity. Drinks on the 
waterfront to look forward to.  
 
Off-setting carbon emissions by 
planting in Kenya seems 
bizarre. Isn't there somewhere 
closer to home where a 
woodland could be planted? 
 
Encouraged by the 
environmental and 'green' 
credentials of the organisation 
submitting the proposal. 
 
Build on brownfield is needed, 
not on greenfield farms. 

Page 57



 Objection / Neutral Support 

suited to walls and vertical 
planting, has already become 
and invasive non-native threat 
to local biodiversity in some 
areas of North Devon, so would 
be a poor choice. Placing any 
seed-dispersed species in a 
windy and elevated position 
will inevitable facilitate its 
spread, so the planting should 
be reviewed. Vertical planting 
remains favourable, however.  
 
Scale back development to 
reduce environmental impact.  
 
Have air quality impacts been 
assessed of increased traffic 
due to this development? 

Other 
 
 
 
 

How can this be built in a 
Conservation Area? 
 
Good to see develop engaging 
with the site. Current situation  
of the site has only been there 
for 50-60 years compared with 
the history going back to 15C.  
 
flooding - The application 
states that a Flood Risk 
Assessment has been 
submitted but unfortunately it 
is not available on TDC’s web 
site. Our clients need to see 
this and how the development 
will impact on the flooding 
potential and that any flood 
prevention works on the 
application site don’t 
negatively impact on their site. 
 
 

It is clear that this is not a 
straightforward site and that 
there was always going to be a 
need for comprise and 
concessions on all sides to be 
able to achieve an attractive 
and useful development, while 
ensuring commercial viability 
and long-term sustainability.  
 
Hope it remains beneficial to 
locals. 
 
Community regeneration that 
we can all contribute to 
 
The wharves site has been 
derelict for many years and the 
state it has fallen into reflects 
on the way people perceive 
East-the-Water. Development 
declares again that something 
is alive and working, has value, 
hope purpose and meets the 
needs of people. It says a 
different story is starting and 
will replace the crumbling 
decay that is there at present.  
 
Will improve public pride. 
 
Most exciting thing to happen 
to Bideford in years. 
 
This redevelopment will be on 
par with that of Hayle and 
Salford resulting in 
regeneration. 
 
People of East the Water 

Page 58



 Objection / Neutral Support 

deserve this development, it 
would be elitist to refuse this 
application. 
 
Developer has good track 
record of delivering 
commitments and is local 

   

 
 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 (Adapting to 
Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST05 
(Sustainable Construction and Buildings); ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's 
Strategic and Main Centres); ST08 (Scale and Distribution of New Development in Northern Devon); 
ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST11 (Delivering Employment and Economic Development); ST12 (Town 
and District Centres); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); 
ST16 (Delivering Renewable Energy); ST17 (A Balanced Local Housing Market); ST18 (Affordable 
Housing on Development Sites); ST23 (Infrastructure); BID (Bideford Spatial Vision and Development 
Strategy); BID07 (Bideford Regeneration Sites); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 
(Environmental Protection); DM03 (Construction and Environmental Management); DM04 (Design 
Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM10 (Green Infrastructure Provision); DM12 (Employment 
Development at Towns, Local Centres and Villages); DM20 (Development Outside Town and District 
Centres); DM22 (Shop Front Design and Signage); 
 
Government Guidance: 
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NPPF 
(National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning considerations of relevance to this proposal are: 
 
1. Principle of Development; 
2. Layout, Design, Impact on Character and Landscaping; 
3. Impact on Heritage Assets; 
4. Amenity; 
5. Impact on existing Solar PV. 
6. Transport & Accessibility; 
7. Car parking; 
8. Flood Risk & Drainage; 
9. Ecology & Contamination; 
10. Economic Regeneration; 
11. Public Benefits; 
12. Viability and Section 106 Obligations; 
13. Planning Balance & Conclusion. 
 
1. Principle of Development 
 

1.1. Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law 
(namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of 
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission 

Page 59



must be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The NPPF must be taken into account in the preparation of local and 
neighbourhood plans and is a material consideration in planning decisions. The development 
plan for this area includes the Devon Waste Plan and the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan 
(NDTLP). 

 
1.2. Policy ST01 of the NDTLP requires that when considering development proposals, the 

Councils will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the NPPF. The Policy continues that planning applications that 
accord with the policies in this Local Plan will be approved unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The three columns of sustainable development being economic, 
environmental, and social cannot be undertaken in isolation because they are mutually 
dependent. To achieve sustainable development, economic, social, and environmental gains 
will be sought jointly and concurrently wherever possible. 

 
1.3. In policy terms, the entire site is located within the development boundary for Bideford. Policy 

ST06 of the NDTLP identifies Bideford as a Strategic Centre which will provide a focus for 
housing and employment development. Significant levels of development will be 
accommodated in Bideford consistent with its scale and its complementary role to Barnstaple. 
Sustainable development opportunities will be secured to increase self-containment and 
achieve balanced development to enable the town to meet its own needs and those of the 
surrounding area. Policy ST06 is clear that development will be supported within the 
development boundary of the Strategic Centre.  

 
1.4. Policy ST02(b&e) seeks to make a prudent use of key resources, including the re-use and 

redevelopment of previously developed land such as this. This approach is also supported by 
NPPF paragraph 118(c) that ‘gives substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield 
land within settlements for homes and other identified needs’; and 118(d) which seeks to 
‘promote and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings’. 

 
1.5. Policy ST08 requires that development will be focused at the Sub-regional, Strategic and 

Main Centres to increase self-containment through sustainable growth that provides balanced 
housing markets within environmental limits and increases access to jobs, health, education, 
leisure, culture and community facilities. 

 
1.6. NDTLP Policy BID (Bideford Spatial Vision & Development Strategy) states that Bideford will 

continue to be a focus for growth in northern Devon, which will be delivered without prejudice 
to valued environmental assets having due regard to the importance of the areas setting and 
landscape quality.Bideford will provide an enhanced range of services and facilities to meet 
the needs of its residents and hinterland.  

 
1.7. Policy BID continues that ‘Over the period to 2031, the Local Plan will enable significant 

growth of high quality development which is supported by necessary infrastructure that will 
meet the needs of Bideford and its surrounding communities and to strengthen Bideford's role 
as a Strategic Centre. Achieved development will be delivered having regard to the setting of 
the town in the landscape and its special character provided by the coastal location. 
Furthermore, at (e) BID provides support for this particular site stating  ‘(e) support for 
initiatives within Bideford town centre and environs that improves the town’s functionality and 
vitality through an expansion and enhanced range of appropriate uses. To achieve the 
objectives of the Bideford Regeneration Framework, regeneration and revitalisation schemes 
at the former Livestock Market, The Pill, Bridge Street and East-the-Water Wharves will 
provide the focus for town centre, quayside and waterfront improvements;’ 

 
1.8. Policy DM20 encourages main town centre uses to applied on a preferential basis, with town 

centres being preferred, followed by edge of town locations, then out of town locations. Edge 
of centre and other out of centre proposals must be well connected to the Town or District 
Centres and accessible by public transport, walking and cycling. Proposals must also 

Page 60



demonstrate that no suitable alternative sites are available in a sequentially preferable 
location. 

 
1.9. However, the application site forms part of a parcel of land that is allocated within NDTLP 

Policy BID07. This Policy states:  
 

‘Regeneration and revitalisation of the town centre will be supported through schemes on the 
following sites, as defined on Policies Map 2, that will be delivered in a comprehensive 
manner: 
East-the- Water Wharfs - a mix of housing, leisure and retail uses to improve connectivity with 
Bideford West and secure an active and attractive waterfront use; 

 
1.10. Para 10.138 continues that ‘Extending the use and attraction of the town centre will be 

central to improving its economic performance and its ability to support the town’s residents 
and those of the wider hinterland. Improving the quality and accessibility of attractions and 
services will also be central to increasing the potential benefit to be made from visitors to the 
area. Six key sites are identified to provide the main focus for change in and around the town 
centre to achieve the overall objective of improving town centre vitality and viability. The sites 
are generally in high profile locations, with the potential to create successful urban spaces 
that positively contribute to the sustainability of the town. A range of uses are proposed for 
the regeneration sites, the scope of which is in the majority of instances shaped by the 
presence of flood risk.’ 

 
1.11. The proposal seeks to provide a comprehensive regeneration of the site in order to 

deliver wider regeneration and revitalisation. A mix of uses and a high-quality public realm will 
be delivered which will help ensure the scheme meets the vision for this area. A riverside 
walk (which could be continued in the future), pontoon, new pedestrian access via the 
Memorial garden, and improved pedestrian / cycle links to Barnstaple Street help to improve 
connectivity and provide an active waterfront use. In particular, the scheme will provide 85 
residential units of a mix of sizes, 8 retail units, 5 design studios, 1 Restaurant and 1 café (all 
considered to fall within Class E (Commercial, Business & service) of the town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). 

 
1.12. As the site benefits from an allocation for development for a mix of housing, leisure and 

retail uses and is located within the development boundary of the Strategic Centre, and the 
proposal aligns with the strategic Policies of the NDTLP the principle of development is 
acceptable subject to detailed considerations outlined later in this report.  

 
1.13. Notwithstanding the above acceptance of the principle of development, as a result of 

the Burwood Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council accepts that it cannot 
currently demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS); with the appeal 
concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 years across Northern Devon. By virtue of not being 
able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, NPPF), there 
is a need to apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 'Presumption') 
(paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in determining planning applications for 
housing. 

 
1.14. Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 

‘Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should 
grant planning permission unless: 

 
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance (National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites and areas at risk of 
flooding or coastal change) provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.’ 

 

Page 61



1.15. For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not 
considered to be automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 
5YHLS. Whether a policy of the development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision 
taker, in light of their substance and considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the 
NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of the policies are generally considered to be 
out-of-date for the application of the Presumption. 

 
1.16. The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF. In this 

instance, due to the site being both within a Conservation area and within flood zone 3 
paragraph 11(d)(i) is considered to be engaged. As such, the relevant Policies within the 
NPPF relating to the areas and assets of particular importance need to be considered by the 
decision taker as to if they provide a clear reason for refusal, and if not, the decision taker/s 
need to consider the NPPF's requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits - the so-called tilted 
balance (Paragraph 11(d)(ii), NPPF). These material considerations and balances are 
discussed in the sections below. 

 
 

 
2. Layout, Design and Impact on Character; 
 

2.1. The National Planning Policy Framework sets out that achieving high quality places and 
buildings is fundamental to the planning and development process. The underlying purpose 
for design quality and the quality of new development at all scales is to create well-designed 
and well-built places that benefit people and communities. Para 130 of the NPPF states that 
‘Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in plans or 
supplementary planning documents. Conversely, where the design of a development accords 
with clear expectations in plan policies, design should not be used by the decision-maker as a 
valid reason to object to development.’ 

 
2.2. Good design is set out in the National Design Guide under the following 10 characteristics: 

 

• Context (enhances the surroundings) 

• Identity (attractive and distinctive) 

• built form (a coherent pattern of development) 

• movement (accessible and easy to move around) 

• nature (enhanced and optimised) 

• public spaces (safe, social and inclusive) 

• uses (mixed and integrated) 

• homes and buildings (functional, healthy and sustainable) 

• Resources (efficient and resilient) 

• Lifespan (made to last) 
 

2.3. The NDTLP through Policy ST04: 'Improving the Quality of Development' requires that 
'development will achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation 
of successful, vibrant places. Design will be based on a clear process that analyses and 
responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding area'. Policy 
DM04 sets out a series of Design Principles which are overarched by a desire for good 
design to guide overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials, access 
and appearance of new development.   

 
2.4. The site occupies a key town centre location which is visible from Bideford Quay and much of 

the lower half of East-the-Water. Given the prominent location, the development will have a 
significant impact on the town centre of Bideford. Currently the site sits partially disused with 
a number of structures leftover from the site’s rich commercial history which results in a 

Page 62



negative visual impact. Due to the location and past uses the site is important economically, 
socially and historically. 

 
2.5. As previously discussed, the principle of the development of this site is considered acceptable 

subject to other material considerations. The aspirations of the proposal as stated within the 
accompanying Design & Access Statement are to create a vibrant mixed-use development 
with generous public space and a design which reflects the historic wharf nature of the site 
along with the surrounding listed context. The design approach is informed by the particular 
constraints of this site including its location within flood zone 3, surrounding historic 
development, its river side location and the historic commercial uses and built form.  

 
2.6. The proposal consists of 5 main buildings, these being named on the submitted Block Plan as 

‘Clarence Wharf, Queens Wharf, Steamer Wharf, Brunswick Wharf and a café. A large part of 
the site will be constructed above under-croft carparking (both private & public) due to the 
flooding implications, which are discussed elsewhere in this report. The main residential 
blocks of Clarence Wharf and Queens Wharf will run at right angles to the river reflecting 
former warehouse development allowing some visual permeability between the blocks. 
Private outdoor amenity areas for the residents will be located within the ‘U’ of the Clarence 
Wharf building and between the Clarence Wharf and Queens Wharf building.  

 
2.7. Heights of the buildings on the site will generally rise from south to north with the two larger 

buildings (Clarence & Queens Wharf) being to the north of the site due to the sensitive 
settings of the Bideford Bridge and Royal Hotel to the south. The ridge heights of the 
proposed buildings as indicated in plan reference ‘0300 P5’ range from 24.5m AOD for 
Clarence Wharf (the Clarence Wharf interconnecting element being at 18m AOD), 24.5m 
AOD for the pitch roof element of Queens Wharf and 20.5m AOD flat roof, 20m AOD Steamer 
Wharf and 15.8m AOD Brunswick Wharf. However, as these heights are AOD, they need to 
be considered in light of the current quay level at 5.3m AOD. Therefore, the ridge height of, 
for example, Clarence Wharf would be some 19.2m above current quay ground level.  

 
2.8. In General, the Clarence Wharf and Queens Wharf buildings will be seen as 5 storey (with 

Clarence being read as 2 blocks connected by a 4 storey element (the roof of which will be 
utilised as a communal roof terrace)) when viewed from Barnstaple Street; Steamer Wharf as 
4 storey; and Brunswick Wharf as 3 storey.  

 
2.9. The priority of any new building should be to reduce its impact on the environment wherever 

possible through reuse, reconfiguration or recycling. In this instance, the existing buildings on 
the site are not suitable for reuse due to their current structural condition, the construction 
materials used, and flooding concerns, however the Brunswick Wharf elevation facing the 
Royal Hotel will be reconstructed. 

 
2.10. Policy DM10: Green Infrastructure Provision of the NDTLP requires new development 

to make provision for public open space, recreation, sports facilities and green infrastructure 
according to the local space standards. Where possible, provision should be made on site. A 
public square will be provided to the south of the ‘Steamer Wharf building which will include 
the café as a central element and will accommodate the retail provision, restaurant and 
design studios around the three edges with differing levels adding interest. This is accessed 
via an at grade link from Barnstaple Street at the south east corner. This is ramped and 
stepped to the first level in front of the Brunswick Wharf Building. This level is then linked to 
the flood protected level of +7.6m AOD through another incline and steps. At this upper level 
there is level access to the Cafe and Steamer Wharf. The upper gangway of Steamer Wharf 
is accessed via stairs at either end and a small platform lift.  The material choices in this area 
are high quality and considered durable. 

 
2.11. The quayside will feature a riverside walk along the whole river boundary of the site, 

with access via the Memorial gardens to the south and wider pedestrian permeability 
throughout the site. There are several areas identified for public artworks telling the story of 
the wharves to the eastern elevation of the Clarence and Queens Wharf buildings providing 

Page 63



interest to pedestrians at ground level. A single sculpture by Sandy Brown is proposed 
towards the south of the site in front of the Brunswick Wharf Building with history panels and 
boards sited to the west of the public square.  

 
2.12. The final design as submitted has been refined during the pre-application process 

following discussions with stakeholders including the Local Authority and Historic England. 
Discussions have taken place in particular with regards the Clarence and Queens Wharf 
buildings, and their scale, massing and interaction with Barnstaple Street. The eastern 
elevations have been significantly improved to seek to improve the visual impact of the 
buildings which included amendments to fenestration, setting elements of the buildings back 
from Barnstaple Street as far as viable to create a wider pavement with additional tree 
planting, amending roof designs to reference more traditional commercial architecture and 
reduced height and reduced number of window openings. This has led to an improved 
relationship with Barnstaple Street. However, concern has been raised that the scale and 
massing of these buildings will create a dominant and overwhelming effect in views to East-
the-Water and within Barnstaple Street given the difference in scale between that proposed 
and buildings to the east side of Barnstaple Street.  

 
2.13. When viewed from Bideford Quay, the Clarence and Queens Wharf will appear 

somewhat dominant and bulky, although the rising backdrop due to the topography of East-
the-Water will partially mitigate this impact. The development will result in significant visual 
change to Barnstaple Street, although it is noted that development will help restore a sense of 
enclosure which nods towards the historic urban grain which would have seen high density 
commercial buildings to the western side.  

 
2.14. Whilst the proposed buildings are of a significantly larger scale than those in proximity, 

the architecture introduces variety and interest over the site as a whole, incorporates well 
thought out public spaces, efficient and resilient materials and will create a sense of place 
removing the negative visual impacts of the existing site. Given the deliverability issues 
associated with the site, it is considered that the design seeks to provide good architecture to 
meet Policy aspirations having due regard to the constraints of the required scale of the 
scheme set by viability. 

 
2.15. The Steamer and Brunswick Wharf buildings and the café are considered to be of an 

appropriate scale and design to reflect and respect the surrounding context, including the 
Grade I Bideford Bridge and Royal Hotel. The café adds an element of contemporary design 
to the more traditional form of the surrounding buildings and is considered to successfully 
contribute to the attractiveness of the public realm and future vibrancy and sense of place. 

 
2.16. The palette of materials proposed within the application documentation adds a mixture 

of traditional and contemporary forms and are utilised to allow differentiation between 
buildings and also a distinctive, attractive and legible public realm, considered acceptable in 
this particular context. Specific details of interest include vertical ‘living walls’ to the Queens 
Wharf and Steamer Wharf south elevations and zinc standing seam cladding. Given the 
importance of materials in this prominent and historic setting it is considered reasonable to 
place a condition on any permission that may come forward to allow further consideration of 
samples of materials prior to installation.    

 
2.17. Planting is detailed in the landscaping general arrangement (ref DR_L_1001-10) and 

outlines planting layout and mix in differing areas of the development including the communal 
gardens, hedge planting, terrace planting, garden and street trees and the proposed living 
wall. The schedule of species is considered appropriate for the riverside setting and includes 
a mix of native and ornamental species. 

 
2.18. Policy DM04 (2) requires all major residential proposals to be supported by a Building 

for Life 12 (BfL12) (117) (or successor) assessment. High quality design should be 
demonstrated through the minimisation of "amber" and the avoidance of "red" scores. The 

Page 64



Applicant has submitted a BfL12 assessment, which scores 12 greens. Given the criteria set 
by BfL12, your Officers would agree with this assessment.  

 
2.19. An Energy Strategy accompanies the application which details the intended fabric first 

approach and provides and reviews the use of renewable technologies which would be 
appropriate for the site. Policy ST02 of the NDTLP requires that development will be expected 
to make a positive contribution towards the social, economic and environmental sustainability 
of northern Devon and its communities while minimising its environmental footprint. Policy 
ST05 encourages major development to build to a standard which minimise the consumption 
of resources during construction and thereafter. The proposal seeks to provide buildings of 
high thermal performance of the building fabric, whilst utilising air source heat pumps to 
supply all the domestic hot water requirements and to mount circa 75m2 of Photovoltaic cells 
on the south west facing roof space of Clarence, Queens and Steamer Wharf buildings in 
accordance with Policy ST16 which supports and encourages development incorporating on-
site provision of renewable energy or renewable heat and/or low carbon technologies. 

 
2.20. The design of the units has been developed with specific regard to disabled access 

with level access being provided. The main entrance has a stepped approach for flood 
protection measures but also complies an incline at a suitable gradient for wheelchairs and 
those with reduced mobility. Any slight gradients in the topography are no greater than 1 in 
21.  

 
2.21. Policy DM22 requires that development proposing new shop frontages will be 

supported where – 
 

(a)the local character and features of traditional shop fronts are retained and enhanced, the 
local street scene is conserved and they are appropriate to the design and character of the 
building on which they are installed; 
(b) shop fronts and fascia signage relate to individual buildings rather than retail frontages as a 
whole; 
(c) excessive signage is avoided; and 
(d) any security shutters are internally mounted. 

 
2.22. As no details has been provided, and given the sensitive location within a conservation 

area, a condition will be applied seeking detail of the commercial units fascia and associated 
lighting. 

 
2.23. NDTLP Policy ST17 states that ‘the scale and mix of dwellings, in terms of dwelling 

numbers, type, size and tenure provided through development proposals should reflect 
identified local housing needs, subject to consideration of: (a) site character and context; and 
(b) development viability’. Supporting Paragraph 7.13 requires the housing mix to be provided 
by an individual development proposal to have regard to relevant up-to-date and robust 
evidence. Paragraph 7.13A indicates that Policy ST17 recognises that ‘the character and 
context of an individual development site may influence or constrain the types of residential 
development that are appropriate in individual circumstances’.  

 
2.24. The Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA) for Torridge and North Devon 

Councils undertaken by GL Hearn and dated May 2016, concludes based on the evidence, 
that it is expected for the focus of new market housing provision to be on two and three-bed 
properties. Continued demand for family housing can be expected from newly forming 
households. There may also be some demand for medium-sized properties (2- and 3-beds) 
from older households downsizing and looking to release equity in existing homes, but still 
retain flexibility for friends and family to come and stay. The HENA sets the following required 
housing mix on development sites: 

 
1 bed = 15% 
2 bed = 35% 
3 bed = 35% 

Page 65



4 bed = 15% 
 

2.25. The housing mix proposed equates to an overall mix as follows: 
 

1 bed = 14.1% 
2 bed = 30.6% 

  3 bed = 40% 
4 bed = 15.3% 

 
2.26. All the units proposed meet the National Minimum Space standards. This mix is 

broadly in compliance with the requirements of Policy ST17 and is considered to provide a 
sufficient mix of units given the location and context of the development and development 
viability. 

 
2.27. Lighting and public safety are also important considerations in the design and layout of 

a development. The application is accompanied by a lighting strategy which seeks to reduce 
glare and minimise light pollution whilst providing sufficient illumination of the public areas. 
The lighting strategy also avoids illumination of the adjacent intertidal habitats which form part 
of the Taw/Torridge SSSI, and bat boxes which are to be installed to the north-west corner of 
Clarence Wharf. Luminaires proposed include LED pole mounted, LED bollard, LED ground 
mounted ‘drive over’, LED bulkhead and LED ground recessed linear luminaires. The 
submitted External Lighting Strategy Plans provides an acceptable coverage of sympathetic 
lighting to the site. In addition, both car parks and the public spaces will be monitored by a 
CCTV system. 

 
2.28. Concerns are raised in relation to the scale and massing of the Clarence and Queens 

wharf buildings given the context of the site and scale of adjacent buildings. Notwithstanding 
this, the proposal will result in attractive and distinctive public realm, and the large scale of the 
buildings are architecturally articulated in a manner to reduce any negative impact as far as 
reasonable given the particular constraints of the site. In general, the proposal is considered 
to accord with Policies ST04, ST05, ST16, ST17, DM04 and DM22 of the NDTLP, section 12 
of the NPPF and the principles of the National Design Guide. 

 
 
3. Impact on Heritage Assets; 
 

3.1. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (“the Listed 
Buildings Act”) states that when considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the decision maker 'must have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting, or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses'. 

 
3.2. Section 72 of the Listed Buildings Act imposes a duty when considering whether to grant 

planning permission for development which affects a conservation area to pay ‘special 
attention’ to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
conservation area. 

 
3.3. The NPPF at para 189 states : 

 
189. In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe 
the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. 
The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient 
to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the 
relevant historic environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets 
assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on which development is 
proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, 
local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. 

Page 66



 
3.4. Para 190 continues:  

 
190. Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting 
of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They 
should take this into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to 
avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal. 

 
3.5. The significance of any heritage asset, as defined in the NPPF, lies in its heritage value, 

derived from its archaeological potential, its aesthetic and architectural merits and its historic 
interest. ‘Conservation’ can be defined as the process of maintaining and managing change 
to a heritage asset in a way that sustains and where appropriate enhances its significance. 

 
3.6. In terms of determining applications, para 192 requires that Local Planning Authorities should 

take account of – 
 

• the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

• the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and  

• the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 

 
3.7. The NPPF is also clear regarding the weight to be given to the heritage asset’s conservation 

and states at para 193 – 
 

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

 
3.8. Para 194 requires that - Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 

asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require 
clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of: a) grade II listed buildings, or 
grade II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional; b) assets of the highest 
significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, 
grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World 
Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional. 

 
3.9. If it is considered that a development proposal will lead to ‘less than substantial harm to the 

designated heritage asset’ para 196 states that this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 
3.10. In terms of new development within Conservation Areas, para 200 requires that ‘Local 

planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within Conservation 
Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or 
better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that 
make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be 
treated favourably’.  

 
3.11. Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP also require that great weight be given to the 

desirability of preserving and enhancing northern Devon's historic environment. Furthermore, 
Policy DM07 requires that where there is unavoidable harm to heritage assets and their 
settings, proposals will only be supported where the harm is minimised as far as possible, 

Page 67



and an acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the 
national policy tests, giving great weight to the conservation of heritage assets. 

 
3.12. In detail Policy ST15 requires that great weight will be given to the desirability of 

preserving and enhancing northern Devon's historic environment by: 
 

conserving the historic dimension of the landscape; 
conserving cultural, built, historic and archaeological features of national and local importance and 
their settings, including those that are not formally designated; 
identifying and protecting locally important buildings that contribute to the area’s local character 
and identity; and 
increasing opportunities for access, education and appreciation of all aspects of northern Devon’s 
historic environment, for all sections of the community. 

 
3.13. Whilst Policy DM07 requires: 

 
All proposals affecting heritage assets should be accompanied by sufficient information, in the 
form of a Heritage Statement, to enable the impact of the proposal on the significance of the 
heritage asset and its setting to be properly assessed. As part of such an assessment, 
consideration should be given, in order of preference, for avoiding any harm, providing 
enhancement, then minimising and mitigating any harm. 
Proposals which conserve and enhance heritage assets and their settings will be supported. 
Where there is unavoidable harm to heritage assets and their settings, proposals will only be 
supported where the harm is minimised as far as possible, and an acceptable balance 
between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the national policy tests, giving great 
weight to the conservation of heritage assets. 
Proposals to improve the energy efficiency of, or to generate renewable energy from, historic 
buildings or surrounding these heritage assets will be supported where: 
there is no significant harm or degradation of historic fabric including traditional windows; and 
equivalent carbon dioxide emission savings cannot be achieved by alternative siting or design 
that would have a less severe impact on the integrity of heritage assets. 

 
3.14. The site is within a Conservation Area where the general presumption is to preserve 

and enhance the character and appearance of northern Devon’s historic environment. As 
previously described in this report, several heritage assets are in proximity to the site 
including a Grade I Structure (Bideford Bridge) and the Grade I Royal Hotel. 

 
3.15. In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF and Policy DM07 to enable the 

impact of the proposal on the significance of the heritage asset and its setting to be properly 
assessed, this application has been accompanied by a Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) 
authored by K.Metcalfe Heritage. This Statement considers the potential impact of the 
proposed redevelopment of the site on the nearby heritage assets and identifies the heritage 
assets that may be affected by the development and provides an assessment of their existing 
significance and the contribution made by their setting. Full detail can be found within the HIA; 
however, a summary of these findings is as follows – 

 
The Royal Hotel Primary significance is its interior plasterwork, however the Victorian exterior 
provides a landmark building in the east side of Bideford. The setting of the building is wide but 
mixed, with positive elements to the east, south and west and negative to the north. 

 
Bideford Bridge Important structure due to its archaeology, fabric and its pivotal position in the 
creation of the town. Its setting is vast and contributes positively to the overall significance of the 
structure. 

 
26, 27, 28 Barnstaple Street Significance mostly in their group value. The setting of these 
buildings contributes through the understanding of the historic street pattern and vernacular 
development, however is impacted negatively by the cumulative effect of the increased traffic 
noise and pollution. 

Page 68



 
17 & 18 Barnstaple Street Significance as typical urban vernacular buildings, although there is 
indication in the list description of some interesting plasterwork. The setting of these buildings is 
the historic street pattern that they sit within, however the abnormally vacant condition and 
modern prefab garages opposite does not contribute positively to the area and consequently to 
the setting. 

 
Torrington Street Group Listed for their group value and are appreciated as a tight-grained 
townscape group, the aesthetic interest provided by sequential views walking north along 
Torrington Street, opening out at the head of the bridge. The setting of the group is limited due to 
the enclosed nature of the street and the former industrial land strip between the street and the 
river but this setting contributes positively to their overall significance The bust is seen within the 
pocket park which provides a limited open area from which it can be appreciated. 

 
Bideford Conservation Area. The character of the conservation area is identified through as that of 
a riparian town framed by its landscape setting with the continuity of a working port for over 500 
years, and a high quality public realm on the Quay. Views north and south are noted and the 
bridge is a key element linking the two sides of the town. 

 
Bideford East Conservation Area. The character has been assessed as the working industrial hub 
of the town north and south of the bridge that brought growth and prosperity to the town, the 
prominence of the Civil War fortress overlooking the bridge, the railway that brought goods and 
visitors to the town, the green ridge of the hill and the riparian setting with tightly packed urban 
grain at river level that disperses up the hill with buildings set amongst the mature landscape. 

 
3.16. The section 66(1) duty, where it relates to the effect of a proposed development on the 

setting of a listed building, makes it necessary for the decision-maker to understand what that 
setting is, and whether the site of the proposed development will be within it or in some way 
related to it. This then allows the decision maker to assess whether and how the proposed 
development “affects” the setting of the listed building. As detailed above, your Officer agrees 
with the HIA in so far as it relates to the setting of the listed buildings and character of the 
Conservation Area. 

 
3.17. Other heritage assets identified include – 

 
Milestone - historic street furniture located within a much-altered setting. The significance of the 
milestone is the stone itself with the carving upon it and its location on the street to show the 
distance to Barnstaple (Barum on the stone).  
 
Springfield Terrace – seen in views with the Royal Hotel. The terrace is sited sufficiently high 
behind the Royal Hotel that it remains visible in views from Bideford and along Barnstaple Street 
from the Old Barnstaple Road viewpoint.  

 
3.18. The existing buildings on the Site were considered for listing in 2018 but were not listed 

for the following reasons: 
 

Lack of architectural interest: 
Alterations to the fabric of and changes of use to the southern building have eroded the 
architectural character and early-C19 fabric of the building. Replacement walling and roofing 
materials to the eastern building have resulted in the loss of early-C20 historic fabric. The 
office/house on Barnstaple Street is conventional and does not display the interest required for a 
building of its type and date. 
 
Lack of historic interest: 
The construction of ships and the yard’s connection to the establishment of the Fisherman’s 
Mission is only of local interest. 
 
Group value: 

Page 69



The loss of all other structures along this wharf side has restricted the interest of Brunswick Wharf 
as part of a group. The architectural and historic interest of the wharf is not sufficient to justify 
group value with the nearby listed buildings. 

 
3.19. The Heritage Statement continues to assess the potential impacts to the heritage 

assets as summarised – 
 

The Royal Hotel - The development would have no adverse impact on the key elements of 
the hotel’s significance or its setting and would, in overall terms, sustain that significance. 

 
Bideford Bridge - There would be no adverse impact on the key elements of the bridge’s 
significance, however, there would be some less than substantial harm to that significance 
arising from change in part of its setting. 

 
26, 27, 28 Barnstaple Street - The development would sustain the significance of this 
group of listed buildings. 

 
17 & 18 Barnstaple Street - The development would result in less than substantial harm to 
the significance of these listed buildings, through change in part of their settings. 

 
Torrington Street Group - The development would sustain the significance of this group of 
listed buildings. 

 
Bideford Conservation Area - The development would preserve the majority of the 
positively contributing elements of the character and appearance of the Bideford 
Conservation Area, however, there would be an adverse impact in view outwards from the 
designated area towards the Site, which would result in less than substantial harm to its 
overall heritage significance. 

 
Bideford East Conservation Area - The development would regenerate the derelict Site 
and enhance elements of the conservation area’s character or appearance, however, the 
creation of more prominent forms on the Site would result in less than substantial harm to 
its significance in overall terms. 

 
3.20. Significant pre-application discussions have taken place between the applicant, 

Historic England (HE) and Local Authority which has directly informed certain aspects of the 
design of the proposal. Amendments to the proposal that have been made include – 

 

• Reduced fenestration and more regular as reflecting typical historical wharf buildings;  

• This resulted in a reduction in the number of units to 85 from 96 previously;  

• Loss of the inset roof and “top hat” effect with a more traditional roof form with an 
accompanying explanation for bringing the roof form down over the side elevations to reduce 
the effect of the height of the buildings;  

• A comprehensive and reimagined landscaping scheme and the introduction of landscaping 
onto Barnstaple Street;  

• Removal of the flood defence walls stepped out from the site on Barnstaple Street to allow for 
more pavement and setting back of the building line;  

• Removal of balconies from Barnstaple Street to reduce overlooking concerns;  

• Use of a different roof finish, slate and palette of wall materials to distinguish the Queen’s 
Wharf Building;  

• Reduction in height of the ridge line of Queen’s Wharf return roof to Barnstaple Street; and  

• Introduction of different balcony forms for Brunswick and Steamer Wharf to distinguish from 
the main residential buildings.  

 
3.21. However, despite these amendments, HE has raised significant concerns and objected 

to the scheme as submitted. Whilst HE acknowledges the regenerative aims of the proposal 
and have no objection to the principle of the proposal, they have found that parts of the 

Page 70



development proposal (the 3 large residential blocks) generate high levels off cumulative and 
individual harm to several nearby heritage assets given the scale, massing and design. For 
the avoidance of doubt, HE has raised no heritage concerns about several aspects of the 
proposal as follows – 

 

• The Café 

• The approach to, and details of, the publicly accessible spaces 

• The approach to, and details of, the hard and soft landscaping 

• The reconstruction of the Goods building in the same location but on top of the flood defence 

• The live / work unit 
 

3.22. HE agrees with the HIA’s statement of significance in relation to the Royal Hotel, 
Bideford Bridge, Bideford Conservation Area and Bideford East Conservation Area which 
your Officers also agree. However, there is also a clear departure between the submitted HIA 
conclusions regarding the impact of the proposed development in 5 aspects, these being – 

 

• that the proposed buildings reflect the previous historic wharf side buildings (HIA page 46), 
and better reference the layout and densities, and replicate the urban grain (page 56 and 59). 
HE states that whilst the proposed buildings are linear and aligned east-west, the vast majority 
of the previous wharf side buildings were substantially smaller in height, width, depth, the 
variety of roofscape, building type, as was the site grain. Their scale was very different from 
those proposed.  

 

• that the buildings sit below the ridge line and that this results in it retaining its prominence (HIA 
page 46). HE considers that the out of scale nature of the development will dominate views 
towards East-the-Water, with the development drawing the eye and competing with the 
existing natural and built environment.  

 

• that the development will create sufficient spatial buffer so that the Royal Hotel will retain is 
legibility as a prominent building (HIA page 55). HE considers that as the new development 
will be seen in multiple joint views along with the Hotel, and will dominate those views to a 
level that diminishes the focal landmark function of the Hotel.  

 

• that the proposed development will have no impact on key elements of Bideford Bridge (HIA 
page 56). HE states that the setting of the bridge is acknowledged elsewhere within the HIA as 
being a major contributor to its significance. The reduction of prominence of the bridge is 
acknowledged within the HIA (same page) but is considered to affect only particular, limited 
views. We disagree – the setting of the bridge is extensive and given the prominence of the 
development and its proximity to the bridge, there will be multiple short, medium and long 
distance views that will be affected negatively.  

 

• that the proposed development will enhance the understanding and appreciation of the 
Bideford East conservation area by introducing buildings of a more historic scale. The 
increased prominence is considered appropriate in terms of historic character (HIA page 60). 
HE states that the domestic scale of East-the-Water will be changed drastically through the 
introduction of overly-large buildings which do not reflect historic scale. The increased 
prominence will lead to many buildings along Barnstaple Street being dwarfed by the 
development. This neither preserves nor enhances the character or appearance of the 
conservation area.  

 
3.23. The Conservation Officer has no objection in principle to the development on the south 

section of the site which retains the views to the front of the Royal Hotel and the Longbridge. 
However, she has shown concern with the residential development to the north of the site, 
considering it is not appropriate for this location by reason of the height, massing and scale of 
the structures. The height, massing and scale of the residential blocks are considered to harm 
views into, out of and within the conservation area at East the Water and additionally harm 
the views into the Bideford Conservation area and the setting of the heritage assets clustered 

Page 71



in these areas. In terms of the Grade II listed buildings (as previously detailed), the 
Conservation Officer considers the proposal to have an adverse impact on their setting along 
Barnstaple Street due to the impact of the scale and massing of the development in proximity 
to the domestic scale and character of the listed buildings. 

 
3.24. The Conservation Officer considers that the level of harm to the East the Water 

conservation area and setting of the grade II listed buildings is ‘less than substantial’ when 
individual assets are considered and the overall cumulative impact of the proposal leads to 
harm to the setting of these heritage assets which contribute to the visual character of the 
area along Barnstaple Street.  

 
3.25. In response to the HE concerns, the applicants have submitted both a massing and 

typology study and a financial viability study exploring if alternative forms of development at 
this site would be deliverable. Whilst some alternatives may arguably be deliverable, this 
would involve additional buildings directly impacting and reducing the public benefits of the 
scheme thereby being contrary to the aspirations of Policy BID07. A reduction in numbers of 
residential units would result in an unviable proposal, as is discussed elsewhere in this report. 
Furthermore, it is noted that a previous scheme at this site which was granted planning 
permission (ref: 1/0578/2014/FULM) in relation to a ‘mixed use development comprising of 52 
residential units, approximately 763 sq metres of retail / commercial development, open 
space, car parking, marina (including managers accommodation) and associated 
development’ has not come forward and been delivered as a viable scheme. 

 
3.26. In considering the proposal, HE consider that the levels of individual harm and 

cumulative harm are ‘less than substantial’, although at the high end of this range. This differs 
from the HIA which considers that the proposal give rise to a low level of less than substantial 
harm. It is however common ground that that the existing derelict condition of the site has a 
negative impact on the character and appearance of the Bideford East Conservation Area as 
well as the setting of a number of listed buildings as detailed below. 

 
3.27. The decision maker is required to assess if any harm is caused to either the character 

and appearance of the conservation area or the settings of the listed buildings. A view must 
be reached regarding the magnitude of that harm having regard to the three categories 
recognised in the NPPF: substantial harm, less than substantial harm and no harm. In 
accordance with HE and the Conservation Officer, your Officers agree that the level of harm 
is one of ‘less than substantial’ to the following heritage assets- 

 

• Bideford Bridge 

• Royal Hotel 

• 26, 27, 28 Barnstaple Street 

• 17 & 18 Barnstaple Street 

• Bideford Conservation Area 

• Bideford East Conservation Area 
 

3.28. The level of harm to the following assets is considered ‘no harm’- 
 

Milestone - The significance of the milestone is the stone itself with the carving upon it and its 
location on the street to show the distance to Barnstaple(Barum on the stone). The proposal will 
alter the buildings which are adjacent the bus shelter and mile stone but the bus shelter and 
milepost(distance marker) will be retained with no negative impact on setting.  
 
Torrington Street Group - The setting of the group is limited due to the enclosed nature of the 
street and the former industrial land strip between the street and the river but this setting 
contributes positively to their overall significance. The proposed rebuilt Brunswick Wharf  building 
has the greatest potential impact on these gardens as it forms the enclosing wall of the north 
garden. This building will be re-built with salvaged materials on a similar footprint and slightly taller 

Page 72



to accommodate flood defence measures. It is considered there will be a neutral impact on the 
Torrington Street group. 
 
Springfield Terrace – seen in views with the Royal Hotel. The terrace is sited sufficiently high 
behind the Royal Hotel that it remains visible in views from Bideford and along Barnstaple Street 
from the Old Barnstaple Road viewpoint. No harm will result to the setting.   

 
3.29. ‘Less than substantial harm’ can be considered as being on a scale with lower, 

medium and high levels. Your Officers have assessed the above detailed level of harm on the 
setting (or character & appearance of conservation areas) of the heritage assets having due 
regard to the finding of the HIA and the HE and Conservation Officers responses as follows- 

 
3.30. Bideford Bridge – Towards high level of less than substantial harm. The setting is a 

major and important contributor to its significance of the bridge and the application site is 
important in the overall setting of the bridge. Whilst the proposals maintain a scale of 
development on the southern end of the application site which responds closely to the 
existing and historic built form, due to the prominence of the residential blocks from multiple 
viewpoints, particularly from the west, and when travelling across the bridge, the primacy of 
the bridge is eroded. 

 
3.31. Royal Hotel - Medium level of less than substantial harm. Whilst the primary 

significance is its interior plasterwork, the Victorian exterior provides a landmark building in 
the east side of Bideford. The application site is important in the overall setting of the hotel. 
Views particularly from the north west will be eroded by the development with the prominence 
of the proposed residential blocks reducing the status of the hotel as a landmark feature. 
However, as the proposals maintain a scale of development on the southern end of the 
application site which responds closely to the existing and historic built form, the perception of 
the hotel as a landmark building when travelling from the west will largely be retained. 

 
3.32. 26, 27, 28 Barnstaple Street – Low level of less than substantial harm. These buildings 

are listed for their group value and are typical urban vernacular buildings. The change to their 
immediate setting will alter with the substitution of the wall with the new Steamer Wharf 
building which is higher than the existing structure. Additionally, the views along Barnstaple 
Street will be altered with the introduction of the new development enclosing and visually 
dominating the views along the street. The Steamer Wharf building is taller than the building it 
replaces, although set back from the Street further. The total massing of the proposed 
buildings along Barnstaple Street will result in a minor adverse change to the setting of the 
listed buildings given their scale and character. 

 
3.33. 17 & 18 Barnstaple Street - Low level of less than substantial harm. The views along 

Barnstaple Street will be altered with the introduction of the new development enclosing and 
visually dominating the street. The introduction of development of the scale proposed to the 
western side of Barnstaple Street will be more prominent in the street scene and will impact 
the setting of the listed buildings given their domestic scale and character. 

 
3.34. Bideford Conservation Area – Medium level of less than substantial harm to the 

character and appearance. The Bideford Conservation Area has been assessed in a 
conservation area appraisal document as that of ‘the riverside town framed by its landscape 
setting’. The proposed residential blocks (Clarence and Queens wharf) will form the dominant 
viewpoint in multiple views from the Bideford Conservation Area towards East-the-Water. 
Given this scale, the proposal will draw the eye and obscure the townscape to the east. The 
buildings will however sit below the geographic ridgeline allowing an appreciation of the 
topography of the area although some views of the green backdrop will be obscured. Any 
impact on views to the ridgeline will be reduced from viewpoints from higher ground within the 
conservation area. The massing of the proposed development to the southern section of the 
site maintains comparable scale to the existing buildings as well as the scale of the built form 
of the Royal Hotel and the prominent buildings to the east. 

 

Page 73



3.35. Bideford East Conservation Area - Medium level of less than substantial harm to the 
character and appearance. The Site is within the conservation area and is an important 
element of it, although currently in a derelict condition which negatively impacts on the 
character and appearance of the conservation area. The proposed residential blocks 
(Clarence and Queens wharf), will be out of scale with existing development within the 
conservation area. It is noted that former buildings on the site were of an industrial scale and 
type, however the proposal would result in a dominant built form along Barnstaple Street 
changing the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area. Despite this, 
the proposal will also provide a well-considered and sympathetic public domain and built form 
to the south of the site which will  encourage public use and enhance the character of this 
element of the conservation area, and also return a form of enclosure to Barnstaple Street 
which has been absent for some considerable time since buildings on the site were 
demolished. 

 
3.36. In addition, HE considers that cumulative significance or impacts is an important 

consideration. An Addendum to the HIA considers that this impact is a “collective impact” and 
not a “cumulative impact”. It is agreed by your Officers that the proposed development will be 
both inter-visible and co-visible with the range of heritage assets assessed. In terms of 
collective impacts, an assessment has to be made as to whether this co-visibility sufficiently 
establishes that in each case the development will cause harm to the significance of the 
assets when assessed either individually or together, and whether the collective impacts 
would increase the perceived impacts on the significance of the relevant heritage assets.  

 
3.37. The accompanying Landscape Visual Impact Assessment Baseline Appraisal 

illustrates many, but not all, key views encompassing multiple heritage assets and the 
development. In general, the collective impacts differ from the viewpoint, with for example 
views from the Bideford Conversation Area providing collective views of the bridge, the Royal 
Hotel, 17 & 18 Barnstaple Street and wider the East-the-Water conservation area, but the 
other heritage assets screened by other structures. Likewise, within the Bideford East 
Conservation Area previously discussed, collective views of several heritage assets will be 
co-visible with the proposal from differing viewpoints. 

 
3.38. Affected heritage assets have been previously identified within this report, and an 

assessment made as to the level of harm afforded to each individual asset. The dominance of 
the Clarence and Queens Wharf buildings in collective views do cause harm to the 
significance of the heritage assets for the reasons outlined within the assessment of the 
conservation areas above, however it is not considered that when considered collectively, any 
single collective impact exceeds ‘less than substantial’ harm’. 

 
3.39. Members should be aware that whilst less than substantial harm has been identified, 

this does not impact on the ‘great weight’ to be given to the heritage asset’s conservation as 
required within the NPPF and Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP with greater weight 
being applied the more important the asset.  

 
3.40. As ‘less than substantial’ harm has been found, Para 196 of the NPPF requires that 

this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. The public benefits 
are outlined elsewhere in this report but are wide ranging and significant. The applicant has 
sought to minimise harm as far as possible, and a balance has to be made between harm 
and benefit  giving great weight to the conservation of the heritage assets and having due 
regard to the “special regard to the desirability of preserving” listed buildings or their settings 
(Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, section 66), and giving 
“special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing” the character or appearance 
of conservation areas (section 72(1)). In essence, the effect of the statutory duties “is that the 
desirability of preserving the setting of a listed building is required to be treated as a factor of 
“considerable importance and weight”, giving rise to a strong presumption against granting 
planning permission for development which would harm that setting. Furthermore, as detailed 
in South Lakeland District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment [1992] 2 A.C. 141, 

Page 74



the “general duty” in section 66(1) “applies with particular force if harm would be caused to 
the setting of a Grade I listed building, a designated heritage asset of the highest significance 

 
3.41. paragraph 192 of the NPPF requires that Local Planning Authorities take account of 

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and 
the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 

 
3.42. Your Officers, in assessing the proposals against all aspects of the relevant local and 

national policies and statutory duties, reach the conclusion that less than substantial harm 
has been identified as described above. Policy DM07(2) states that proposals which conserve 
and enhance heritage assets and their settings will be supported. Where there is unavoidable 
harm to heritage assets and their settings, proposals will only be supported where the harm is 
minimised as far as possible, and an acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be 
achieved in line with the national policy tests, giving great weight to the conservation of 
heritage assets. 

 
3.43. Your Officers consider that the applicant has demonstrated that an alternative viable 

scheme which provides similar public benefits is not deliverable at this time. Amendments 
have been made to the design of the scheme following discussions with the Local Planning 
Authority and Historic England, although levels of harm remain. Redevelopment of this site 
will result in significant regeneration benefits to Bideford, whilst bringing into use a site which 
has long been disused and derelict and currently negatively impacts on the identified heritage 
assets. The associated flood prevention works as described elsewhere in this report will also 
benefit multiple heritage assets due to the future potential reduction in flood risk and 
associated damage. The proposed buildings of Clarence and Queens Wharf are of a 
significantly larger scale than those in proximity, although the architecture introduces variety 
over the site as a whole and incorporates well thought out public spaces and will create a 
sense of place removing the existing negative visual impacts of the existing site.  

 
3.44. Full details of public benefits are discussed in detail elsewhere in this report, and as 

required, by NPPF para 196 and Policy DM07 further consideration of the balancing exercise 
to be undertaken by the decision taker is set out within the Planning Balance section of this 
report. 

 
Archaeology 

 
3.45. The proposed development lies in an area of archaeological potential with regard to 

medieval and later riverside activity and industries such as ship building and water 
transportation. An archaeological desk-based assessment has been submitted in support of 
this planning application which highlights the archaeological potential of the site. As he 
proposed development of the site will involve the demolition of the extant buildings as well as 
ground disturbance for the construction of residential units etc which has the potential to 
expose and destroy archaeological and artefactual deposits associated with the historic use 
of the site. Following discussions with the County Archaeologist, a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) has been submitted which sets out the scope of the archaeological work 
and historic building recording to be undertaken in mitigation for the impact of the proposed 
development upon the archaeological assets within the application site.  

 
3.46. The Count Archaeologist has confirmed that this is acceptable, and raise no 

objections, subject to the imposition of a planning condition ensuring work is proceeded with 
in accordance with the WSI. 

 
4. Amenity; 
 

Page 75



4.1. Policy DM01 requires that development should secure or maintain amenity appropriate to the 
locality with special regard to the likely impact on neighbours, the operation of neighbouring 
uses, future occupiers, visitors on the site and any local services. Policy DM02 (2) states 
development will be supported where it does not result in unacceptable impacts to (a)  
atmospheric pollution by gas or particulates, including smell, fumes, dust, grit, smoke and 
soot; (b) pollution of surface or groundwater (fresh and salt) including rivers, canals, other 
watercourses, waterbodies, wetlands, water gathering grounds including catchment areas, 
aquifers, groundwater protection areas, harbours, estuaries or the sea; (c) noise or vibration; 
and (d) light pollution. Policy DM04 (i) requires development to ensure the amenities of 
existing and future neighbouring occupiers are safeguarded. 

 
4.2. The Environmental Protection Officer(EPO) has commented in terms of the potential for the 

development to result in detriment to amenity value for the dwellings and Royal Hotel sited in 
Barnstaple Street to the east as well as disturbance to Wooda surgery located to the north. 
Due to need to prevent or minimise disturbance during the development, Conditions have 
been suggested in relation to the requirement for a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP), restriction of construction and site delivery times, and also a further condition 
requiring prior approval of any external plant or equipment, including extraction and air 
conditioning, or alterations to the elevations of the commercial buildings.  

 
4.3. In terms of the second condition recommended by the EPO in relation to external plant and 

alterations to external elevations, this is not considered to be necessary as any of these 
matters which may cause concern would require consent in any case. 

 
4.4. An objection has also been received on behalf of the Wooda surgery located to the north of 

the development. As well as other matters covered in this report, concern is raised in relation 
to overlooking and overshadowing of windows to the southern elevation of the surgery. An 
overlooking study has been provided by the applicant to indicate the extent of overlooking to 
existing consultancy rooms from the differing floors of the proposed development. The 
proposed Clarence Wharf building is at its nearest some 14.1m from the nearest window at 
the surgery, with other windows being 17.17m to 18.81m distant. It is noted from the Surgery 
website that opening times are currently 8am – 6pm Monday to Friday, with an offer of some 
appointments available in the evening and at weekends. There are no planning restrictions 
preventing additional opening times of the Surgery. 

 
4.5. The ground floor windows at the surgery would largely be screened from view by the 

boundary wall and existing outbuildings although it is noted that the outbuildings are outside 
the control of the applicant and could be removed in the future. There would be some degree 
of overlooking of first floor windows, particularly from the ground floor apartments. It is noted 
that whilst in a commercial use and not a more sensitive residential use, and the upper floor 
appears to be currently largely ‘back of house’ type uses, the uses of the rooms could be 
more sensitive in the future given the nature of the use of the building. However, upper floor 
windows within the surgery can currently be overlooked to a high degree from the highway 
and public carpark. The window-to-window separation distances is similar to that elsewhere, 
and as to be expected in the locality. Given the context of the use and the present levels of 
privacy, the overlooking is not considered to result in such a level of harm as to warrant a 
reason for refusal. 

 
4.6. Given the relationship with Barnstaple Street, there are also potential overlooking and 

overshadowing concerns in relation to residential dwellings, particularly in relation to 17 & 18 
Barnstaple Street which will be directly to the east of the Queens Wharf building, and 7 
Barnstaple Street, which whilst not directly opposite the Clarence Wharf building, will be in 
some proximity. These properties are all set directly on the pavement of Barnstaple Street 
and therefore do not benefit from high levels of privacy as evidenced by the widespread use 
of ‘net’ type curtains. 18 Barnstaple Street would be closest to the development at some 14m, 
although the positioning of windows to the east elevation of Queens Wharf further reduces 
direct overlooking.  

 

Page 76



4.7. As the existing dwellings are to the east of the site, any additional overshadowing created by 
the proposal would be later in the day. The applicant has provided a sun path study which 
confirms this to be the case with limited overshadowing at 12pm through the seasons. This is 
not considered to be of such significance to living conditions of occupiers as to give rise to a 
significant detriment on amenity. 

 
4.8. 21, 22, 26, 27 and 28 Barnstaple Street will be located to the east of the Steamer Wharf 

Building. These buildings presently face an unattractive blank façade of the existing 
warehouse building with some 8m separation. The Proposed Steamer Wharf building, which 
will feature commercial units at lower and upper ground floor levels will be set back to 
increase this separation to some 12m, whilst also improving the aesthetic of the street scene. 
Given the context of the locality, it is not considered that the proposal will give rise to 
significant amenity impacts on these dwellings. 

 
4.9. The Royal Hotel is located to the south east of the site, and it is noted that a letter of support 

has been submitted by the operator. Due to the layout of the scheme, it is considered that 
there will be minimal impacts to residents of the hotel. 

 
4.10. Wooda surgery have also raised concerns in relation to the location of electrical 

substations and generators which will be sited along the boundary with Wooda Surgery. The 
concerns relate to health impacts from electromagnetic fields (EMF) generated by the high 
voltage equipment and also concerns on the impact of EMF on electrical medical equipment 
utilised within the surgery. The applicant has confirmed that the generator will only operate to 
power life safety systems upon an emergency situation and power outage, therefore, it will 
only operate infrequently in this instance and annual testing / maintenance works can be 
completed during agreed and pre-arranged times. 

 
4.11. The control of EMFs at Work Regulations 2016 specifies limits for occupational 

exposure to EMFs, and sets out safe limits to Exposure Limit Values (ELVs). In order to 
satisfy the ELVs a series of magnetic field and electric field levels, known as Action Levels 
(ALs) are specified, and provided these ALs are satisfied the ELVs will not be exceeded. 

 
4.12. The applicant has supplied a guidance note from Western Power Distribution (WPD) 

which outlines public exposure guidelines as well as detailing the magnetic field created by 
substations (and domestic appliances as a comparison). These guidelines include Reference 
Levels for magnetic and electric fields above which further analysis is required to ensure that 
the Basic Restriction (i.e. the limit for current density in the central nervous system) is not 
exceeded. In terms of magnetic fields, the Field Level is 100 microteslas.  

 
4.13. The WPD documents confirms that Electricity distribution substations, produce up to 2 

microteslas close to their perimeter fence (or occasionally more if built into another building), 
and often no electric field at all. The fields fall rapidly with distance, and within 1 to 2 metres 
from a typical substation, the fields associated with it are usually indistinguishable from other 
fields present in homes. 

 
4.14. As a comparison, a TV, Washing machine or microwave produces 50 microteslas 

close to the appliance, and 0.2 microteslas 1m away. Given this level of EMF, it is not 
considered that the proximity of the substation to Wooda Surgery would result in adverse 
impacts. 

 
4.15. The proposal is considered to accord with Policies DM01, DM02 and DM04 of the 

NDTLP as far as they relate to amenity considerations. 
 
5. Impact on existing Solar PV. 
 

5.1. Concerns have been raised by the Wooda Surgery that the development will adversely affect 
a Solar PV array located on the southern roof slope of the Surgery. The legal judgement of 
William Ellis McLennan vs Medway Council and Ken Kennedy [2019] EWHC 1738. 

Page 77



establishes that in planning terms, the effect that another development proposal may have 
upon a renewable energy system is a material consideration. The legal judgment recognised 
that Paragraphs 148, 153 and 154 of NPPF and policies with the local plan were directed 
towards new development, however the essential point is that both the local plan and the 
NPPF recognise the positive contribution that can be made to climate change by even small 
scale renewable energy schemes. It further indicates that Section 19(1 A) of the 2004 Act and 
the NPPF confirm that mitigation of climate change is a legitimate planning consideration. 
 

5.2. Policy ST02 of the NDTLP seeks to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by locating 
development appropriately and promotes opportunities for renewable and low carbon energy 
generation, 

 
5.3. Wooda surgery state that they ‘generate a considerable amount of their own electricity via a 

South facing PV array mounted on the roof of their building which is helping the practice to 
become more sustainable and reducing their carbon footprint. The PV array also generates 
an income’  

 
5.4. In response, and as requested by the surgery, the applicant has produced a sun path study 

which has been constructed from survey information and mapped to AOD levels including 
solar data to accurately represent shading on a particular day. This study considers the 
impact at three times of the day (8.00am, 12.00pm, and 4.00pm) and through the 
spring/autumn equinox, summer solstice and winter solstice. 

 
5.5. This study indicates that for the majority of the year, no shadows are cast on the solar pv. 

However, shadows are cast during the Winter Solstice.   
 

5.6. Against this context, it is concluded that there will be an impact on the neighbouring solar 
array during certain times of the winter months. This impact is likely to reduce electricity 
generation, although in the context of a full year energy generation is likely to be minimal 
given the lack of shading at other times of the year. Therefore, whilst a material consideration, 
it is considered this affect, given the comparative levels of additional overshadowing 
throughout the year should be afforded minimal weight in the planning balance. 

 
6. Transport & Accessibility; 
 

6.1. Policy DM05: Highways of the NDTLP requires development to ensure safe and well 
designed vehicular access and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the 
needs and accessibility of all highway users including cyclists and pedestrians. Development 
will also protect and enhance existing public rights of way, footways, cycleway and bridleways 
to facilitate improvements or provide new connections. 

 
6.2. Paragraph 108 of the NPPF requires specific applications for development to ensure that safe 

and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users.  Paragraph 109 advises that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe. 

 
6.3. The site is in a highly sustainable location with direct access to various modes of transport 

including pedestrian, cycle and public transport. The newly created pedestrian connections 
and riverside walk will be linked to the town centre to the south via a path through the 
memorial gardens. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment (TA), which 
reviews accessibility associated with the proposal and the likely impact of the proposed 
development on the local highway network.  

 
6.4. Barnstaple Street, the B3233, is a single carriageway two laned road providing access to 

Bideford and East the Water from the A39. It has a 30mph speed limit adjacent to the north 
part of the site reducing to 20mph in the vicinity of the proposed northern residential access. 
Approximately 100m south of the existing Clarence Wharf car park access, the B3233 forms 

Page 78



a mini roundabout with Station Hill, Torrington Street, and Bideford Long Bridge (the B3233). 
There are currently parking restrictions along the B3233 Barnstaple Street along the site’s 
frontage on both sides. 

 
6.5. The vehicular accesses to the site by residents, customers and visitors to the commercial and 

retail uses, and the replacement Clarence Wharf car park are from Barnstaple Street. Two 
accesses are proposed servicing the private residential access, and the commercial / 
replacement car park. The accesses are shown as having 6m radii to turn in and out, and 
visibility splays appropriate for the posted speed limit by direction of either 43m for 30mph to 
the north or 25m for 20 mph to the south. 

 
6.6. The proposal makes a number of changes to the current highway layout to allow vehicular 

access to the car parking undercrofts and to facilitate loading for the commercial units. These 
car park entrances are sited in the vicinity and in lieu of the existing site entrances so it is 
anticipated that visibility from exiting vehicles will be no worse than at present. The east bus 
stop on Barnstaple Street is retained with a new bus stop proposed on the west side adjacent 
to the site. Larger vehicles are not permitted to cross Bideford Long Bridge due to a weight 
restriction so will approach the site with good visibility from the south and north. A wide near 
continuous pavement to Barnstaple Street on the west side is proposed which will also 
feature tree planting and a 3m wide cycleway / footway across the site frontage.  

 
6.7. This cycleway has been provided following representations made by the public and 

discussions between the applicant and Devon County Council (DCC) Highways and provides 
a wider link to the Tarka Trail cycle network. This link will be secured via planning condition. 
DCC have commented that they believe this as an acceptable contribution toward the wider 
cycleway network and will improve cycling options to and from the proposed site and on this 
basis have removed their request for a financial obligation. 

 
6.8. It is noted the Bideford Town Council have objected to the scheme, partially on the basis of a 

difficult access for services from a busy road. 
 

6.9. Following concerns raised by DCC, A Road Safety Audit (RSA) has been submitted which 
concludes that the audit team were unable to identify any areas of concern in terms of road 
safety of the users of the highway network associated with the proposed plans.  

 
6.10. The RSA has been considered by DCC whom have raised no significant concerns. It is 

noted that the applicant will need to enter into a highway agreement with the Highway 
Authority for the proposed alterations to the existing highway.  

 
6.11. DCC confirm that subject to conditions, the proposed development offers ‘safe and 

suitable’ access and that the cumulative impact of the development would not be ‘severe’, as 
are the tests of the NPPF. 

 
6.12. Given the application sites highly sustainable location, provision of transport links and 

support from the Highway Authority it is considered that there are no in principle concerns 
and the proposal accords with Policies BID07, ST10, DM05 of the NDTLP and paragraphs 
108 and 109 of the NPPF. 

 
7. Car parking; 
 

7.1. Policy DM06: Parking Provision states that development proposals will be expected to 
provide an appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet anticipated needs, 
having regard to the accessibility and sustainability of the site, the availability of public 
transport; the provision of safe walking and cycling routes; and the specific scale, type and 
mix of development. The policy states that proposals must encourage the use of sustainable 
modes of transport through careful design, layout and integration to the existing built form. 

 

Page 79



7.2. Parking for the proposal is located within an undercroft car park with two separate accesses 
for access to: 

 
i) the commercial units, and the replacement area of the Clarence Wharf public car park which is  

located closest to the Bideford Long Bridge, and 
ii) the other access to the north is for the private residential units use only 

 
7.3. The parking allocation proposed within the submission is as follows: 

 
45 public vehicle spaces including 3 disabled spaces;  
40 public cycle spaces; 
103 private vehicle spaces; 
140 private cycle spaces. 

 
7.4. Updated parking surveys within the Transport Statement have demonstrated that the 

replacement public car park will accommodate anticipated peak demand during the periods of 
charging based on 2020 seasonal and typical conditions. The layout of the carparks provides 
sufficient manoeuvring and parking bay size and allows provision for motorcycle parking. As 
the parking is within the under croft, ventilation is achieved through a mechanically ventilated 
system. Two escape doors are provided to the west of the car park for egress in case of 
emergency. If planning approval is forthcoming, your Officers would suggest a planning 
condition is imposed requiring the submission of a management plan detailing future 
management, security and maintenance of the carpark.  

 
7.5. Given the application sites highly sustainable location there are no in principle concerns about 

the on-site car parking provision and this is considered to be an appropriate level of provision. 
A phasing plan can form a planning condition in order to minimise any impact to off street 
carparking. 

 
7.6. In accordance with the requirement of para 108 & 109 of the NPPF and the compliance with 

the NDTLP highways and parking Policy, it is considered that there are no residual adverse 
cumulative impacts in terms of highway safety or the operational capacity of the surrounding 
transport network and the proposal accords with Policy DM06 of the NDTLP. 

 
 
8. Flood Risk & Drainage; 

 
8.1. NDTLP Policy ST03 requires that development takes account of climate change to minimise 

flood risk. Policy DM04 requires development to 'provide effective water management 
including Sustainable Drainage Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of 
rainwater'.  

 
8.2. The site of this proposed development is located within the Environment Agency’s Flood 

Zone 3 (defined as an area having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding or 
land having a 1 in 200 or greater of sea flooding) and is at risk from tidal and fluvial flooding. 
As the site is within FZ3 a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted as is required 
by both the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015 and para 163 of the NPPF. The site also falls within a Critical Drainage Area 
(CDA).  

 
8.3. A topographic survey of the existing site has been undertaken. The topography of the site is 

such that levels generally fall from approximately 5.7m AOD on the eastern boundary to 5.2m 
AOD on the western boundary. Levels within the central area of the site just south of 
Clarence Wharf car park are slightly lower, falling from approximately 5.5m AOD to 5.0m 
AOD. There are a number of historical records of flooding on the site, including in March 2008 
and January 2014 when it is understood that a number of properties in Barnstaple Street 
experienced flooding. 

 

Page 80



8.4. The NPPF produces a sequential risk-based approach to developing in areas at risk from 
flooding or affecting flood risk areas. Para 162 clarifies that where planning applications come 
forward on sites allocated in the development plan through the sequential test, applicants 
need not apply the sequential test again. 

 
8.5. The mixed-use proposal on an allocated site is largely residential led development and 

considered to be ‘more vulnerable’ in-line with Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) Table 2. 
Table 3 of PPG states that more vulnerable developments in Flood Zone 3 require an 
Exception Test. However, the lowest habitable elevation of 8.10m AOD has been found to be 
0.56m above Flood Zone 3 levels with applied climate change. Drawing 11211- FRA 3A Tidal 
Defence Strategy rev P5 shows the position and height of the defences that mitigate tidal, 
surface water and tide locking flooding.  

 
8.6. The passive defences, dealing with surface water flooding, includes a level for all entrances 

of 5.85mAOD given the speed of flooding and lack of time to install demountable defences. In 
addition to this ‘passive defence line’, demountable defences to 7.65mAOD and flood 
resistant/resilience construction are provided on the lower ground floors to fully deal with tidal 
flooding. During the design tidal flood event, there will be no safe access and egress route. 
Safe refuge is available as an alternative and this is considered suitable given the location 
and context of the proposal. 

 
8.7. Following discussions with the Environment Agency (EA), the applicant has submitted further 

information which clarified the design of the flood defence (tidal and surface water), proposed 
height of site and room levels, and the balcony position and dimensions. The EA have 
confirmed that ‘The new tidal defence, when combined with our proposed new defence 
scheme (subject to securing funding), will provide a significant betterment to all existing 
properties along Barnstaple Street and Ethelwynne Brown Close. The additional of a surface 
water overflow system will also reduce the impact of surface water flooding in Barnstaple 

Street.’ In terms of surface water drainage, the EA continue ‘The proposal Barnstaple Street 

surface water flooding alleviation overflow system is welcomed. This will help to alleviate the 
localised flooding, compensate for the small loss of storage the site currently provides and 
remove the existing exceedance routes. We can also confirm that the Critical Drainage Area 
(CDA) requirements are not applicable given the direct discharge to the River Torridge. The 
consideration of a tidal locking situation is also welcomed.’ 

 
8.8. In terms of surface water drainage, the proposal seeks to discharge surface water into the 

estuary with the outfall being modelled during a tidal-locking event to ensure that surface 
water can be stored within the car park. Devon County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority 
have considered the drainage proposal and have raised no in-principle objections, providing a 
condition be imposed requiring further detailed information being submitted for consideration.  

 
8.9. Further planning conditions will also be required with regard detailed design of flood 

defences, flood resilient construction techniques however the proposal is considered to 
accord with Policy ST03. 

 
9. Ecology & Contamination;  
 

9.1. Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on 
wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 
2010). Policies ST14 and Policy DM08 of the NDTLP concerns biodiversity and requires 
development to conserve, protect and, where possible, enhance biodiversity and geodiversity 
interests and soils commensurate with their status and giving appropriate weight to their 
importance. In particular, Policy ST14 (a), (b), (i) and (j) are of relevance and DM08(1), (5) 
and (8). DM08 further requires all development to 'ensure that the importance of habitats and 
designated sites are taken into account' and to 'consider opportunities for the creation of a 

Page 81



local and district wide biodiversity network of wildlife corridors which link County Wildlife sites 
and other areas of biodiversity importance'. 

 
9.2. An Ecological Impact Assessment(EIA) has been submitted authored by Richard Green 

Ecology and dated November 2020. This has been supplemented by an Addendum report 
dated February 2021 following the receipt of objections from the Environment Agency. 

 
9.3. The EIA baseline data was obtained via walk-over surveys and bat emergence reports. The 

surveys found that Building 3 (as detailed within the EIA) is confirmed to be used as a day 
roost and a hibernation roost by low numbers of common pipistrelle bats. Bats are not 
considered to be roosting in any other building. A licence will be required from Natural 
England for the demolition of building 3. The demolition of buildings 2, 3 and 4 would result in 
the destruction of feral pigeon, wren and swallow nesting locations. 

 
9.4. A variety of mitigation measures are proposed including incorporating bird and bat roosting 

provision within the proposed development.  
 

9.5. In terms of bio-diversity net gain, the existing habitats consist of: 
 

645 m2 of ruderal/ephemeral vegetation – equivalent to 0.13 habitat units. 
750 m2 of modified grassland - equivalent to 0.15 habitat units. 
145 m2 of amenity grassland - equivalent to 0.03 habitat units. 
160 m2 of ornamental shrubs - equivalent to 0.03 habitat units. 

 
9.6. The proposals would result in the loss of; 

 
645 m2 of ruderal/ephemeral vegetation – equivalent to 0.13 habitat units. 
750 m2 of modified grassland - equivalent to 0.15 habitat units. 
145 m2 of amenity grassland - equivalent to 0.03 habitat units. 
160 m2 of ornamental shrubs - equivalent to 0.03 habitat units. 

 
9.7. The proposals would result in the creation of; 

 
385 m2 of ornamental shrub/grass planting of “fairly poor” condition - equivalent to 0.11 habitat 
units. 
401 m2 of ornamental shrub/grass planting of “poor” condition - equivalent to 0.08 habitat units. 
366 m2 of extensive green sedum roof – equivalent to 0.18 habitat units. 
145 m2 of street tree planting – equivalent to 0.02 habitat units. 
48 m2 of green walls, planted with a mixture of flowering plants – equivalent to 0.01 habitat units. 
29 m of native species-rich hedgerow – equivalent to 0.01 hedgerow units. 
117 m of yew hedgerow – equivalent to 0.02 hedgerow units. 

 
9.8. The proposed creation of habitats would result in a gain of 0.06 habitat units (a 16.56% net 

gain in habitat units), and a gain of 0.04 hedgerow units. 
 

9.9. The Taw-Torridge estuary abuts the site which is a designated Site of Special Scientific 
Interest SSSI) and the Kynoch Local Nature Reserve is in close proximity to the south of the 
site. Both the EA and Natural England (NE) had previously objected to the proposal due to 
impact on the SSSI from the proposed pontoon and associated recreational use of the 
estuary. It was felt that the proposed pontoon could potentially result in a loss of mudflats, 
disturbance of birds and migration of fish during the construction of the pontoon.   

 
9.10. Following these objections, the scheme has been amended in that the pontoon is now 

proposed to run parallel with the quay wall, as opposed to projecting at 90 degrees into the 
estuary. Additional information has also been supplied including the previously referenced 
Ecology addendum report and a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP): 
implementation. 

 

Page 82



9.11. The EA have confirmed that the revised design of the pontoon and the additional 
information has satisfied their previous concerns regarding the loss of intertidal habitat and 
adverse impacts on migratory fish subject to the imposition on planning conditions. Similarly, 
NE now have no objection to the proposal subject to securing appropriate mitigation. Without 
appropriate mitigation there is risk of damage to the interest feature of the SSSI.    

 
9.12. Providing the above measures are secured via a planning condition, it is considered 

that the application proposal will have an overall positive impact on biodiversity interests at 
the site and not impact adjacent designated sites in accordance with NDTLP Policies ST14 
and DM08 and the above quoted legislation. Informatives will be added to any decision 
reminding the applicant of their duties under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 [as 
amended], Conservation [Natural Habitats, &c] Regulations 1994, the Countryside Rights Of 
Way Act 2000, and the Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017. 

 
Contamination 
 

9.13. A Phase 1 Environmental Desktop Report accompanies the application which identifies 
a number of potentially contaminative historic uses. As such, having regard for the proposed 
end use, a contaminated land planning condition will be required in order that risks from land 
contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together 
with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems. An Asbestos Survey Report 
has also been submitted and identifies a significant amount of asbestos containing materials 
located within the application site. As such, a planning condition is recommended to ensure 
that the removal and disposal of asbestos containing materials must be carried out in 
accordance the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and HSG248 by a suitably qualified 
contractor. 

 
Waste 
 

9.14. Bin stores for both residential and commercial use are provided and will be located at 
ground level within the car park. The volume of provision has been calculated using the 
recycling strategy for Torridge and the recycling containers provided per residential unit.  

 
The volume of these are -: 
Bin Bags (General Waste) - 240L Wheelie Bin  
Green Box (Plastic/Aluminium/Batteries/Electricals) - 55L Box 
Green Bag (Paper/Fabric/Shoes) - 55L 
Brown Bag (Card) - 55L 
Food Caddy (Food Waste) - 20L Caddy 
Black Box (Glass) - 55L Box 

 
9.15. Refuse collection for residents will be consistent with existing residential properties and 

undertaken by a vehicle stopping on the highway. Policy DM03 requires that all development 
that will generate a significant volume of construction and operational waste will be required 
to demonstrate through a waste audit statement how the waste will be minimised, and 
residual waste will be reused or recycled on site, or segregated for reuse and recovery 
elsewhere in accordance with the waste hierarchy. A Waste Management survey has been 
provided detailing proposals to facilitate minimising on-site waste generation. 

 
10. Economic Regeneration; 
 

10.1. Policy DM12: Employment Development at Towns, Local Centres and Villages 
supports the creation of jobs as identified in policy ST06. Policy ST11 supports employment 
growth to deliver quantitative and qualitative improvements in job opportunities. Furthermore, 
Policy ST12 encourages attractive spaces and a balanced night life within the town centres 
and environs to achieve a mix of facilities and active town centres.  The NPPF states that 
Planning policies and decisions should support the role that town centres play at the heart of 

Page 83



local communities, by taking a positive approach to their growth, management and 
adaptation.  

 
10.2. The application has been accompanied by a Regeneration Statement which outlines 

the vision for the site and the employment opportunities that arise. This indicates that the 
construction phase of the £22 million pound scheme would result in just under 300 
construction jobs (based on “Forecasting the Number of Jobs created After Construction; 
Published by D Forbes (2012), association of Researchers in Construction Management; for 
every £75,000 of construction expenditure, one full time temporary local job is created for the 
period of the project). Post construction the Statement continues that the scheme will provide 
employment opportunities through management and maintenance as well as that created by 
the proposed commercial elements of the scheme.  The application is supported by the TDC 
Economic Development Team whom have commented that 

 
10.3. ‘The redevelopment of Brunswick Wharf is of central importance to the overall 

regeneration of Bideford and the elevation of the local economy. The site currently acts as a 
constant visible reminder of decline, with immense impact both upon the physical amenity of 
the town but also at a psychological level. The proposal seeks to capitalise upon the natural 
beauty of the river-front setting, not only with the provision of quality accommodation to cater 
for both locals but also to attract inward investment and further establish Bideford as a great 
place to live, work and visit. The much-needed works to the Quay wall will also create not 
only a visual impact but also opens up the space to facilitate community access and use, 
strengthening the lifestyle offer of the town. The £22m investment into the site will stimulate 
around 300 construction jobs, with others also arising from the commercial elements within 
the final development. Beyond that, this investment will create significant wider economic 
benefits for the town, creating an appealing destination and also stimulating further knock-on 
regeneration opportunities in East-the-Water.’ 

 
10.4. The regeneration of this site will undoubtably bring both short and long term 

demonstrable and significant economic benefits. The short term benefits will come through 
the investment in the site during its redevelopment (Construction jobs and investment in 
services). The commercial floorspace will create jobs in the long term with the high-quality 
public realm potentially attracting visitors from further afield as a destination given its location 
in proximity to the Tarka Trail. The residential units will further increase the footfall in the 
wider town centre and support local shops and services. There is a large amount of public 
support for the regeneration of this site and an active reuse of this prominent derelict site. The 
regeneration potential of the proposal should therefore be given significant weight in the 
decision-making process. The proposal is of a scale and location that accords with the 
requirements of Policies ST11, ST12 and DM12. 

 
11. Public Benefits; 

 
11.1. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) states that public benefits may 

follow from many developments and could be anything that delivers economic, social or 
environmental objectives as described in the NPPF (para 8). Public benefits should flow from 
the proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public 
at large and not just be a private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be visible 
or accessible to the public in order to be genuine public benefits. 

 
11.2. In isolation of the material facts in relation to the setting of the previously described 

heritage assets there is no doubt that wider public benefits would accrue from developing the 
land.  

 
11.3. Below are listed the benefits that are considered to result from the proposal, including 

the weighting afforded to these benefits by your Officers. 
 

11.3.1. Enabling the completion of flood defence works as part of a wider Environment Agency 
scheme that will benefit the site and the surrounding area. The first phase works will be 

Page 84



carried out and funded by this development and will reduce flood risk on the site and in 
the area, including to other heritage assets. Within the Environment Agency’s 
consultation response of the 3rd February it is stated ‘ The new tidal defence, when 
combined with our proposed new defence scheme (subject to securing funding), will 
provide a significant betterment to all existing properties along Barnstaple Street and 
Ethelwynne Brown Close. The additional of a surface water overflow system will also 
reduce the impact of surface water flooding in Barnstaple Street. The proposal 
Barnstaple Street surface water flooding alleviation overflow system is welcomed. This 
will help to alleviate the localised flooding, compensate for the small loss of storage the 
site currently provides and remove the existing exceedance routes. Furthermore, within 
additional correspondence to the applicant of the 16th December, The Flood & Coastal 
Risk Management Advisor of the Environment Agency stated - we are strategically 
looking at all the flood defences in East the Water.  The redevelopment of the Wharves is 
a key factor in proving betterment to all existing properties from both Tidal and surface 
water flooding. Your scheme will provide a direct betterment to the surface water flooding 
problem on Barnstaple Street which effects the Heritage Assets. The development’s new 
flood walls/gates, will not increase tidal flood risks to anyone else.   Indeed when we 
complete the works to the north of the site, it will help reduce the tidal flood risks to the 
Hotel. This is the current area we are looking at, and hope to build our parts of the 
defences in the next 6 year programme 2021-2028. The NPPF at para 157 (c) advocates 
using opportunities provided by new development to reduce the causes and impacts of 
flooding. The flood prevention works associated with this scheme demonstrably provides 
a benefit to the wider area and would be phase one of a wider scheme. This benefit is 
therefore afforded substantial weight. 

 
11.3.2. Enabling the repair and restoration works to the wharf wall and river frontage that will 

allow a public riverside walkway to be created; The proposal facilities restoration works to 
the wharf wall thereby facilitating phase one of a riverside walk. Whilst grant funding is 
potentially available, this is conditional on the site providing residential units. The 
Economic Development Officer considers works to the Quay wall will also create not only 
a beneficial visual impact but also opens up the space to facilitate community access and 
use, strengthening the lifestyle offer of the town. The improvement of pedestrian links 
and the opening of the riverside to the public is considered a benefit although it is 
acknowledged that this could be provided under differing means in the future. This 
benefit is afforded moderate weight.  

 
11.3.3. Increased investment into the local area both during the construction phase and as a 

result of increased spending by residents during the operational phase. It is noted that 
the projected £22m investment into the site will stimulate around 300 construction jobs, 
with others also arising from the commercial elements within the final development and 
thereafter. The NPPF at section 6 advocates that planning decision should help to create 
conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. The NPPF continues that 
significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for 
development. This direct benefit, which would not be forthcoming if the current proposal 
is unsuccessful is afforded substantial weight. 

 
11.3.4. Regeneration of the site. The site is currently disused and derelict creating a negative 

perception of the town with minimal public benefits. Creation of new pedestrian routes 
and publicly accessible open space is intrinsically linked to the wider regeneration 
aspirations of the proposal. It is acknowledged that the public realm provided will be of 
high quality and attractive. Furthermore visitors to Bideford via the Tarka trail or highway 
from East-the-Water are currently presented with the existing derelict site as a gateway 
to Bideford. The proposal will result in an improvement to this important gateway and 
potential perception of Bideford to visitors. The associated investment will create 
significant wider economic benefits for the town, creating an appealing destination to 
draw visitors and trade and stimulating further regeneration opportunities in East-the-
Water and the wider area. In turn, this helps to secure the long-term viability of other 

Page 85



businesses in the area including the Grade I Listed Royal Hotel (It is noted that the 
proposed development is supported by the owners of the Royal Hotel); This is a key site, 
and therefore it is thought that few, if any other sites within Bideford Town Centre would 
be able to offer similar wider economic regeneration benefits. This benefit is afforded 
substantial weight. 

 
11.3.5. Provision of 85 new homes on a brownfield site within a sustainable town centre 

location. The provision of new market homes is an important benefit, especially in a 
sustainable town centre location. As a result of the Burwood Appeal 
(APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a 
five year supply of deliverable housing sites; with the appeal concluding that there is a 
supply of 4.23 years across Northern Devon. Therefore 85 new units would make a 
valued contribution to the Housing Land Supply.  Furthermore NPPF Para 118(c) states 
Planning policies and decisions should give substantial weight to the value of using 
suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and other identified needs, and 
support appropriate opportunities to remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, 
contaminated or unstable land; This benefit is afforded substantial weight. 

 
11.3.6. The creation of a new shared cycleway along Barnstaple Street providing enhanced 

connections from the Tarka Trail to East-the-Water and Bideford. Cycling infrastructure is 
an important consideration as cycling has demonstrable public health and environmental 
benefits. To make walking and cycling attractive options for the general public, safe and 
useable infrastructure must be available. The location of the site is in close proximity to 
the Tarka Trail and is likely to be a destination for pleasure cyclists. The NPPF at para 
102(c) requires that opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use 
are identified and pursued. The creation of a shared pedestrian cycle way along 
Barnstaple Street is therefore a public benefit, although due to its provision being limited 
to along the site frontage only moderate weight is afforded. 

 
11.3.7. Heritage benefits through the removal of a derelict and visually harmful site within a 

conservation area and within the setting of a number of listed buildings; As identified 
elsewhere in this report, and stated by Historic England, the existing site appears as a 
derelict, denuded area which results in a negative impact on a number of heritage assets. 
Redevelopment of this site will remove this particular negative impact. However, this 
benefit is afforded limited weight given the findings on the impact of the proposal on the 
surrounding heritage assets described elsewhere. 

 
11.3.8. Delivering biodiversity net gain and other environmental improvements including the 

decontamination of the site; The NPPF at para 170 states that decisions should minimise 
impacts on and provide net gain for biodiversity and at (f) remediating and mitigating 
despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate 
Environmental improvements including decontamination and mitigation are benefits, 
however the biodiversity net gain is a benefit that any development of a scale similar to 
the application proposal would be expected to provide (although it is envisaged that this 
proposal will provide a net gain of 16% against a Policy requirement of 10%), and 
ultimately serves to mitigate the impacts of the development.. This benefit is afforded 
limited weight. 

 
11.3.9. Provision of a pontoon extending the offer available in accessing the river Torridge; 

The proposed pontoon provides a differing offer for launching watercraft then what is 
currently available on the River Torridge which could add to the attractiveness of the area 
for recreational users. However, given the tidal nature of the Torridge, the use of the 
pontoon may be limited. Whilst a benefit of the scheme it is considered that this is 
afforded limited weight. 

 
11.4. The weight attributed to each of these identified public benefits is to be considered 

within the planning balance. 
 

Page 86



12. Viability and Section 106 Obligations; 
 
12.1. Any shortfall in infrastructure for the proposed development should be funded by 

developer contributions in accordance with NDTLP Policy ST23 (Infrastructure), which 
requires development to provide or contribute towards the timely provision of physical, social 
and green infrastructure made necessary by the specific or cumulative impacts of those 
developments. 

 
Affordable Housing: 

12.2. NDTLP Policy ST18 sets a requirement for developments of 11 or more dwellings to 
provide on-site delivery of affordable housing equal to 30% of the number of dwellings on site. 
Affordable housing is sought at a tenure split of 75% social rent and 25% intermediate in 
accordance with the mix specified by the Strategic Enabling Officer. 

 
12.3. Policy ST18 (5) states that ‘negotiation to vary the scale and nature of affordable 

housing provision, along with the balance of other infrastructure and planning requirements, 
will be considered on the basis of a robust appraisal of development viability’. 

 
12.4. Paragraph 7.31 clarifies that: ‘it is however accepted that there may be occasions 

whereby circumstances conspire to mean that the delivery of affordable housing in line with 
the policy requirements may compromise development viability. The obligation will lie with the 
developer to provide a robust financial justification to support any proposals failing to meet 
identified policy requirements. The local planning authority will consider such requests on the 
basis of an open book financial appraisal of development viability. The Local Planning 
Authority will normally require the appraisal to be independently verified, with the developer 
liable for reasonable costs incurred to the local planning authority in doing so. Where it is 
demonstrated that scheme viability prohibits meeting the full policy requirements for the 
provision of affordable housing and/or other planning obligations, the local planning authority 
will enter into negotiations to vary the proportion and/or mix of affordable housing provision’.   

 
12.5. The ability of the development to deliver affordable housing is considered further 

below. 
 

Education: 
12.6. The Local Education Authority (LEA) is seeking contributions required for education. 

The LEA has identified that the proposal will generate an additional 18 primary pupils and 11 
secondary pupils which would have a direct impact on West Croft Primary school, St Mary’s 
Primary school, East the Water Primary School, Bideford College and Atlantic Academy. 

 
12.7. An education contribution is requested as follows: £283,488 – primary contribution, 

£25,696 land contribution and £18,250 towards early years provision. 
 
Green Infrastructure & Built Facilities 

12.8. In respect of green infrastructure and built recreational facilities, NDTLP Policy DM10 
states: ‘Development will provide new accessible green infrastructure, including public open 
space and built facilities, to meet at least the green infrastructure quantitative and 
accessibility standards, as set out in Table 13.1 and Infrastructure Delivery Plan, to meet the 
needs of its intended occupants’ 
 

12.9. The ability of the development to deliver any required financial contribution for offsite 
green infrastructure of built facilities is considered further below. 
 

 
Viability Assessment: 

12.10. The Applicant has submitted viability appraisals that demonstrate with a policy 
compliant level of contributions, the development would be unviable. These appraisals are 
available for Members of the Plans Committee to view on the Council’s website, in line with 

Page 87



the requirements of the National Planning Policy Practice Guidance (NPPG) and recent high 
court judgement. 

 
12.11. As indicated above, Policy ST18 allows for negotiation to vary the scale and nature of 

affordable housing provision, along with the balance of other infrastructure and planning 
requirements, on the basis of a robust appraisal of development viability. 

 
12.12. Bailey Venning Associates (BVA) were instructed to independently verify the viability 

assessment that has been submitted and has provided a written report, which is appended to 
this Committee Report for Members consideration. The conclusions of the Assessment is that 
the application proposal is unviable when assuming a policy compliant level of planning 
obligations. Development of the site involves some significant ‘abnormal’ costs including 
demolition and asbestos removal; decontamination; works to wharf wall and river frontage; 
Lower ground floor flood requirements including tanking, piling and podium slab; Flood 
defence and swing gates/barriers; and public realm enhancements which is required via 
Policy BID07. The conclusion reached by BVA matches that of the applicants viability 
consultant that the residual land value based on target sale price of the units when compared 
to the cost of delivering the scheme would result in a deficit and not viable. BVA comment 
that – 
 
‘The first test of viability is to consider the applicant’s appraisal as submitted and the 
benchmark land value as they consider it. It is notable that the applicant has not suggested 
any value for the benchmark land value. On the basis of the evidence submitted by the 
applicant, the viability of the new proposals for 85 apartments and commercial uses are, on 
the face of it, not viable and indeed generate a negative land value’ 

 
And 

 
Overall then, the revised appraisal model still results in a negative land value. A benchmark 
land value has not yet been assessed by the applicant and this can be reviewed when 
presented. If the land value were to be considered to be nil, then the resultant model delivers 
a profit margin of 15.7% of GDV which is within the lower boundary of profit set out in the 
PPG, but considered to be sub-optimal. Inputting a benchmark land value would reduce that 
profit further though it is noted that the land is subject to matters that would affect benchmark 
land value.’ 

 
12.13. Following this initial assessment, TDC are awaiting the outcome of an application for 

grant funding in relation to works to the wharf wall and river frontage from the Land Release 
Fund (LRF) via One Public Estate (OPE). The OPE programme is a partnership between the 
Office of Government Property in Cabinet Office, the Local Government Association (LGA) 
and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). The aim of the 
OPE is to bring public sector bodies together, to create better places by using public assets 
more efficiently, creating service and financial benefits for partners and releasing land for 
housing and development. the LRF, is a programme which enables councils to bring forward 
surplus council-owned land for housing development.   

 
12.14. As such, the assessment has been reassessed on the basis of potential receipt of the 

grant funding, which would be conditional. The prime focus of the LRF funding is that it is 
used to enable the delivery of housing.  The quay wall works are essential for the 
development of the site.  If successful, TDC would not be permitted to draw down the OPE 
funds if the site does not deliver the housing included within the proposed mixed-use 
development. 

 
12.15. BVA’s conclusions in light of any Grant funding however remain the same, in that the 

viability remains such that the scheme is unable to provide any planning obligations. BVA 
state- 

 

Page 88



‘The initial viability assessment by Sturt and Co of November 2020 considered that the 
proposed development was not viable if planning obligations for affordable housing were 
imposed. 
 
The BVA review has considered the cashflow, costs and values as set out above and includes 
grant available for improvements to the wharf wall. The BVA assessment also includes an 
uplift to the values assumed by the applicant and a reduction to build costs. ’ 
 
Following assessment of the modified assumptions, the residual land value of the proposed 
scheme remains negative at - £1,501,110. The profit reserved in the appraisal is £6,270,425. 
 
It remains the case that, in my view, the scheme remains financially unable to accommodate 
planning obligations on the basis of the assumptions modelled above. 

 
12.16. Having regards to the viability appraisal, independent assessment and the significant 

abnormal costs associated with this site, the conclusions of the viability appraisal are 
accepted. 

 
 

13. Planning Balance & Conclusion 
 

13.1. Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the 
Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions. 

 
13.2. As discussed previously, the Local Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a 

five year supply of housing land to meet the identified need within the district. By virtue of not 
being able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, NPPF), 
there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 
'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in determining planning 
applications for housing. The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the 
NPPF. In this instance, due to the site being both within a Conservation area and within flood 
zone 3 paragraph 11(d)(i) is considered to be engaged.  

 
13.3. As such, the relevant Policies within the NPPF relating to the areas and assets of 

particular importance need to be considered by the decision taker as to if they provide a clear 
reason for refusal, and if not, the decision taker/s need to consider the NPPF's requirement to 
grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits - the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(ii), NPPF).  

 
13.4. In this instance, as NPPF para 11(d)(i) is engaged due to the impact on designated 

heritage assets, this report considers the heritage balance required within NPPF para 196 
due to the identified ‘less than substantial harm’, before addressing the overall planning 
balance. 

 
13.5. As previously discussed within this report, the effect of the statutory duties and as 

articulated within the NPPF “is that the desirability of preserving the setting of a listed building 
is required to be treated as a factor of “considerable importance and weight”, giving rise to a 
strong presumption against granting planning permission for development which would harm 
that setting’.  

 
13.6. Members should be aware that caselaw indicates that the “general duty” in section 

66(1) “applies with particular force if harm would be caused to the setting of a Grade I listed 
building, a designated heritage asset of the highest significance. Section 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, obliges the Local Planning 
Authority to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 

Page 89



of the Conservation Area. This requires both character and appearance to be especially 
considered and raises a strong and important rebuttable presumption against the 
development if any harm from it is identified. 

 
13.7. The impact of the development on the setting of multiple heritage assets and the 

character and appearance of the two conservation areas has been considered in section 3 
above. Para 196 requires that this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 
13.8. The Councils Conservation Officer and Historic England considers elements of the 

proposal will result in a degree of harm to the setting of multiple listed buildings and the 
character and appearance of two conservation areas. This is assessed as being at the high 
end of less than substantial in terms of two grade I listed buildings (Royal Hotel & Bideford 
Bridge) and both conservation areas , with lesser degrees of less than substantial harm to 
other identified heritage assets. This is detailed fully within this report / consultation 
responses. 

 
13.9. A Heritage Impact Assessment undertaken by consultants on behalf of the applicant, 

has however concluded differing levels of harm, and the spectrum within this harm as detailed 
within this report. 

 
13.10. Your Officers consider that the applicant has demonstrated that an alternative viable 

scheme which achieves similar public benefits is not deliverable at this time. Redevelopment 
of this site will result in significant regeneration benefits to Bideford, whilst bringing into use a 
site which has long been disused and derelict and currently negatively impacts on the 
identified heritage assets.  

 
13.11. From a starting position of a strong presumption against the grant of planning 

permission for development which will create less than substantial harm to the heritage 
assets and in doing so giving great weight to the heritage assets conservation, Members are 
required to weigh the harm against the public benefits of the scheme. Given the level of harm 
identified, including to the setting of a Grade 1 listed building and Grade 1 listed structure, this 
matter is, in your Officers view, very finely balanced. 

 
13.12. Members will be aware that this is a key regeneration site for Bideford, with wider 

public benefits which are unique to this particular site. 
 

13.13. The public benefits flowing from the scheme are wide and extensive. Your Officers 
have weighed each benefit within Section 11 above and therefore will not repeat the weighing 
exercise in this section. It is considered that there will be benefits that carry substantial weight 
including enabling the completion of flood defence works, Investment in the local area, 
regeneration of the site as a catalyst for wider regeneration and the provision of 85 new 
homes in a highly sustainable location on a brownfield site. Further benefits flow from the site, 
although considered to be not as substantial including the repair and restoration works to the 
wharf wall and river frontage, the provision of a new shared cycleway, heritage benefits from 
the removal of a visually harmful site, environmental improvements including bio-diversity net-
gain and the provision of a pontoon on the River Torridge. 

 
13.14. In conclusion of the balance required under para 196, and being mindful of the strong 

presumption against the granting of permission for the development as previously described, 
it is considered that the wider public benefits, some of which are of significant importance to 
the future of Bideford, do in this particular instance carry substantial enough weight to 
outweigh the identified harm. 

 
13.15. If Members are minded to judge that the wider public benefits do in this instance carry 

substantial enough weight to outweigh the identified harm, the so-called ‘tilted balance’ of 
Paragraph 11(d)(ii), of the NPPF is required to be considered. in this instance, the proposal 
would provide a significant contribution of 85 dwellings towards local housing supply on an 

Page 90



allocated site that is located in a sustainable location within a Strategic Centre. The site is 
within close proximity of a number of key services and facilities as well as public transport and 
pedestrian routes. Furthermore, the proposal will develop a currently disused and derelict 
brownfield site. Given the Council’s current lack of a 5YHLS significant weight should be 
attached to the delivery of housing in this sustainable location.  

 
13.16. The proposal would also provide a benefit to the local economy during both short term 

and the long term. The short-term benefits will come through the investment in the site during 
its redevelopment (Construction jobs and investment in services). The commercial floorspace 
will create jobs in the long term with the high-quality public realm potentially attracting visitors 
from further afield as a destination given its location in proximity to the Tarka Trail. The 
residential units will further increase the footfall in the wider town centre and support local 
shops and services. Significant weight should be attached to the economic benefits. 

 
13.17. The proposal will deliver wider regeneration. The site is currently disused and derelict 

creating a negative perception of the town with no public benefits. Creation of new pedestrian 
routes and publicly accessible open space is intrinsically linked to the wider regeneration 
aspirations of the town. Again, significant weight should be attached to this benefit. 

 
13.18. The Environment Agency have confirmed that the scheme will provide an important 

element of flood defence, which when combined with the EA’s proposed new defence 
scheme (subject to securing funding), will provide a significant betterment to all existing 
properties along Barnstaple Street and Ethelwynne Brown Close. The additional of a surface 
water overflow system will also reduce the impact of surface water flooding in Barnstaple 
Street. The proposal Barnstaple Street surface water flooding alleviation overflow system will 
help to alleviate the localised flooding and remove the existing exceedance routes. This is a 
significant benefit. 

 
13.19. The highways impacts are considered to be acceptable, both in respect of traffic 

generation and the proposed accesses; the Local Highway Authority is raising no objections 
to the proposal. The introduction of a shared cycleway will result in moderate benefits. Further 
benefits will arise from the proposals including provision of the pontoon, quay wall repairs and 
site decontamination. 

 
13.20. Turning to the adverse impacts, as discussed earlier, due to viability issues, the 

application is unable to make a policy compliant offer in terms of affordable housing, an 
education contribution or other infrastructure. An independent consultant has confirmed this 
and advised the Local Planning Authority that the scheme is unable to deliver any affordable 
housing or other planning obligations.  

 
13.21. There will be ‘less than substantial’ harm to various heritage assets due to the impact 

of the bulk and massing of the Clarence and Queens wharf building as well as some negative 
impact to the energy generated by the solar pv sited on the adjacent Wooda Surgery. Wooda 
surgery would also suffer some amenity impact. These matters all weigh against the 
proposal.  

 
13.22. The application site forms a key regeneration site allocated within Policy BID07 and 

therefore the principle of a mixed-use development is acceptable in this location. The 
proposed development would make a significant contribution to the District’s housing needs 
and is within a highly sustainable location. Substantial wider regeneration benefits will flow 
from the proposal. However, significant concern is raised in relation to the impact on heritage 
assets, with further concerns regarding an adjacent solar PV array and amenity which has 
been considered in full.   

 
13.23. Finally, it is noted that objections have been received in respect of the application 

along with a recommendation of refusal by the Town Council. The issues raised have been 
given consideration within this report, and on balance, that they should not preclude the 
granting of full planning permission, for the reasons set out.  

Page 91



 
13.24. In weighing the identified harm against the benefits, it is considered that the adverse 

impacts associated with the development fail to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, with the result that when assessed against the policies in the NDTLP and the NPPF 
as a whole and having considered all the planning issues and material considerations, on 
balance, a recommendation for approval is made. 

 
13.25. The proposed development is therefore considered to be in accordance Policies ST01, 

ST02, ST03, ST04, ST05, ST06, ST08, ST10, ST11, ST12, ST14, ST15, ST16, ST17, ST18, 
ST23, BID, BID07, DM01, DM02, DM03, DM04, DM05, DM06, DM07, DM08, DM10, DM12, 
DM20 and DM22 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2018) and the relevant 
provisions of the NPPF. 

 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
   
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
 3         Prior to the commencement of each phase of development, (save such preliminary or minor 

works that the Local Planning Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) to manage the impacts of construction during the life of the works 
of each particular phase, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, 'phases of development' are considered to be - 

            
           i) Quay wall maintenance and repair works; 
           ii) Demolition & site clearance works; 
           iii) Site investigations including trial pits 
           iv) Site level reductions; 
           v) All other construction works. 
            
           Each CEMP shall include: 
           a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
           b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
           c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
           d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
           e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 

Page 92



           f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include 
wheelwashing facilities; 

           g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust 
suppression; 

           h) mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, dust and lighting (any assessments 
undertaken must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan should demonstrate 
the adoption and use of best practice to reduce impacts); 

           i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings; 
           j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works and the 

provision made for access thereto; 
           k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 

complaints will be addressed. 
           The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to 
ensure continuing compliance during the construction of the development. 

            
           Reason: To minimise the impact of the works during the construction of the development in the 

interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic, and to safeguard the amenities of the 
area. To protect the amenity of local residents from potential impacts whilst site clearance, 
groundworks and construction is underway. 

 
 4         Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a detailed phasing 

programme shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with this phasing programme or an 
alternative programme that may subsequently be agreed in writing. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the development is constructed in an acceptable phased scheme, 

having regard to the regeneration of the site, ensuring the provision of open space, 
commercial uses and carparking. 

 
 5         No development hereby permitted (excluding enabling works which for the avoidance of doubt 

include Quay wall maintenance and repair works; Demolition & site clearance works; Site 
investigations including trial pits; and Site level reductions) shall commence until the following 
information has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

            
           (a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 

Strategy.  
           (b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 

construction of the development hereby permitted. 
           (c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 

system. 
           (d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
           (e) Correspondence from Devon County Council's Highways confirming that the proposals for 

the surface water drainage system within Barnstaple Street are acceptable. 
            
           No building hereby permitted in each individual phase shall be occupied until the works have 

been approved and implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above within 
that phase.   

            
           Reason: The above condition is required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage 

system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, 
adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national 
policies, including NPPF and PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is 
essential that the proposed surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before 
works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is 
fixed 

 

Page 93



 6         No enabling works, which for the avoidance of doubt include Quay wall maintenance and 
repair works; Demolition & site clearance works; and Site level reductions (and for the further 
avoidance of doubt would not include Site investigation including trial pits), shall take place 
until detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site 
during the different enabling work stages has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason: The above condition is required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage 

system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, 
adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national 
policies, including NPPF and PPG. 

 
 7         The development hereby permitted (excluding enabling works which for the avoidance of 

doubt include Quay wall maintenance and repair works; Demolition & site clearance works; 
Site investigations including trial pits; and Site level reductions) shall not be commenced until 
such time as the detailed design of all flood defences (shown in drawing 11211- FRA 3A Tidal 
Defence Strategy rev P5) and a plan for their future maintenance has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The flood defences shall be fully 
implemented and subsequently maintained in accordance with the agreed details. 

            
           Reason: To ensure the development is safe from flooding over its lifetime. 
 
 8         No development (excluding enabling works which for the avoidance of doubt include Quay 

wall maintenance and repair works; Demolition & site clearance works; Site investigations 
including trial pits; and Site level reductions) approved by this permission shall be commenced 
until a scheme to minimise flood damage to the proposed development by utilising flood 
resilient construction techniques to an appropriate level has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented and maintained 
in accordance with the approved details. 

            
           Reason: To minimise the damage to the building from flood events. 
 
 9         No development (excluding enabling works which for the avoidance of doubt include Quay 

wall maintenance and repair works; Demolition & site clearance works; Site investigations 
including trial pits; and Site level reductions) approved by this planning permission shall take 
place until a remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, 
by the local planning authority. If unexpected contamination is found after development has 
begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected 
contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until (D) has 
been complied with in relation to that contamination: 

            
           A. A site investigation scheme, in accordance with the approved phase 1 report, to provide 

information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off site. 

           B. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (A) and, 
based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

           C. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate 
that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (B) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements 
for contingency action. 

           D. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of condition A, and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition B, 
which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following 

Page 94



completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report 
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with condition C. 

            
           Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local planning 

authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
            
           Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 

unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from 
previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. This is in accordance 
with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10         Notwithstanding the details shown in the application hereby permitted, prior to their 

installation, details (and/or representative samples) of the colour and texture of the facing and 
roofing materials, and details of all window and door material and finishes to be used in the 
construction of the proposed development shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The agreed details shall be implemented before the development 
hereby permitted is brought into use and shall thereafter be retained as such. 

            
           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the suitability of the materials to be 

used for the development, having regard to the Conservation Area and adjacent Listed 
Buildings. 

 
11         Prior to the occupation of each agreed phase of the development hereby permitted, full 

details of the method of accommodating all service meter and other utility boxes shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed details shall be 
implemented prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall thereafter 
be retained as such. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the buildings and their setting 

within the Conservation Area. 
 
12         Notwithstanding the details shown in the application hereby permitted, prior to their 

installation, details (and/or representative samples) of the colour and texture of all hard 
landscaping, street furniture and railings to be used in the construction of the proposed 
development shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agreed details shall be implemented before the development hereby permitted is brought into 
use and shall thereafter be retained as such 

            
           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the suitability of the materials and 

design to be used for the development, having regard to the Conservation Area and adjacent 
Listed Buildings 

 
13         Prior to their installation, details of any public art to be sited or displayed at the site will be 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
            
           Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
 
14         Prior to the occupation or first use of each agreed phase of the development hereby 

approved, details of the location, specification, operation and maintenance of CCTV cameras 
shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cameras shall 
be operational prior to the use of any building.  

            
           Reason: In the interests of preventing crime and disorder within the site. 
 
15         The site accesses and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained for that 

purpose in accordance with the attached Diagram 10124/202 where the visibility splays 
provide intervisibility between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above 

Page 95



the adjacent carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway 
of the public highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres. The visibility distances along the 
nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as Y ) shall be 43 metres in 
both directions for the northern of the two accesses and 25 metres in both directions for the 
southern of the two accesses. 

            
           Reason: To provide a satisfactory access to the site with and to provide adequate visibility from 

and of emerging vehicles. 
 
16         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains 

on to any County Highway. 
             
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
17         The footway along the site's Barnstaple Street frontage as shown 10124/200 rev B shall be 

constructed laid out and maintained to provide for its use as a shared footway / cycleway with 
a minimum width of 3 metres which will run from the north eastern corner of the proposed 
Brunswick Wharf Building through to the existing controlled crossing of Barnstaple Street at 
the northern end of the development. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of supporting sustainable traffic modes, wider connectivity and 

highway safety. 
 
18        a) "Prior to the occupation of any residential unit within an agreed phase of the 

development hereby approved, the private car park, access and visibility in relation to that 
phase must be provided in accordance with the approved plans" 

            b) "Prior to the occupation of any commercial unit within an agreed phase of the 
development, the loading/unloading bays and public car park in relation to that phase must be 
provided in accordance with the approved plans" 

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities are available for the traffic attracted to the site. 
 
19         Prior to the approved public car park first being used, a car parking management plan shall 

be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, The Car Parking 
Management Plan shall include how the public and private car park will be managed, 
maintained and secured. 

            
           Reason: To ensure sufficient safe off road carparking is available and maintained. 
 
20         Prior to first occupation of any residential unit hereby approved, an information panel shall be 

erected within the public area on the quay side walkway, and all residents shall be supplied 
with an information pack detailing the importance of the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special 
Scientific Interest for its overwintering bird interest and intertidal habitats. The information 
should also provide details regarding acceptable conduct on or near the SSSI. The final 
content and format of the information shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to their siting / issue. 

            
           Reason: To ensure any public recreational use of the Torridge estuary minimises any adverse 

impact on the Taw Torridge SSSI and Kynoch Local Nature Reserve. 
 
21         The final design of the framing around the commercial fascia's including any provision to be 

made for projecting signage and lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before being installed on site in accordance with these agreed 
details. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the detail of the scheme results in appropriate detailing which adds to 

the visual quality of the public realm in the interest of the setting of the heritage assets. 
 

Page 96



22         During the construction phase no machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried 
out and no deliveries taken at or dispatched from the site outside the following times: 

           a) Monday - Friday 0700 - 1900; 
           b) Saturday  0800 - 1300 
           c) Nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public holidays. 
           Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
            
           Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents in accordance with Policy DM01 of the North 

Devon & Torridge Local Plan. 
 
23         All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping ('Landscape 

General Arrangement' ref: DR_L_1001 10, and the Landscape DAS workbook dated 30/11/20) 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation or the 
substantial completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to 
any variations.  

            
           Reason: To safeguard the appearance and character of the area in accordance with Polices 

ST04, ST14, DM04 and DM08A of the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan. 
 
24         The 'Brunswick Wharf' Plaque currently sited on the eastern gable end of the 'Brunswick 

Wharf' building shall be retained and reused within the proposed Brunswick Wharf building as 
detailed within the approved plans unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.  

            
           Reason: In the interest of the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and to retain 

the existing historic features on the site. 
 
25         The development shall proceed in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation 

prepared by AC Archaeology (document ref: ACD2447/1/2, dated 4th February 2021) and 
submitted in support of this planning application. The development shall be carried out at all 
times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.' 

            
           Reason: 'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 

Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that 
an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development' 

 
26         The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Ecology Impact 

Assessment (Ricard Green Ecology Ltd November 2020) and the Ecology Addendum Report 
(Richard Green Ecology Ltd, February 2021) and shall deliver at least a 10% overall net gain 
in biodiversity. In particular, the detailed design of the repaired wall shall include ecological 
niches as detailed in the report. Micro-grid flooring shall be utilised within the construction of 
the pontoon and it should be ensured that the pile guides are engineered to curtail above the 
mud flats. The mitigation measures set out in the reports shall be fully implemented prior to 
occupation and subsequently maintained for the lifetime of the development.  

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate measures are put in place to protect ecology and the SSSI. 
 
27         Works to the quay wall and the installation of the pontoon shall be carried out in full 

accordance with the 'Method of Works ref: 2616/MoW/o1 rev4. 
            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate measures are put in place to protect ecology and the SSSI. 
 

Page 97



28         The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Construction 
Environment Management Plan (CEMP) by Red Earth Ltd dated February 2021 for the 
pontoon installation and river wall repairs. The mitigation measures set out in the CEMP shall 
be fully implemented during the construction phase of the development.  

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate measures are put in place to protect ecology and avoid or 

manage the risk of pollution or waste production during the course of the development works. 
 
29         Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order, the premises as identified on the approved plans as "commercial units" permitted 
herein shall be restricted to uses within Class E of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) and for no other purposes whatsoever. 

            
           Reason: To ensure the use of the commercial premises is compatible with the approval of the 

site as a regeneration project for the town in accordance with Policy BID07 of the North Devon 
& Torridge Local Plan. Any other use would need to be the subject of a separate application to 
be considered on its merits. 

 
30         All windows (excluding roof windows or sky lights) hereby permitted shall be recessed within 

the window reveals by at least 100mm unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the buildings, having regard to the 

Conservation Area and adjacent listed buildings. 
 
31         The removal and disposal of asbestos containing materials must be carried out in accordance 

with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and HSG248 by a suitably qualified contractor 
with an appropriate waste carrier licence. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that occupiers of the site and neighbouring properties are protected from 

potentially harmful emissions to air from asbestos 
 
 
 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

                          
                          
                          
                          
                     
    

202  07.12.2020 
   

203  07.12.2020 
   

205  07.12.2020 
   

DR.LS.0001.PL  07.12.2020 
   

DR.LS.0002.PL  07.12.2020 
   

DR.LS.0003.PL  07.12.2020 
   

DR.LS.0004.PL  07.12.2020 
   

DR.LS.0005.PL  07.12.2020 
   

DR_L_1001  07.12.2020 
   

M466.LVIA  07.12.2020 
   

AWW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A 0225 P1  10.03.2021 
   

AWW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A 0226 P1  10.03.2021 
       

0121  07.12.2020 
     

0131  07.12.2020 
                   

0208  07.12.2020 

Page 98



   

0209  07.12.2020 
   

0210  07.12.2020 
   

0211  07.12.2020 
   

0212  07.12.2020 
   

0213  07.12.2020 
   

0214  07.12.2020 
   

0215  07.12.2020 
   

0216  07.12.2020 
   

0217  07.12.2020 
   

0218  07.12.2020 
   

0219  07.12.2020 
   

0220  07.12.2020 
   

0300  07.12.2020 
   

0301  07.12.2020 
   

0302  07.12.2020 
   

0303  07.12.2020 
   

0304  07.12.2020 
   

0305  07.12.2020 
   

0306  07.12.2020 
   

0310  07.12.2020 
   

0311  07.12.2020 
   

0312  07.12.2020 
   

0313  07.12.2020 
   

0314  07.12.2020 
   

0315  07.12.2020 
   

0316  07.12.2020 
     

0202 P8  12.02.2021 
   

0101 P4  12.02.2021 
   

0100 P4  12.02.2021 
   

0201 P8  12.02.2021 
   

0203 P8  12.02.2021 
   

0204 P8  12.02.2021 
   

0205 P8  12.02.2021 
   

0206 P8  12.02.2021 
   

0207 P7  12.02.2021 
   

07851-TDA-DR-PL- 0027 P01  10.02.2021 
 
 

Informatives 

 
 
01. Marine Licensing 
  

Works activities taking place below the mean high water mark may require a marine licence in 
accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act (MCAA) 2009. 
  
Such activities include the construction, alteration or improvement of any works, dredging, or a 
deposit or removal of a substance or object below the mean high water springs mark or in any 
tidal river to the extent of the tidal influence. 
  

Page 99



The MMO's online portal to register for an application for marine licence can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/make-a-marine-licence-application 

 
02. The development includes area of green roofs and living walls. The applicants attention is 

 drawn to the possibility of utilising rain gardens, such as raised planters at the base of 
downpipes. These raised planters could have overflow pipes which would allow surface water 
to initially fill the planter and then carry on flowing into the main system. 

  
 
03. Environmental Permitting 
  

The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 require a Flood Risk 
Activity Permit to be obtained for any activities which will take place: 

 - on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal) 
 - on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culvert (16 metres if tidal) 
  

In this case a permit will be required for the permanent and temporary works for the flood 
defences, quay wall repairs and pontoon. 

 
04. Natural England advise that in general terms for works on the intertidal, where required, the 

work area on the foreshore should be clearly marked out and adhered to. Vehicle movements 
(if any) on the foreshore are kept to a minimum and access/egress routes clearly defined and 
no storage of materials or equipment on the foreshore. 

 
05. It is an offence under section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to  

intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while it is in use or being built. It 
is strongly recommended that any buildings or land where consent for work has been granted 
are checked for nesting birds prior to any work being undertaken. Where inspection is 
obscured i.e. Hedgerows, Ivy and in trees of dense foliage it is advised that work is scheduled 
for outside the nesting season i.e. not undertaken between March and August (inclusive). For 
further advice please contact the RSPB Southwest Regional Office 01392 432691. 

 
06. Bats and bat roosts are protected by law under Schedule 5 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act  

1981 [as amended], Schedule 2 of the Conservation [Natural Habitats, &c] Regulations 1994, 
the Countryside Rights Of Way Act 2000, and the Conservation of Species and Habitats 
Regulations 2017. It is an offence to recklessly or deliberately kill, injure or capture [take] bats, 
recklessly or deliberately disturb bats, damage, destroy or obstruct access to bat roosts. It is 
strongly recommended that the tree or trees on which consent for work has been granted be 
inspected by a qualified person or advice is sought prior to any tree works being undertaken. 
For further advice contact the Bat Helpline 0345 1300 228. 

 
07. The above consent requires the submission of further details to be approved either before  

works commence or at identified phases of construction. To discharge these requirements will 
mean further formal submissions to the Authority on the appropriate forms, which can be 
completed online via the planning Portal www.planningportal.gov.uk  

  
 A fee may be required [dependent on the type of application] for each separate submission [if  

several or all the details are submitted together only one fee will be payable]. 
 
08. Separate consent for any advertisement. 
  
 This Permission does not convey any consent for the display of advertisements or signage for 

 which the separate consent of the Local Planning Authority may be required under the 
provision of the Town & Country Planning [Control of Advertisement] Regulations. 

 
 

Statement of Engagement 

Page 100



 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
 
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The 
need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
 
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 101



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Review of Viability Submissions at 

 

 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford,  

Devon EX39 4AE  

1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 

 

 

by 

Bailey Venning Associates Limited on behalf of  

Torridge District Council 

  

 

 February 2021 

with addendum added March 2021 

  

Page 102



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 2 of 27 

Content 

1.0 Introduction ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Local and National Planning Policy and Relevant Guidance ............................................................ 6 

4.0 Methodology ..................................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.0 Appraisal Assumptions – Gross Development Value ....................................................................... 11 

6.0 Appraisal Assumptions – Development Costs ..................................................................................... 14 

7.0 Comparable Summary Residual Land Value Models ........................................................................ 17 

8.0 Benchmark Land Value ................................................................................................................................. 20 

9.0 Conclusions ........................................................................................................................................................ 21 

10.0 Addendum to report following discussions with Sturt and Co: 10 March 2021................... 22 

11.0 Revised model comparison as at 10 March 2021 .............................................................................. 26 

12.0 Additional conclusions as at 10 March 2021 ....................................................................................... 27 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Further comparables 

Appendix B: BCIS extract 

Appendix 3: Appraisal model replicating Sturt and Company assumptions, correcting input errors 

Appendix 4: Appraisal model of scheme using BVA assumptions 

 

 

Report prepared by Bailey Venning Associates Limited 

Tayfield House 

38 Poole Road 

Bournemouth 

BH4 9DW 

 

01202 639 444 

www.bailey-venning.com 
  

Page 103



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 3 of 27 

1.0 Introduction 

 Bailey Venning Associates is instructed by the Planning Department of Torridge District 

Council (“The Council”) to review the submissions on development viability made by 

Sturt & Company, dated 6 November 2020 on behalf of Red Earth Bideford Ltd (“the 

Applicant”) seeking planning consent for the development of the site at Brunswick 

Wharf, Bideford (Application ref: 1/1126/2020/FULM). 

 The contents of this report are for feasibility assessment purposes only and are conducted 

on current values and costs specific to the planning application as at the date of report and 

do not constitute a valuation, in accordance with Valuation Standards of the RICS 

Valuation – Professional Standards – Global Standards 2017,  and should not be relied upon 

as such.   

 In preparing this report, no ‘performance-related’ or ‘contingent’ fees have been agreed. 

 This report is addressed to the Council only and its contents should not be reproduced in 

part or in full without our prior consent.   

 In carrying out this assessment, we have acted with objectivity, impartiality, without 

interference and with reference to all appropriate, available, sources of information. We 

are not aware of any conflicts of interest in relation to this assessment.  

 This review considers the Sturt & Company report dated 6 November2020 (the 

November 2020 SCo Report) on the subject site which deals with their consideration of 

the viability of the proposals.  Their conclusion is that the scheme is not viable with any 

level of affordable housing or other Section 106 planning obligation and indeed makes a 

sub-optimal profit level with a nil affordable housing contribution in delivering 

appraisals that result in a negative land value.  Delivery of the subject development is 

therefore considered to be challenging. 

 The proposals, we understand, are for “Demolition of existing site buildings and mixed use 

redevelopment providing residential units, commercial units (Class E) with public open 

space, car parking, floating pontoon and associated landscaping works.” 

 The site extends to 0.99 hectares and is well located in terms of access to the town and 

other facilities.  The existing use of the site is in part as a public car park with 117 spaces, 

and also includes the former Brunswick, Steamer, Queen’s and Clarence Wharves 

together with ancillary buildings described in the planning statement as “dilapidated and 

poor in appearance on the southern extent of the site.” 

Page 104



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 4 of 27 

 SCo assert that the site is not viable and therefore not liable to make an affordable 

housing contribution or other planning obligations.  This report tests that assertion and 

the assumptions which underpin it. 

 This statement has been prepared in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered 

Surveyors (RICS) Professional Statement on Financial Viability in Planning: conduct and 

reporting (1st Edition, May 2019). In line with the requirements of this guidance BVA 

can confirm the following: 

• The author of this report, Richard Bailey, has acted with objectivity, impartially, 

without interference and references all appropriate sources of information; 

• Terms of Engagement have been set out clearly and communicated to relevant 

parties; 

• There is no conflict of interest which would prevent BVA representing the Council 

in this matter; 

• No performance-related or contingent fees have been agreed; 

• Information used is market led and not client driven; and, 

• Inputs to the Financial Viability Appraisal (FVA) are reasonably justified and based 

upon industry benchmarks recently agreed in other local planning authorities for 

similar proposals and in a number of occasions at planning appeal. 

The Impact of the novel Coronavirus (COVID 19)  

 The UK government, in measures announced on 26th March 2020, in effect suspended the 

Country’s property market, stopping estate agents from marketing new homes and 

banning visits to those already for sale, as it sought to contain the coronavirus outbreak. 

Some of these restrictions were lifted on 21st May 2020 to enable surveys and valuations 

to take place and for people to view properties with measures remaining in place to 

prevent the spread of the coronavirus. 

 The above measures will potentially limit transaction volume and associated market 

comparables, making it difficult to gauge the full impact of COVID 19 upon the property 

market. At the time of writing, England is currently in its third lockdown with non-

essential travel prohibited and non-essential retail and hospitality shut down. 

 On this basis, it is not possible to predict the outcome of this factor upon the housing 

market, or indeed a likely timescale for when the current health crisis will be fully under 

control. Therefore, we’ve included a sensitivity matrix within the appraisal. Where 

information on the impacts of Covid-19 as relating to specific appraisal inputs is 

Page 105



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 5 of 27 

available, we report on it below.  A watching brief should be maintained to revisit 

conclusions should there be a material change in circumstance.  

Addendum 

 An addendum to this report has been added following discussions with the applicant’s 

appointed viability assessor.  

Page 106



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 6 of 27 

2.0 Local and National Planning Policy and Relevant Guidance 

 It is considered that the following documents represent the most relevant parts of the 

adopted development plan and other current guidance which affect the affordable 

housing requirement for this proposal: 

• National Policy Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

• National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

• North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted 29 October 2018) 

• Practice Note 1 Policy ST18: Affordable Housing on Development Sites May 2019 

• RICS Professional Guidance GN 94/2012 – Financial viability in planning   

• RICS Professional Statement: Financial Viability in Planning: Conduct and 

Reporting, May 2019 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 The Government published a revised NPPF on 24th July 2018, further amended in 

February 2019 and June 2019. 

 Housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 

considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year 

supply of deliverable housing sites. 

 Where it is identified that affordable housing is needed, policies should be set for 

meeting the need on site, unless off-site or a financial contribution of appropriate value 

can be robustly justified.  

 In addition the NPPF also highlights the importance of setting realistic targets in Local 

Plans that can be achieved; this includes the provision of new homes which will be 

undeliverable if viability thresholds are unrealistic.  

 The NPPF summarises that viability should be based on national planning guidance 

(paragraph 57) and that it is up to the applicant to demonstrate, ”whether particular 

circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage.” 

 Also, planning decisions should take into account efficient use of land taking into account 

local market conditions and viability (paragraph 122). Any planning obligations imposed 

Page 107



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 7 of 27 

would also have to satisfy the CIL Regulation 122 (2) tests in being necessary, directly 

related and be fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind (paragraph 56). 

Planning Practice Guidance (Viability Section latest updates published 1 September 

2019) 

Should viability be assessed in decision taking? 

 Generally it is expected that planning applications that comply with development plan 

policies will be assumed to be viable, although applicants have the onus placed upon 

them to demonstrate where the particular circumstances of their application warrant a 

deviation from policy on the basis of viability. Those circumstances may include 

development of unallocated sites or sites which are different from a standard model of 

development, like housing for older people, development on brownfield land with a high 

existing use value or for conversions or refurbishment of existing buildings. 

What are the principles for carrying out a viability assessment? 

 Essentially the National Planning Guidance sees the viability process as being founded 

upon non-developer specific data that encompasses the requirements of developing on 

the subject site in a proportionate, simple and transparent way. Being viable is 

determined from looking at whether the value generated by the development is more 

than the cost of developing it including all costs, land value, landowner premium and 

developer’s return. Decision making, where viability is considered, strikes a balance 

between the planning system in securing maximum public benefit from development 

(noting that development that is not viable might not secure any public benefit as it 

might not be built) and the interests of developers and landowners in terms of return 

against risk. 

How should gross development value be defined for the purpose of viability 

assessment? 

 The guidance considers that site specific viability assessment should assess the value 

from market based evidence of sales adjusted for location and other factors, ignoring 

outliers. 

  

Page 108



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 8 of 27 

How should costs be defined for the purposes of viability assessment? 

 The guidance is clear that costs should be adjusted to reflect the locality, based upon 

appropriate data, and include site specific infrastructure costs, finance charges, 

professional fees and project management charges, sales and marketing fees and 

organisational overheads associated with the site. The costs should also outline 

contingency pricing for risk based on the project circumstances. 

How should a return to developers be defined for the purpose of viability 

assessment? 

 Whilst it is confirmed that the price paid for land is not a mitigation for failing to accord 

with plan policy (and this is reiterated in the PPG a number of times), developer returns 

of between 15% and 20% may be considered a suitable return, with a lower percentage 

applying to affordable housing. It is also confirmed that alternative figures may be 

appropriate for different development types. 

RICS Guidance Note; Financial Viability in Planning (GN 94/2012) 

 The guidance note is intended to represent ‘best practice’, i.e. recommendations which in 

the opinion of RICS meet a high standard of professional competence. 

 When determining planning applications LPAs are concerned with the merits of the 

particular scheme in question. They should disregard who is the applicant as planning 

permissions run with the land. It follows that in formulating information and inputs into 

viability appraisals, these should disregard either benefits or dis-benefits that are unique 

to the applicant, whether landowner, developer or both. The aim should be to reflect 

industry benchmarks. 

 Viability assessments will usually be dated when an application is submitted. The 

decision of the LPA on a planning application needs to be based on the material 

considerations at the date of determination, hence the conclusions of a viability 

assessment undertaken at the date of the application will still hold good at the date of 

decision unless a significant period of time elapses, in which case an update to the 

assumptions used would be required. 

RICS Professional Statement Financial viability in planning: conduct and reporting 1st 

edition, May 2019 

 The RICS has published a guide to conduct and reporting for members, and others where 

appropriate, to adhere to which modifies some of the advice in RICS GN 94/2012 which 

Page 109



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 9 of 27 

will be replaced in due course following advice given in the Parkhurst Road case. The 

main issue in the Parkhurst Road case concerned benchmark land value and whether 

market value should be the main determinant based on direct comparables or 

alternatively whether benchmark land value should be determined having regard to the 

existing use value plus a premium. 

 The Professional Statement sets out considerations on conflicts of interest, transparency 

and reporting requirements. 

North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031  

 The Local Plan was adopted on 29 October 2018, Policy ST18 of which sets out 

requirements for affordable housing. Whilst the policy requirement is for 30% affordable 

housing on qualifying sites, ST18(5) allows variation of the requirements in 

consideration of development viability.  

 ST18(7) seeks a tenure split requirement of 75% social rent and 25% intermediate 

forms of affordable housing with an ability to negotiate on a site be site basis. 

 The site is identified under BID07: Bideford Regeneration Sites as a brownfield site 

suitable for regeneration with a mix of housing retail and leisure uses to provide an 

active and attractive waterfront use. 

  

Page 110



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 10 of 27 

4.0 Methodology 

 Assessments of viability are undertaken by SCo on behalf of the applicant using residual 

land value models, based upon the Argus Developer.  The threshold or Benchmark Land 

Value, against which the new scheme would be tested, has not been assessed by SCo 

given the negative land values resulting from appraisal.  

 The methodology to assess viability in this case is the commonly used Residual Land 

Value (RLV) appraisal. This method is one which is used industry wide in land purchase 

and that has been established as the pre-eminent method through various development 

plan examinations and planning appeals. 

 An RLV appraisal treats the land value as the output of a calculation which compares the 

costs of development with the revenue generated by it. Since the revenues from housing 

and the costs of development are relatively inelastic and outside the developer’s control 

the one element of the appraisal that can vary is the land value.  Therefore, if affordable 

housing is required, the cost of it must be deducted from the land value where possible. 

 The new scheme is then tested reflecting the GIA floor areas and unit numbers proposed.  

In the event a positive balance is achieved whereby the new scheme delivers a residual 

land value above that of the threshold, then an affordable housing contribution would be 

appropriate and viable.  

 The broad methodology followed by SCo is acceptable, though we query various inputs 

to the appraisals as noted. Comments on the benchmark land value to be used are 

reserved. 

  

Page 111



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 11 of 27 

5.0 Appraisal Assumptions – Gross Development Value 

Residential Values 

 Turning to residential values, these are reported in the November SCo Report to average 

£3,456 per m² (£322 psf) and to total £28,180,000 in modelling for 8,152 m² (87,745 sq 

ft) of saleable floorspace. A detailed unit valuation is contained in the report. 

 It is noted that there are minor input errors in the SCo Argus model which are corrected 

in the table below to total £28,210,000. 

 The unit schedule and values proposed are: 

Unit type 
No 

units 
Ave unit 
size m² 

Ave unit 
size sq ft 

Total floor 
area sq ft 

ave £ 
psf 

S&Co value 
£ 

total value 
£ 

studio 3 45.0  484  1,453  300 145,000  435,000  

1B2p 9 56.7  610  5,490  287 175,000  1,575,000  

2B4P 23 74.0  797  18,331  370 295,000  6,785,000  

2B4P duplex 3 93.0  1,001  3,003  320 320,000  960,000  

3B5P 1 95.0  1,023  1,023  357 365,000  365,000  

3B6P 33 100.4  1,081  35,661  338 365,000  12,045,000  

4B8P 1 134.0  1,442  1,442  322 465,000  465,000  

4B7P duplex 12 165.3  1,779  21,345  261 465,000  5,580,000  

Totals 85 95.9  1,032  87,748  322 331,882  28,210,000  

 

 Accordingly, we have undertaken our own research on sales values in the locality and 

arrive at much the same comparables as those listed by SCo.  The factors identified by 

SCo including the scale, waterfront location and proximity to Bideford centre all weigh in 

favour of the development in terms or value, but it is acknowledged that not all units will 

benefit from full waterfront views and many have an oblique view.  

 I have also considered developments such as Nautilus, Latitude 51, Nassau Court, and 

Horizon View in Westward Ho! in informing my view on potential sales figures. 

Additional sales data is listed in Appendix A. 

  

Page 112



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 12 of 27 

 In my assessment, I have also taken into account a broad search of competing property 

which will target similar market segments. 

Unit type 
No 

units 
Ave unit 
size m² 

SCo value 
£ 

BVA value 
£ 

Ave £ psf 
BVA total 

£ 
studio 3 45.0  145,000  150,000  310 450,000  
1B2p 9 56.7  175,000  185,000  303 1,665,000  
2B4P 23 74.0  295,000  295,000  370 6,785,000  
2B4P duplex 3 93.0  320,000  340,000  340 1,020,000  
3B5P 1 95.0  365,000  360,000  352 360,000  
3B6P 33 100.4  365,000  370,000  342 12,210,000  
4B8P 1 134.0  465,000  465,000  322 465,000  
4B7P duplex 12 165.3  465,000  485,000  273 5,820,000  

Total 85 95.9  28,210,000  338,529  328 28,775,000  

  

Ground Rents 

 Ground rents are included in the assessment in the same vein as that of the November 

SCo Report. It is noted that Government is moving to restrict the ability of freeholders to 

charge ground rents but legislation, though signalled for some time, has not yet been laid 

before Parliament. At the time of assessment therefore ground rents remain chargeable 

and sales values are predicated on that basis. Should ground rents be subsequently 

removed, sales values will need to be reassessed.  

 It is considered that as a starting point an average ground rent charge of £250 per unit is 

not unreasonable, though is lower than that charged on some of the comparables. It is 

treated as an average across the scheme which would anticipate ground rents not to be 

onerous and certainly no more than 0.1% of capital value. In my assessment I have also 

adjusted the yield to 5% and do not consider the first 12 months to be provided rent free 

to be appropriate, though ground rents are timed to the end of sale. 

Commercial values 

 I consider the rents for the commercial units assessed by SCo and the context to be 

appropriate. 

 In terms of yields however, I have taken a slightly different approach. SCo in their report 

consider a yield of 8.0% to be appropriate across all commercial uses. 

 I consider this yield to be appropriate for the retail elements. 

Page 113



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 13 of 27 

 In terms of the café/restaurant uses I consider that the location and prestige of the 

development will be attractive not only to small, local owners but also more significant 

tenants with better covenant. I have therefore applied a 7.25% yield to the Brunswick 

café/restaurant spaces. 

 Considering the studio workspaces at Steamer Wharf and the nature of occupants there, I 

have applied a yield of 8.5%. 

 I have maintained SCo’s assumption of 12 months rent free across all commercial spaces 

to give time to establish its own market and attract tenants. 

Waterfront 

 It is noted that the SCo assessment does not consider the value of potential bankside 

mooring. This is not unreasonable as the value of the moorings would appear in both the 

benchmark land value assessment and the scheme appraisal and cancel each other out. 

 It is noted however that the proposals include arrangements for a new pontoon on the 

river. There is no value associated with this and the applicant and their viability assessor 

should confirm whether this is intended to be income generating or provided for day trip 

convenience without mooring fees. 

  

Page 114



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 14 of 27 

6.0 Appraisal Assumptions – Development Costs 

 As described in the NPPF and PPG, site specific development viability assessments 

should have regard to the evidence underpinning the Local Plan. We note those 

assumptions below as appropriate and compare with the applicant’s approach. 

Build costs 

 Build costs used by in the November SCo Report are based on BCIS median, 5 year 

sample which is an acceptable baseline, subject to the comments below. Given the 

sample sizes in BCIS I have used a location index of 102 which is the same for Torridge 

and Devon. BCIS extracts are attached at Appendix B. 

 Residential costs use the BCIS Flats, 3-5 storey rate, the latest sample of which reports a 

build cost of £1,323 per m². 

 Retail/Restaurants and cafes remains at £1,515 per m². 

 Workshops /studios /office space is updated to £1,531 per m². It is noted that the BCIS 

rates for shops, shell only, is £878 per m². It is considered that the rates used for the 

assessment include all allowances for fit out and ready for occupation. 

Abnormal Build Costs 

 It is notable however that the build costs are augmented by a costs report prepared by 

QSPM Consultants for external works and costs for the undercroft car parking and wharf 

repairs plus other public realm. This cost report has not been subject to independent 

review at this stage.  

 The overall costs assessed by QSPMC include a total of £705,000 for decontamination of 

the site and demolition of existing buildings. It would be expected that these 

decontamination costs would also be reflected in any benchmark land value. Additional 

allowances are then included for repairs to the wharf walls of £787,000, ground floor car 

park including flood requirements, piling for foundations etc and transfer slab at first 

floor level of £3,299,806 (transposed from the SCo appraisal). Additional costs of flood 

defences of £412,000 and external works of £901,000 are also included. 

Adjustments to BCIS arising 

 BCIS rates are expressed on the basis of built floorspace and include allowances for 

foundations and substructures normally expected. Given that the additional, specific 

costs provided by the applicant’s cost consultant include for works to transfer slab level 

Page 115



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 15 of 27 

including foundations I have adjusted the BCIS rates. I consider that a deduction of 5% 

from BCIS rates should be allowed for to accommodate substructure costs included 

elsewhere. 

Contingency 

 Contingency assumptions are included at 5% of build costs.  The assumptions used fall 

within the expected range and replicate those in Adams Integra’s work. 

Professional fees 

 Professional fees are assumed within the SCo appraisals at 8% of build costs. This is an 

appropriate assumption. 

Interest charge rates 

 The Adams Integra local plan viability assessment uses a rolled up rate of 6.5% for 100% 

debt charging on negative cashflows. 

 Accordingly, interest charges are assessed at the rate of 6.5% on 100% debt funding as 

required for negative cashflows, which is a normal assumption for appraisals of this type 

and inclusive of all associated fees. The November SCo report is prepared on this basis. 

 We typically use a rate of 2% for credit balance reinvestment, but acknowledge that this 

has a minimal impact on the outcome of the appraisals and for the purposes of these 

appraisals is not included at this time. 

Development programme 

 We have considered the overall programme proposed by SCo.  This considers that there 

will be a 3 month period following grant of consent for mobilisation, then construction 

for a period of 30 months. Sales begin 18 months after start on site and continue for a 

total of 20 months. 

 We have considered the approach taken to be reasonable. 

Developer profit 

 The November SCo report and assessment is based on a profit margin of 20% on GDV for 

all elements of the scheme, though in their opinion a profit margin of 22.5% of GDV 

should be used, citing the issues of Covid-19. 

Page 116



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 16 of 27 

 Having reviewed matters, I consider that a profit margin of 20% on GDV for market 

housing is appropriate and have applied this in my appraisal, in line with the 

assumptions applied in the local plan evidence and at the upper end of the range 

promoted in the PPG. In line with the local plan evidence I have also applied a differential 

profit rate to the commercial elements of the scheme, applying 20% of cost to those 

elements.  

 Overall therefore, my assessment of profit in monetary terms is slightly below that of 

SCo. 

Costs of marketing and sales 

 The SCo report assumes for the commercial elements of the scheme a letting fee of 10% 

and letting legal fee of 5%. This is a reasonable assumption and is accepted. 

 Marketing allowances for the residential property is allowed for at £1,250 per unit which 

is accepted, together with the void costs of £174 per unit to allow for costs associated 

with voids over the sales period. 

 Sales agent’s fees are included at 2.5% of GDV which is a reasonable allowance for a 

scheme of this size. 

 In terms of legal fees on sale, SCo use an assumption of £1,000 per unit. The Adams 

Integra local plan evidence was based on £600 per unit which is considered in this 

context to be low given the potential sales value of the units. The SCo assumption is 

acceptable and I have replicated this in my appraisal. 

  

Page 117



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 17 of 27 

7.0 Comparable Summary Residual Land Value Models 

 Below are summary residual land value models for the proposed scheme, setting out the 

developer’s assumptions alongside the revised assumptions considered appropriate as 

set out above. 

 Firstly I have sought to replicate the model appended to the November SCo Report in 

order to establish a baseline: 

REVENUE 

SCo assumptions 
November 2020 

Baseline 
£ 

BVA replication of 
SCo model, 

correcting for input 
errors 

£ 
Net development value 30,571,845 30,612,562 
   
ACQUISITION COSTS   

Residual Land Price 
(1,959,320) 

Negative land value 
(2,657,198) 

Negative land value 
Stamp duty   
Agent Fee   
Legal Fee   
   
CONSTRUCTION COSTS   
Construction 19,532,843 19,532,843 
Developers Contingency 1,116,892 1,116,892 
site clearance demolition 705,000 705,000 
Wharf repairs 787,000 787,000 
Flood defences 412,000 412,000 
External works 901,000 901,000 
   
PROFESSIONAL FEES 1,562,627 1,562,627 
Sales Agent Fee 704,500 765,314 
Sales Legal Fee 85,000 85,000 
Marketing costs 121,040 121,040 
Letting agent fee 21,025 21,025 
Letting legal fee 10,513 10,513 
   
Total Finance & Interest 
Cost 

424,977 1,094,445 

   
TOTAL COSTS 24,425,101 24,457,520 
   
PROFIT 6,146,744 6,155,042 

 

Page 118



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 18 of 27 

 The full BVA model described above is set out in Appendix C which seeks to replicate the 

SCo model in order to determine the effect of correcting the input errors. The main 

difference between the BVA version and the SCo model is in finance charges which relate 

to cashflow. The conclusion drawn is that the cashflow used in the SCo model uses 

timings which are not described in their report. A working version of the SCo Argus 

model should be requested. 

  

Page 119



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 19 of 27 

 Appendix D sets out the BVA model using the revised assumptions set out in the sections 

of this report above. This model is summarised below and is subject to further 

clarification over the cashflow timing of cost and income: 

REVENUE 

BVA replication of 
SCo model, 

correcting for input 
errors 

 
£ 

BVA model using 
revised 

assumptions 
February 2021 

£ 

Net development value 30,612,562 31,261,446 
Ground rent income over 
sales period 

 12,396 

   
ACQUISITION COSTS   

Residual Land Price 
(2,657,198) 

Negative land value 
(1,142,419) 

Negative land value 
Stamp duty   
Agent Fee   
Legal Fee   
   
CONSTRUCTION COSTS   
Construction 19,532,843 15,406,215 
Developers Contingency 1,116,892 1,075,551 
site clearance demolition 705,000 705,000 
Wharf repairs 787,000 787,000 
Flood defences 412,000 412,000 
External works 901,000 901,000 
Steamer car park Incl above 959,380 
Clarence/Queen’s car park Incl above 2,340,426 
   
PROFESSIONAL FEES 1,562,627 1,496,482 
Sales Agent Fee 765,314 781,536 
Sales Legal Fee 85,000 85,000 
Marketing costs 121,040 121,040 
Letting agent fee 21,025 21,025 
Letting legal fee 10,513 10,513 
   
Total Finance & Interest 
Cost 

1,094,445 1,245,490 

   
TOTAL COSTS 24,457,520 25,205,240 
   
PROFIT 6,155,042 6,068,608 

 

  

Page 120



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 20 of 27 

8.0 Benchmark Land Value 

 The NPPF states that plans should set out the contributions required from development 

including affordable housing and infrastructure and that the policies introduced should 

not undermine deliverability of the plan.1 As such it requires local authorities to ensure 

that the scale of obligations and policy burdens do not threaten the viability of 

developments. This has been undertaken in Torridge by Adams Integra and examined by 

an Inspector through the Local Plan process and found to be acceptable. 

 The National Planning Practice Guidance advises that there must be an appropriate 

return to the developer, consideration for the existing use for the site and also a 

premium established from market evidence to encourage the site to come forward for 

development (taking into account the typical policy and infrastructure burdens that the 

site would be required to carry). Hence, the developer profit should be reasonable, (i.e. 

appropriate for the degree of risk for the particular type of development) and that the 

land-owner should achieve a reasonable land value for the site having regard to the 

existing use and viable alternatives. If the developer or land-owner do not secure this 

return, the project will not proceed. 

 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) suggests that “To define land value for any 

viability assessment, a benchmark land value should be established on the basis of the 

existing use value (EUV) of the land, plus a premium for the landowner. The premium for 

the landowner should reflect the minimum return at which it is considered a reasonable 

landowner would be willing to sell their land. The premium should provide a reasonable 

incentive, in comparison with other options available, for the landowner to sell land for 

development while allowing a sufficient contribution to comply with policy 

requirements.”2 

 The benchmark land value for the assessment of viability is not determined by SCo and 

so cannot be reviewed. However, it should be noted that the site is subject to substantial 

constraints including that of decontamination and any benchmark land value assessed 

will need to reflect this. 

  

 

 
1 Paragraph 34, NPPF, February 2019 
2 Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 10-013-20190509, PPG 

Page 121



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 21 of 27 

9.0 Conclusions 

 The first test of viability is to consider the applicant’s appraisal as submitted and the 

benchmark land value as they consider it. It is notable that the applicant has not 

suggested any value for the benchmark land value. On the basis of the evidence 

submitted by the applicant, the viability of the new proposals for 85 apartments and 

commercial uses are, on the face of it, not viable and indeed generate a negative land 

value. 

 In seeking to replicate the applicant’s appraisal, it is noted that the model resulting had 

different finance charges than those presented in the November SCo Report. This is due 

to differing assumptions on cashflow used in the model which are not described in the 

report. The applicant should be asked to provide a working version of their Argus model 

and cashflow for review so that this point of difference can be resolved. Our conclusions 

remain subject to that outcome. 

 The adjustments to the appraisal model set out above improve the residual land value of 

the proposed scheme by approximately £1.5m, and it is noted that this does not include a 

review of the abnormal costs provided in the cost plan prepared by QSPM Consultants. 

On the basis of current projected income and expenditure, that cost plan would need to 

be at least a 50% over-estimation of costs to make a difference to the conclusions drawn. 

 Overall then, the revised appraisal model still results in a negative land value. A 

benchmark land value has not yet been assessed by the applicant and this can be 

reviewed when presented. If the land value were to be considered to be nil, then the 

resultant model delivers a profit margin of 15.7% of GDV which is within the lower 

boundary of profit set out in the PPG, but considered to be sub-optimal. Inputting a 

benchmark land value would reduce that profit further though it is noted that the land is 

subject to matters that would affect benchmark land value. 

 It is noted also that the November SCo Report makes reference at paragraph 9.6 to the 

applicant seeking Grant Funding to improve the scheme outcomes. Should this become 

available, this viability assessment and its conclusions and impact on any affordable 

housing outcomes would need to be reconsidered. 

 The arrangements for any income derived from the moorings associated with the new 

pontoon should be confirmed by the applicant. 

 We welcome the opportunity for further discussions with the applicant and their advisor. 

  

Page 122



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 22 of 27 

10.0 Addendum to report following discussions with Sturt and Co: 10 March 

2021 

 The above report sections were presented to the applicant’s viability consultant in 

February 2021 and there followed a period of negotiation and review of additional 

submitted information. The following represents my conclusions following those 

discussions and exchange of information regarding a number of points relating to the 

projected costs and values of the proposed scheme. A revised residual appraisal and 

conclusions are then presented. 

Grant funding 

 An application to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government Land 

Release Fund has been made. The application is for £787,000 towards the harbour wall 

maintenance and upgrade works, which is included in the appraisal as additional 

revenue. Should that grant not be forthcoming, viability will worsen. 

Sales values of apartments 

 It was commented that the revised sales values of the apartments assessed by BVA was 

considered to be too high, particularly with regard to the studio units. I have considered 

the matter and reverted to the value of £145,000 per studio assessed by Sturt and Co.  

 The values of the other residential apartments assessed by BVA is considered at a ceiling 

for the area and there is a lack of comparables within the immediate locale. Sales 

comparisons are therefore drawn from a wider area and adjusted for the Bideford 

location. There are many worthy virtues of the scheme, but those factors must also be 

weighed against other competing property for any buyer’s interest within the area. The 

values applied by BVA represent an uplift on those assessed by the applicant. 

Ground rents 

 The appraisals currently incorporate ground rents. There has been a widely publicised 

review of the intention by Government to remove and reform the charging of ground 

rents, reducing them to a peppercorn. The legislation to put effect to this reform has not 

yet been laid before Parliament and so its exact terms and scope are uncertain. 

 The initial Sturt and Co report included ground rents at a yield of 5.5% charged on an 

average of £250 per annum. The BVA February assessment considered ground rents at 

the same level, though capitalised at a yield of 5.0%. 

Page 123



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 23 of 27 

 Following discussion with Sturt and Co, together with additional evidence from Allsops 

auctions of ground rents over the past six months, I have modified the yield to 5.25%. It 

should be noted that this yield is expected to weaken into the future if the full range of 

policy responses currently noted in the press on ground rent reform are implemented. It 

is likely when the development is completed that the ground rent reform will have been 

implemented. 

Yields of commercial uses 

 BVA initially proposed an approach to yields where the value of the café/restaurant uses 

was considered on a lower yield than the studio spaces, with the retail falling in the 

middle. Sturt and Co have considered a blended average approach to yields. I have 

reverted to the Sturt and Co approach which makes a marginal difference to the outcome 

in residual land value terms. 

Costs of servicing the site 

 Sturt and Co has, subsequent to their assessment, received a quotation for services 

infrastructure from Western Power to reinforce the 11kV supply to Barnstaple Street. 

The overall cost of the electricity reinforcement is £221,430 which is included within the 

revised appraisal. 

Build costs 

 The approach taken to build costs in the November Sturt and Co report was to follow 

BCIS median 3 to 5 storey using a build cost rate for residential of £1,327 per m², given 

that the costs assume that the ground floor level is raised by a structural deck and tanked 

lower level for car parking. The structural deck will provide the public and private open 

space above flood levels. 

 BVA considered the approach taken to be reasonable, noting though that the BCIS rates 

should be reduced by 5% to account for the potential double counting of foundations 

allowances within the average per square metre costs in BCIS and the additional cost 

plan provided by the applicant. The rate initially used by BVA for residential was 

£1256.85 per m². 

 Following review of the BVA report, Sturt and Co now consider that the BCIS rate for 6 

plus storey should be used and at upper quartile level. This rate is £1,750 per m², 

compared to the median at £1,552 per m². There is no indication in the sampling of the 

storey heights of the submissions making up the rates. 

Page 124



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 24 of 27 

 Given the 3-5 storey building proposed above the new structural deck, and the additional 

costs of the structural deck already accounted for within the costings I do not agree with 

the revised Sturt and Co approach. However, I am mindful of the revised sensitivity for 

fire protection and prevention which may not be fully represented in the 3-5 storey, 5 

year, sample and new guidance for residential buildings over 11m in height which was 

introduced in November 2020. An additional allowance of £60 per m² has been added to 

account for these measures. This increases the build cost to £1,316.85 and an overall 

increase of approximately £660,600 in base build costs. 

Cashflow 

 The report above notes the significant difference between the interest charges within the 

model by Sturt and Co and the initial model by BVA. A working model has now been 

supplied by Sturt and Co for examination. The Sturt and Co model takes the default 

position in Argus of placing all income in the first month of the sales period. This has the 

effect of overstating the cash position and therefore significantly underestimating 

interest charges. 

 The BVA approach modelled is to assume sales on a straight-line basis offset by 18 

months from start of construction, with income assumed from the commercial from 

completion of construction and ground rent capitalisation on completion of sales. 

River pontoon 

 The application includes a river pontoon. I understand that a quotation has been 

received by the applicant for a total of approximately £189,000. 

 It is noted that the section of river on which the pontoon is to be installed is tidal and so 

for periods of each tide the pontoon will be sat on mud. It is further noted that the fluvial 

mud is considered to be an important habitat and so will not be capable of being dredged 

to provide deeper mooring. 

 On that basis therefore it is unlikely that the pontoon will generate income over its cost 

and it is not included in the appraisal. 

Profit 

 Further to my report above, Sturt and Co have made representations on the profit levels 

to be included. Sturt and Co consider that profit should be assessed at 20% of GDV across 

the scheme. 

Page 125



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 25 of 27 

 The initial assessment by BVA considered a blended approach of 20% of GDV on market 

housing and 20% on construction cost on the commercial uses. The initial assessment 

applied this rate to the construction costs only. Sturt and Co rightly point out that the 

profit measure on cost should be applied to all costs, not just the construction cost. 

Additional costs within the model beyond construction cost are then apportioned on a 

per square meter basis, the commercial element taking up 9% of above ground floor 

area. This calculation is within £5,000 of a profit assessment on the basis of GDV, so for 

ease of modelling, the Sturt and Co assumption of profit on GDV is reverted to. The local 

plan viability work was progressed on the basis of profit on cost assessment of 20% and 

in the context of this appraisal the commercial element has approximately the same cost 

and value. 

  

Page 126



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 26 of 27 

11.0 Revised model comparison as at 10 March 2021 

 A revised model is proposed and summarised below: 

REVENUE 

SCo assumptions 
November 2020 

 
£ 

BVA revised model 
March 2021 

 
£ 

Net development value 30,571,845 31,187,772 
Land release grant  787,000 
   
ACQUISITION COSTS   

Residual Land Price 
(1,959,320) 

Negative land value 
(1,501,110) 

Negative land value 
Stamp duty   
Agent Fee   
Legal Fee   
   
CONSTRUCTION COSTS   
Construction 19,532,843 16,066,817 
Developers Contingency 1,116,892 1,108,581 
site clearance demolition 705,000 705,000 
Wharf repairs 787,000 787,000 
Flood defences 412,000 412,000 
External works 901,000 901,000 
Steamer car park Incl above 959,380 
Clarence/Queen’s car 
park 

Incl above 2,340,426 

Services infrastructure  221,430 
   
PROFESSIONAL FEES 1,562,627 1,549,330 
Sales Agent Fee 704,500 779,694 
Sales Legal Fee 85,000 85,000 
Marketing costs 121,040 121,040 
Letting agent fee 21,025 21,026 
Letting legal fee 10,513 10,513 
   
Total Finance & Interest 
Cost 

424,977 1,149,615 

   
TOTAL COSTS (excl 
land) 

26,384,417 27,217,852 

   
PROFIT 6,146,744 6,270,425 

  

Page 127



Review of Viability Submissions at 

Brunswick Wharf, Barnstaple Street, Bideford, Devon EX39 4AE  
1/1126/2020/FULM 

 

 

 27 of 27 

12.0 Additional conclusions as at 10 March 2021 

 The initial viability assessment by Sturt and Co of November 2020 considered that the 

proposed development was not viable if planning obligations for affordable housing 

were imposed. The initial conclusions drawn following review by BVA were that the 

scheme generated a negative land value. 

 As noted above, and following examination of the Sturt and Co model, a number of 

cashflow timings were input on the basis of a default and may have been an error. The 

impact of this was to overstate the profitability of the scheme. 

 The BVA review has considered the cashflow, costs and values as set out above and 

includes potential grant available for improvements to the wharf wall. The BVA 

assessment also includes an uplift to the values assumed by the applicant and a 

reduction to build costs. 

 Following assessment of the modified assumptions, the residual land value of the 

proposed scheme remains negative at - £1,501,110. The profit reserved in the appraisal 

is £6,270,425. 

 It remains the case that, in my view, the scheme remains financially unable to 

accommodate planning obligations on the basis of the assumptions modelled above. 

 It should be noted that a viability assessment is undertaken on a generic basis and not 

specific to any developer. It is also taken at a snapshot in time on the basis of current cost 

and value at the time of assessment. As a sensitivity test, a modest and limited 

contribution may be marginally viable in some scenarios where construction costs were 

reduced by 5% and values increased by 5% to 10%. 

Page 128



 
Committee Report – 1st April 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/0073/2021/OUT 

Registration date: 27 January 2021 

Expiry date:  24 March 2021 

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Geoffry and Margaret Watkins  

Agent:  Collier Planning 

Case Officer:  Laura Davies 

Site Address:  Land Adjacent Honnacotts,  
Bradworthy,  
Devon, 
, 
,   
 

Proposal:  Outline application for 5no. dwellings with all 
matters reserved except access 

Recommendation: GRANT subject to a Section 106 agreement 

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 7b



 

Reason for referral: 

 
This application has been called in to Plans Committee for determination by Cllr Boughton for the 
following reasons: 
 
‘I would like to call in the above application if the officer is minded to grant so that committee members 
can consider the fact that it is well outside of the development boundary as opposed to being just on 
the edge. 
 
There is also serious concern about the suitability of the access and the extra traffic using North road 
especially as there is no safe footpath.’ 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
     

1/0243/2018/OUT Outline application for up to 5 
dwellings with all matters 
reserved 

WDN 19.06.2018 

     

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description:  
The application site is located to the north of the settlement of Bradworthy and extends around the east 
and south of two existing properties known as Honnacotts and Honnacotts Cottage.  The application 
site is located to the eastern side of North Road and is currently in agricultural use as well as containing 
some of the existing amenity space associated with the dwellinghouse at Honnacotts.  There is an 
existing mature hedgebank to the western (front) boundary fronting onto North Road, a hedgebank to 
the southern and northern boundaries.  There is a further hedgebank to the eastern boundary of the 
site.  The two adjacent dwellings, Honnacotts and Honnacotts Cottage, are both two storeys in height 
with pitched rooflines.  There are further neighbouring dwellings to the north as part of former barn 
conversions, including The Granary and The Shippon. 
 
Proposed Development: 
This application seeks outline planning permission for the development of the site to provide 5 dwellings 
with all matters reserved apart from access. 
 
An indicative site layout plan has been provided in support of the application to indicate how the site 
could be developed to accommodate the proposed 5 dwellings together with the associated access, 
parking, amenity space and landscaping.  The precise details of the proposed dwellings, their siting, 
appearance, scale and layout along with the landscaping details would be matters for a subsequent 
Reserved Matters application.   
 
Detailed plans of a new access from North Road to be located within the western boundary of the site 
have been provided for consideration at this stage. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Bradworthy Parish Council:  
Bradworthy Parish Council objects to the proposed development. 
 
Any housing site that comes into planning should primarily serve local needs. We would be deficient as 
a Parish Council if we did not try to make sure that this is what happens within the Parish we represent. 
The Parish has already far exceeded the Local Plan housing requirement. 
 

Page 130



We want to see a full housing survey undertaken to make sure that housing numbers and types needed 
are robust and consequently what is delivered into the area. We think that housing need should be 
monitored annually from now and we would be happy to help undertake this survey with financial 
contributions to do so. 
 
If evidence is revealed that contradicts the Local Plan assessment of Bradworthy then the housing 
requirements should be adjusted immediately. Any long-term overview of housing needs for Bradworthy 
Parish is now considered speculative, given the new evidence produced by the CPRE. We expect this 
new up to date document to serve as a benchmark in considering and allowing any housing applications 
within our Parish. 
 
There needs to be a Parish level assessment to make sure that all infrastructure is able to serve the 
housing numbers that Bradworthy is already having to support. With regard to any future housing, we 
need assurances that any infrastructure can be sustained by way of a financial contribution to the Parish 
or District Council. This will ensure that any associated works remain efficient and sustainable into the 
future. This application as it stands is contrary to ST23. 
 
Bradworthy has 77 houses that have gained permissions that have yet to be built and 23 in planning 
including this site. Given the predicted financial instability that recent Government decisions have 
dictated, added to the lack of housing development within our Parish, we have concerns that housing 
numbers have reached a saturation point in our village for the intermediate future. The District Council 
cannot promote or encourage any housing if the housing need has already been met. Until all these 
extant permissions are developed the true need for further housing will be an unknown quantity. 
 
The Site is a green field site outside of the development area. 
Although adjacent to a similar granted application the Parish Council did not support that application 
either. This gradual creeping into the rural countryside must be halted now. 
 
The Parish does not need these large family houses. The village needs small low cost houses for 
younger people, and sheltered or supported living forever homes. Our young or old residents should 
not be priced out of the local housing market. We are aware of younger people who simply can't afford 
this type of house. Everything should be done to keep the village vibrant and balanced. The application 
is contrary to policy ST17. 
 
Although under the threshold for affordable housing some should be provided either on site or via a 
commuted sum. 
 
The collection of any financial contributions by the District Council must remain in our Parish. A 
continued dialogue with the Parish Council or Bradworthy Community Land Trust is needed to deliver 
any financial contributions into the Parish where they are actually needed. 
 
The school and surgery are at capacity. The local academy is having to turn local children away. Other 
schools in the area have similar issues with child space with their own housing numbers increasing. 
Local Parishes like ours are being made to soak up unneeded houses without services being financially 
supported to adjust to the population influx. These types of family homes are putting pressure on all 
facilities. There needs to be a joined up thinking regarding housing type instead of a build, build, build, 
attitude. 
 
The Parish is disappointed to note the removal of the large trees in the hedgerow abutting the 
farmhouse garden prior to the applications approval. Although within the accepted ecological time frame 
for doing this we feel that it shows a careless attitude to any established species that may have existed. 
Was this hedgerow properly surveyed recently? All hedgerows are important. The removal of any hedge 
to the front of the farmhouse should not be allowed. This is an established feature of the street view. 
We don't concur that losing this hedge can be off set by planting another. Devon hedges take 100's of 
years to establish. This is contrary to ST14. 
 
We do not believe that this application concords with Policy ST10. This will be the second new entrance 
within a very short length of North Road. Both these entrances when considered together will add too 

Page 131



much traffic within that area.  The number of car journeys calculated for this application should be 
cumulative with the other granted applications onto and using North Road. A traffic survey of all North 
Road usage should be requested. 
 
There are no pavements to the village facilities that will allow safe and secure walking journeys. It is 
ironic that all the allowed housing that is accessed via North Road has caused this situation. These 
houses because of the public transport that Bradworthy does NOT have are turning Bradworthy into a 
car dependant settlement. This is unsustainable in transport terms. 
 
For all the above reasons Bradworthy Parish Council does not support this application. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Observations: 
I am satisfied with the access road width into the proposed estate, as well as the footway width both 
within the estate and adjacent to the existing highway. As stated in the accompanying Highways Report, 
I expect a degree of illumination to tie in with the existing street-lighting to provide safer passage for 
pedestrians in the hours of darkness. This point can be finalised at the Reserved Matters stage. 
 
I note that the intention is to extend the speed limit to ensure that the proposed access is within the 30 
mph limit; this is an acceptable arrangement and I would expect the funding for this to be either included 
as a condition or part of any Section 106 agreement to secure the necessary financial contribution. This 
would need to cover the cost of the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) as well as the actual cost of 
relocating and signing and installation of any lining works etc. 
 
With the above comment in mind, I believe the that visibility splays of 2.4 metres x 43 metres are 
acceptable. I do have concerns whether the 'red lines' of the visibility splays are within the ownership 
of the applicant or whether these cross 'third party' land. However, this would be a civil matter in the 
event of an application being granted. 
 
I note that a number of objections have raised the lack of footway as a safety issue. However, I accept 
that walking on the highway on shared surfaces where there are no footways is a common part of Devon 
life and found in many of its towns and villages. Indeed, there are similar arrangements to this in 
Bradworthy and I am not aware of a consistent associated crash problem related to this. In this instance, 
the proposal is to increase the 30 mph limit, improve the street lighting arrangement, provide a short 
section of footway, the route to the proposed site has reasonable forward visibility and reasonable width. 
  
As a result, I believe the proposal offers 'safe and suitable' access as is the test of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) and I offer the following conditions. 
 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF PERMISSION 
1. Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the site access in 
accordance with Drawing Number 21 012-01 where the visibility splays provide intervisibility between 
any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above the adjacent carriageway level and 
the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as X) shall 
be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway 
(identified as Y) shall be 43 metres in both directions. 
 
REASON: To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
 
2. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on to any 
County Highway 
REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway  
 
3. The proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, 
drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle overhang 

Page 132



margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture shall be constructed 
and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before 
their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and sections indicating, as appropriate, the design, 
layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. 
REASON: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the detailed 
proposals. 
 
4. The site access road shall be hardened, surfaced, drained and maintained thereafter to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for a distance of not less than 10 metres back from its 
junction with the public highway 
REASON: To prevent mud and other debris being carried onto the public highway 
 
5. When once constructed and provided in accordance with condition 3 above, the carriageway, vehicle 
turning head, footways and footpaths shall be maintained free of obstruction to the free movement of 
vehicular traffic and pedestrians and the street lighting and nameplates maintained to the satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority 
REASON: To ensure that these highway provisions remain available 
 
6. Within twelve months of the first occupation of the first dwelling in an agreed phase of the 
development, all roads, footways, footpaths, drainage, statutory undertakers' mains and apparatus, 
junction, access, retaining wall and visibility splay works shall be completed to the written satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON: To ensure that the access arrangements are completed within a reasonable time in the 
interests of safety and the amenity of residents  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments are outlined below. 
 
Residential Amenity 
The application site adjoins a site to the north which appears to contains several agricultural buildings 
and appears to be outside the applicant's ownership. Depending on the use of these buildings, there is 
the potential for detriment to residential amenity. For example, livestock accommodation can result in 
noise, odour and fly nuisance. It would be useful to receive further information with regards the adjoining 
site in terms of land use and whether there are any existing restrictions on use. 
 
Land Quality 
There appears to be no detailed information on the historic use and subsequent land quality of the 
application site. It is acknowledged the site is greenfield as opposed to developed but its agricultural 
use has the potential to result in ground contamination and ground conditions that may be harmful to 
health. It is essential that the application site is appropriately assessed for any potential contamination 
and where identified, remedial measures introduced to ensure the site is suitable for occupation. Should 
planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the 
Authority's full standard contaminated land condition. 
 
Foul Drainage 
The application form indicates that the method of foul drainage is unknown however, the Drainage 
Strategy documents indicate a connection to the mains sewer. If a non-mains foul drainage provision 
is to be introduced, the Environmental Protection Team will require detailed information including a FDA 
assessment form, percolation tests, calculated drainage field area and drainage field location for review.  
 
FURTHER COMMENTS DATED 8th MARCH 2021: 
Thank you for your email in relation to the above application. 
 
If the adjacent site to the north no longer contains unrestricted agricultural buildings and is now a 
residential development, the concerns raised regarding amenity impact in the initial consultation 
response will be allayed.  The Environmental Protection Team would have no objections. 
 

Page 133



 
Strategic Enabling Officer:  
 I write to provide a response to the above application which seeks to provide 5 open market dwellings.  
The need for Affordable Housing across the District of Torridge remains high and this is predicted to 
increase year on year. TDC’s most up to date evidence provided through the Housing and Economic 
Needs Assessment 2016 study identified 478 households in housing need at that time with 274 
households falling into Housing Need each year up until 2031. The supply of Affordable Housing 
availability through re-lets and new provision is circa 120 units per year. Overall it can be demonstrated 
that there is an ongoing high need for Affordable Housing.  
 
I am of the understanding that with regards to Affordable Housing and the Council’s current position in 
terms of its in-ability to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply, consideration of North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan Policy ST18 and Paragraph 63 of the NPPF are relevant for my initial consideration 
of this proposal at this current time. This respective Policy and Guidance from the National Planning 
Policy Framework establishes that 30% Affordable Housing is required to be provided where a proposal 
is for 6 units or more in a Designated Protected Area and/or a site area measures at least 0.5 hectares.  
As this proposal is for 5 units in a Designated Protected Area, in policy terms no affordable housing is 
required to be provided. However, I am concerned this proposal does not make the most efficient use 
of the available land in terms of unit density and I would question whether this proposed development 
site should accommodate in excess of 5 dwellings.  
 
It is worth noting that North Devon and Torridge District Councils adopted ‘Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment’ methodology sets out guidance for net density level which in respect or rural 
settlements is at a level of 30 dwellings per hectare. Using this methodology this application based on 
the site area has a considerably lower density proposed..  
 
Overall I am concerned this proposal for five units only has been submitted to intentionally negate the 
planning policy requirement for affordable housing, as in my view the potential of the site in terms of 
units numbers does not appear optimised. As such, the opportunity to secure a vital contribution towards 
affordable housing provision here for the Bradworthy parish community is likely to be lost if this planning 
application is approved in its current form.  
  
Chief Education Officer:  
INITIAL COMMENTS RECEIVED 16TH FEBRUARY 2021: 
Regarding the above planning application, Devon County Council has identified that the proposed 5 
family type dwellings will generate an additional 1.25 primary pupils and 0.75 secondary pupils which 
would have a direct impact on Bradworthy Primary School and Holsworthy Community College. 
 
In order to make the development acceptable in planning terms, an education contribution to mitigate 
its impact will be requested. This is set out below: 
The nearest primary school from this development is Bradworthy primary school which has a current 
NET Capacity of 210. When factoring in approved but not yet implemented developments in the area 
we have forecast that in Spring 2023 the number of pupils expected to be attending the school is 214.25. 
Therefore, our forecasts shows a shortfall of 14.25 pupils. Devon County Council will seek a contribution 
directly towards additional education infrastructure at the local primary school that serves the address 
of the proposed development. The contribution sought towards primary is £20,540 (based on the DfE 
extension rate of £16,432 per pupil). This will relate directly to providing primary education facilities for 
those living in the development. 
 
We have forecast that the nearest secondary school has currently got capacity for the number of pupils 
likely to be generated by the proposed development and therefore a contribution towards secondary 
education would not be sought. 
 
We would also however require a contribution towards secondary school transport costs due to the 
development being further than 2.25 miles from Holsworthy Community College. The costs required 
are as follows: - 
0.75 secondary pupils 
£2.90 per day x 0.75 pupils x 190 academic days x 5 years = £2,066 

Page 134



The contribution above has been calculated based on the DCC contract cost of transporting a pupil 
from the area of development to the named school. The number of academic days and years is based 
on the number of term days in a school year and the number of years a pupil will attend the school. The 
contribution will ensure pupils living within the development will have school transport available for every 
year they are attending the school. 
 
All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should be noted that education infrastructure 
contributions are based on March 2019 rates and any indexation applied to these contributions should 
be applied from this date. 
 
The amount requested is based on established educational formulae (which related to the number of 
primary and secondary age children that are likely to be living in this type of accommodation) and the 
costs of transporting children from Bradworthy to Holsworthy Community College. It is considered that 
this is an appropriate methodology to ensure that the contribution is fairly and reasonably related in 
scale to the development proposed which complies with CIL Regulation 122. 
 
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to recover legal 
costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. Legal costs are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education contribution. 
However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the legal costs 
are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
 
FURTHER COMMENTS DATED 1ST MARCH 2021: 
Apologies for the confusion, you are correct. It was a typo and was supposed to reflect a shortfall of 
4.25, this would not change any of our contribution calculations as the school is still over capacity.  
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
Thank you for this application. 
 
Police have no objections in principle to the proposal. 
It is understood that the proposed site layout is indicative at this stage, however, any future layout must 
not undermine the safety and security of the adjacent existing dwellings. Therefore, consideration must 
be given to suitable boundary treatments for side and rear boundaries, for example, 1.5m close boarded 
fencing topped with 300mm trellis to an overall height of 1.8m. This combination allows for neighbour 
interaction without compromising security or privacy. 
 
I look forward to reviewing a more detailed application in due course but in the meantime please do not 
hesitate to contact me if I can assist further.  
 
South West Water:  
I refer to the above application and would advise that South West Water has no objection subject to 
surface water being managed by means of soakaways as proposed and not connected to the public 
sewer.  
 
FURTHER RESPONSE DATED 10TH MARCH 2021: 
To confirm there are no objections to foul flows only being discharged to the public sewer. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  8  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  10 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  10  

 
Objections received can be summarised as follows: 
- Development outside of settlement boundary; 
- Cumulative impact with other recently approved developments; 
- Insufficient infrastructure; 

Page 135



- Highway safety, especially for pedestrians; 
- Visual impact; 
- Loss of privacy; 
- Impact on rural character of Bradworthy; 
- Adverse impact on ecology; 
- Development for large family homes outside of budget of local people; 
- Loss of amenity space from existing properties at Honnacotts; 
- Loss of hedgerow; 
- Lack of public transport; 
- Strain on existing doctor's surgery; 
- Development not providing range of homes to meet present and future needs; 
- Lack of footpath link to the village; 
- Other suitable building sites in Bradworthy which could accommodate further development; 
- Lack of capacity at school; 
- Limited employment in Bradworthy; 
- Concern will be used as second homes; 
- No need for dwelling types proposed; 
- Proposal contrary to Policy ST17; 
- Concern about lack of capacity in sewers in North Road; 
- Development out of character with traditional barns surrounding the site; 
- Lack of affordable housing; 
- Noise and disturbance to neighbouring occupiers. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST14 (Enhancing 
Environmental Assets); BRD (Bradworthy Spatial Strategy); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); ST17 (A 
Balanced Local Housing Market); ST23 (Infrastructure); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM04 
(Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 (Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); ST18 (Affordable Housing on 
Development Sites); 
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
Main Planning Considerations: 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Affordable Housing 
3. Impact on Landscape Character and Appearance 
4. Impact on Residential Amenities 
5. Access and Parking 
6. Drainage 
7. Ecology 
8.Section 106  
9. Planning Balance 
10. Representations. 
 
1. Principle of Development 
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 
Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 

Page 136



must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions.   
 
The NPPF sets out national policy in relation to rural housing and notes, at paragraph 78, that to 
promote sustainable development in rural area, housing should be located where it will enhance or 
maintain the vitality of rural communities.  Planning policies should identify opportunities for villages to 
grow and thrive, especially where this will support local services.  
 
Policy ST01 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) emphasises that development 
proposals will be considered with a presumption in favour of sustainable development, as contained in 
the NPPF.  
 
The application site is located outside of the settlement boundaries of the village of Bradworthy, as 
identified on the Proposals Maps to the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  As a result, the 
provisions of section (4) of Policy ST07 of the Local Plan are relevant which states that in the 
countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to that 
which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and development which 
is necessarily restricted to a countryside location.  The accompanying text to Policy ST07, in relation to 
section (4) notes that in the countryside, the Local Plan seeks to control dispersed development, 
guarding against development in unsustainable locations.  
 
Policy BRD sets out the spatial strategy for Bradworthy noting that the Local Centre should provide the 
range of facilities and services required by local people, including accommodation, care services and 
employment and that growth should be gradual and supported by appropriate infrastructure.  Policy 
BRD also provides for the addition of new residential development within the settlement through 
allocations and extant planning permissions.  The spatial strategy for the settlement seeks the retention 
of existing services and facilities in the village, provision for the elderly, provision of additional sports 
and recreation facilities and additional employment provision.  Supporting text to policy BRD at 
paragraph 12.11 of the Local Plan notes that a development boundary for Bradworthy is defined on the 
Policies Maps outside of which the principle of residential development is only supported on an 
exceptional basis. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, as a result of the Burwood Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the 
Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites 
(5YHLS); with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 years across Northern Devon. By 
virtue of not being able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, 
NPPF), there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 
'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in determining planning 
applications for housing. 
 
Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 
'Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning permission 
unless: 
 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
(National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.' 
 
For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 
automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 
development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 
considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of the 
policies are generally considered to be out-of-date for the application of the Presumption. 
 

Page 137



The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this proposal 
does not harm a 'protected area', the decision taker in this case needs to consider the NPPF's 
requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits - the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF).  
 
In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to policy ST21 of the NDTLP which relates 
to managing the delivery of housing. In particular, Section (2) of Policy ST21 is relevant which supports 
development outside of settlement limits (where completions are below 90% of the annual requirement). 
The Burwood Appeal Decision determined that Section (2) of Policy ST21 is currently engaged, which 
states that residential development outside of defined settlement limits will be supported where they 
can comply with the following criteria: 
 
'(a) in a location and of a scale and nature commensurate to the deficit in required housing; 
(b) be able to demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing the deficit in housing 
supply; 
(c) broadly consistent with, not prejudicial to and contributing towards the positive achievement of the 
plan's overall spatial vision and strategy for northern Devon, along with the relevant settlement vision 
and development strategy; and 
(d) in all other respects in accordance with other Local Plan policies, in so far as they apply.' 
 
The following considers each of these points in turn in relation to the proposed development: 
(a) The application site is located outside of the settlement of Bradworthy and does not abut the 
boundaries of the Local Centre.  The application site is located immediately adjacent to existing 
dwellings to the north and north-west.  In addition, planning permission (both outline and reserved 
matters) has been granted on the site immediately to the south for the provision of 5 further dwellings 
(application references: 1/1257/2016/OUT & 1/0224/2020/REM).  Development pursuant to these 
permissions has not commenced on site to date, however if implemented would provide a residential 
built form to the southern boundary of the site.  There are existing dwellings located to the north of the 
application site. 
 
The proposed additional dwellings are considered to be a proportionate addition to the existing village 
taking account of the two existing allocated sites within the village within the Local Plan.   
 
(b) The applicant owns the application site as well as indicated on the application form and the existing 
dwellings to Honnacotts and Honnacotts Cottage are identified within the blue line on the Location Plan 
indicating these are also in the same ownership.  In addition, the application form does not identify any 
third party involvement in the site.  On this basis, it is not considered that there would not be any legal 
issues which would prevent the delivery of the proposed dwellings subject to an acceptable Reserved 
Matters submission.  
 
(c) The spatial strategy for the District, as set out in Policies ST06 and ST07 of the Local Plan seeks to 
direct residential development to existing settlements and Bradworthy is identified as a Local Centre, 
which are intended to be the primary focus for development in the rural area.   

 
The overarching spatial strategy for the village as set out in Policy BRD seeks the retention of the 
facilities and services within the village as well as the provision of a range of accommodation to meet 
the housing needs in the local community.   
 
The two allocated sites for development in Bradworthy as set out in the Local Plan are BRD01 and 
BRD02.  BRD01 relates to land adjacent to Elizabeth Lea Close and North Road and is located to the 
south of the application site.  Planning permission has been granted for the development of the majority 
of this allocation for residential development.  The land which is the subject of allocation BRD02 is also 
allocated for residential development and a full application for 7 dwellings on this site is currently under 
consideration (application reference: 1/0162/2021/FUL).  The proposed development of the current 
application site would provide additional housing supply over and above that of the allocated sites.  
 
The introductory paragraph to Bradworthy as set out in the Local Plan at paragraph 12.8 identifies the 
village as having a range of services including an employment area, shops, post office, primary school, 

Page 138



community hall, doctor's surgery and recreation facilities.  The proposed development would provide 
an additional resident population to assist in retaining the existing services and facilities in the village, 
as identified in the spatial strategy for Bradworthy.  In addition, Local Centres such as Bradworthy, are 
noted as being the primary focus for development in the rural area, to enhance the sustainability of the 
locally important service centre.  The application site would be located within close walking distance of 
the centre of Bradworthy and the various facilities and services available in the village.   
 
Paragraph 78 of the NPPF is a material consideration in the determination of the current application 
and this notes that to promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where 
it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities.  Further, paragraph 78 states: 
'Planning policies should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will 
support local services.  Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may 
support services in a village nearby.' 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 78 of the NPPF, the proposed development could 
contribute positively to the support of local services within the Local Centre of Bradworthy, which are 
identified as being a key consideration in the provisions of Policy ST07 as well as the spatial strategy 
for the village.   
 
(d) An assessment of the proposed development in relation to the broader policies of the NDTLP 
including landscape character, amenities, access, drainage and ecology will be considered in the 
subsequent sections.   
 
Due to the lack of a five year housing land supply, the planning considerations will need to be weighed 
up within the planning balance with the NPPF's requirement to grant permission unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits as a material 
consideration. The planning considerations are set out below.  
 
2. Affordable Housing 
Policy ST18 of the Local Plan relates to affordable housing and notes that affordable housing will be 
required on development site which either include 11 or more dwellings and in rural areas, 
developments of between 6 and 10 dwellings will be expected to provide a financial contribution 
towards the provision of off-site housing broadly equivalent in value to 30% of the gross number of 
dwellings on the site. 
 
The proposed development only proposes 5 dwellings and therefore does not trigger the need for a 
contribution towards off-site affordable housing provision.  Notwithstanding this, comments have been 
received from the Council’s Strategic Enabling Officer which raise concerns about the proposal not 
making the most efficient use of the available land in terms of unit density and could potentially 
provide more than 5 dwellings, thereby triggering a contribution towards affordable housing. 
 
Section (6) of Policy ST18 notes that where it is considered that a proposal is formulated with a view to 
circumventing affordable housing requirements, the affordable housing provision will be re-negotiated.   
 
The application site includes a site area of approximately 0.35ha and proposes 5 dwellings.  The 
approved development immediately to the south also include 5 dwellings on a site area of approximately 
3.12ha (excluding the proposed access into the field beyond) (application references: 
1/0224/2020/REM & 1/1257/2016/OUT).  Further recent developments on land adjacent to Elizabeth 
Lea Close, which is located to the south of the application site and occupies a similar ‘edge of 
settlement’ position, have included the provision of four dwellings on a site of 3.41ha (excluding the 
access from Elizabeth Lea Close).  On this basis, the proposed density of the development is 
considered to be appropriate and similar to nearby schemes recently approved in Bradworthy.  It is 
further noted that previous applications for residential development to the edge of the village of 
Bradworthy have been refused due to their contrived nature resulting in an inefficient use of land.  
However at appeal, the Inspector in relation to the previous application for land at Elizabeth Lea Close 
(application reference: 1/0771/2017/OUTM) did not consider this to be the case although noted that 
further land was also within the applicant’s ownership.  The Inspector specifically noted that the 
development in this case was a logical extension of the existing development at Elizabeth Lea Close 

Page 139



and would not result in a harmful impact on character.  Further, the Inspector states that access could 
be provided to future development sites beyond the application site and that there is no requirement on 
landowners to develop their land a particular way.  These conclusions are a material planning 
consideration in relation to the current application.  
 
3. Impact on Landscape Character and Appearance 
Policy DM08A of the Local Plan relates to landscape and seascape character noting that development 
should be of an appropriate scale, mass and design that recognises and respects the landscape 
character of both designated and undesignated landscapes.  The application site is located within 
landscape character area 5A Inland Elevated Undulating Land as defined by the Joint Landscape 
Character Assessment for North Devon and Torridge Districts (LCA).  This area is characterised by 
long views from elevated ridgelines, a patchwork of fields and ridges and a quiet, relaxed and tranquil 
landscape.  Further, the area is characterised as a working, rural landscape.  In terms of forces for 
change, the Assessment notes that this character area includes development pressure (housing, 
commercial and industrial) in and around the main settlements responding to a rise in the resident 
population.  Further growth in the popularity of the wider area for recreation and tourism is also noted.   
 
Policy DM04 of the Local Plan notes that good design seeks to guide overall scale, density, massing, 
height, landscape, layout, materials, access and appearance of new development.  Policy DM04 sets 
out a number of key design principles for consideration in relation to new development.   
 
As noted above there are residential dwellings to the north of the application site, including Honnacotts 
and Honnacotts Cottage which are immediately to the north-west of the application site.  A small part 
of the application site is currently part of the amenity space to the south of Honnacotts, with the 
remainder of the site in agricultural use.  The existing land to the east and to the south of the application 
site is also open agricultural land.  As noted above, planning permission has previously been approved 
for five dwellings immediately to the south of the application site.  The approved development includes 
five detached dwellinghouses set in their own amenity spaces and include a mix of two, three and four 
bedroom dwellings.  The three dwellings approved to the northern part of the site and therefore closest 
to the application site would all include accommodation over two storeys, although with rooms in the 
roofspace which reduces their height somewhat.    The approved dwellings are all of a traditional design 
with a mix of brickwork, render and wooden cladding to the elevations and dark coloured roof tiles.   
 
To the opposite side of North Road there are further open agricultural fields which are bound by mature 
hedgebanks.   
 
The site slopes gently down from the north to south.  Views of the application site can be gained within 
the wider landscape to the west and east across open agricultural fields, however this would be in the 
context of the existing dwellings to the north, both at Honnacotts/Honnacotts Cottage as well as the 
recently converted agricultural buildings further to the north.  The application site is also located in close 
proximity to the built form of the settlement of Bradworthy. 
 
The current application is made in outline only with only detailed consideration of access to be made 
at this stage.  On this basis, details of the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping will remain 
matters for consideration at the Reserved Matters stage.  An indicative site plan has been provided as 
part of this outline application which demonstrates that five new dwellings could be accommodated on 
the site, together with appropriate amounts of amenity space, parking provision and landscaping.  
 
At this outline stage, it is not considered that the proposed development would result in a harmful 
impact on the landscape character and appearance of the surrounding area and would be in keeping 
with the provisions of Policies DM04 and DM08A of the Local Plan in this regard. 
 
4. Impact on Residential Amenities 
Policy DM01 of the Local Plan states that development will be supported where it would not significantly 
harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or the future occupiers of the proposed development. 
 
In the absence of any detailed plans it is not possible to fully assess the likely impact of the proposed 
development on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or future occupants of the proposal in terms 

Page 140



of the layout, scale or design of the proposed dwellings.  This would be a matter for further detailed 
consideration at the reserved matters stage. 
 
The nearest neighbouring residential dwellings are located at Honnacotts and Honnacotts Cottage to 
the north-west of the application site.  The proposed development would result in the loss of part of the 
amenity space associated with the dwelling at Honnacotts and it is noted that this issue has been raised 
in many representations received.  The red line boundary of the application site would be located 
approximately 15 metres to the south of the rear building line of the existing dwelling at Honnacotts, 
which would provide a suitable garden space for the existing dwelling.  No garden space would be lost 
from the adjacent dwelling at Honnacotts Cottage.  It is noted that these two nearest neighbouring 
properties are also within the applicant’s ownership. 
 
Further to the north of the application site are recently converted dwellings at The Old Granary, Cherry 
Barton and The Shippon and the application site would extend to the rear boundaries of The Shippen 
and Cherry Barton. 
 
Notwithstanding the outline nature of the application, the submitted indicative plan demonstrates that 
five dwellings could be accommodated on the site whilst being appropriately located on the site to 
ensure that an adverse impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers would not result.   
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has commented on the submitted plans noting that due 
to the previous agricultural use of the site and the nature of the proposed development as residential 
development, a contaminated land condition should be included as part of any planning permission 
granted to ensure a harmful impact on human health does not result from the development. Initial 
comments from the Environmental Protection Officer raised concerns about the potential impact of 
livestock being accommodated in the agricultural buildings to the north of the site, however further to 
additional information on the planning history of this site, with the buildings now converted to residential 
dwellings, these concerns have been removed. 
  
Comments have also been received from the Police Designing Out Crime Officer which note the outline 
nature of the application however states that the proposed layout of the site should not undermine the 
safety and security of the adjacent existing dwellings.  Consideration should therefore be given to 
appropriate boundary treatments within the development.  These will be for further consideration at the 
Reserved Matters stage. 
 
The proposed development, at this outline stage, is considered to result in an acceptable impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with the provisions of Policy DM01 of the Local 
Plan, subject to the conditions recommended.  A full assessment of the relationship of the proposed 
development to adjacent and neighbouring sites would be undertaken at the Reserved Matters stage. 
 
5. Access and Parking 
Policy DM05 of the Local Plan notes that all development must ensure safe and well designed vehicular 
access and egress together with adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs of all highway 
users.  Policy DM06 relates to parking provision and states development proposals will be expected to 
provide an appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet anticipated needs. 
 
The proposed development would be accessed from a new entrance to the eastern side of North Road 
which would serve all of the proposed development.  The proposed new entrance would require the 
removal of part of the existing mature hedgebank to the western boundary of the site. 
 
The submitted access details propose a new entrance into the application site immediately to the south 
of the amenity space for Honnacotts and includes a 43 metre visibility splay in either direction for 
vehicles exiting the site, when taken from a point 2.4 metres from the edge of the highway.  These 
details are set out on the Proposed Access Plan.  As the applicant owns the dwelling at Honnacotts, 
the proposed visibility splays are able to be formed on land which is within the applicant’s ownership as 
well as highway land.  The proposed visibility splays would require the removal of the existing 
hedgebank to the western boundary of the site.  No details of any proposed landscaping in mitigation 
for these works have been provided at this stage and would be for consideration at the Reserved 

Page 141



Matters stage.  The submitted Indicative Site Plan does however demonstrate that a replacement 
hedge/landscaping could be provided across the frontage of the site, set back to allow the visibility 
splays, along with the quantum of development which is sought.   
 
The County Council’s Highways Officer has commented on the submitted plans noting they have no 
objections to the proposed access road width into the proposed development and the proposed footpath 
provision within the site and adjacent to the existing highway.  A degree of lighting is required by the 
Highways Officer to ensure that pedestrian can have safe passage at night and acknowledges that this 
will be a matter for agreement at the Reserved Matters stage. 
 
In addition, the Highways Officer noted that the intention is to alter the location of the 30mph zone which 
currently stops to the south of the application site and considers the proposals to be acceptable.  A 
contribution is sought to fund these highway works and could be secured via a Section 106 as part of 
any planning permission granted. 
 
On the basis of the proposed extension of the 30mph area to be beyond the site, the Highways Officer 
has confirmed that the proposed visibility splays of 43 metres are acceptable, although does query 
whether all the land is within the applicant’s ownership.  This has since been clarified with the applicant 
as to the precise areas which fall within the red and blue lines on the submitted Location Plan.  The 
land within the visibility splays is either land within the applicant’s ownership or extend across the public 
highway. 
 
The Highways Officer further notes that a number of representations have been received in relation to 
the lack of footpath and pedestrian safety, however notes that this is not an unusual situation within 
many towns and villages in the County, indeed it already exists for existing dwellings in Bradworthy with 
no associated consistent crash problem relating to this.  Given the proposed increased 30mph zone, 
improved street lighting at the entrance to the site and the provision of a short stretch of footpath across 
the frontage of the site, the Highways Officer has raised no objections.   
 
A number of conditions have also been recommended by the Highways Officer for inclusion within any 
planning permission granted.   
 
Subject to the imposition of these highways conditions together with funding for the Traffic Regulation 
Order and associated works to amend the location of the 30mph zone, the proposed access 
arrangements are considered to ensure that the development includes a safe and well designed 
vehicular and pedestrian access and egress and would be in accordance with the provisions of Policies 
DM06 and DM05 of the Local Plan, insofar as this is able to be considered at the outline stage.   
 
6. Drainage 
Policy DM02 of the Local Plan relates to pollution and at Section (2) states that development will be 
supported where it does not result in an unacceptable impacts to: 
‘(b) pollution of surface or ground water (fresh and salt) including rivers, canals, other watercourses, 
water bodies, wetlands, water gathering grounds including catchment areas, aquifers, groundwater 
protection areas, harbours, estuaries or the sea’. 
 
In addition, part (n) of Policy DM04 notes that development proposals should provide effective water 
management including Sustainable Drainage Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of 
rainwater. 
 
The submitted details propose two alternative drainage strategies for the development.  Both strategies 
propose the connection of the foul drainage to the South West Water combined sewer located in North 
Road immediately to the west of the application site via an on-site private foul sewer.  This has been 
confirmed as being acceptable to South West Water. 
 
In terms of surface water drainage, both drainage strategy options would include the provision of a 
soakaway within the rear gardens of each dwelling for the run-off from the proposed dwellings 
themselves.  In the first option, the road into the development would include its own soakaway located 
immediately to the south of the entrance and in the second option infiltration would be installed under 

Page 142



the road itself which it not intended to be adopted.  In both options the private driveways to the front of 
each dwelling would use permeable paving. 
 
Percolation testing has been undertaken at two locations within the site (one to the north and one to 
the south of the proposed access road) and the results included within the application submission. 
These demonstrate that infiltration is a suitable approach for surface water drainage on the site.   
 
Comments have been received from South West Water in relation to the proposed foul drainage 
arrangements and these raise no objections to the proposed surface water being managed by means 
of soakaways as proposed and not connected to the public sewer. 
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has noted that the application form does not confirm 
the proposed means of foul drainage although notes that the Drainage Strategy confirms the intention 
to connect to the mains sewer.  Due to the discrepancy, the Environmental Protection Officer has 
requested additional information should the means of foul drainage not be a connection to the mains.  
As noted above, the means of foul drainage has now been confirmed to be a connection to the mains. 
 
Taking into consideration the submitted drainage details and the outline nature of the application, it is 
considered that there are feasible solutions to the provision of foul and surface water drainage from the 
development.  It is considered reasonable to include conditions as part of any planning permission 
granted to ensure that further details in relation to drainage are submitted for detailed consideration 
prior to the commencement of the development.  On this basis, the proposed development is considered 
to be in keeping with the relevant provisions of Policies DM02 and DM04 of the Local Plan.   
 
7. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife is 
fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further reinforced within 
the North Devon and Torridge District Local Plan through Policy DM08 which requires new development 
to 'avoid adverse impacts on existing ecology features as a first principle, and enable net gains by 
designing in biodiversity features'. 
 
A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of the application, although this is 
dated 2017 and therefore an additional update dated January 2021 has also been provided. 
 
The 2017 Appraisal confirms that the existing site is currently semi-improved pasture used for the 
grazing of cattle.  The Appraisal assesses the existing hedgebanks to the boundaries of the site noting 
that the southern boundary is formed of a species poor defunct hedge which is predominantly 
Blackthorn.  The hedge which separates the agricultural field from the adjacent garden at Honnacotts 
is also noted to be similar and the western boundary formed for an intact species poor hedge which is 
predominantly Beech.  The remainder of the northern boundary is formed of another short stretch of 
species poor hedge along with farm buildings.   
 
The 2017 Appraisal considers that the grassland across much of the site is not of ecological or 
conservation significance and that the site has a negligible potential to support protected species due 
to a lack of suitable habitats.  Nesting birds are however noted to be likely to be present within all the 
hedges during the breeding season.   
 
A number of recommendations were made within the 2017 Appraisal including that the removal of 
hedgerow associated with the new access should be undertaken outside of the bird nesting season, 
that a new native, species-rich hedgerow should be planted across the eastern site boundary of the 
development to compensate for the loss of hedgerow resulting from the formation of the new access.    
 
The update to the Ecological Appraisal dated January 2021 confirms that there have been no changes 
to the site in terms of its ability to support any protected species and the same habitats are present as 
were the case in 2017.  The recommendation of the provision of a new native, species-rich hedge along 

Page 143



the eastern boundary as mitigation for the loss of the existing hedgerow to the western boundary 
remains valid to ensure no net loss of habitat on site.   
 
The submitted indicative site plan does not include a hedgerow to be added to the eastern boundary, 
however does include the provision of a new hedgerow across the remainder of the western boundary, 
with the exception of the access point. The submitted Planning Statement further confirms that a 
species rich hedgerow will be planted to the eastern boundary. 
 
The existing hedgerow which would be removed as part of the development has a length of 
approximately 30 metres and the proposed hedgerow to the eastern boundary would have a maximum 
length of 73 metres.  A shorter length of hedgerow could also be added back to the frontage of the site, 
as included on the indicative site plan which would further increase the mitigation and enhancement to 
the site.  The provision of a new hedgerow to the eastern boundary could be secured via a condition as 
part of any planning permission granted to ensure that an appropriate mitigation and enhancement is 
secured as part of the development.  On this basis, the proposed development is not considered to 
result in an adverse impact on protected species and would be in keeping with the provisions of Policy 
DM08 in this regard. 
 
8. Section 106 
As noted above, an agreement to the applicant funding the relocation of the 30mph zone to include the 
application site, including the related Traffic Regulations Order would need to be secured via a Section 
106 agreement as part of any planning permission granted. 
 
In addition, comments have been received from the County Council’s Education Officer in relation to 
the proposed provision of 5 additional dwellings.  This confirms that the development would generate 
an additional 1.25 primary school pupils and 0.75 secondary school pupils.   
 
Bradworthy Primary School is noted as having a net capacity of 210 pupils and when factoring in 
approved but not yet implemented developments in the area, the County Council forecast that in Spring 
2023 there are expected to be 214.25 pupils attending the school, with a shortfall of 4.25 pupils.  A 
contribution is therefore sought towards additional educational infrastructure at Bradworthy Primary 
School which will directly provide primary education facilities for those living in the proposed 
development. 
 
In relation to secondary school pupils, the Education Officer has confirmed that there is sufficient 
capacity at the nearest secondary school however will need to seek contributions towards secondary 
school transport costs as the site is located more than 2.25 miles from Holsworthy Community College. 
 
These contributions would need to be secured via a Section 106 agreement as part of any planning 
permission granted.  
  
9. Planning Balance 
As discussed above, the Local Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of 
housing land to meet the identified need within the district.  It is therefore necessary to consider whether 
the adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (the 
tilted balance). 
 
In terms of benefits, the proposed development is unlikely to result in a harmful impact on the 
surrounding landscape character or the amenities of existing or future occupiers. However, only limited 
weight can be attributed to these matters due to the outline nature of the application with all matters 
reserved with the exception of access.  In this instance, the proposal would also provide a contribution 
of 5 additional dwelling towards local housing supply which is considered to be proportionate to the 
settlement of Bradworthy, taking into consideration other recently approved and valid consents for 
development in and around the village, including that immediately to the south of the application site for 
a further 5 dwellings. 
 
The application site is located to the north of the settlement boundary for Bradworthy and does not 
adjoin the boundary, although is located adjacent to existing dwellings to the north.  Given the 

Page 144



permission of the adjacent site to the south for further residential accommodation, along with the 
existing dwellings to the north, the proposed development would be viewed within the context of the 
existing built form of this part of Bradworthy and may provide a natural extension should the 
development on the land to the south be implemented.   
 
The application site is located within close proximity to the services and facilities of the village of 
Bradworthy, which is designated as a Local Centre within the Local Plan and includes a primary school, 
shops, post office, community hall, doctor's surgery, recreation facilities, an industrial area for 
employment opportunities and places of worship.  The proposed development would therefore be 
considered to be reasonably sustainable given the surrounding rural context for the provision of five 
additional dwellings.  Future residents would be likely to have some reliance on the private car to access 
secondary school provision, wider employment and retail facilities.  Future residents of the new 
dwellings would also have access to some limited public bus services from the centre of the village, 
within close walking distance. 
 
At this outline stage, the proposed development is not considered to result in an adverse impact on the 
surrounding landscape or the residential amenities of neighbouring or future occupiers, subject to the 
conditions outlined above and further consideration at the Reserved Matters stage.  The submitted 
indicative plan demonstrates that the quantum of development sought can be provided on site with the 
necessary infrastructure without resulting in an adverse impact on the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers and including areas for landscaping to assist in assimilating the development within the 
surrounding landscape.  As concluded in the section above, the proposed development is generally 
considered to fit in with the wider objectives of the Local Plan in terms of its impact. Significant weight 
can be attributed to these aspects.  
 
The proposed development would result in harm associated with the conflict with Policy ST07 (the 
Council's Spatial Strategy for the Rural Area) and this harm should be afforded significant weight. 
Notwithstanding this, the provisions of paragraph 68 of the NPPF makes clear that small and medium 
sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area and are 
often built out relatively quickly.  This paragraph further notes the important role that the development 
of windfall sites, such as the current application site, can make towards housing delivery.  
 
In addition, the proposed development would not result in the provision of any affordable housing, with 
5 open market dwellings being proposed, although this is a policy compliant submission in terms of the 
provisions of Policy ST18 as discussed above.  The density of the proposed development of the site 
would also be similar to that of recently approved schemes in the surrounding area. 
 
As identified above, the proposed development would be broadly in keeping with the various criteria set 
out in Policy ST21. 
 
The proposed development would also provide direct support for the services and facilities within 
Bradworthy and the provision of additional dwellings to potentially support the services and facilities 
within the settlement would be in keeping with the spatial strategy of Bradworthy which seeks the 
provision of a range of facilities and services as required by local people.   
 
In accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 78 of the NPPF, it is considered that significant weight 
can be attributed to this aspect of the development. 
 
As noted above, the application site is owned by the applicant, along with the adjacent site to the north 
and therefore delivery of the development could be undertaken in a timely manner, subject to the 
approval of Reserved Matters details.  It is noted that the concerns raised with the 5 year housing land 
supply within the Burwood Appeal Decision did not relate to a lack of identified sites or housing supply 
overall rather it was about delivery of these sites on the ground.  Some limited positive weight can 
therefore be attributed to the development in this regard. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as outlined in the NPPF, it can be concluded 
that the proposal would conflict with Policy ST07 of the Local Plan in terms of its location outside of the 

Page 145



designated settlement boundary for Bradworthy.  However it is considered that there are a number of 
material considerations which would outweigh the harm caused to the spatial strategy set out in Policy 
ST07, including the lack of landscape or character harm, lack of impact on residential amenities, lack 
of adverse impact on protected species at this outline stage and the provision of an acceptable access 
in detail.  The proposal as a small windfall site could contribute positively to the District's housing 
delivery, as set out in the NPPF.   In addition, the future residents of the site would directly support 
existing services and facilities in the village of Bradworthy.   
 
The provisions of Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF make clear that where there are no relevant 
development plan policies or the policies which are the most important for determining the application 
are out of date (which includes the lack of a 5 year housing land supply), planning permission should 
be granted unless the development is located in a protected area or the adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework as a whole. 
 
The application site is not located in a protected area and it is considered that the adverse impacts of 
the proposed development would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the 
proposed development when assessed against the policies in the NDTLP and the NPPF as a whole 
and having considered all the planning issues.  On balance, a recommendation for approval is made. 
 
10. Representations. 
The majority of concerns raised in representations have been considered in the above sections.  In 
many instances, due to the outline nature of the application, it is not possible to undertake a full 
assessment at this stage, e.g. in relation to landscape impact or neighbouring amenities. 
 
The likely eventual price of the dwellings within the development is not a material planning consideration 
and will be a matter for the market. The precise layout and scale of the proposed dwellings is only 
provided in an indicative form at this stage.  No affordable housing provision is required to be made on 
a small site such as this, in accordance with the details of Policy ST18 of the Local Plan.  It is also not 
a material planning consideration whether these dwellings are used as second homes. 
 
Concerns in relation to the provision of sufficient infrastructure, particularly in relation to the GP’s 
surgery is noted however no comments have been received from the NHS in relation to this application.   
 
Conclusion 
The proposed development at this outline stage is considered to be acceptable in this location given 
the specific circumstances of the application.  The proposed development is not considered to result in 
a harmful impact on residential amenities or protected species and would be in keeping with the 
character of the surrounding area, with no harmful impact on the surrounding landscape, based on the 
limited information available at the outline stage.  In addition, the proposed development would include 
a suitable access and an acceptable means of drainage can be accommodated at Reserved Matters 
stage.  
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
 

Recommendation 

 
 
GRANT subject to a Section 106 agreement for the following: 

- A contribution of £20,540 towards additional primary school infrastructure at Bradworthy Primary 
School; 

- A contribution of £2,066 towards transportation for secondary school pupils generated by the 
development to Holsworthy Community College; 

Page 146



- The cost of the proposed relocation of signage, its installation and other associated highway 
works to extend the existing 30mph zone past the site.  This should include the costs of the 
associated Traffic Regulation Order. 

 
AND THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: 
 
1         Approval of the details of (delete matters approved at this stage) 
  
 a) layout, 
 b) scale, 
 c) appearance, 
 d) access, 
 e) landscaping  
  
 (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development is commenced. 
  
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2         (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
            
           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.   

            
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 4         Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that required 

to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not commence until 
conditions a) to d) have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is found after 
development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until 
condition d) has been complied with in relation to that contamination. 

                       
           a) Site Characterisation  
                       
           An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the planning 

application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature and extent 
of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The contents of the 
scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The investigation 
and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the 
findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include:  

                       
                      (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
                      (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
                      o human health,  
                      o property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 

service lines and pipes,  
                      o adjoining land,  

Page 147



                      o groundwaters and surface waters,  
                      o ecological systems,  
                      o archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
                      (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).  
                       
           This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 

Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  Approval by the Local 
Planning Authority of the report submitted at this stage will confirm whether there is a need to 
undertake remediation measures under conditions b), (c) and (e) below.  

                       
           b) Submission of Remediation Scheme  
                       
           A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by 

removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and 
historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The 
scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.  

                       
           c) Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme  
                       
           The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the 

commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must 
be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.  

                       
           Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 

report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.  

                       
           d) Reporting of Unexpected Contamination  
                       
           In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 

that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the 
requirements of condition a), and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition b), which is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

                       
           Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 

report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with condition c).  

                       
           e) Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance  
                       
           Where an approved remediation scheme includes a requirement for a monitoring and 

maintenance scheme to ensure the long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over 
time, a report setting out monitoring and maintenance requirements must be submitted in writing 
for the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority.  

                       
           Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation 

objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring 
and maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  

                       
           This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 

Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  

Page 148



                       
           Reason (common to all): To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 

land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

                       
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the ground conditions of the site prior to works commencing on site.  
Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the risk of 
land contamination and an adverse impact on human health. 

 
 5         The proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 

sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and sections 
indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of 
construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 

detailed proposals. 
 
 6         Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted a plan identifying the finished 

floor levels of all proposed dwellings together with the finished levels of the surrounding amenity 
areas of the site, including amenity spaces to the proposed dwellings in relation to an identifiable 
datum point shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with such agreed details. 

                                  
           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 

Planning Authority is satisfied of the levels of the development relative to surrounding sites prior 
to works commencing on site.  Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on 
site could lead to the risk of the development being a dominant feature, out of keeping with the 
surrounding landscape and neighbouring sites.  

 
 7         Prior to the commencement of works hereby granted planning permission, full details of the 

proposed boundary treatments to the site, including details of materials and heights, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing.  Such details should include full details of the proposed 
hedge to the eastern boundary of the site, including details of species and the construction of 
any hedgebank.  The development shall then be undertaken in accordance with such approved 
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
boundary treatments shall be constructed and planted on site prior to the occupation of any 
dwelling within the approved development. 

                       
           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 

Planning Authority is satisfied of the landscape impacts of the boundary treatments prior to 
works commencing on site.  Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on 
site could lead to the risk of the development being a dominant feature, out of keeping with the 
surrounding landscape and resulting in an adverse impact on neighbouring sites.  In addition, 
the hedge to the eastern boundary is required to mitigate any impacts of the development 
biodiversity and provide enhancements, as set out in Policy DM08 of the Local Plan. 

 
 8          Prior to, or as part of, the subsequent Reserved Matters application, the following surface water 

drainage information shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: 

           (a) A detailed drainage design; 
           (b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 

construction of the development hereby permitted; 

Page 149



           (c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 
system; 

           (d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site; 
           (e) A detailed assessment of the condition and capacity of any existing surface water drainage 

system/watercourse/culvert that will be affected by the proposals.  The assessment should 
identify and commit to, any repair and/or improvement works to secure the proper function of 
the surface water drainage receptor. 

                                  
           No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and 

implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 
                                  
           Reason: The above condition is required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system 

will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent 
land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, 
including NPPF and PPG.  The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential 
that the propose surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to 
avoid redesign/unnecessary delays during construction when the site layout is fixed. 

 
 9         Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the site access in 

accordance with Drawing Number 21 012-01 where the visibility splays provide intervisibility 
between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above the adjacent 
carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public 
highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge 
of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as Y) shall be 43 metres in both directions. 

            
           REASON: To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
 
10         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway 
            
           REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
11         The site access road shall be hardened, surfaced, drained and maintained thereafter to the 

satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for a distance of not less than 10 metres back from 
its junction with the public highway. 

            
           REASON: To prevent mud and other debris being carried onto the public highway 
 
12         When once constructed and provided in accordance with condition 5 above, the carriageway, 

vehicle turning head, footways and footpaths shall be maintained free of obstruction to the free 
movement of vehicular traffic and pedestrians and the street lighting and nameplates maintained 
to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 

            
           REASON: To ensure that these highway provisions remain available 
 
13         Within twelve months of the first occupation of the first dwelling in an agreed phase of the 

development, all roads, footways, footpaths, drainage, statutory undertakers' mains and 
apparatus, junction, access, retaining wall and visibility splay works shall be completed to the 
written satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

            
           REASON: To ensure that the access arrangements are completed within a reasonable time in 

the interests of safety and the amenity of residents. 
 
14         The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the 

recommendations in relation to mitigation and enhancement set out in the submitted Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal prepared by North Devon Ecology dated 6th June 2017 and the updated 
ecology comments made by Orbis Ecology dated 7th January 2021. 

            

Page 150



           Reason: To ensure the development does not result in an adverse impact on protected species 
and biodiversity. 

 
 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

6344 A01  21.01.2021 
   

21 012 - 01 A  27.01.2021 
   

21 012 - 02 B  27.01.2021 
   

21 012 - 03 A  27.01.2021 
   

1609 0120 P2  21.01.2021 
   

1609 0500 P2  21.01.2021 
   

1609 0505 P2  21.01.2021 
   

1609 0700 P2  21.01.2021 
   

1609 0720 P2  21.01.2021 
   

1609 0730 P2  21.01.2021 
  

 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
    
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The need 
for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further consideration.  
    
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



 
Committee Report – 01.04.2021  

 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0490/2020/FULM 

Registration date: 9 July 2020 

Expiry date:  8 October 2020 

Applicant:  NG Properties SW Ltd  

Agent:  McCaren Architecture 

Case Officer:  Helen Smith 

Site Address:  Land Between Tadworthy Road And Golf Links 
Road,  
Westward Ho!,  
Northam, 
Devon.  
 

Proposal:  Residential development of 138 dwellings 
consisting of 120 houses, 14 bungalows and 4 
flats along with an allotment site, public open 
space and associated infrastructure. 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 152

Agenda Item 7c



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application involves land within the ownership of Torridge District Council and must therefore be 
determined by the Council’s Plans Committee. 
 
The application has been called-in by Cllr Hodson as a Westward Ho! Ward Member for the following 
reason: 
 
‘Inadequate percentage of affordable housing, not compliant with Local Plan; 
Highway issues, increased traffic generation, highway safety, scheme joining B3236 junction visibility, 
existing pavement inadequate on Atlantic Way; 
Layout and density of building design. Boulevard not adequate for passing cars, pavement and cycle 
lanes. Potential for rat run, no traffic calming; 
Adverse impact on nature conservation and biodiversity, loss of habitat not ameliorated by bird boxes; 
Assertions within Traffic Management Plan about cycle usage misleading. Many routes not safe for 
cyclists. Major highway reconfigurations would be required and new cycle routes would need to be 
created.’ 
 
The application has also been called-in by Cllr Manley as a Northam Ward Member for the following 
reason: 
 
‘Not enough affordable housing – less than 30%; 
Loss of green space; 
Visual impact and the density of the properties.’ 
 

Relevant History: 

 
                                    

There is no planning history of relevance to the proposal. 
 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description: 
The application site comprises of two separate parcels of land: Parcel 1 and Parcel 2. Both parcels 
fall within the development boundary of Northam and Westward Ho! and are allocated for 
development under Policy NOR04 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) as illustrated 
on Proposals Map 8A. The sites extend to a combined area of approximately 7 hectares; Parcel 1 is 
within the Northam Ward and covers an area of 6 hectares; Parcel 2 is within the Westward Ho! Ward 
and cover an area of 1.24 hectares.  
 
The sites fall within the Coast and Estuary Zone but are not subject to any other landscape 
designation. The sites do not fall within a Conservation Area. The only listed buildings within close 
proximity of the site are Grade II Listed Tadworthy House and associated outbuilding, which are sited 
on the southern side of Tadworthy Road to the south east of the site.  
 
Parcel 1 falls within Flood Zone 1; Parcel 2 is also located within Flood Zone 1 except for its northern 
section, which falls within Flood Zone 3.    
 
Parcel 1: 
The site comprises a grouping of fields laid to grass between the built forms of Westward Ho! and 
Northam. The land has been used for the keeping of horses in recent years and there have until 
recently been associated stabling structures at the north eastern part of the site. The site spans 
between Golf Links Road to the north and Tadworthy Road and Atlantic Way to the south and is 
flanked to the east and west by modern residential estates, comprising a mixture of bungalows, chalet 

Page 153



bungalows and two storey houses. Immediately to the north of the site, on the opposite side of Golf 
Links Road, is the more recent two-storey holiday accommodation development, Greenway Drive.   
 
The site is generally level with a gradual slope down towards the north. It is principally bound by 
hedgebanks with the internal field boundaries delineated by further hedgebanks. A section of stone 
walling borders the application site with Tadworthy Road.  
 
Parcel 2: 
Parcel 2 comprises of a further field laid to grass to the north of Golf Links Road (to the north west of 
Parcel 1) and to the immediate east of the Surf Bay Holiday Park. The site is relatively flat and is 
bounded to the north by the North Devon Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), 
Northam Burrows Country Park/SSSI and the UNESCO Biosphere Transition Zone. A pumping 
station is located adjacent to the site to the north east. 
 
Proposal: 
The application is made in full and proposes the erection of 138 dwellings across Parcel 1, which 
would be broken down as follows with 13 different house types:  
 

• 1 bed flat = 4 

• 2 bed bungalow = 3  

• 2 bed house = 34 

• 3 bed bungalow = 11 

• 3 bed house = 72 

• 4 bed house = 7 

• 5 bed house 7 
  
The layout of the housing development has evolved around the policy requirement for a new 
‘distinctive gateway’ into Westward Ho! with the creation of a new ‘boulevard’ access road between 
Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road. This new through-route will be lined with trees and ‘feature’ 
street lighting and will have new dwellings fronting it with their vehicular accesses and parking to the 
rear. Ten of the proposed dwellings would be set as town houses over three storeys and these would 
be positioned strategically at the entrance from Tadworthy Road/Atlantic Way and subsequent 
junctions along the boulevard. Seven large, detached dwellings would be sited at the southern part of 
the site with direct access onto Tadworthy Road. The proposed bungalows would be sited 
predominantly at the lowest, northern part of the site adjacent Golf Links Road.   
 
Four public open spaces will be provided across Parcel 1 to be incorporated within the development, 
the largest of which will comprise a Locally Equipped Area for Play (LEAP).  
 
The architectural treatment for the proposed development would provide roofs in natural slate, white 
rendered walls and pastel coloured cladding. In the smaller properties, doors and windows will be 
constructed in grey uPVC, with the larger properties incorporating grey aluminium windows and 
doors.  
 
Space for refuse bins is provided in the garden at the rear of each property with direct access through 
front gates or rear footpaths.  A minimum of 2 parking spaces would be provided within the curtilage 
of each dwelling. 
 
Vehicular access would be in the form of a new roundabout onto Golf Links Road, to the north of the 
site. This roundabout will also serve Greenway Drive. The boulevard will provide access through the 
site from Tadworthy Road to Golf Links Road.  
 
Parcel 2 will provide public open space in the form of a level grass kick-around area of approximately 
70 metres x 45 metres, 12 full sized allotment plots and a nature public open space with the potential 
for direct access onto the Burrows. The existing vehicular access to the site will be improved and 
parking for 22 cars will be provided with a connected turning area. 
 

Page 154



 
 
 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Town Council:  
Second Response: 
1/0490/2020/FULM 
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused for the following reasons: 

• Lack of provision for affordable housing. 

• Highways and road safety issues, lack of adequate visibility splays. 

• Loss of biodiversity provision and contrary to many policies in the Torridge Local Plan. 
 
First Response: 
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused for the following reasons: 

• There will be a huge traffic impact on highways issues on local roads, in particular the junction 
with Tadworthy Road and Atlantic Way; 

• The design of the properties presents a bleak monolithic development which would be an 
imposition on the landscape and 3 storey properties are not appropriate for this site. Members 
considered the number of buildings is far too dense and contrary to the design statement in 
the Local Plan; 

• Not enough attention has been paid to the wildlife corridor, this will be an erosion of local 
wildlife; 

• There are considerable flooding issues; 

• There is no clarity on the amount of affordable homes; 

• There is concern over the working hours throughout the proposed development. 

• Devon County Council have raised objections owing to the archaeological element of the site. 

• Not adequate provision of a cycling route. 

• There would be a severe Impact on the infrastructure of the area. 

• There is a need to retain green spaces in the rural gaps. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Third Response: 
Observations: 
Further to previous comments submitted the relevant documents considered have now been 
uploaded to the website for public consideration. 
 
Recommendation: 
The Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment, on behalf of Devon County Council, as Local 
highway Authority, recommends that condition shall be incorporated in any grant of permission.   
 
Second Response: 
Further comments 
The applicant has provided further detailed plans of the roundabout and southern junction as 
well as a road safety audit for these junctions and clarified a number of points to me. Those 
plans need to be formally submitted as part of the application. 
 
The proposal is considered acceptable in principle, however, some further details are required at this 
stage. 
 
The site will generate additional traffic on local roads. It will also create a new road link between 
Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road which has the potential to remove a significant amount of traffic 
from Atlantic Way as well as from Northam Square and Sandymere Road. The new road through the 
site will take traffic from the A386 towards Golf Links Road, where subject to agreeing detailed sign 
age, drivers will be signed to the new car park on Pebbleridge Road for access to the beach (other 

Page 155



parking [twice as free] is available). Traffic should also decrease on parallel routes such as Beach 
Road, Avon Lane and Youngaton Road. 
 
The wider cumulative impact of additional traffic from the site requires mitigation in the form of a 
financial contribution towards improvement of the A39 Heywood Road roundabout. The required 
contribution is £1,302.89 per open market dwelling on the site, and zero for affordable homes. That is 
calculated from a cost of £3,237,680 for junction improvements required to mitigate the cumulative 
impact of traffic in Northam and Bideford divided by the allocated number of dwellings in these areas, 
3550. Giving £912.02 per dwelling. This is then divided by the expected proportion of open market 
dwellings (70%). I would expect the contribution to be paid prior to the occupation of the 75th dwelling 
on the site and will be subject to BClS indexation. 
 
The proposal includes a small section of one-way road within the site so that traffic would be able to 
go down the hill from south to north towards Golf Links Road. In the opposite direction the gradient is 
as steep as 1 in 7 on accessing Atlantic Way and access for large vehicles would be particularly 
problematic. However, to allow the existing properties that already access Atlantic Way in this manner 
to able to continue having access in this way, the southern section of the new road will be two-way 
with the properties on Tadworthy Road and 'The Mews' being able to use the new road and junction 
to go north or south. 
 
The gradient of this road is steeper than the usual 1 in 10 that would be accepted for adoption, 
however, the existing road is already this steep and only a small amount of traffic will use the road 
going uphill, little more than the existing steep road. Additionally, this section of road will need to have 
additional and larger road gullies to drain surface water and also need to be constructed to provide a 
finish with PSV 65 on the carriageway and 60 on the shared cycle and foot path. Plans showing these 
details are required to be submitted. 
 
No additional traffic is expected to use Tadworthy Road other than for accessing the new (8) 
properties proposed on this road. Using this road would simply be a longer and slower route than the 
alternatives available to anyone other than those living on this road. The lack of footway on Tadworthy 
Road will need addressing, and the applicant is prepared to provide footway long the majority of the 
road which will provide safe passage for the pedestrians using this road and also provide visibility 
splays for the proposed properties on this road. Plans must be submitted showing the proposed 
footway for further consideration. 
 
The proposed roundabout on Golf Links Road will work well within capacity whilst keeping traffic 
flowing. Other forms of junction in this location have been considered by the applicant but I have 
found them unacceptable in their detailed design. The roundabout proposal will need amending to 
provide for better cyclist crossings on the splitter islands and plans showing this need to be submitted 
for further consideration. 
 
A road safety audit has been carried out and this should also be uploaded to the public website along 
with the designer's response. All of the points raised (including that above regarding the splitter 
islands) have been addressed. The highway works will be subject to further road safety audits as the 
scheme progresses. 
 
The site includes a new cycleway going north-south adjacent to the new road. This will link into some 
cycleway which is also being provided on the north of Golf Links Road which will eventually link to 
more future cycleway along Golf Links Road which is a long held ambition of the Highway Authority 
and also part of the Local Plan - policy BID08. 
 
The proposed new road through the site is very straight and while it is fronted by housing, those 
houses have parking spaces at the rear meaning that there will likely be minimal parking on this 
'boulevard'. Traffic speeds are therefore possible to be higher than would be welcome, despite the 
two raised table areas acting as traffic calming measures. This can be dealt with by monitoring the 
speed of traffic on this road during the first year or so of its operation, and the applicant will have to 
add further traffic calming if speeds are considered a problem. 
 

Page 156



A street lighting proposal including non-standard lighting columns and lanterns has been produced by 
Dee street lighting engineers with input from the developer. This shows a layout which I believe is 
acceptable to both the applicant's architect and the Dee street lighting team to allow these streetlights 
to be adopted by the Highway Authority. Such details are usually not required for planning permission 
but in this case they have been agreed to avoid future disagreements. The proposed design should 
be uploaded to the public website for further consideration. 
 
The proposal also includes an allotment site which is remote from the main site, north of Golf Links 
Road. The proposed visibility splays to this parcel of land are considered acceptable (70m has been 
shown), however, no pedestrian access has been provided. The applicant should provide an 
amended plan showing pedestrian access to this site which as a minimum shall be a 3m path (to 
allow for suitable future upgrade to a cycleway) inside the junction radii with an uncontrolled crossing 
to the opposite side of the road. 
 
In conclusion the proposal is considered acceptable in principle but plans showing the following 
further details are required to be submitted (uploaded publicly) for consideration prior to the Highway 
Authority being able to have 'no objection' to the proposal: 

• Provision of footway on Tadworthy Road; 

• Amended cyclists crossings on splitter islands at roundabout; 

• Road Safety Audit and designers response; 

• Street lighting plan; 

• Amended access plan for the allotment site; 

• Southern Junction drainage and surfacing plan. 
 
First Response: 
Observations: 
The proposed changes to the public highway are not supported by a Road Safety Audit. This, and 
other documents showing technical details as follows, are required for me to consider the application 
fully: 
 
Plans showing visibility splays of: 

• Roundabout 

• Junction to the south 

• Access to the 'Allotment site' 

• Tracking of HGV using the northern arm of the roundabout. 

• Gradients of proposed roads, in particular the Southern Junction. 

• Detailed drainage design of Southern Junction. 
 
Recommendation: 
The Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment, on behalf of Devon County Council, as Local 
Highway Authority, is likely to recommend refusal of planning permission, in the absence of further 
information.  
 
Chief Education Officer:  
An assessment of education requirements directly related to the proposed development has been 
undertaken using the standard methodology set out in the County Council Education Section 106 
Policy, this policy has been used to calculate the number of primary and secondary aged pupils likely 
to be generated by the development. 
  
Regarding the above planning application, Devon County Council has identified that a development 
up to 134 family type dwellings will generate an additional 33.50 primary pupils and 20.1 secondary 
pupils. This application which would have a direct impact on St George’s Church of England VA Infant 
and Nursery School, St Margaret’s Junior School, Appledore School and Bideford Community 
College. 
  
 
 

Page 157



Primary Provision:  
When factoring in both approved but unimplemented housing developments and Local Plan 
allocations, we have forecast that the local primary schools have sufficient capacity for 42% of pupils 
expected to be generated from development in the area. Therefore, Devon County Council will 
request primary contributions against 58% of pupils expected to be generated by development in 
Northam. The contribution would be used towards additional education infrastructure to serve the 
address of the proposed development.  The Local Plan identifies that new primary provision is 
required to serve Northam allocations. 
  
DCC will seek a contribution towards the primary pupils expected to be generated from this 
development. The primary contribution sought would be £377,272 (based on the DfE new build rate of 
£19,417 per pupil x 58%).  This equates to a per dwelling rate of £2,815.46.  The contributions will be 
used towards the additional primary provision. 
  
DCC would also need to request a proportionate land contribution of 10sqm per family-type dwelling.  
Based upon a land value of £440,000 per hectare (£440 per dwelling), this land contribution would 
equate to £34,196, and would be used to assist in the procurement of the new school site. This is 
calculated as £440 x 134 dwellings x 58%. 
  
Early Years Provision: 
A contribution towards Early Years provision is requested to ensure delivery of provision for 2, 3 and 4 
year olds. The Early Years rate is £250 per dwelling, or a total of £33,500 to mitigate 134 dwellings. 
This contribution will be used to provide statutory early years places in the area. 
  
Secondary Provision: 
When factoring in approved but unimplemented housing developments we have forecast that the local 
secondary school has sufficient capacity for the number of pupils likely to be generated by the 
proposed development. Therefore, a contribution towards secondary education infrastructure would 
not be sought. 
  
All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should be noted that education 
infrastructure contributions are based on March 2019 rates and any indexation applied to 
contributions requested should be applied from this date. 
  
The amount requested is based on established educational formulae (which related to the number of 
primary and secondary age children that are likely to be living in this type of accommodation). It is 
considered that this is an appropriate methodology to ensure that the contribution is fairly and 
reasonably related in scale to the development proposed which complies with CIL Regulation 122. 
  
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to recover legal 
costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement.  Legal costs are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education contribution.  
However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the legal costs 
are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
Third Response: 
Having regard for the site investigations undertaken, the reported exceedances of lead appear very 
minor and it is indicated that the areas of land in question will be remediated via removal.  The 
Environmental Protection Team acknowledges that a comprehensive site investigation has been 
undertaken in relation to land contamination and no further works are required prior to the 
commencement of development works should planning consent be granted.  The Environmental 
Protection Team recommends that a condition is imposed in relation to the discovery of any 
unexpected contamination only during development. 
 
Second Response: 
Further to the initial consultation response dated 23 July, the Environmental Protection Team 
reiterates its comments and subsequent conditions with regards to land quality and the Construction 

Page 158



Management Plan/working hours. It has been indicated that the adjacent undeveloped land to the 
south where buildings are located is in the ownership of the applicant and will not be used for 
livestock or equine accommodation or any other potentially pollution generating use. Subsequently, 
any previous concerns in relation to potential amenity impact are allayed.  
 
The Environmental Protection Team has no objections.  
 
First Response: 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments as follows: 
 
Land Quality 
The Phase 1 desktop study is detailed and although land contamination is considered unlikely, the 
report does identify former uses that are worthy of further investigation. The Environmental Protection 
Team concurs with the recommendations of the report in that intrusive ground works are required to 
verify the extent of any potential contamination that may have resulted from former uses on and or 
adjacent to the application site. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection 
Team recommends the imposition of the Authority's full standard contaminated land condition. 
 
Construction Management Plan 
The Construction Management Plan is detailed and outlines a range of appropriate measures to 
prevent or minimise disturbance to the amenity of existing neighbouring dwellings. The Plan should 
be a working document throughout the life of the development and it is recommended that it is 
referenced in any planning permission. Although operating times are outlined in the Plan, a condition 
restricting construction works on the application site should be imposed in order to protect 
neighbouring amenity. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team 
recommends a condition restricting working hours (including deliveries) to Monday to Friday 0700 to 
1900 hours and Saturday 0800 to 1300 hours with no works permitted on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. 
 
Residential Amenity Impact 
The application site is adjacent to undeveloped land to the south where buildings are located. The 
buildings appear to be stables and seem to be redundant at present. It would be useful to have further 
information on this land use as the keeping of equine or any other livestock has the potential to 
adversely impact residential amenity from noise, odour and fly nuisance. It is noted that proposed 
dwellings, particularly plots 107 and D, are immediately adjoining the land containing the building.  
 
Strategic Enabling Officer:  
In terms of Affordable Housing, Local Plan Policy ST18 is applicable with this policy requiring 30% of 
the overall number of units to be provided as Affordable Housing. For a scheme of 136 dwellings, this 
equates to 40.8 units Affordable Housing units, with the required tenure split of 75% to be provided at 
a Social Rent level and 25% at an 'Intermediate' level - the associated definitions being detailed in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
The following details the mix of affordable housing required in terms of size:- 

 
 
However, the applicant has presented a case that the provision of 30% affordable housing on this 
scheme would make the scheme financially unviable. Evidence to support this position has been 
submitted by the applicant in the form of a development viability appraisal and this has now been 
assessed on behalf of Torridge District Council by the District Valuation Office. Through this 
assessment, the District Valuation Office have concluded the development cannot viably deliver any 
Affordable Housing. 

Page 159



 
However, the applicant has offered to provide 9 of the units as Affordable Housing on the 
basis the profit margin will be reduced to that below industry norms. This offer provides for the 
following Affordable Housing to be secured by way of a Section 106 agreement:- 

 
 
I can confirm the 9 Affordable Housing units as proposed are acceptable in terms of the size, type, 
tenure and location on site and overall the provision of these affordable units will be highly beneficial 
in meeting an element of housing need which exist within the District.  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
Fourth Response: 
I refer to the above application and the revised Written Scheme of Investigation recently submitted in 
support of this application.  Since the archaeological fieldwork has been completed I can confirm that 
this revised Written Scheme of Investigation, which sets out the scope of the post-excavation 
assessment and analytical work still to be undertaken, is acceptable to the Historic Environment 
Team. 
 
As such, I would like to withdraw the Historic Environment Team’s previous advice and advise that 
any consent that may be granted by the Planning Authority should be conditional upon  the following 
worded condition: 
 
‘The development shall proceed in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation prepared by 
South West Archaeology (document ref: NGL21WSIv1.2, dated 16th March 2021) and submitted in 
support of this planning application.  The development shall be carried out at all times in accordance 
with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.’ 
 
Reason 
'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that an appropriate record is 
made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development' 
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent.   
 
Third Response: 
I can confirm that the programme of archaeological works as described in the Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) submitted by your organisation - South West Archaeology - (document ref: 
NGL20WSlv1 and dated: 7th January 2021) is acceptable to the Historic Environment Team. 
The acceptance of the WSI by this office does not represent the discharge of any archaeological 
condition that may be applied to any consent granted. 
 
If the WSI is being submitted in support of a planning application or to discharge a condition then the 
WSI needs to be submitted, either by the applicant or their agent, to the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) for their formal approval and, if required, to enable them to discharge the condition prior to any 
development commencing on site. The applicant should ensure that the archaeological works are 
implemented as described in order to avoid breach of the Condition. 
 
I would be grateful if I could be copied in on the formal submission to the LPA. 
 
Second Response: 
I refer to the above application.  
 

Page 160



The Historic Environment Team have received a copy of the report setting out the results of the 
archaeological field evaluation here (South West Archaeology report no. 201021 dated 21st October 
2020). This has demonstrated that the area of archaeological sensitivity is confined to the southern 
part of the site where evidence of Bronze Age activity was indicated along with the remains of a 
possible agricultural building demolished some time prior to the creation of the Tithe Map in the mid-
19th century.  
 
The Historic Environment Team do not consider that these heritage assets are of such significance 
that they should be preserved in situ and any impact by the development of the site could be 
mitigated by a programme of archaeological work undertaken in advance of any construction 
commencing in their vicinity. 
 
As such, I would like to withdraw the Historic Environment Team's previous objection and offer the 
following advice. 
 
In the light of the results of the archaeological field evaluation, the Historic Environment Team 
recommends that this application should be supported by the submission of a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) setting out a programme of archaeological work to be undertaken in mitigation for 
the loss of heritage assets with archaeological interest. The WSI should be based on national 
standards and guidance and be approved by the Historic Environment Team. 
 
If a Written Scheme of Investigation is not submitted prior to determination the Historic Environment 
Team would advise, for the above reasons and in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019), that any consent your Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded 
below, based on model Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 
 
'No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be 
subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that an 
appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development.' 
 
This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are agreed and 
implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the commencement of 
preparatory and/or construction works.’ 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of the archaeological excavation of 
the area affected by the proposed development that have been shown to contain prehistoric features 
and the post-medieval building to ensure an appropriate record is made of these heritage assets prior 
to their destruction by the proposed development. The results of the fieldwork and any post-
excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and 
illustrated report, and the finds and archive deposited in accordance with relevant national and local 
guidelines. 
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. The Historic Environment 
Team can also provide the applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact 
details for archaeological contractors who would be able to undertake this work. Provision of detailed 
advice to non-householder developers may incur a charge. For further information on the historic 
environment and planning, and our charging schedule please refer the applicant to: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management/. 
 
First Response: 
I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. The site lies within a landscape where 
there is a concentration of prehistoric activity, including nationally important Mesolithic and later 

Page 161

https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management/


prehistoric waterlogged deposits, middens and wooden structures on the beach to the west of the 
application area. It is unlikely that prehistoric activity is confined to the foreshore and it is likely that 
there is contemporary prehistoric activity in the hinterland of the beach where this proposed 
development lies. This potential is flagged up by the archaeological desk-based assessment and 
walkover survey report submitted in support of the planning application, as is the need for geophysical 
survey to identify the presence of any archaeological deposits that would otherwise not be identifiable 
across the site. However, in the absence of the results of any field evaluation (geophysical surveyor 
trench evaluation) the Historic Environment Team do not consider that the information submitted in 
support of this application is sufficient to enable an understanding of the significance of the heritage 
assets within the application area or of the impact of the proposed development upon these heritage 
assets. 
 
Given the high potential for survival and unknown significance of below ground archaeological 
deposits associated with the known prehistoric activity in the surrounding landscape and the absence 
of sufficient archaeological information, the Historic Environment Service objects to this application. If 
further information on the impact of the development upon the archaeological resource is not 
submitted in support of this application then I would recommend the refusal of the application. This 
would be in accordance with guidance Policy DM07 in the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
(2018) and paragraphs 189 and 190 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 
The additional information required to be provided by the applicant would be the results of: 
i) An archaeological geophysical survey and, 
ii) A programme of field evaluation to investigate any anomalies identified by the geophysical survey 
and any apparently blank areas within the development site. 
 
The results of these investigations will enable the presence and significance of any heritage assets 
within the proposed development area to be understood as well as the potential impact of the 
development upon them, and enable an informed and reasonable planning decision to be made by 
your Authority. 
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. The Historic Environment 
Team can also provide the applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact 
details for archaeological contractors who would be able to undertake this work. 
 
NHS S106:  
Second Response: 
Thank you for your email with regard to the above planning application and the fact that Torridge LPA 
and the developer are supporting the NHS CCG’s request for a s106 contribution. I have noted the 
increase by one dwelling in the planning application and can report that it will not have a significant 
impact on the capacity issue at Northam Surgery. Therefore, the original requested contribution 
amount will stay the same at £69,171. 
 
As to the second point on your email on how the contribution will be spent, Northam Practise have 
existing planning permission, application number 1/0986/2017/FUL, for an extension to the surgery 
building to increase the consulting rooms by a further three with increase space in waiting areas and 
associated administration requirements. I have attached a copy of the plans to this email for your 
perusal. The general idea is that the financing arrangement for this extension will be a mix of NHS 
England minor improvement grants, GP practise partnership loans and s106 contributions from 
potential developments that have a direct effect on the surgery. Therefore, this contribution will be 
part of the latter. 
 
This brings me to another point, as it is hoped that several possible s106 requests will be pooled to 
contribute to the extension of the surgery and consequently the CCG requests that  
the developer is asked to pay the contribution to the Council as soon as the development begins. This 
will allow the GP practise to utilise the money for the extension as early as possible. A phased 
contribution payment, which I know is the norm, would not help in this case as the CCG would like to 
have the surgery capacity uplifted prior to new residents moving in. 
 

Page 162



 
First Response: 
The application has been reviewed from a primary care perspective and the following comments are 
provided by NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group as their response to the application. The 
response has been informed by the Devon Health Contributions Approach: GP Provision 
(https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/other-county-policy-and-guidance) which was 
jointly prepared by NHS England and Devon County Council.  
 
In preparing this response, it is noted that The North Devon and Torridge Council Local Plan 2011 to 
2021 (adopted 29th October 2018.) states that: 
 
"10.342 Northam Parish has been subject to variable growth over the last twenty years, which has 
occurred most significantly in Westward Ho! as a result of the redevelopment of tourist 
accommodations. The parish population has increased by 26%, over the period 1991-2011 providing 
an annualised increase of about 123 persons, supported by an average dwelling completion rate of 93 
homes. 
 
(c) urban extensions to the south of Westward Ho! and Northam (as part of the provision of new site 
allocations) will accommodate significant levels of housing growth of approximately 1,240 dwellings 
that is supported by social and physical infrastructure; 
 
(4) Where the policy seeks on-site provision, alternative off-site delivery or provision 
through financial contributions of broadly equivalent value may be negotiated where it can be 
demonstrated that on-site provision is not possible or appropriate. 
 
Policy ST23: Infrastructure 
(1) Developments will be expected to provide, or contribute towards the timely provision of physical, 
social and green infrastructure made necessary by the specific and/or cumulative impact of those 
developments. 
(2) Where on-site infrastructure provision is either not feasible or not desirable, then 
off-site provision or developer contributions will be sought to secure delivery of the 
necessary infrastructure, through methods such as planning obligations or the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. 
(3) Developments that increase the demand for off-site services and infrastructure will only be allowed 
where sufficient capacity exists or where the extra capacity can be provided, if necessary through 
developer-funded contributions. 
 
8.18 A key principle is that new development should contribute towards the cost of additional 
infrastructure, the need for which arises from it. Where new capacity is needed, developers will be 
expected to provide, fund or contribute towards it." 
 
The CCG's concern is that Northam Surgery is already over capacity within its existing footprint 
therefore it follows that to have a sustainable development in human health terms the whole local 
healthcare provision will require review. The surgery already has 12,470 patients registered between 
them and this new development will increase the local population by a further 307 persons. 
 
Taking this into account and drawing upon the document "Devon Health Contributions Approach: GP 
Provision document" which was agreed by NHS England and Devon County Council, the following 
calculation has been made: 
Methodology for Application 1/0490/2020/FUL 
1. Residential development of 137 dwellings 
2. This development is in the catchment of Northam Surgery which has a total capacity for 
10,449 patients. 
3. The current patient list size is 12,470 which is already over capacity by 2,021 patients or at 
119% of capability. 
4. The increased population from this development = 307 
a. No of dwellings * Average occupancy rate = population increase 
b. 137 * 2.24. = 307 

Page 163



5. The new GP List size will be 12,777 which is over capacity by 2,327 
a. Current GP patient list + Population increase = Expected patient list size  
b. 12,470 + 307 = 12,777 (122% over capacity)  
c. If expected patient list size is within the existing capacity, a contribution is not required, 
otherwise continue to step 6 
6. Additional space required = 21.48 m2 
a. The expected patient list size, for this size practice = 10,449 m2 
b. Population increase * space requirement per patient = total space (m2) required 
c. 307 * 0.07 = 21.48 m2  
7. Total contribution required = £69,171 
a. Total space (m2) required * premises cost = final contribution calculation  
b. 21.48 m2 * £3,220 = £69,171 (£505 per dwelling). 
 
Could you please acknowledge the CCG's request for an S106 contribution towards the cost 
mitigation of the pressures on the local healthcare facility and it will form part of any future s106 
Agreement with the Developers. The CCG notes that the developer has already issued a Heads of 
Terms S106 Contribution letter. Please could you respectfully ask the developer to amend and 
reissue the HOTs in line with this submission. 
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
Having had the opportunity for pre application consultation with the applicant, I wish to register my 
approval of many facets of the design - it is apparent that all concerned are cognisant of the 
requirements to provide a safe and secure development. I would recommend the developer gives 
consideration to applying for Secured by Design Silver accreditation for this development. Secured by 
Design (SBD) is a crime prevention initiative managed by Police Crime Prevention Initiatives Ltd 
(PCPI) on behalf of the UK police services. 
 
Police Designing Out Crime officers have a responsibility for Crime Prevention through Environmental 
Design in major planning applications. As a Police Service we offer advice and guidance on how the 
built environment can influence crime and disorder to create safer communities addressing the 
potential of the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
National legislation that directly relates to this application 
Section 17 of the ‘Crime and Disorder Act 1998' places a duty on each local authority: Ito exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area to include anti-social 
behaviour, substance misuse and behaviour which adversely affects the environment'. 
 
Despite other legislative considerations within the planning process, there is no exemption from the 
requirement of Section 17 as above. Reasonable in this context should be seen as a requirement to 
listen to advice from the Police Service (as experts) in respect of criminal activity. They constantly 
deal with crime, disorder, anti-social acts and see on a daily basis, the potential for ‘designing out 
crime'. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework - 2019 
Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Paragraph 91 - Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe 
places which: 
b) are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion - for example through the use of clear and legible pedestrian 
routes, and high quality public space, which encourage the active and continual use of public areas; 
and 
c) enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address identified local health 
and well-being needs - for example through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, 
sports facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage walking 
and cycling. 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places 
Paragraph 127 Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 

Page 164



(f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with 
a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 
 
Generic recommendations (standing advice). 
With the above in mind, the seven attributes of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
(CPTED) are key to ensuring a safe and sustainable community, in addition to the layout the physical 
security is now a consideration. 
Access and movement: Places with well-defined and well used routes, with spaces and entrances 
that provide for convenient movement without compromising security 
Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses do not cause conflict  Surveillance: Places 
where all publicly accessible spaces are overlooked, have a purpose and are managed to prevent 
creating problem areas which can attract the antisocial to gather, dumping and dog fouling 
Ownership: Places that promote a sense of ownership, respect, territorial responsibility and 
community 
Physical protection: Places that include necessary, well-designed security features as laid out in SBD 
Homes 2016  
Activity - Places where the level of human activity is appropriate to the location and creates a reduced 
risk of crime and a sense of safety at all times. 
Management and maintenance - Places that are designed with management and maintenance in 
mind, to discourage crime and ASB. 
 
The security element within the Building Regulations, namely Approved Document Q (ADQ) creates 
security requirements in relation to all new dwellings, including those resulting from a change of use, 
for example commercial, warehouse or barns undergoing conversion into dwellings. It also applies to 
conservation areas. 
 
All doors at the entrance to a building, including garage doors where there is a connecting door to the 
dwelling and all ground floor, basement and other easily accessible windows, including roof lights, 
must be shown to have been manufactured to a design that has been tested to an acceptable security 
standard i.e. PAS 24 (2016) or equivalent. 
 
To assist the process in ensuring compliance with the requirements of ADQ, it is recommended that 
all doors and windows are sourced from a Secured by Design (SBD) member company. SBD requires 
that doors and windows are not only tested to meet PAS 24 (2016) standard by the product 
manufacturer, but independent third-party certification from a UKAS accredited independent third-
party certification authority is also in place, thus reducing much time and effort in establishing the 
provenance of non SBD approved products. 
 
Site Specific Observations/Recommendations. 
The general layout will provide overlooking and active frontages to the new internal streets and public 
open space. 
 
The back to back gardens are much supported from a security perspective, it is recommended all 
gates that lead to the rear of dwellings are capable of being locked from both sides, for example by 
means of a key, as this will enable rear gardens to be secured regardless of access or egress. 
 
The proposed boundary treatments and inclusion of defensive planting where recommended as 
required are noted. 
 
Pedestrian and cycle connections and movement must be as safe as possible. In principle routes 
should be overlooked along streets providing active frontages that are properly lit. Work should be 
undertaken to ensure that likely destinations within the masterplan area and obviously beyond will 
have such routes provided. Routes should be convenient without compromising security of dwellings 
or other uses. 
 
I would recommend the inclusion of a gate/barrier/bollards for the proposed allotment site car park to 
help prevent potential misuse of the car park by groups gathering in their cars. This is not altogether 

Page 165



uncommon problem for car parks elsewhere in locally and can arise at any time. I also advise the 
siting of picnic benches in this area be carefully considered to avoid the potential for anti-social and 
nuisance behaviour for both nearby residents and allotment users. 
 
South West Water:  
I refer to the above application and would advise that South West Water has no objection in terms of 
our being able to provide potable water and drainage services to the development. 
 
As noted in the application details public sewers run through both sites and no buildings or structures 
will be permitted within 3m of them and neither can they be retained in private areas or have existing 
ground cover over or within 3m of them altered. 
  
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management!. 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
Second Response: 
Observations: 
Following my previous consultation response FRM/TO/0490/2020, dated 11/09/2020, the applicant 
has provided additional information in relation to the surface water drainage aspects of the above 
planning application, in an e-mail dated 23rd October 2020, for which I am grateful. 
. Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Land off Tadworthy Road, Northam, 
9359-FRA&DS-v1 
. Drainage Strategy Layout Sheet 1 500 P06 
. Drainage Strategy Layout Sheet 2 501 P06 
. Micro Drainage Calculations FEH Network 1 - 1 year, 30 year and 100 year dated 14/10/2020 
. Micro Drainage Calculations FEH Network 2 - 1 year, 30 year and 100 year dated 23/10/2020 
 
The applicant has provided a feasible surface water drainage strategy which uses a combination of 
sustainable drainage techniques in line with best practice. The strategy includes an above ground 
basin, a swale and underdrained permeable paving which will provide treatment of the runoff, amenity 
and biodiversity. Attenuation will also take the form of underground tanks and oversized pipes. Long 
term storage will be provided via a variable flow control device. The applicant has been advised that 
South West Water will adopt the surface water drainage features at the site however the under 
drained permeable paving will remain private. 
 
Recommendation: 
‘No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy Land off Tadworthy Road, Northam, 9359-FRA&DS-v1 and Drainage Strategy Layout 
Sheet 1 500 P06 and Drainage Strategy Layout Sheet 2501 P06 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and implemented 
in accordance with the details under (a) - (d) above. 
 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system 
will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or 
downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and 
PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed surface 
water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary 
delays during construction when site layout is fixed.’ 
  
First Response: 
At this stage, we object to this planning application because we believe it does not satisfactorily 
conform to Policy ST03 of North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031. The applicant will 

Page 166



therefore be required to submit additional information in order to demonstrate that all aspects of the 
proposed surface water drainage management system have been considered. 
 
It is understood that the lower section of the site is steep and therefore constrained, however the 
applicant should fully explore opportunities to use above ground sustainable drainage systems in the 
proposed surface water drainage strategy. The current strategy is completely based on underground 
tanks which goes against our SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017). South West Water are now adopting 
above ground sustainable drainage systems so there is no longer a barrier in terms of adoption to 
implementing above ground systems. The proposed site layout includes at least three areas of public 
open space which may be suitable for above ground systems. Above ground sustainable drainage 
systems would provide benefits for amenity for the residents, benefits for biodiversity and treatment of 
the runoff in line with the SuDS Mitigation Indices. 
 
The applicant should also note that in accordance with the SuDS Management Train, surface water 
should be managed at source in the first instance. The applicant will therefore be required to explore 
the use of a variety of above-ground source control components across the whole site to avoid 
managing all of the surface water from the proposed development at one concentrated point (e.g. a 
single attenuation pond). Examples of these source control components could include permeable 
paving (which could be underdrained), formalised tree pits or other bioretention features such as rain 
gardens, as well as green roofs, swales and filter drains. 
 
We only accept FEH rainfall for new applications in line with best practice. The FSR is based on a 
dataset from 1970s and is out-of-date. 
 
The applicant should submit the results of the infiltration testing to the local planning authority. 
The applicant should provide evidence that South West Water are happy for the connection into their 
network from this site. 
 
The applicant should submit the appendices to the Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy as 
this appears to be missing. 
 
Natural England: 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND'S ADVICE 
Designated sites - no objection subject to mitigation 
Northam Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSS1) - no objection subject to a detailed SuDS 
scheme and there being no increase in the CSO impacting on the SSSI as a result of the 
development. 
Taw Torridge Estuary SSS1 - no objection subject to offsite biodiversity compensation measures 
including functionality for SSSI overwintering water birds. 
 
Our detailed advice is provided below along with Natural England's advice on additional 
environmental matters. 
 
Designated sites - no objection subject to mitigation 
The development is adjacent to or in close proximity to the Northam Burrows SSSI which is notified 
for its geology, sand dune and dune slack habitats, wet grassland and rare plants. The development 
site is also within 1 km of the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI which is notified for its overwintering bird 
interest and intertidal habitats. 
 
Further information about the notified special interest of these SSSls can be found at 
www.magic.gov.uk. 
 
Designated sites are material planning considerations. A proposal within or close to a SSSI needs to 
be consistent with maintaining and enhancing the special interest of the protected site. It must be 
demonstrated that harm will not accrue and that the development will not have an adverse impact on 
the interest features of the site or be contrary to local and national policy. Policy ST14 of the joint 
Torridge and North Devon Local Plan requires that the quality of northern Devon's natural 
environment will be protected and enhanced, which includes SSSls. 

Page 167

http://www.magic.gov.uk/


 
Northam Burrows SSSI 
Foul water 
Natural England had concerns about the potential for storm water overflows from the Golf Links Road 
pump station to directly affect the Northam Burrows SSSI. Anecdotal evidence suggested that 
historically in bad weather the pump station had overflowed into Goosy Pool within the SSSI. 
 
South West Water has stated that the mains sewer network has capacity to accommodate the 
proposed development. Based on the information provided, a new foul drainage network will also be 
constructed to service the site and will be designed to accommodate the anticipated peak flows for a 
range of storm events with no flooding. 
 
It is the responsibility of South West Water to maintain and monitor the existing sewer network and 
ensure no flooding occurs and to carry out the necessary upgrade if the system is shown not to cope. 
The Council should satisfy itself that the infrastructure has the capacity to cope with the additional 
pressure. 
 
Surface water 
Devon County Council, as the lead flood Authority, identified that surface water also drains into the 
sewer network before discharging into Northam Burrows SSSI. We welcome the proposal to include 
SuDS to manage surface water run-off, the details of which are set out in the Flood Risk Assessment 
(Jubb engineers Nov 2020) which proposes a combination of an above ground basin, a swale and 
under drained permeable paving which will provide treatment of the runoff, amenity and biodiversity. 
Attenuation will also take the form of underground tanks and oversized pipes. Other features of the 
treatment train will include measures to provide suitable treatment of sediment and all relevant 
pollutants such as smart sponge gully adaptor system in road gullies and silt traps / catch pits. 
 
The RSPB and Wildfowl and Wetlands Trust have published guidance for local authorities and 
developers on designing (and managing) SuDS features that are also good for wildlife. 
 
SuDS management and maintenance is key to a properly functioning system. To ensure that the 
proposed SuDS features operate effectively for its lifetime, a management plan for the operation and 
maintenance of SuDS will be required. 
 
Measures to prevent silts or other construction waste being conveyed offsite through surface water 
runoff will need to be secured during the construction phase. 
 
Subject to the above measures being secured for foul and surface water, and there being no increase 
in the Combined Sewer Overflow impacting on the SSSI as a result of the development, Natural 
England considers the proposal is unlikely to damage or destroy the interest features for which 
Northam Burrows SSSI has been notified and therefore has no objection. Suitably worded conditions 
should be used to secure the mitigation measures. 
 
Access 
The proposal includes an access point from the allotments directly into the SSSI. The Northam 
Burrows Country Park Visitor Access Management Plan (Mike Day 2020), which is a strategy to 
ensure that high visitor numbers do not adversely affect the responsible management of the 
environment, proposes 'a series of dedicated trails which will encourage pedestrians to take certain 
routes across the park. These trails will be way marked and include the introduction of new routes that 
will avoid sensitive areas as well as parts of the park where there is potential for conflict, such as the 
golf course'. Any proposal for new access onto the Burrows should be in line with the Management 
Plan and the applicant should work with the Council to ensure sensitive areas are avoided and the 
use of appropriate infrastructure. 
 
The Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI 
Based on the information provided (Orbis Ecology report), the development of the fields at site A will 
result in the loss of a high tide roost for overwintering birds associated with the Taw Torridge Estuary 
SSSI. 

Page 168



 
Natural England's advice is that the loss of the high tide roost should be compensated for by ensuring 
that the offsite biodiversity net gain measures proposed include some functionality for SSSI 
overwintering water birds. 
 
More widely, Natural England's advice is that Plan led development has the potential to affect the 
SSSI by virtue of the associated recreational activity on and around the estuary contributing to 
disturbance and displacement effects on the overwintering water birds on the estuary. 
 
The data gathered through the Taw Torridge Estuary High Tide Roost and Recreational Impacts 
study, of which your Authority is a partner, provides the evidence of recreational impacts on important 
high tide roosts and on birds feeding through all states of the tide. 
 
A strategic approach to mitigation, which your authority is working towards, would secure better 
environmental outcomes with all development adding to recreational impacts on the SSSI making a 
financial contribution to measures that avoid impacts. 
 
Biodiversity net gain and environmental enhancements 
Development provides opportunities to secure a net gain for nature as outlined in paragraphs 170 and 
174 of the NPPF3 and within the Defra 25 year Environment Plan. Policy ST14 of the Joint Torridge 
and North Devon Local Plan also expects all development to provide a net gain in biodiversity. 
 
An evidence based approach to biodiversity net gain can help LPAs demonstrate compliance with 
their duty to have regard for biodiversity in the exercise of their functions (under Section 40 NERC 
Act, 2006). Biodiversity metrics5 are available to assist developers and local authorities in quantifying 
and securing net gain. Local Authorities can set their own net gain thresholds but the Environment Bill 
currently proposes a 10% threshold. 
 
Based on the information provided the proposal cannot achieve biodiversity net gain on-site. 
Measures are proposed via financial contributions to the North Devon Biosphere Reserve to secure 
land to ensure biodiversity net gain with options for woodland or coastal grasslands. Natural 
England's advice, as set out above, is that functionality for SSSI overwintering water birds should be 
included in any option to compensate for the loss of the high tide roost. 
 
Landscape 
The proposed development is for a site adjacent to the North Devon Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB) which is a nationally designated landscape. 
 
Natural England advises that the planning authority uses national and local policies, together with 
local landscape expertise and information to determine the proposal. 
 
Your decision should be guided by paragraph 172 of the National Planning Policy Framework which 
gives the highest status of protection for the 'landscape and scenic beauty' of AONBs and National 
Parks. For major development proposals paragraph 172 sets out criteria to determine whether the 
development should exceptionally be permitted within the designated landscape. 
 
Alongside national policy you should also apply landscape policies set out in your Local Plan. 
 
We also advise that you give weight to the comments from the AONB Partnership, particularly in 
relation to light spill, as they will have knowledge of the site and its wider landscape setting, together 
with the aims and objectives of the AONB's statutory management plan, which will be a valuable 
contribution to the planning decision. 
 
The statutory purpose of the AONB is to conserve and enhance the area's natural beauty. You should 
assess the application carefully as to whether the proposed development would have a significant 
impact on or harm that statutory purpose. Relevant to this is the duty on public bodies to 'have regard' 
for that statutory purpose in carrying out their functions (S85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way 

Page 169



Act, 2000). The Planning Practice Guidance confirms that this duty also applies to proposals outside 
the designated area but impacting on its natural beauty. 
 
Protected species 
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on protected species. 
The full suite of ecological assessments are not due to be completed until November 2020. 
 
Natural England has produced standing advice to help planning authorities understand the impact of 
particular developments on protected species. We advise you to refer to this advice. Natural England 
will only provide bespoke advice on protected species where they form part of a SSSI or in 
exceptional circumstances. 
 
The Institute of Lighting Professionals has produced practical guidance on considering the impact on 
bats when designing lighting schemes - Guidance Note 8 Bats and Artificial Lighting. They have 
partnered with the Bat Conservation Trust and ecological consultants to write this document on 
avoiding or reducing the harmful effects which artificial lighting may have on bats and their habitats. 
 
Soils and Land Quality 
From the documents accompanying the consultation we consider this application falls outside the 
scope of the Development Management Procedure Order (as amended) consultation arrangements, 
as the proposed development would not lead to the loss of over 20 ha 'best and most versatile' 
agricultural land (paragraph 170 and 171 of the National Planning Policy Framework). 
 
The wider site is approximately 6ha and available Agricultural Land Surveys (ALC) indicate that it is 
predominantly Grade 3a agricultural land. ALC surveys are now available through Natural England's 
public geographic data at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-to-access-natural-englands-maps-and-
data. 
 
For this reason we do not propose to make any detailed comments in relation to agricultural land 
quality and soils, although more general guidance is available in Defra Construction Code of Practice 
for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites, and we recommend that this is followed. If, 
however, you consider the proposal has significant implications for further loss of 'best and most 
versatile' agricultural land, we would be pleased to discuss the matter further. 
 
AONB Team: 
Thank you for consulting the North Devon Coast AONB Partnership with regard to this planning 
application. We have the following comments to make. 
 
The site is located adjacent to the designated AONB boundary at Northam Burrows and land in 
question forms a part of the setting to the designated area. However, we note that the proposal site 
was identified in the adopted Local Plan as a suitable site for housing (Policy NOR 04). 
 
In terms of affecting the AONB landscape, we do not believe that the proposal will impact on the 
special qualities of the AONB, and therefore we do not believe that there are grounds for refusal. As 
previously mentioned the site is outside the designated area, but within its setting. However, this in an 
area that is surrounded by other residential areas, including between the site and the AONB and on 
the slopes above the site. In our opinion, there would be no or very little change to the landscape 
special qualities of the AONB as a result of this development. 
 
However, there are two issues that we wish to raise with regards to the proposal. We note that 
Northam Burrows is completely unlit at night, one of the few places on the Torridge side of the AONB 
that currently maintains this status. This benefits both the peace and tranquillity of the AONB and any 
nocturnal wildlife on site. Whilst we appreciate that the Burrows is surrounded by light, from the 
various developments within Westward Ho!, we would ask that you ensure that attempts are made to 
minimise unnecessary light spill, encroaching on to Burrows at night, in particular from the area of 
land identified as being the allotment site which abuts the boundary of the Country Park. 
 

Page 170



The second issue relates to the treatment of wastewater. Historically, there have been issues of 
wastewater overloading the sewerage system in Westward Ho! with the excess water ending up at 
Goosey Pool, on Northam Burrows which is part of the Site of Special Scientific Interest. We 
understand that in recent times this has not been an issue and we have noted that when consulted 
South West Water have no particular concerns. However, given that this development will add a 
substantial number of dwellings to the settlement at Westward Ho! we would ask that the Council 
satisfies itself that the infrastructure has the capacity to cope with this additional use, especially at 
high peak times in the summer and during periods of excessive rainfall. 
 
Environment Agency: 
No response.  
 
Conservation Officer: 
The proposal for this site infilling between the bottom of Northam to Westward Ho! Is the latest 
expansion for the planned holiday destination at Westward Ho! 
 
The land here was largely farmed and open in the 1800’s with very few houses. 
 
In previous comments relating to the site it was hoped to discover  more about the distinctive 
boundary walls  which define the character of the road. 
 
The settlement at Northam was comparatively undeveloped at the time of the tithe map 1839 and it 
was only when the planned holiday development at Westward Ho! went ahead that a surge of building 
occurred which is seen in the form of the Victorian villas which are located in this area.  Woodbine 
Cottage which is surrounded by the proposal, arrived after the tithe but is typical of the Victorian era of 
development. 
 
The tithe does not make it clear if this land belonged to either of the farms of the time but the area of 
land beside Woodbine seems to have been in fragmented ownership as the tithe apportionment 
indicates.  The current investigations on site may add to the knowledge about the land use in this 
area. 
 
The wall from Commons farm to Woodbine is unusual in that it has a high section which was a former 
building and a pair of ornate gate posts.  These features define the frontage of the open fields in this 
location and frame the view across the open land toward the Burrows.  The development will echo 
this by using boundary walls with stone features to retain the linear character of the road and this 
should be secured by condition if necessary. 
 
The  stone walls continue along Tadworthy road and are used along both sides to link to Tadworthy 
House which is grade II listed and sited to the east of the development site. This property is an early 
dwelling but   this listed property is already surrounded by more recent development and is not likely 
to be further affected by the current proposal.  As such the significance of Tadworthy will not be 
altered by the proposed new development which is further west along Tadworthy Road. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  106  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  61 Number of neutral representations: 2 
Number of objection letters:  58  

 
The application has received 61 representations; 59 of these have been made in objection and 2 in 
support. 
 
The concerns raised cover the following areas:  

• Loss of a view; 

• Loss of privacy; 

• Increased noise and disturbance; 

Page 171



• Increased traffic; 

• Development will significantly decrease existing property values; 

• Overlooking and loss of daylight to neighboring properties; 

• The development will adversely affect the character of the area; 

• Harm to wildlife – bats, badgers and foxes all rely on this site. Great crested newts frequent 
adjoining gardens at certain times of year; 

• The application would overwhelm the local residents and create flooding risks in the adjacent 
areas from surface water run-off;  

• There is no evidence of any opportunity for renewable and low carbon energy generation. This 
development will go beyond 2021 and should therefore meet the requirements of the Energy 
Performance Building Directive (EPBD); 

• Three storey dwellings as proposed are not found in the surrounding developments and are 
not appropriate; 

• There is no evidence to demonstrate the mitigation of impacts on local facilities e.g. schools, 
dental practices, doctors;  

• There is no evidence to demonstrate that the lighting on the development is designed to 
safeguard dark skies over Exmoor National Park; 

• There is no Waste Audit Statement within the Construction Management Plan;  

• There is no evidence of electric vehicle charging infrastructure;  

• Policy NOR04 identifies the need for provision of 1 adult and 2 junior football pitches. The 
Jubb drawing number 110 Rev. P1 identifies this area as having a football pitch despite the 
Planning Statement saying otherwise;  

• The developers have applied for a 10% increase in properties against the Policy; it is too 
dense;  

• The roundabout at the entrance of Golf Links Road will seriously interfere with traffic flow to 
Westward Ho! and create a potential accident black spot; 

• There is a need for a long-term storage facility to ensure controlled run off;  

• The development removes the rural gap between Northam and Westward Ho!; 

• There is a proven need for more bungalows in the area (Northam Town Council Housing 
Needs Survey 2017) so the development should increase the number of bungalows;  

• The access from Atlantic Way into the proposed development and Tadworthy Road is 
concerning – Atlantic Way is a busy main road on a hill and traffic tends to travel too fast each 
way. Visibility is poor when driving onto Atlantic Way from Tadworthy Road, particularly when 
turning right. There are also driveways to Common Mews and another driveway directly 
opposite the junction on Atlantic way which leads to several more properties;  

• Tadworthy Road is a narrow, single track road with no pavements or room for two cars to 
pass. There are two primary schools in Northam and children walk to school along this road. It 
is also used by walkers, cyclists and horse riders;  

• The existing trees on the site were ripped out last October by the developers without warning 
thereby removing habitat and shelter for wildlife and nesting birds; it is of the utmost 
importance that there is adequate green space provided on the estate and that the promised 
148 trees are actually planted; 

• Many people in this area depend on holiday lets as income. As the building work is planned to 
take 208 weeks, it will impact on residents and businesses - there will be constant noise and 
disruption for approximately 4 years;  

• These plans appear to be being rushed along during a pandemic - many local people do not 
have the equipment and skills to be able to attend meetings on Zoom etc; 

• The requirements identified in the "Town & Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015" have not been met - a site display for 21 days has not been 
posted; 

• The plans submitted would indicate that 2 large 3 storey properties are to be built at the direct 
entrance to the site from the Tadworthy Road end; this will greatly restrict the opening views 
towards the Northam Burrows, as the new road from Atlantic Way bends into the new 
"Boulevard" style road; 

• The Architects have already readily admitted that they fail on the "Building for life 12 
assessment" guidance;  

Page 172



• No property from the proposed site should be allowed to be built with Access to Tadworthy 
Road - the stone wall along Tadworthy Road contributes to the local character and 
distinctiveness and should therefore be retained; 

• Site construction traffic should not be allowed to park, unload on Lakenham Hill, Atlantic Way 
or Tadworthy Road to avoid congestion and danger to both other traffic and pedestrians; 
there are major pinch points in and out of Westward Ho! The roads struggle at the best of 
times and particularly in the summer months, let alone with another 137 properties being built; 

• Visitors/delivery vehicles will stop/park on the boulevard creating another "pinch point"; 

• A development of lower density with 80 units feels more appropriate, as there simply isn’t the 
need for 137 additional new homes, given there are already 1,450 additional properties 
underway; 

• Why is the developer considering building a high speed, sloping, straight line, Boulevard strip? 
This will become the perfect ‘drag strip’ for boy racers;  

• Public information may suggest that this developer is in no position financially, to take on a 
medium sized housing development along with associated highways infrastructure; 

• From the proposed plan there are 71 houses which will have to share one outlet onto the 
proposed new boulevard road which is surely too many properties to have only one access to 
the boulevard road; 

• The trees that are planted in the future must not be useless ornamental ones, but trees 
chosen for their usefulness to wildlife; 

• The Stage 2 traffic safety audit was undertaken on 8th August, during the school holiday in the 
middle of a pandemic. Not a typical afternoon by any means; 

• Torridge need substantial affordable housing to reflect local need; 

• There is concern that some of the property's, especially the large 3 floor, 5 bedroom houses, 
would end up becoming holiday lets, that could cater for large groups. This would create a lot 
of noise, not suitable to a quiet residential area;  

• The current properties to the Eastern boundary of the proposed development are all 
bungalows or dormer bungalows and are currently not overlooked at all, but would now all 
have 2 story terraces looking over them and blocking light;  

• These fields become extremely wet in the winter and provide a valuable sponge for the run off 
from the hill above, will the proposed development create a greater flood risk for the current 
properties in the area or for Northam Burrows? 

• The proposed development includes an entrance on Golf Links Road opposite the entrance to 
Greenway Drive, via a roundabout. This risks increasing the footfall through Greenway Drive 
to access the Burrows. Greenway Drive is actually private land and is maintained by the 
owners of the properties on that site (rather than adopted by the council); 

• The development is on a hill. Water runs downhill. The roads will increase run-off and risk 
flooding the houses at the bottom of that hill; 

• Whilst we understand the need for new housing, we feel that brown sites should be used 
before green sites in all cases; 

• The road would become another car park for visitors accessing the beaches and burrows;  

• Has the application been considered regarding the increased capacity required for the 
treatment works and the demand on water supply; 

• At one time this site was considered for an ‘over-spill’ site to Northam’s St Margaret’s Church 
graveyard.  The idea was shelved because of the danger of flooding; 

• There is a Western Power sub-station on the eastern corner of Tadworthy Road – a timescale 
must be agreed with Western Power for this work to be done; 

• Rerouting Westward Ho bound traffic to Golf Links Road is wholly inappropriate, given the 
bottleneck by Tesco and the cricket ground in Golf Links Road;  

• There is currently a large unfinished development within Westward Ho (West Beach resort). 
This development was out of keeping with the area, there was no demand for the property and 
the developer has gone bust. Hence the development remains unfinished; 

• the small site across the road that is part of the plan (variably a football pitch or designated for 
(salt-sprayed) allotments) is used by the developer to mitigate the lack of open spaces on the 
main development; 

Page 173



• Are there any provisions against many homes becoming second homes or AirB&B 
properties?; 

• There also appears to be a conflict of interest here. Torridge DC appear to be a stakeholder in 
this development – the developer said at the NTC meeting that Torridge DC own part of the 
land. Therefore, Torridge DC appear to be incentivised financially, to approve the plans with 
minimal Social Housing, to maximise their return on the land;  

• There is very little allocation of land to protect biodiversity and to support the principle of net 
gain; 

• Consideration should be given to a wildlife corridor. These fields were the last of the green 
fields in the area. People want and need green fields and green spaces regardless of how 
much rare wildlife they contain; 

• Talks of tree lined boulevards, is not aspirational this is not downtown LA but a small precious 
parcel of green land that currently separates two Devon seaside villages. If this development 
goes ahead it will effectively be a ribbon of development that links Westward Ho! and Northam 
creating an urban sprawl; 

• If this site must be developed I would suggest an eco-craft village combined with some small 
genuine affordable housing;  

• The 'mansions' are exceptionally out of keeping with the modest and also historic little 
properties that surround Tadworthy Road towards Atlantic Way and also Sandymere; 

• Specific concerns over the overbearing impacts and overlooking from Plot 68 to Number 20 
The Links; 

• Specific concern over the overbearing impacts and overlooking from Plot 49 to Number 10 
Britannia Way; 

• A request that a brick built wall should form the boundary between Britannia Way and the 
linear open space along the boulevard – there are concerns that a close boarded fence 
doesn’t provide enough protection from intruders. 

  
Where the above concerns relate to material planning issues, they will be addressed within the 
Planning Considerations below. Comments made in relation to loss of a view, the impact of the 
development on the value of neighbouring properties and the capacity of the Applicant to deliver the 
development are not material planning considerations. 
 
Some objectors suggest that the proposed dwellings should be prevented from becoming second 
homes – there is no policy basis or mechanism for such a restriction to be imposed. Further concerns 
have been raised in respect of the application not providing renewable energy features – this is 
unfortunately something that the Local Planning Authority is unable to secure through the planning 
system at the present time. It is however a matter that is considered via building regulations 
legislation.  
 
Concerns have been raised over the advertising of the application. Your Officer can confirm that site 
notices were posted at the site on the 11th of August for the required 24 day period. In respect of the 
suggestion there is a conflict of interest due to Torridge District Council being a part landowner, the 
Council’s constitution requires any planning applications involving its own land to be determined by its 
Plans Committee to ensure transparency in decision making.  
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
BID08 (Former Bideford to Appledore Railway); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 
(Environmental Protection); DM03 (Construction and Environmental Management); DM04 (Design 
Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM10 (Green Infrastructure Provision); 
DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM08 (Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity); NOR04 (Tadworthy Road (Northam)); NOR (Northam Spatial Vision and Development 
Strategy); ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 
(Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of 
Development); ST05 (Sustainable Construction and Buildings); ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy 
for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); ST08 (Scale and Distribution of New Development 

Page 174



in Northern Devon); ST09 (Coast and Estuary Strategy); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST13 
(Sustainable Tourism); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); 
ST17 (A Balanced Local Housing Market); ST18 (Affordable Housing on Development Sites); ST22 
(Community Services and Facilities); ST23 (Infrastructure);  
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning considerations of relevance to this proposal are: 
 

1. Principle of Development; 
2. Layout, Design and Impact on Character; 
3. Impact on Residential Amenities; 
4. Access and Parking; 
5. Heritage; 
6. Drainage; 
7. Ground Conditions and Contamination; 
8. Ecology; 
9. Viability and Section 106 Obligations; 
10. Planning Balance.  

 
Principle of Development 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in planning decisions.   
 
In policy terms, the entire site is located within the development boundary for Northam and Westward 
Ho! (Proposals Map 8A). Policy ST06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2018 (NDTLP) 
identifies Westward Ho! as forming part of the Main Centre of Northam, where appropriate levels of 
growth that will increase the towns’ capacities to increase self-containment, to meet their own needs 
and those of surrounding communities where such is sought through the local vision, will be 
supported. Policy ST06 is clear that development will be supported within the development 
boundaries of the Main Centres. The sites can therefore be afforded a significant level of sustainability 
in terms of accessibility to services, facilities and public transport.   
 
NDTLP Policy NOR (Northam Spatial Strategy) states: 'The three centres will continue to provide a 
range of services and facilities to meet locally generated needs and to accommodate the expanded 
needs of visitors to the area. Across Appledore, Northam and Westward Ho! a range of housing 
appropriate to local needs will be provided. Development will be supported by necessary 
infrastructure that will be delivered in a manner to minimise deficiencies against service capacity'.  
 
Policy NOR further advises that the spatial vision will be delivered through: (a) ‘provision of a 
minimum of 1,916 dwellings to meet all the communities housing needs, including affordable and 
supported homes together with an expanded supply to meet the increasing needs of the area's 
ageing population, which will be supported with associated development and infrastructure on a 
continuous basis’.  
 
Paragraph 10.358 of the NDTLP reiterates the delivery of a minimum of 1,916 dwellings and clarifies 
that this will be delivered through a mixture of development completed since April 2011, existing 
commitments, identified housing allocations and non-strategic housing sites as set out in Table 10.14. 
Table 10.14 indicates that 1,735 dwellings will be delivered through allocations. Policy ST08 reiterates 
and confirms this housing provision for Northam. 

Page 175



 
The site is located within the Coast and Estuary Zone where the NDTLP distinguishes between 
‘developed’ and ‘undeveloped coast’, with stricter development controls being applied within the latter. 
The application sites fall to be within the ‘developed coast’, due to them being within the development 
boundary for Westward Ho! and Northam.  
 
The application sites form the two parcels of land that comprise an allocation for housing and 
leisure/community development, as prescribed by NDTLP Policy NOR04. This policy states: 
 
‘Land north of Tadworthy Road and north of Golf Links Road, extending to about 8 hectares and as 
defined on Policies Map 8A, is allocated for a residential use with community and leisure facilities that 
includes: 
(a) approximately 125 dwellings, providing a mix of housing type and size to reflect local need, 
including affordable housing; 
(b) a vehicular route connecting Lakenham Hill to Golf Links Road, providing for a distinct gateway 
point into Westward Ho! on the sites northern boundary; 
(c) areas of green infrastructure providing opportunities for biodiversity enhancement and informal 
recreation that provide for transparency through the site towards Northam Burrows; and 
(d) on the site north of Golf Links Road: football pitch provision, including associated facilities and car 
parking, to meet existing needs including an adult pitch and two junior pitches, which will be phased to 
be delivered with the associated housing development’. 
 
Given the sites benefit from an allocation for development for residential and community/leisure 
facilities and are located within the development boundary, the principle of development is 
acceptable. 
 
Concerns have been raised by the Town Council and in letters of representation that Parcel 1 should 
be retained as green fields with suggestions that it provides an important visual gap between the 
settlements of Westward Ho! and Northam. Policy NOR(h) requires the ‘avoidance of development 
that would contribute to coalescence between Appledore and Northam and the designated Green 
Wedge.’ The application site does not fall within the Green Wedge and is considered to be located 
between Northam and Westward Ho!, not Appledore and Northam. In any event, the site is allocated 
for redevelopment and NDTLP supporting paragraph 10.375 states:  ‘The Tadworthy element of the 
allocation currently forms a locally valued gap in the otherwise built form of Northam and Westward 
Ho! It is however considered to have little value in landscape and visual amenity terms. Through 
development the site will contribute to the objectives of improving access to the resort, enhancing the 
resort role of Westward Ho! and reducing vehicle congestion in Northam Square in addition to making 
a valuable contribution to the area's housing needs and demands.’ 
  
Considering each element of Policy NOR04 in turn, part (a) seeks delivery of approximately 125 
dwellings. Concerns have been raised over the level of housing proposed exceeding this approximate 
figure. The application proposes 138 new dwellings (including 4 flats), which is an approximate 
increase of 10%. There is no ‘in principle’ objection to the number of dwellings being proposed 
exceeding the number stated in the allocation, provided the necessary supporting infrastructure can 
also be delivered alongside an appropriate layout. The Applicant has justified the level of 
development proposed with reference to surrounding densities and has demonstrated that 
appropriate levels of open space can be incorporated (considered further below under  
 ‘Layout, Design and Impact on Landscape Character’ and ‘Viability and Section 106 Obligations’).  
In light of this, your Officer accepts that the number of dwellings put forward is appropriate for the site 
and in accordance with Policy ST02 (b) which seeks ‘conserving and enhancing the natural, built and 
historic environment through the prudent use of key resources including land.’   
 
Affordable housing and local needs provision are considered below under ‘Layout, Design and Impact 
on Landscape Character’ and ‘Viability and Section 106 Obligations’. 
 
NOR04(b) requires a new vehicular route connecting Lakenham Hill to Golf Links Road and for this to 
be a distinct gateway point into Westward Ho! on the northern boundary. Supporting Paragraph 
10.376 provides further clarification on this: ‘Fundamental to the housing sites development will be the 

Page 176



delivery of an appropriate road link between Lakenham Hill and Golf Links Road. The link, to be 
provided on the basis of a boulevard style route, should through the use of landscaping and green 
infrastructure provide a transparency through the site, allowing for the continuation of views of 
Northam Burrows from within and beyond the site. A distinct gateway into Westward Ho! will 
additionally be provided through development, the setting for which will be enhanced by appropriate 
boundary treatments along Golf Links Roads on each site within the NOR04: Tadworthy Road 
(Northam) allocation.’  
 
The potential for this site to deliver a new vehicular route into the resort of Westward Ho! was 
highlighted through the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), whereby the 
assessment of Parcel 1 (SHA/NOR/20) noted the ‘site also affords the opportunity to deliver a new 

strategic road link.’3 

 

The layout has been developed to include a boulevard style road linking Tadworthy Road and Golf 
Links Road. As discussed further below, this route would be lined with trees and feature street lighting 
and would be fronted by high quality boundary treatments and the principal elevations of dwellings. A 
new roundabout is proposed where the access meets Golf Links Road and the alignment of both the 
road and roundabout allow for views through Greenway Drive towards Northam Burrows. As part of 
the overall open space offer, two areas will be provided along the boulevard, including an area on the 
north western corner of the development. The Applicant has agreed to offer a financial contribution 
towards the installation of a public art feature on this part of the site and an indicative idea has been 
prepared to show how this might appear in the form of an exclamation mark – this will be shared with 
Members in the committee presentation. The proposal is considered to meet the requirements and 
aspirations of Policy NOR04(b). 
 
Part (c) of Policy NOR04 requires green infrastructure providing opportunities for biodiversity 
enhancement and informal recreation that provides for transparency through the site towards 
Northam Burrows. Open Space and biodiversity matters are considered in more detail under the 
relevant sections below, however for the purposes of assessing compliance in principle, the proposals 
seek to deliver a greater than policy-compliant level of public open space and opportunities for 
biodiversity enhancements on the northern part of Parcel 2 adjoining the Burrows together with an off-
site contribution towards the land-use change of 1 hectare of land to provide grassland suited to 
wading birds.  
 
The application proposes community and leisure uses for Parcel 2, however their nature differs from 
that prescribed by Policy NOR04(d), which requires: ‘football pitch provision, including associated 
facilities and car parking, to meet existing needs including an adult pitch and two junior pitches, which 
will be phased to be delivered with the associated housing development.’  Supporting paragraph 
10.377 clarifies that ‘the allocation provides an opportunity to contribute to meeting recreational needs 
within the parish; it is well located and suitable to address existing football pitch requirements.’ The 
Northern Devon Playing Pitch Strategy confirms at Paragraph 5.21 that ‘there is insufficient capacity 
at present to accommodate expected growth in the number of teams in Bideford and Northam to 
2031.’ It goes on to recommend  series of provisions under Paragraph 5.22, which includes ‘new 
pitches to meet the projected increase in demand in Northam -  a minimum of one adult and one 
junior 9v9 pitch.’    
 
Significant discussions took place at pre-application stage to explore the provision of football pitches 
on Parcel 2. These discussions involved consultation with local football clubs and the Devon Football 
Association (FA). A key issue with delivery of the pitches on this particular site was the discovery of a 
significant sewer pipe and associated manhole at the site. Investigations took place in discussion with 
South West Water to explore whether the pipe could be diverted and/or the manhole relocated. The 
clear outcome of these discussions was that it would be financially prohibitive to undertake any such 
diversion. The resultant area that could accommodate pitches became so constrained that the only 
pitch provision possible would be (at a squeeze) a 9v9 sized pitch and small kick around 5v5 area. No 
local clubs indicated that they would wish to take on such a level of provision and highlighted 
difficulties in terms of operating a satellite site, especially with younger players. The feasibility of such 
a provision was also questioned by the County Development Manager at Devon FA. 

Page 177



 
A further consideration of relevance to whether it would be appropriate to deliver formal sports pitches 
on Parcel 2 include the sensitivities of this site in terms of it adjoining the Northam Burrows SSSI and 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The AONB Team were consulted on the application and 
commented on the proposal: ‘we note that Northam Burrows is completely unlit at night, one of the 
few places on the Torridge side of the AONB that currently maintains this status. This benefits both 
the peace and tranquillity of the AONB and any nocturnal wildlife on site. Whilst we appreciate that 
the Burrows is surrounded by light, from the various developments within Westward Ho!, we would 
ask that you ensure that attempts are made to minimise unnecessary light spill, encroaching on to 
Burrows at night, in particular from the area of land identified as being the allotment site which abuts 
the boundary of the Country Park.’ The development of pitches to FA standards and to ensure their 
viable use would require the introduction of floodlighting, which would likely raise an objection from 
the AONB Team.  In addition, the provision of FA standard drained pitches at the site would be costly 
in the context of a development proposal that already has significant viability issues (discussed further 
below). Therefore, against this context, alternative community/leisure uses were explored and the 
application proposes a mixed open space provision for Parcel 2 comprising an informal level grass 
kick around area/park, allotments and a biodiversity area. In assessing the proposal against Policy 
NOR04(d), it must be acknowledged that the proposal is contrary in that no football pitches are 
proposed. However, there is a clear justification for this omission from the proposal, as set out above, 
and the proposed uses on Parcel 2 are considered to comply with the overarching aim of Policy 
NOR04 to deliver community and leisure facilities.  
 
Given the above, it is clear that the principle of development is acceptable in this location given the 
sites’ positions within the development boundary of Westward Ho! and Northam and them forming an 
allocation for residential and community/leisure development. Third party representations urge against 
the development of this green field site in favour of brownfield sites within the District’s town centres. 
The site was allocated for residential development through the extensive consultation involved in the 
preparation of the NDTLP and contributes, alongside identified brownfield sites, towards meeting the 
necessary housing supply for the District up to 2031. 
 
Notwithstanding the above acceptance of the principle of development, as a result of the Burwood 
Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS); with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 
4.23 years across Northern Devon. By virtue of not being able to demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, NPPF), there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development (the 'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in 
determining planning applications for housing. 
 
Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 
‘Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning 
permission unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
(National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.’ 
 
For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 
automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 
development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 
considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of 
the policies are generally considered to be out-of-date for the application of the Presumption. 
 
The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this proposal is 
not considered to harm a 'protected area' so as to warrant a clear reason for refusal, the decision 
taker/s in this case needs to consider the NPPF's requirement to grant permission unless any adverse 

Page 178



impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits - the so-called tilted 
balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF).  
 
Against this background, and notwithstanding the support for the principle of residential in this location 
within the development boundary of Northam and Westward Ho!, due to the lack of a 5YHLS, the 
planning considerations will need to be weighed up within the planning balance with the NPPF's 
requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits as a material consideration.  
 
The material planning considerations are set out below.  
 
Layout, Design and Impact on Character 
NDTLP Policy ST04: 'Improving the Quality of Development' requires that 'development will achieve 
high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places. 
Design will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, 
its wider context and the surrounding area'. Policy DM04 sets out a series of Design Principles which 
are overarched by a desire for good design to guide overall scale, density, massing, height, 
landscape, layout, materials, access and appearance of new development. Paragraph 30 of the 
NPPF states that permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions.      
 
NDTLP Policy DM08A concerns landscape and seascape character and states in part (1) that 
'development should be of an appropriate scale, mass and design that recognises and respects 
landscape character of both designated and undesignated landscapes and seascapes; it should avoid 
adverse landscape and seascape impacts and seek to enhance the landscape and seascape assets 
wherever possible'.  Part (2) of this policy states: ‘great weight will be given to conserving the 
landscape and scenic beauty of designated landscapes and their settings. Proposals affecting the 
North Devon Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) or Exmoor National Park or their 
settings should have regard to their statutory purposes including to ensure that their landscape 
character and natural beauty are conserved and enhanced.’ This is reiterated in Paragraph 172 of the 
NPPF. Policy ST14 seeks to conserve the setting and special character of the AONB whilst fostering 
the social and economic wellbeing of the area.  
 
As indicated above, Parcel 2 adjoins the AONB immediately to the north and the AONB Team has 
recognised the application sites as forming part of the wider setting of this designated area. The 
AONB Team has advised the LPA that it does not believe that the proposal will impact on the special 
qualities of the AONB and that they do not consider there to be grounds for refusal in this regard. 
They conclude that: ‘this in an area that is surrounded by other residential areas, including between 
the site and the AONB and on the slopes above the site. In our opinion, there would be no or very 
little change to the landscape special qualities of the AONB as a result of this development.’  The 
AONB Team and Natural England do however raise potential concern over the impact of unnecessary 
light spill encroaching onto the Burrows at night, in particular from Parcel 2. Accordingly, a condition is 
recommended to secure details of any external lighting that may be proposed on Parcel 2, although 
given the undeveloped nature of the open space and biodiversity proposals for this part of the 
application site, it is not considered that the proposal will give rise to unacceptable levels of light spill.  
 
Letters of representation voice various concerns over the proposed layout and design, raising that: 
the proposal will harm the character of the area; it is too dense and not compatible with the 
surrounding area; 3 storey dwellings are not appropriate and would block views towards the Burrows; 
the large, detached dwellings on Tadworthy Road are out of keeping with the surrounding area; there 
should be more bungalows; and the development fails the Building for Life 12 Assessment.  
 
The application is supported by a detailed Design and Access Statement (DAS), which sets out how 
the proposed design has evolved with reference to the surrounding context. In this regard, it is noted 
that the immediate environs of the site are characterised by modern residential properties varying 
between 1 and 2 storeys in height arranged in suburban densities within residential streets and cul de 
sacs. These properties, to the immediate east and west of the site, are typically finished in render and 
brick walls under tiled roofs and many of them include white uPVC conservatories that back onto the 

Page 179



site. The DAS recognises that Tadworthy Road has a more dispersed and varied pattern of 
development ranging from Victorian properties, converted farm cottages / buildings, leading towards 
modern chalet-bungalows at the eastern end. Greenway Drive, to the immediate north of the site, is a 
more recent development of holiday accommodation. These holiday units have been constructed in 
render and Marley Eternit cladding with natural slate roof finishes. 
 
The wider context of the site, when viewed from the north and looking back towards the built form of 
Westward Ho!, introduces additional built forms including modern apartments and large villas. It can 
therefore be seen that the immediate context of the site is varied and that there is not a clear 
vernacular for the application proposal to follow.  
 
The layout has been developed in response to the Policy NOR04 requirement for a new link road 
between Tadworthy and Golf Links Road. This new boulevard style gateway link would be defined by 
two key house types and lined with trees and feature street lighting. The houses have been designed  
to have their front doors facing the boulevard with vehicular access and garages to the rear. This 
means that there will be no rear gardens and associated fences facing onto the new boulevard, but 
instead low boundaries with front gardens. The DAS explains that the formality of the boulevard will 
be underscored by the repeated use of the same house type on each side of the road. The proposed 
design approach for the boulevard is considered successful and would meet the aspiration of Policy 
NOR04 to deliver a ‘distinct gateway point into Westward Ho!’ In securing high quality design and 
materials along the boulevard, it will be essential to ensure that the various elements are controlled to 
be retained through the planning system. It is considered appropriate to remove permitted 
developments for the plots along the boulevard and for the boundary treatment to be secured by 
condition so that individual properties are unable to disrupt the carefully planned approach. The 
specification of the street lighting has been agreed with Devon County Highways who have confirmed 
they will adopt the lights for maintenance purposes. The trees will be planted within the private front 
gardens of the dwellings due to Devon County Highways objecting to their siting within the public 
highway. Given the importance of this feature for the overall effect of the boulevard, it is essential that 
these trees are protected to ensure their longevity. This can be achieved in two ways; firstly, through 
a landscaping condition and phasing plan to secure the agreed landscaping scheme and, secondly, 
through imposing a Tree Preservation Order on the boulevard trees and trees that provide an 
important visual amenity role in key vistas. Local planning authorities can make a Tree Preservation 
Order if it appears to them to be ‘expedient in the interests of amenity to make provision for the 
preservation of trees or woodlands in their area.’ It is therefore recommended that a condition be 
included on any decision to secure the planting of these trees but that also, in due course, the LPA 
uses its power to impose a group TPO on the proposed trees.    
 
Ten three storey dwellings will be sited along the boulevard to mark the entrance point off Tadwothy 
Road and at the two crossroads that are located within the development. Concerns have been raised 
by third parties and the Town Council that three storey dwellings are not appropriate and would be out 
of context with the surrounding character of development. It is accepted that the immediate 
surroundings do not include existing 3 storey dwellings, however the wider context does include 
development of 3 storeys or more. Furthermore, the application site is large and the proposed siting of 
the ten three storey dwellings along the boulevard is logical and serves a wider purpose in terms of 
creating the distinctive gateway into Westward Ho! These three storey dwellings will sit comfortably 
within the context of the wider developed site and against the backdrop of Westward Ho!  
 
Similar specific concerns have been raised in respect of the large dwellings that are proposed along 
the southern part of the site, fronting Tadworthy Road. These dwellings would have 5 bedrooms and 
be set over 3 levels. When viewed from Tadworthy Road itself, these dwellings, although large, would 
not appear overly dominant or out of character. This part of the site is capable of having its own 
distinct character given its direct relationship with Tadworthy Road. When viewed from the north, the 
rears of these dwellings will be seen in the context of the built form of Westward Ho! that is set along 
Atlantic Way and the development at a higher level in Northam/Westward Ho! rising up onto Kipling 
Torr. Given the diverse design and scale of dwellings in the wider context, your Officer is comfortable 
that these large, detached dwellings can be accommodated successfully within the wider townscape. 
Revisions have been made to the roofs of these dwellings to introduce an element of distinction 
between them as your Officer initially raised concerns over their uniformity.  Give the scale of these 

Page 180



dwellings and their position at the highest part of the site, it is considered reasonable to remove 
permitted development rights from these plots.   
 
Beyond the boulevard, the layout is formed by a series of streets characterised by house types that 
range from bungalows to detached and terraced dwellings. The majority of the new streets benefit 
from active frontages with only the bungalows at the southern part of the site having their rear 
gardens fronting onto Golf Links Road. The new development will have a limited relationship with 
existing development in terms of existing streetscenes and there are no concerns in respect of the 
overall design approach, which is considered appropriate. The palette of materials, namely render 
and cladding walls, slate roofs and a combination of uPVC and aluminium windows and doors is 
considered acceptable and not at odds with the surrounding context. A condition is recommended to 
secure these materials and prevent their alteration without the need for planning permission.  A 
further condition is recommended to secure samples of materials for approval prior to their 
installation.  
 
The layout allows for at least 2 off-road vehicle parking spaces per dwelling and dedicated space for 
refuse within rear gardens. Open spaces are provided throughout the housing development providing 
a children’s play area and further informal green amenity space. An area of open space to the south 
east corner of the site has been turned over to a SUDs feature, in order to address the Local Flood 
Authority’s requirements for above ground sustainable drainage features. This rectangular area is 
bound by rear and side elevations of dwellings on 3 sides with a road frontage. In terms of layout and 
open space, this is not an ideal feature and it is considered that a better arrangement could have 
been achieved that opened this space out towards the development thereby offering some visual 
amenity within this part of the site. This matter was explored with the Applicant however it was 
concluded that the realignment of the road would not facilitate such a change. On balance, your 
Officer did not consider it to be reasonable to insist on an amendment to this specific part of the site 
concluding that it would not lead to a refusal of the scheme were the existing layout to be retained.  It 
is proposed for the green infrastructure/public open spaces to be secured as part of a Section 106 
Agreement (see below further commentary on the requirements of Policy DM10).           
 
Boundary treatments have been given careful consideration across the site, as illustrated on drawing 
1902 P.07 Rev D. The publicly visible boundary treatments are proposed to be a mixture of 0.45 
metre rendered wall with steel railing, 0.9 metre rendered wall with PC coping and 1.8 metre rendered 
wall with PC Coping where it affects a private amenity space. The boundary treatment at the northern 
end of the boulevard and along Golf Links Road to the east would be a 1.8m wall with 0.55m deep-
pier-planter-fence-wall-hedge. Boundaries that fall between the rears of dwellings and public open 
spaces will include close boarded fences with landscaping on the public facing sides to soften the 
appearance. This selection of materials and boundary forms will create a uniformity across the site 
ensuring a quality sense of place is achieved throughout the development. Devon County Council 
Highways have requested a pedestrian footway be provided along Tadworthy Road. This has, 
unfortunately, resulted in the loss of the existing stone wall, which is unfortunate, however this loss is 
considered to be outweighed by the improved pedestrian access arrangements. The principle of re-
using this stone within the new Tadworthy Road boundary treatment as stone and brick built pillars at 
the entrances to the new dwellings has been agreed with the Applicant and this approach is 
supported by the Conservation Officer. A condition is recommended to secure all boundary 
treatments in perpetuity and also to seek details for approval for the boundaries fronting Golf Links 
Road and Tadworthy Road.     
 
Policy DM04 (2) requires all major residential proposals to be supported by a Building for Life 12 
(BfL12) (117) (or successor) assessment. High quality design should be demonstrated through the 
minimisation of "amber" and the avoidance of "red" scores. The Applicant has submitted a BfL12 
assessment, which scores with 9.5 greens and 2.5 ambers. Your Officer would concur with this 
assessment.   
 
NDTLP Policy ST17 states that ‘the scale and mix of dwellings, in terms of dwelling numbers, type, 
size and tenure provided through development proposals should reflect identified local housing 
needs, subject to consideration of: (a) site character and context; and (b) development viability’. 
Supporting Paragraph 7.13 requires the housing mix to be provided by an individual development 

Page 181



proposal to have regard to relevant up-to-date and robust evidence. Paragraph 7.13A indicates that 
Policy ST17 recognises that ‘the character and context of an individual development site may 
influence or constrain the types of residential development that are appropriate in individual 
circumstances’. The Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA) for Torridge and North 
Devon Councils undertaken by GL Hearn and dated May 2016, concludes based on the evidence, 
that it is expected for the focus of new market housing provision to be on two and three-bed 
properties. Continued demand for family housing can be expected from newly forming households. 
There may also be some demand for medium-sized properties (2- and 3-beds) from older households 
downsizing and looking to release equity in existing homes, but still retain flexibility for friends and 
family to come and stay. The HENA sets the following required housing mix on development sites: 
 

• 1 bed = 15% 

• 2 bed = 35% 

• 3 bed = 35% 

• 4 bed = 15% 
 
The housing mix proposed equates to an overall mix as follows: 

 
• 4 x 1 bed (3%) 
• 37 x 2 bed (26%) 
• 83 x 3 bed (60%) 
• 14 x 4+ bed (10%) 

  
As can be seen above, the proposed mix is in conflict with the HENA. The Applicant has sought to 
provide justification for this significantly higher proportion of 3-bedroom units. Firstly, it is suggested 
that one of the wider impacts of the Covid 19 Pandemic is that property purchasers are generally 
seeking larger properties, which offer the flexibility to work from home. This applies in particular to 
families and first time buyers, who are now tending to ‘start off’ with 3-bedroom, rather than 2-
bedroom properties. There is also evidence of very limited demand and affordability for 1-bedroom 
properties, both from purchasers and investors. The views of two local agents (Brights and Cowlings) 
have been provided to support this position in favour of a greater number of 3-bedroom units. The 
Applicant has further referred to the viability outcomes from the viability assessment and the 
subsequent review by the District Valuer noting they are exceptionally poor, and even where nil 
affordable housing and reduced S106 Contributions are included, the appraisals produce a sub-
optimal developer return that does not meet normal commercial expectations. Implementing a unit mix 
that fully complies with HENA targets would replace a number of larger units with smaller units, which 
would inevitably worsen the viability position even further. Given the poor viability position for the 
housing mix proposed, it is accepted by your Officers that the mix as proposed can be justified under 
Policy ST17.  
 
All of the proposed dwelling types exceed the National Minimum Space Standards in terms of floor 
area. 
 
On matters of crime and disorder, the Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) has commented that he 
approves of many facets of the design. He notes that the general layout will provide overlooking and 
active frontages to the new internal streets and public open space.  Support is given to the back to 
back gardens and he recommends that gates that lead to the rear of dwellings are capable of being 
locked from both sides. The DOCO recommends the inclusion of a gate/barrier/bollards for the 
proposed allotment/open space site to help prevent potential misuse of the car park. A condition is 
recommended to secure details of matters such as security arrangements, public access, 
management etc. Concerns are raised via letters of representation that the boundary treatments 
between rear gardens and public open space should be brick walls, rather than close boarded 
fencing. Given the DOCO is raising no objection to the suggested boundary treatments, it would not 
be reasonable to request such an amendment on the grounds of crime.  
 
In summary, the application is promoting good design, seeking to achieve a quality place for future 
residents. Inevitably the character of the locality will change from open green fields to a housing 

Page 182



development. Third parties are concerned that the housing will be out of keeping with the character of 
the area. A balance has to be struck between achieving the housing numbers needed to meet the 
five-year land supply and minimising the loss of greenfield. A certain density is required for effective 
use of land, which is in itself a scarce resource. The scale, massing and design of the new dwellings 
is considered acceptable and the proposal is considered to meet the requirements of NDTLP policies 
ST04, NOR04, DM04 and DM08A as well as the relevant sections of the NPPF.  
 
Impact on Residential Amenities: 
NDTLP Policy DM01 requires that development should secure or maintain amenity appropriate to the 
locality with special regard to the likely impact on neighbours, the operation of neighbouring uses, 
future occupiers, visitors on the site and any local services. Policy DM02 (2) states development will 
be supported where it does not result in unacceptable impacts to (a)  atmospheric pollution by gas or 
particulates, including smell, fumes, dust, grit, smoke and soot; (b) pollution of surface or groundwater 
(fresh and salt) including rivers, canals, other watercourses, waterbodies, wetlands, water gathering 
grounds including catchment areas, aquifers, groundwater protection areas, harbours, estuaries or 
the sea; (c) noise or vibration; and (d) light pollution. Policy DM04 (i) requires development to ensure 
the amenities of existing and future neighbouring occupiers are safeguarded. 
 
The groups of properties directly along the eastern and western boundaries of the application site 
would be the most closely affected by this development. Concerns have been raised over the 
proposed housing in terms of loss of amenity, overshadowing and impacts on privacy. Inevitably as 
greenfield sites adjacent to existing residential development are considered for development, the 
outlook and aspect of existing properties will alter. It should be noted that the loss of a view is not a 
material planning consideration.  
 
The proposed layout has been carefully considered to assess the potential for impacts on the 
amenities of existing neighbouring properties and the residents of the future development. Within the 
new development the separation distances between dwellings are considered appropriate with rear to 
rear distances being around 21 metres. On the whole, this window to window distance is maintained 
between the new dwellings and existing properties to the east, south and west and in many cases, 
particularly to the east, the neighbouring dwellings are bungalows so window to window 
considerations at upper floor level are not relevant. That said, the distances are still considered 
appropriate to ensure adequate spacing between the new and existing developments and so as not to 
cause an overbearing impact.  
 
Along the east side of the new development, the only point of concern in amenity terms that has 
required further consideration with the Applicant has been in regards to the potential for 
overshadowing and overbearing impacts to numbers 20 and 21 the Links. The Case Officer visited 
the rear garden of number 20 the Links so that the relationship with the proposed development could 
be properly understood. Plots 68-71 (the block of 4 x 1-bed affordable flats) is proposed to be erected 
to the south of 20 the Links. The wall to wall distance between the properties is 12.5-13 metres (3-3.5 
metres from the site boundary) and it would be a side elevation that would face the rear of 20 the 
Links. It is important to note that there are no windows proposed in this side elevation so there are no 
objections in respect of overlooking. Furthermore, the design has been amended from that originally 
submitted resulting in the proposed building being slightly further away from the boundary and now 
incorporating a hipped end to the roof where it was previously a gable.  Therefore, the height of the 
building at this end, (the eaves height), will be approximately 5 metres. It should also be noted that 
the new building would be sited along only the eastern section of the rear boundary of 20 the Links 
i.e. the new built form would not extend across the whole rear boundary. The Applicant was requested 
to undertake a 25 degree shadowing exercise which has confirmed that the rear windows of Number 
20 the Links would not be adversely overshadowed. The Applicant has also carried out a simulating 
solar shading following BRE guidance. This exercise simulated sunlight and shadows on 21st March 
at different times of day and confirmed there will no unacceptable levels of overshadowing to number 
20 the Links. In conclusion, whilst it is acknowledged that there will be an impact on the occupiers of 
20 the Links, this is not considered to be at a level so as to justify refusal.  
 
In terms of the western boundary, there are considered to be appropriate distances between 
dwellings. The relationship between the proposed 3 storey townhouses at Plots 3 and 4 (towards the 

Page 183



northern end of the site) and the 2 storey dwellings on Commodore Place has been given detailed 
consideration. Plots 3 and 4 have been orientated so that their side elevations face towards 
Commodore Place, which means that there are no main windows looking westwards; both proposed 
dwellings have a small window at first and second floor level serving an ensuite and dressing/storage 
room/study and it is recommended that a condition be secured for these to be obscure glazed. The 
distances between Plots 3 and 4 and Commodore Place vary between 15 and 20 metres and it is not 
considered that the layout proposed gives rise to unacceptable harm in respect of amenity.  
 
A further plot that has been considered carefully is Number 10 Britannia Way, which holds a similar 
relationship to the application site as 20 the Links. Proposed Plot 49 (a detached dwelling fronting the 
boulevard) is proposed to be sited along part of the southern boundary of 10 Britannia Way. This 
dwelling is a small, detached bungalow set at an angle to proposed Plot 49. The southern elevation of 
Plot 49 originally included a larger upper floor bedroom window that would have allowed occupants to 
view the garden of 10 Britannia Way. The Applicant has addressed this by reversing the house type 
so that there are now no upper floor windows proposed in this elevation thus removing any concern of 
overlooking. The proposed dwelling has also been moved slightly further away from the boundary and 
the length of eaves closest to Number 10 Britannia Way is now shorter. The Applicant has also 
undertaken a shadowing study (to the same method for that undertaken for 20 The Links) which 
demonstrates the shadows at three different times of day with a second, close-up view of the 10am 
shadow (worst case).  In all cases, the shadow does not fall across the rear window. Given the 
amended design and the details that have been provided to demonstrate the overshadowing 
potential, it is not considered that the proposed development, and in particular Plot 49, would give rise 
to unacceptable amenity harm to the occupants of 10 Britannia Way. 10 Britannia Way also benefits 
from an outlook towards the east where an area of open space is proposed.  
 
Notwithstanding the above conclusions in respect of 20 the Links and 10 Britannia Way, it is 
considered that there would be benefit and justification in securing supplemental planting 
enhancements to the southern hedgebank boundaries of both existing properties. This planting will be 
secured via condition.   
 
Finally, the siting of the proposed townhouse at Plot 130 has been reviewed to determine whether 
there could be harm in terms of overlooking. Plot 130 is sited at an angle towards Galleon Way to the 
west. The rear elevation of Plot 130 would include a balcony at first floor level which would serve a 
main living space. The orientation of this proposed dwelling means that the sightlines of those using 
this balcony would be towards the south west, i.e., the side elevation of the neighbouring dwelling and 
its driveway rather than private rear gardens.        
 
Third parties have raised concern over impacts to residents and businesses during the construction 
phase. It will be important to protect residential amenities from the effect of the construction phase but 
this does not mean that development should be resisted. Short-term disruption through the build 
process can be addressed through appropriate conditions and the Environmental Protection Officer 
(EPO) has recommended conditions to secure compliance with the submitted Construction 
Management Plan (CMP) and to control hours of construction works. Third parties have noted that the 
hours of construction recommended by the EPO differ to those set out within the CMP; this will be 
addressed by clarification being included on any condition securing the CMP that the hours of 
construction are directed by a separate condition as per that suggested by the EPO.   
 
In the longer term, it is not considered that the increase in traffic movements and general day-to-day 
activities associated with 138 dwellings would give rise to an unacceptable level of disturbance or 
harm to air quality to residents so as to justify refusal. This position is supported by the EPO who is 
raising no objection in this regard.   
 
The EPO originally raised potential concern that the application site includes a stables premises in the 
north east corner. The Applicant provided clarification that the existing stables form part of the site to 
be developed and have now been removed. Consequently, the EPO has removed his objection. 
 

Page 184



It is not considered that the proposed development would result in a harmful impact on the residential 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers, providing the conditions recommended by the EPO are included 
on any planning decision. 
 
The use of Parcel 2 for public open space would not give rise to any harmful impacts on neighbours 
and a condition is recommended to secure details of the management of this open space and 
features such as external lighting and boundary treatment. 
 
Accordingly, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the provisions of Policies DM01, 
DM02 and DM04 of the NDTLP.  
 
Access and Parking: 
NDTLP Policy DM05 requires development to have safe and well-designed vehicular access and 
egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highway users 
including cyclists and pedestrians, and that all development shall protect and enhance existing public 
rights of way, footways, cycleways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide 
new connections to these routes where practical to do so. Policy DM06 states that proposals will be 
expected to provide an appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet anticipated needs. 
 
Paragraph 108 of the NPPF requires specific applications for development to ensure that safe and 
suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users.  Paragraph 109 advises that development 
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
The application proposes vehicular access via Golf Links Road (the northern access) and an 
amended Tadworthy Road junction linking with the B3236 Lakenham Hill (the southern access). The 
northern access will take the form of a roundabout, which would replace the existing priority junction 
at Greenway Drive to create a four arm roundabout. The southern access would be provided by a 
redesigned junction so that the development access road would replace the existing Tadworthy Road 
connection with the B3236 Lakenham Hill. Tadworthy Road to the east and Commons Mews to the 
west would then connect at priority junctions either side of the access road. It is proposed for a two-
way link to be introduced at the site access up until Tadworthy Road to maintain existing access 
provision with the B3236 Lakenham Hill as currently achievable for both Tadworthy Road and 
Commons Mews. However, north of Tadworthy Road a one way northbound link would be provided to 
serve the development.  
 
Pedestrian connections will be provided either side of the site access link road that will connect both 
with the existing northern and southern points of access. This proposed footway would connect with 
the existing provision on the southern side of Golf Links Road and the northern side of the B3236 
Lakenham Hill and would therefore provide linkages to the existing pedestrian infrastructure of 
the town. The pedestrian connection on the western side of the northern access will also be wide 
enough (i.e. 3 metres) to also accommodate cyclist movements. In addition, a 3 metre pedestrian / 
cycleway will be introduced on the northern side of Golf Links Road between the Royal North Devon 
Golf Club and Kingsley Park Road. An additional 3 metre pedestrian / cycleway will also be provided 
between Millennium Way and Ridgeway Drive.  
 
The application is supported by a Transport Assessment (TA), which reviews accessibility associated 
with the proposal and the likely impact of the proposed development on the local highway network. 
The TA states that the proposed development is well-positioned to connect into existing pedestrian 
and cyclist routes, and public transport offerings, and as such offers realistic alternative travel mode 
choices to the private car for day-to-day trips. In addition, appropriate footway / cycle connections 
(including pedestrian / cycle improvements on Golf Links Road) would be provided to ensure that the 
proposals are fully integrated with the existing Westward Ho! street network. The TA describes the 
vehicle access to be appropriate for the types of vehicles that would access the development 
proposals. In addition, the TA highlights significant benefit through the provision of the link road, which 
will, in addition to serving as a development access road, serve to divert background seafront bound 
traffic to more appropriate routes. The TA indicates that assessments of forecast vehicle capacity at 
the site access have demonstrated that the proposed junctions will have sufficient capacity to 

Page 185



accommodate the background traffic flows of the forecast year, the development and diverted traffic 
resulting from the link road. In addition, a capacity assessment of Golf Links Road, which would 
accommodate more traffic as a result of the diversion of traffic through the link road, has shown that 
this road is suitable for the level of traffic forecast. 
 
A number of letters of objection raise highway capacity and safety concerns. Furthermore, the Local 
Highway Officer (LHO) initially raised objections and requested further information be submitted in 
relation to a Road Safety Audit, visibility splays for the roundabout, junction to the South and access 
to Parcel 2, HGV tracking using the northern arm of the roundabout, gradients of proposed roads and 
detailed drainage design of the southern junction.  
 
The Applicant provided further details on which the LHO provided further observations as follows: 
 
Southern Junction: 
‘The proposal includes a small section of one-way road within the site so that traffic would be able to 
go down the hill from south to north towards Golf Links Road. In the opposite direction the gradient is 
as steep as 1 in 7 on accessing Atlantic Way and access for large vehicles would be particularly 
problematic. However, to allow the existing properties that already access Atlantic Way in this manner 
to able to continue having access in this way, the southern section of the new road will be two-way 
with the properties on Tadworthy Road and 'The Mews' being able to use the new road and junction 
to go north or south. 
 
The gradient of this road is steeper than the usual 1 in 10 that would be accepted for adoption, 
however, the existing road is already this steep and only a small amount of traffic will use the road 
going uphill, little more than the existing steep road. Additionally this section of road will need to have 
additional and larger road gullies to drain surface water and also need to be constructed to provide a 
finish with PSV 65 on the carriageway and 60 on the shared cycle and foot path. Plans showing these 
details are required to be submitted. 
 
No additional traffic is expected to use Tadworthy Road other than for accessing the new (8) 
properties proposed on this road. Using this road would simply be a longer and slower route than the 
alternatives available to anyone other than those living on this road. The lack of footway on Tadworthy 
Road will need addressing, and the applicant is prepared to provide footway long the majority of the 
road which will provide safe passage for the pedestrians using this road and also provide visibility 
splays for the proposed properties on this road. Plans must be submitted showing the proposed 
footway for further consideration.’ 
 
On reviewing further details, the LHO has confirmed that the southern junction is acceptable and he is 
satisfied with the proposed footway on Tadworthy Road.  
 
Northern Junction: 
‘The proposed roundabout on Golf Links Road will work well within capacity whilst keeping traffic 
flowing. Other forms of junction in this location have been considered by the applicant but I have 
found them unacceptable in their detailed design. The roundabout proposal will need amending to 
provide for better cyclist crossings on the splitter islands and plans showing this need to be submitted 
for further consideration. 
 
A road safety audit has been carried out and this should also be uploaded to the public website along 
with the designer's response. All of the points raised (including that above regarding the splitter 
islands) have been addressed. The highway works will be subject to further road safety audits as the 
scheme progresses. 
 
The site includes a new cycleway going north-south adjacent to the new road. This will link into some 
cycleway which is also being provided on the north of Golf Links Road which will eventually link to 
more future cycleway along Golf Links Road which is a long held ambition of the Highway Authority 
and also part of the Local Plan - policy BID08.’ 
 
 

Page 186



Boulevard: 
‘The proposed new road through the site is very straight and while it is fronted by housing, those 
houses have parking spaces at the rear meaning that there will likely be minimal parking on this 
'boulevard'. Traffic speeds are therefore possible to be higher than would be welcome, despite the 
two raised table areas acting as traffic calming measures. This can be dealt with by monitoring the 
speed of traffic on this road during the first year or so of its operation, and the applicant will have to 
add further traffic calming if speeds are considered a problem. 
 
A street lighting proposal including non-standard lighting columns and lanterns has been produced by 
Dee street lighting engineers with input from the developer. This shows a layout which I believe is 
acceptable to both the applicant's architect and the Dee street lighting team to allow these streetlights 
to be adopted by the Highway Authority. Such details are usually not required for planning permission 
but in this case they have been agreed to avoid future disagreements. The proposed design should 
be uploaded to the public website for further consideration.’ 
 
Third parties have raised concern over the potential for the boulevard to encourage high speeds. As 
indicated above, the LHO has confirmed that this situation will be monitored and further traffic 
measures will be required if necessary.  
 
Parcel 2: 
‘The proposal also includes an allotment site which is remote from the main site, north of Golf 
Links Road. The proposed visibility splays to this parcel of land are considered acceptable 
(70m has been shown), however, no pedestrian access has been provided. The applicant 
should provide an amended plan showing pedestrian access to this site which as a minimum 
shall be a 3m path (to allow for suitable future upgrade to a cycleway) inside the junction radii 
with an uncontrolled crossing to the opposite side of the road.’ 
 
In terms of wider impacts on the highway network, the LHO has advised:  
‘The site will generate additional traffic on local roads. It will also create a new road link between 
Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road which has the potential to remove a significant amount of traffic 
from Atlantic Way as well as from Northam Square and Sandymere Road. The new road through the 
site will take traffic from the A386 towards Golf Links Road, where subject to agreeing detailed sign 
age, drivers will be signed to the new car park on Pebbleridge Road for access to the beach (other 
parking [twice as free] is available). Traffic should also decrease on parallel routes such as Beach 
Road, Avon Lane and Youngaton Road.’ 
 
The LHO has indicated that the wider cumulative impact of additional traffic from the site requires 
mitigation in the form of a financial contribution towards improvements to the A39. The required 
contribution is £912.02 per dwelling and this will be secured via a legal agreement.  
 
Given all of the above, and the support afforded to the scheme by the LHO, the application proposal 
is considered to be in accordance with NDTLP Policies ST10, NOR0, DM05 and DM06 as well as 
paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF.  
 
Heritage: 
There are no listed buildings within or immediately adjoining the site and it is not located within a 
Conservation Area.  
 
NDTLP Policy ST15 advises that ‘great weight will be given to the desirability of preserving and 
enhancing northern Devon’s historic environment.’ Policy DM07 requires all proposals affecting 
heritage assets to be accompanied by sufficient information, in the form of a Heritage Statement, to 
enable the impact of the proposal on the significance of the heritage asset and its setting to be 
properly assessed. Part (2) of Policy DM07 advises: ‘proposals which conserve and enhance heritage 
assets and their settings will be supported. Where there is unavoidable harm to heritage assets and 
their settings, proposals will only be supported where the harm is minimised as far as possible, and 
an acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the national policy 
tests, giving great weight to the conservation of heritage assets.’  
 

Page 187



Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires that ‘where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use.’  Paragraph 193 states ‘when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation 
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether 
any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance.’ 
 
The Council's Conservation Officer has been consulted on the application and is raising no 
objections. She notes that Tadworthy House to the east is the nearest listed building and concludes 
that ‘this property is an early dwelling but is already surrounded by more recent development and is 
not likely to be further affected by the current proposal.’  The Conservation Officer has made 
reference to the stone walls along Tadworthy Road as being a distinctive feature and most notably the 
pair of ornate gate posts. The wall and gate posts are not listed. As indicated above, the wall will be 
lost to accommodate the pedestrian footway required by the Local highway Authority. However, a 
condition is recommended to secure details of this new boundary onto Tadworthy Road with a 
requirement for the stone to be re-used to reference the historic context. The Conservation officer 
welcomes this approach.   
 
The application was originally supported by an archaeology ‘desk-based assessment and walk-over 
survey’. The Senior Historic Environment Officer (SHEO) initially raised objections on the grounds that 
the information submitted in support of the application was insufficient to enable an understanding of 
the significance of the heritage assets within the application area or of the impact of the proposed 
development upon these heritage assets. The SHEO requested the results of an archaeological 
geophysical survey and a programme of field evaluation to investigate any anomalies identified by the 
geophysical survey and any apparently blank areas within the development.  
 
The Applicant subsequently provided further details in response to the SHEO, which set out the 
results of the archaeological field evaluation.  The SHEO confirmed that this ‘demonstrated that the 
area of archaeological sensitivity is confined to the southern part of the site where evidence of Bronze 
Age activity was indicated along with the remains of a possible agricultural building demolished some 
time prior to the creation of the Tithe Map in the mid-19th century. The Historic Environment Team do 
not consider that these heritage assets are of such significance that they should be preserved in situ 
and any impact by the development of the site could be mitigated by a programme of archaeological 
work undertaken in advance of any construction commencing in their vicinity’. The SHEO 
consequently removed his objection and requested that a pre-commencement condition be included 
on any decision. Given the time available, the Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) has been 
prepared by South West Archaeology (SWARCH) and various iterations have been submitted to the 
LPA in consultation with the SHEO. The most recent WSI confirms ‘archaeological excavation carried 
out by SWARCH in February-March 2021 identified the remains of a group of postmedieval stone and 
cob farm buildings, with cobbled floors and drainage features and broadly validated the results of the 
previous phases of archaeological evaluation and geophysical survey. Many of the features produced 
postmedieval artefacts dating primarily from the 17th to 18th centuries.’ The SHEO has confirmed that 
the programme of works as described in the most recent version (dated 16th March) is acceptable and 
compliance with the approved WSI should be secured via condition.  
 
Subject to the inclusion of this condition on any decision, the development raises no concerns in 
respect of archaeology and the proposal is considered to be in accordance with NDTLP Policies ST15 
and DM07.     
 
Drainage: 
NDTLP Policy ST03 requires that development takes account of climate change to minimise flood 
risk. Policy DM04 requires development to 'provide effective water management including Sustainable 
Drainage Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of rainwater'.  
 
Parcel 1 is not within an area that is at risk of flooding. The majority of Parcel 2 is also within Flood 
Zone 1 except for the northern section adjoining the Burrows, which is Flood Zone 3. The proposed 

Page 188



use of Parcel 2 would not constitute a vulnerable use and will not see any new built development. 
There is therefore no requirement for the application of the Sequential Test. 
 
The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. Devon County 
Council’s Flood Risk Management Team (DCCFRM) initially raised objection to the surface water 
proposals and requested additional information. DCCFRM requested the Applicant fully explore 
opportunities to use above ground sustainable drainage systems in the proposed surface water 
drainage strategy. The originally proposed drainage strategy was completely based on underground 
tanks which was contrary to DCC’s SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017). DCCFRM noted that the 
proposed site layout includes at least three areas of public open space which may be suitable for 
above ground systems and advised that in accordance with the SuDS Management Train, surface 
water should be managed at source in the first instance. The Applicant was therefore required to 
explore the use of a variety of above-ground source control components across the whole site to 
avoid managing all of the surface water from the proposed development at one concentrated point 
(e.g. a single attenuation pond).  
 
The Applicant submitted further information which DCCFRM concludes is a feasible surface water 
drainage strategy using a combination of sustainable drainage techniques in line with best practice. 
The strategy now includes an above ground basin, a swale and underdrained permeable paving 
which will provide treatment of the runoff, amenity and biodiversity. Attenuation will also take the form 
of underground tanks and oversized pipes. Long term storage will be provided via a variable flow 
control device. The applicant has been advised that South West Water will adopt the surface water 
drainage features at the site however the under drained permeable paving will remain private. 
 
On the basis of the further submission of details, DCCFRM is raising no objection subject to the 
requested condition being included on any decision notice. Natural England welcomes the proposal to 
include SuDs to manage surface water run-off however raises that appropriate management and 
maintenance is key to ensure a properly functioning system and that measures to prevent silt or other 
construction waste being conveyed offsite through surface water runoff will need to be secured. Your 
Officer is satisfied that the pre-commencement condition recommended by DCCFRM addresses 
these issues raised by Natural England.     
 
Foul drainage will be disposed of via the existing public sewer; South West Water (SWW) is raising no 
objection to this. However, both the AONB Team and Natural England have raised concern over the 
treatment of wastewater and suggest that, historically, there have been issues of wastewater 
overloading the sewerage system in Westward Ho! with the excess water ending up at Goosey Pool, 
on Northam Burrows/SSSI. Both consultees, whilst noting that SWW is raising no objections, urge the 
LPA to satisfy itself that the infrastructure has the capacity to cope with this additional use, especially 
at high peak times in the summer and during periods of excessive rainfall. Accordingly, your Officer 
asked SWW to again confirm that the system has capacity to accommodate the level of new housing 
proposed; SWW confirmed that they have no capacity issues and the operation CSO is 
regulated/consented by the Environment Agency and they are unaware of any breach of the consent 
as currently imposed by them. 
 
The concerns raised by third parties are noted, however the technical consultees are advising the 
Local Planning Authority that the proposed provisions are technically acceptable.  
 
In light of the above, the application is considered to meet the requirements of NDTLP Policies ST03, 
DM02 and DM04. 
 
Ground Conditions and Contamination: 
NDTLP Policy DM02 states that development will be supported where it does not cause an 
unacceptable risk to public health and safety due to: coastal erosion or land instability or its siting on 
known or suspected contaminated land which is unsuitable for the use proposed.  
 
The application is supported by a ‘Phase 1 Desk Study’. The EPO has reviewed this document and 
advised that: ‘having regard for the site investigations undertaken, the reported exceedances of lead 
appear very minor and it is indicated that the areas of land in question will be remediated via 

Page 189



removal.  The Environmental Protection Team acknowledges that a comprehensive site investigation 
has been undertaken in relation to land contamination and no further works are required prior to the 
commencement of development works should planning consent be granted.  The Environmental 
Protection Team recommends that a condition is imposed in relation to the discovery of any 
unexpected contamination only during development.’ 
 
Accordingly, it is recommended that the Local Planning Authority's unexpected contamination 
condition is included on any decision notice. The proposal is considered acceptable when assessed 
against Policy DM02. 
 
Ecology: 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). Policy DM08 of 
the NDTLP concerns biodiversity and requires development to conserve, protect and, where possible, 
enhance biodiversity and geodiversity interests and soils commensurate with their status and giving 
appropriate weight to their importance. The policy further requires all development to 'ensure that the 
importance of habitats and designated sites are taken into account' and to 'consider opportunities for 
the creation of a local and district wide biodiversity network of wildlife corridors which link County 
Wildlife sites and other areas of biodiversity importance'. 
 
Third parties and the Town Council have raised concern over impacts on protected species and the 
proposals for biodiversity net gain being insufficient.  
 
The application is supported by an Ecological Impact Assessment (EIA) prepared by Orbis Ecology. 
The EIA confirms there are no European designated sites within or adjacent to the site boundary. 
Taw-Torridge Estuary SSSI is located is 1.5 kilometres to the north-east. Parcel 2 is adjacent to the 
Northam Burrows SSSI with Parcel 1 being 300 metres to the south. At a more local level, 200 metres 
to the east of Parcel 1 is the unconfirmed Wildlife Site of Lakenham Hill, which is described as an 
area of dry grassland and scrub.  
 
The EIA describes both Parcels 1 and 2 as being affected by long term intensive horse grazing and 
associated disturbance and as a consequence both are considered species poor. Scrub runs along 
the north-east and south-west boundaries of Parcel 1. The western boundary of Parcel 2 is a row of 
elm scrub, while the earth bank running along the eastern boundary has a mixture of elm, ash, and 
willow. The EIA assesses none of the hedgerows at Parcel 1 as being ‘important’ under the Hedgerow 
Regulations 1997 and confirms that species diversity was too low to meet the Devon BAP criteria for 
species rich hedges.  
 
The potential for protected / notable species was assessed as follows: 

• Dormouse – there are no records within 2 kilometres of the site. Hedgerows within the 
perimeter of Parcel 1 have negligible potential to support dormice due to poor species 
diversity, composition and structure; and a complete lack of connectivity to any higher quality 
habitat in the surrounding landscape. The EIA identified no suitable dormouse habitat on 
Parcel 2; 

• Reptiles – the grazing pressure on Parcels 1 and 2 means there is very little suitable reptile 
habitat available. On Site 1 this is restricted to the occasional area of longer grass at the base 
of the internal hedgerows, but only where this is out of reach of the horses. Otherwise, the 
grass is grazed up to the base of the banks, and there is no suitable basking habitat available 
close to the dense cover afforded by brambles and scrub. The phase 2 reptile survey of what 
habitat there is on Parcel 1 did not record any reptiles on site. Phase 2 reptile surveys of 
Parcel 2 were not carried out due to the site being assessed as having negligible potential for 
reptiles to be present; 

• Amphibians - The two sites fall within a great crested newt Consultation Zone. This is a five- 
kilometre buffer around existing and historical (post 1970) great crested newt records. 
However, the nearest great crested newt record is 4.4 km away on the other side of the Taw-

Page 190



Torridge estuary. Parcels 1 and 2 have no potential to support great crested newts due to a 
lack of suitable habitat and an absence of any suitable breeding ponds within 500m of the 
sites. The EIA concludes there is no suitable amphibian breeding habitat on either of the sites. 
The hedgerows and scrub on site will provide suitable habitat for widespread and common 
species including common frog and common toad. The central areas of each of the sites are 
unsuitable habitat; 

• Badgers - Badgers have been recorded within 2km of the site, and there are numerous 
badger setts in the woodland above Atlantic Way to the south of Parcel 1. Badgers are known 
to forage on Northam Burrows to the north of Parcel 2, and therefore there is obvious potential 
for badgers to travel across both sites. The EIA concludes there are no badger setts on or in 
the proximity of either Parcels 1 or 2; 

• Bats - The stable buildings at the north and south ends of Parcel 1 were assessed as having 
negligible potential for roosting bats, and there are no tree roosting opportunities for bats on 
either site. Pasture is used by foraging bats due the increased abundance of insect life arising 
from grazing animals and their dung. Of the bat species recorded in the area, the noctule, 
serotine and pipistrelle bats are the most likely to forage over the site. Other species such as 
the horseshoe bats and the long-eared bats are less likely to use the site to any significant 
extent due to a greater sensitivity to light from adjacent roads and buildings and a lack of their 
preferred foraging habitats (woodland edges, rides, hedgerows etc) on either of the sites. The 
rare barbastelle prefers wooded valleys and a mixture of water, woodland and woodland edge 
Habitats; 

• Invertebrates – The EIA identified no habitats on site with the potential to support an important 
food plant for rare or notable species; 

• Nesting Birds – Suitable nesting habitat is identified in the scrub along the east and west 
boundaries of Parcel 1 and the scrub that divides the narrow fields at the south-easter corner 
of Parcel 1; 

• Wading Birds -  The surveys carried out January- March 2020 recorded numbers of black-
headed gulls (up to 65) within Parcel 1 on two occasions, with occasional juvenile herring 
gulls. Also recorded on two occasions were up to 2 little egrets and up to 10 curlew. The 
egrets and curlews were attracted to forage in areas of soft ground disturbed by the horses. 
 

The EIA identifies the following impacts and recommends measures to avoid, mitigate and 
compensate negative effects and provide ecological enhancement:   

• There are no significant impacts predicted to the features of interest responsible for the 
designation of the Northam Burrows SSSI. The main development site (Parcel 1) is noted as 
being separated from the Burrows by roads and existing housing, and the proposals for Parcel 
2 are considered inherently low impact; 

• There are no impacts predicted to: dormouse, reptiles, amphibians and invertebrates; 

• Badgers – could be vulnerable during the construction phase and measures are 
recommended to protect them. The EIA concludes there would be no residual impacts to 
badgers; 

• Bats -  The nature of the main development site within an existing built-up area is such that 
species less tolerant of artificial light levels are unlikely to utilise the site to any significant 
degree. The limited amount of hedge and scrub habitat present on site means it offers little in 
the way of foraging opportunities for those species that specialise in woodland and woodland 
edge habitats. The planting of areas of native mixed scrub and the creation of native 
species-rich hedgerows on Parcel 2 will provide additional foraging opportunities for bats. No 
significant residual impacts are predicted; 

• Nesting birds – the demolition of stable buildings and removal of hedgerows and scrub has the 
potential to impact nesting birds if carried out during the nesting season from 1st March – 31st 
August. In order to mitigate this demolition of the stables and any hedgerow and scrub 
removal will take place outside of the nesting season. Provision for nesting birds will be 
incorporated into the new development. There are no residual impacts predicted to nesting 
birds; 

• Wading Birds - The development of Parcel 1 will result in the loss of a high tide roost for small 
numbers of little egret and curlew. The site is also used by black-headed gulls as a place to 

Page 191



roost/forage. None of these species will breed on site. Over 2 million black-headed gulls over-
winter in the UK, and can be found almost anywhere inland. Their presence on Parcel 1 over 
periods of high-tide does not confer any additional conservation importance to the site. Little 
egrets are currently of least conservation concern, and there are no significant impacts 
predicted to the local egret population from the proposed development. With regards to the 
red-listed curlew, the main problems faced by this species are the loss and fragmentation of 
breeding sites due to the agricultural improvement of unimproved moor and marshy grassland. 
Numbers of overwintering birds on the Taw-Torridge Estuary at present appear to be stable.  
Due to the presence of the protected areas of Northam Burrows SSSI and Braunton Burrows 
SSSI/SAC adjacent to the Taw-Torridge estuary and other areas of open farmland in the 
vicinity of the site, there are no significant impacts predicted to the local curlew population 
from the development of Parcel 1. In terms of mitigation, there are no areas on Parcels 1 or 2 
suitable to mitigate the loss of Parcel 1 as a high tide roost for low numbers of birds. It is 
suggested that aspects of the conservation of local wading bird populations is considered 
when addressing the residual net habitat loss. Due to the low numbers of waders using the 
site, there are no significant residual effects predicted 

• Hedgehogs – all new boundary features (e.g. garden fences) must incorporate suitable access 
points (hedgehog highways) to allow hedgehogs to move freely around and through the 
development. 
 

Biodiversity enhancement proposals include the provision for bats and birds being incorporated into 
the housing development in the form of suitable bat and bird boxes. Exact locations for these features 
will be secured via condition. Compensation for the loss of habitat will be partially addressed through 
enhancement of Parcel 2, with the measures proposed included in the submitted landscape plan for 
the development. This area will provide a compensatory habitat for the development of Parcel 1 and 
will be planted with mixed scrub. New lengths of native rich hedgerow will also be created.  
 
Notwithstanding these habitat enhancements, the development will result in a net loss of biodiversity 
of -1.03 units (-6.58%), but a gain of 0.65 hedgerow units (+29.61%). For a biodiversity net gain to be 
achieved on site, a significant part of the development area would have to be assigned to habitat 
creation, such as wildflower meadow, which would compromise the viability of the proposal. 
Therefore, the principle for an off-site biodiversity compensation measure has been agreed with the 
North Devon Biosphere Reserve in consultation with Natural England who identify the need for any 
off-site biodiversity net gain to provide high tide roost compensation.  The Applicant has provided a 
Biodiversity Position Statement, which confirms that the proposed biodiversity offset aims to not just 
offset the direct loss of habitat but also to improve the attractiveness of the offset site to wading birds 
from the Torridge Estuary that currently roost on Parcel 1 at high tide. The updated DEFRA metric 
confirms that the enhancement of 1 hectare of semi-improved grassland to a target state of lowland 
meadow will provide a ‘net gain’ in excess of the required 10%. This would take the form of a financial 
contribution which the North Devon Biosphere has confirmed as £17,800.  
 
Natural England has also directed the LPA to the Northam Burrows Country Park Visitor Access 
Management Plan, which is a strategy to ensure that high visitor numbers do not adversely affect the 
responsible management of the environment. Any future access from Parcel 2 onto the Burrows will 
need to be in line with this Management. A condition is recommended to secure the management of 
Parcel 2 and for various details, including pedestrian access, to agreed, however the Lead Ranger 
has confirmed that such a pedestrian access would work well with the planned trails.    
 
It is recommended that the various mitigation and enhancement measures set out within the EIA be 
secured via condition. In addition, given the proposed habitat mitigation planned for Parcel 2, it is 
considered appropriate to require a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) via 
condition to detail how the proposed habitats will be managed in the long term.  
 
Given all of the above, and notwithstanding concerns raised in letters of representation, the 
application proposal is considered acceptable with regards to ecology, subject to appropriate 
conditions and financial contributions to secure mitigation measures and achieve an overall 
biodiversity net gain in excess of 10%. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with NDTLP 
Policies ST14, NOR04 and DM08. 

Page 192



 
Viability and Section 106 Obligations: 
Any shortfall in infrastructure for the proposed development should be funded by developer 
contributions in accordance with NDTLP Policy ST23 (Infrastructure), which requires development to 
provide or contribute towards the timely provision of physical, social and green infrastructure made 
necessary by the specific or cumulative impacts of those developments.  
 
A number of third parties and the Town Council have raised objection to the proposal on the grounds 
that there is insufficient infrastructure to accommodate the growth in population. Significant concerns 
are also raised in regards to the less than policy compliant affordable housing offer. 
 
The application generates the following infrastructure requirements: 
 
Affordable Housing: 
NDTLP Policy ST18 sets a requirement for developments of 11 or more dwellings to provide on-site 
delivery of affordable housing equal to 30% of the number of dwellings on site. Affordable housing is 
sought at a tenure split of 75% social rent and 25% intermediate in accordance with the mix specified 
by the Strategic Enabling Officer. 
 
Policy ST18 (5) states that ‘negotiation to vary the scale and nature of affordable housing provision, 
along with the balance of other infrastructure and planning requirements, will be considered on the 
basis of a robust appraisal of development viability’. 
 
Paragraph 7.31 clarifies that: ‘it is however accepted that there may be occasions whereby 
circumstances conspire to mean that the delivery of affordable housing in line with the policy 
requirements may compromise development viability. The obligation will lie with the developer to 
provide a robust financial justification to support any proposals failing to meet identified policy 
requirements. The local planning authority will consider such requests on the basis of an open book 
financial appraisal of development viability. The Local Planning Authority will normally require the 
appraisal to be independently verified, with the developer liable for reasonable costs incurred to the 
local planning authority in doing so. Where it is demonstrated that scheme viability prohibits meeting 
the full policy requirements for the provision of affordable housing and/or other planning obligations, 
the local planning authority will enter into negotiations to vary the proportion and/or mix of affordable 
housing provision’.   
 
The ability of the development to deliver affordable housing is considered further below. 
 
Green Infrastructure: 
In respect of green infrastructure and built recreational facilities, NDTLP Policy DM10 states: 
‘Development will provide new accessible green infrastructure, including public open space and built 
facilities, to meet at least the green infrastructure quantitative and accessibility standards, as set out 
in Table 13.1 and Infrastructure Delivery Plan, to meet the needs of its intended occupants’. 
 
The application of the provisions of Policy DM10 and associated Table 13.1 of the NDTLP identifies 
an on-site requirement for 1.098 hectares of open space across different typologies. The application 
proposes green infrastructure provision of 12,238 sqm or 1.23 ha (3,795 sq m on Parcel 1 and 8,443 
sq m on Parcel 2). The overall level of provision compares favourably to the level of 1.098 ha (10, 980 
sq m) required by Policy DM10. Although, it is important to note however that Policy NOR04 does 
require site specific additions particular to the development of the site, so a direct comparison is not 
possible. In any case, the development does provide an appropriate level of green infrastructure, with 
a mix of typologies that respond to the site’s context. The application proposal also generates a need 
for off-site built recreation contributions, however given the significant viability issues, and the need 
for a policy compliant on-site green infrastructure provision, your Officers are not recommending that 
these are sought. 
 
The Applicant has agreed for this open space and ongoing management arrangements to be secured 
via a Section 106 Agreement. The phasing of this green infrastructure will be confirmed through the 
negotiation of the Section 106 Agreement and as part of the condition requiring a phasing plan to be 

Page 193



agreed. In addition, full details of the open spaces proposed on Parcel 1, including the nature and 
type of play equipment, will be secured via condition.  
 
Highways: 
As per the obligations set out above, namely £912.02 per dwelling to secure off-site highway 
improvements to the A39. The LHO has requested for this to be secured by occupation of the 75th 
dwelling.  
 
 
Education: 
The Local Education Authority (LEA) is seeking contributions required for education. The LEA has 
identified that the proposal will generate an additional 33.50 primary pupils and 20.1 secondary pupils 
which would have a direct impact on St Georges Infant school, St Margaret’s Junior school, 
Appledore School and Bideford College. In order to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, an education contribution to mitigate its impact will be requested. This is set out below:  
 
‘Primary Provision:  
When factoring in both approved but unimplemented housing developments and Local Plan 
allocations, we have forecast that the local primary schools have sufficient capacity for 42% of pupils 
expected to be generated from development in the area. Therefore, Devon County Council will 
request primary contributions against 58% of pupils expected to be generated by development in 
Northam. The contribution would be used towards additional education infrastructure to serve the 
address of the proposed development.  The Local Plan identifies that new primary provision is 
required to serve Northam allocations. 
  
DCC will seek a contribution towards the primary pupils expected to be generated from this 
development. The primary contribution sought would be £377,272 (based on the DfE new build rate of 
£19,417 per pupil x 58%).  This equates to a per dwelling rate of £2,815.46.  The contributions will be 
used towards the additional primary provision. 
  
DCC would also need to request a proportionate land contribution of 10sqm per family-type dwelling.  
Based upon a land value of £440,000 per hectare (£440 per dwelling), this land contribution would 
equate to £34,196, and would be used to assist in the procurement of the new school site. This is 
calculated as £440 x 134 dwellings x 58%. 
  
 
Early Years Provision: 
A contribution towards Early Years provision is requested to ensure delivery of provision for 2, 3 and 4 
year olds. The Early Years rate is £250 per dwelling, or a total of £33,500 to mitigate 134 dwellings. 
This contribution will be used to provide statutory early years places in the area. 
  
Secondary Provision: 
When factoring in approved but unimplemented housing developments we have forecast that the local 
secondary school has sufficient capacity for the number of pupils likely to be generated by the 
proposed development. Therefore, a contribution towards secondary education infrastructure would 
not be sought.’ 
 
Given the above position, it is considered reasonable to secure the requested LEA contributions 
towards primary education and early years. The final dwelling numbers and mix have changed slightly 
since the LEAs originally response so the final figure will need to be adjusted to reflect this. The Local 
Planning Authority has however questioned the justification for a land contribution of £34,707 to be 
secured when the land for a new primary school has already been secured through the granting of 
outline planning permission at Daddon Hill. The LEA has explained that they are still seeking the 
requested land contribution in case the Daddon site does not come forward.  
 
There is no evidence to suggest that the Daddon Hill development will not come forward and, given 
the marginal viability for this application site, it is not considered reasonable or appropriate to seek the 
requested land contribution. 

Page 194



 
NHS: 
The NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has raised that the Northam Surgery is already 
over capacity within its existing footprint therefore it follows that to have a sustainable development in 
human health terms the whole local healthcare provision will require review. The surgery already has 
12,470 patients registered between them and the application proposal is expected to increase the 
local population by a further 307 persons. Consequently, the CCG is seeking a financial contribution 
of £69,171 towards the costs of mitigating the pressures on the local healthcare facility. As with the 
education contribution, this will need to be amended very slightly to reflect the updated unit numbers. 
 
Public Art: 
As indicated above, the Applicant has offered to make a financial contribution of £10,000 towards a 
piece of public artwork to enable a ‘distinct gateway point to Westward Ho!’.  
 
Biodiversity: 
As indicated above, in order to meet the target requirement for a 10% net gain in biodiversity, the 
proposal will include a financial contribution towards off-site enhancements to be implemented by the 
North Devon Biosphere. This figure has been confirmed as £17,800 to secure the land use change of 
1 hectare of land from an improved grassland to a lowland meadow. The North Devon Biosphere has 
indicated that there are a couple site options, which will need to be confirmed with the respective 
landowners.  
 
Viability Assessment: 
The Applicant has submitted viability appraisals that demonstrate with a policy compliant level of 
contributions, the development would be unviable. A non-confidential summary of these appraisals, 
prepared by Belvedere Vantage, is available for Members of the Plans Committee to view on the 
Council’s website, in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Practice Guidance 
(NPPG).  
 
As indicated above, Policy ST18 allows for negotiation to vary the scale and nature of affordable 
housing provision, along with the balance of other infrastructure and planning requirements, on the 
basis of a robust appraisal of development viability. The District Valuation Office (DV) was instructed 
to independently verify the submitted viability information and the assigned DV Officer has provided a 
written report to the Council, which is appended to this Committee Report for Member’s ease of 
reference. 
 
The conclusion of this viability process is that the application proposal is unviable when assuming a 
policy compliant level of planning obligations. The submitted viability appraisal advises the site suffers 
from a number of technical challenges that greatly increase the cost of development, with (in 
particular) significantly increased costs relating to the necessity to use an unusual surface water 
disposal system of combined permeable paving, tanks and basins along with extensive flow control 
and orifice manholes which were introduced at a late stage of the scheme design. The viability 
appraisal also indicates that a further 'Abnormal' element of the proposed development is the high 
quality palette of materials that is being used on the street scene to meet the aspirations of the local 
planning authority. This is certainly the case in respect of the proposed boulevard, which is a clear 
policy requirement set out in Policy NOR04.  
 
The DV Officer has confirmed: 
‘Based on my analysis, I agree with the contention that the proposed scheme cannot viably support 
the required affordable housing contribution. It would in my view be potentially deliverable however 
based on a nil provision of affordable housing (either on or off site), the proposed reduced section 106 
contributions, and assuming a lower than standard developers return; however, at a level above that 
which the applicants are considering as acceptable.’  
 
Notwithstanding the significant viability issues as set out above and in the appended DV Officer’s 
report, the Applicant is offering 9 affordable housing units across the development. The Strategic 
Enabling Officer has been involved in discussions on viability and notes: 
 

Page 195



‘However, the applicant has presented a case that the provision of 30% affordable housing on this 
scheme would make the scheme financially unviable. Evidence to support this position has been 
submitted by the applicant in the form of a development viability appraisal and this has now been 
assessed on behalf of Torridge District Council by the District Valuation Office Through this 
assessment, the District Valuation Office have concluded the development cannot viably deliver any 
Affordable Housing. 
 
However the applicant has offered to provide 9 of the units as Affordable Housing on the basis the 
profit margin will be reduced to that below industry norms. This offer provides for the following 
Affordable Housing to be secured by way of a Section 106 agreement:- 4 x 1-bed social rent units, 2 x 
2-bed social rent units, 1 x 2-bed intermediate unit and 2 x 3-bed intermediate units.   
 
I can confirm the 9 Affordable Housing units as proposed are acceptable in terms of the size, type, 
tenure and location on site and overall the provision of these affordable units will be highly beneficial 
in meeting an element of housing need which exist within the District.’ 
 
The Applicant has been asked on what basis they are able to provide this affordable housing, given 
the clear viability issues. They have confirmed that any such commitment is at risk and that it would 
be their profit margins that would be adjusted accordingly. Given this, it is considered that Members of 
the Plans Committee can apply weight to this offer in their decision making and that an affordable 
housing provision of 9 units should be secured via the Section 106 Agreement.  
 
Planning Balance: 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material consideration in 
planning decisions. 
 
As discussed above, the Local Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of 
housing land to meet the identified need within the district.  It is therefore necessary to consider 
whether the adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits (the tilted balance). 
 
In this instance, the proposal would provide a significant contribution of 138 dwellings towards local 
housing supply on an allocated site that is located in a sustainable location within a Main Centre. The 
site is therefore within close proximity of a number of key services and facilities as well as public 
transport routes meaning that future occupants would be less reliant on the private motor car. Given 
the Council’s current lack of a 5YHLS significant weight should be attached to the delivery of housing 
in this sustainable location.  
 
The proposal would also provide a benefit to the local economy in respect of the construction of the 
development and improve the sustainability of Northam and Westward Ho! in respect of the viability of 
local services and facilities. The developer is a local business so there will be significant economic 
benefits through job creation, albeit it is accepted this will be on a temporary basis for the construction 
period.  
 
The proposal will deliver the strategic aspiration for a new distinct gateway route into the resort of 
Westward Ho! A high quality boulevard design is proposed along with a public art contribution to 
secure an art feature at the junction with Golf Links Road. This is a unique opportunity offered by the 
development of this site and should be considered a significant benefit in recognition of the wider 
benefits that would be delivered. The scheme will also deliver an over-provision of public open space 
beyond that which would be required for the level of housing proposed. These features will provide a 
wider community benefit as all residents of the community will be able to access them – this is a 
significant benefit of the proposal.  
 
The highways impacts are considered to be acceptable, both in respect of traffic generation and the 
proposed accesses; the Local Highway Authority is raising no objections to the proposal. The 

Page 196



introduction of improved junctions at the south and north of the site together with improved cycle and 
pedestrian routes will provide wider benefits to the local community and should be considered a 
significant benefit of the proposal. The improved cycle roues will contribute to the delivery of Policy 
BID08, which seeks the establishment of a trail following where possible the route of the former 
Bideford to Appledore Railway from Northam Road to Westward Ho!  
 
The development is well designed, meeting the approval of the Crime and Disorder Officer, and will 
ensure the amenities of existing and future residents of the new development are protected. In 
addition, adherence to Construction Management Plan would be secured via condition to protect 
residents during the construction phase. There are no objections in principle to the proposed foul and 
surface water drainage methods. A Written Scheme of Investigation has been agreed with the Senior 
Historic Environment Officer and the development will be carried out in accordance with it to ensure 
any archaeological heritage is protected.  Through condition the proposal will secure the protection of 
protected species and deliver biodiversity enhancements at the site and through a financial 
contribution to secure 1 hectare of land to mitigate for the loss of a high tide roost for wading birds. 
Further financial contributions are to be secured towards local infrastructure to meet needs that would 
be generated by the development, namely education, health and highways. All of these material 
considerations are considered to deliver a neutral position post-development.  
 
Turning to the adverse impacts, as discussed earlier, due to viability issues, the application is unable 
to make a policy compliant offer in terms of affordable housing or housing mix. The District Valuation 
Office has confirmed this and advised the Local Planning Authority that the scheme is unable to 
deliver any affordable housing. Notwithstanding this, the Applicant is offering 9 affordable units across 
the site, which along with the other stated planning obligations, would be secured via a Section 106 
Legal Agreement. Even though the viability assessment suggests otherwise, the Applicant is 
proposing 9 affordable units at a mix that has been agreed with the Strategic Enabling Officer. 
Significant weight should be given to this as a benefit of the scheme, albeit recognising it falls well 
below the target of 30%. The housing mix has been justified in line with Policy ST17 with regard to 
viability and market demand. 
 
There will be an element of landscape/townscape harm through the redevelopment of Parcel 1 from 
green fields to a housing estate. The NDTLP acknowledges this current green gap has local value 
however emphasises that it is considered to have little value in landscape and visual amenity terms. 
The NDTLP further emphasises the opportunities for development of the site to contribute towards the 
objectives of improving access to the resort, enhancing the resort of Westward Ho! and reducing 
vehicles congestion in Northam Square in addition to making a valuable contribution to the area’s 
housing needs and demands. It is therefore clear that the allocation of the site was underscored by it 
having limited landscape value compared to the significant benefits that would be delivered. It is 
therefore considered that limited harm can be attributed to the loss of the green field site and this 
position is supported by the AONB Team and it is not considered that the proposal will harm the 
setting of the AONB.  
 
Finally, due to the Local Highway Authority’s requirement for a new pedestrian footway along 
Tadworthy Road, the existing stone wall is unable to be retained. This wall is of local historic value 
and contributes to the visual amenities of the area so moderate harm must be attributed to its loss. 
This, however, must be balanced against the significant improvements to pedestrian safety and the 
fact a condition is recommend to secure the re-use of this stone within the new boundary treatment 
fronting Tadworthy Road.    
 
In weighing the identified harm against the benefits, it is considered that the adverse impacts 
associated with the development fail to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, with the 
result that when assessed against the policies in the NDTLP and the NPPF as a whole and having 
considered all the planning issues, on balance, a recommendation for approval is made. 
 
Finally, it is noted that objections have been received in respect of the application along with a 
recommendation of refusal by the Town Council.  Whilst the issues raised have been given due 
consideration, it is considered, on balance, that they should not preclude the granting of full planning 
permission, for the reasons set out above.  

Page 197



 
The application site forms the residential allocation NOR04 and therefore the principle of residential 
and leisure/recreational development is acceptable in this location. The proposed development would 
make a significant contribution to the District’s housing needs and it is understood that the Applicant 
would be looking to commence on site in 2021 meaning the proposal would support the Council’s five- 
year housing delivery. The site is considered to be in a sustainable location, as reflected in its 
allocation for development.  
 
The proposed development is therefore considered to be in accordance Policies ST01, ST02, ST03, 
ST04, ST06, ST08, ST10, ST14, ST15, ST17, ST18, ST23, NOR, NOR04, DM01, DM02, DM04, 
DM05, DM06, DM07, DM08A, DM08 and DM10 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2018) 
and the relevant provisions of the NPPF.  
  

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the conditions detailed below and the prior satisfactory completion of a 
Section 106 Agreement covering the planning obligations set out above: 

 
1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
3         No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
           (a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 

Strategy Land off Tadworthy Road, Northam, 9359-FRA&DS-v1 and Drainage Strategy Layout 
Sheet 1 500 P06 and Drainage Strategy Layout Sheet 2501 P06 

           (b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 

           (c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 
system. 

           (d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
            
            No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and 

implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (d) above. 
            
           Reason: The above condition is required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage 

system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, 
adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national 
policies, including NPPF and PPG. The condition should be pre-commencement since it is 

Page 198



essential that the proposed surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before 
works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is 
fixed. 

 
4 A waste audit statement shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 

within 3 months of the commencement of development. This statement shall include all 
information outlined in the waste audit template provided in Devon County Council's Waste 
Management and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved statement. 

            
            Reason: To minimise the amount of waste produced and promote sustainable methods of 

waste management in accordance with Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan and the Waste 
Management and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

5 In accordance with the phasing details to be agreed via Condition 7, site specific details of the 
specification and position of any fencing for the protection of any retained hedgerows and 
tree/group of trees shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
The works shall be carried out as approved and the fencing shall be erected in accordance 
with the timings agreed via Condition 7 and shall be maintained until the development has 
been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from 
the site.  
 
Reason: To protect the trees and hedgerows to be retained on this site from damage before 
and during the course of development.  
 

6 Within 3 months of the commencement of development, full details (including species, type 
and size at time of planting) of all proposed tree planting and landscaping and the proposed 
times of planting, shall be submitted for approval by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
landscaping scheme shall include details of planting to the boundaries of all public open 
spaces within the housing element of the proposal (Parcel 1) and supplemental planting to the 
hedgebank boundaries between Plot 49 and 10 Britannia Way and between Plot 68 and 20 
the Links.  

 
The agreed details shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme and at those 
times specified and in accordance with the Phasing Plan to be secured via Condition 7.  If 
within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree, that tree, or any tree 
planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or becomes seriously 
damaged or defective another tree of the same species and size as that originally planted 
shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written 
consent to any variation. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and neighbouring amenity. 
 

7 Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed phasing plan for the whole site shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. The phasing plan shall 
include details of: 

             a) intended number of market and affordable dwellings for each phase;  
            b) phasing of key infrastructure including, surface water drainage, green infrastructure, 

biodiversity enhancements, landscaping, boundary treatments, tree and hedgerow 
protection measures and access for pedestrians, cyclist, and vehicles; 

 c) anticipated timing and delivery of the boulevard link road including tree planting and 
street lighting; 

 d) anticipated timing and delivery of the open space and biodiversity enhancements to 
be secured on Parcel 2, to the north of Golf Links Road; 

             e) anticipated timing and delivery of the road improvements; and 
             f) anticipated timing and delivery of the footway improvements. 

Page 199



            
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved phasing plan. 

            
            Reason: To enable the development to be delivered in controlled phases and to ensure the 

proper development of the site. 
 
8         The construction phase shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the Construction 

Management Plan prepared by NG Homes South West and received on the 18 June 2020. 
 
 Please note that the hours of construction restrictions set out in Condition 10 take precedence 

over those set out in the Construction Management Plan.  
            
           Reason: To minimise the impact of the works during the construction of the development in the 

interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic and to safeguard the amenities of the 
area in accordance with Policies DM01, DM02 and DM04 of the North Devon and 

           Torridge Local Plan. 
 
9         Construction works shall not take place other than between 0730hrs and 1800hrs on Mondays 

to Fridays, Saturdays between 0900hrs and 1700hrs and at no time on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. 

            
            Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
10 If unexpected contamination, which has not been previously identified, is found at any time 

when carrying out the approved development all work must be ceased and the part of the site 
affected by the unexpected contamination along with the nature of the contamination be 
immediately reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. In addition to any assessment 
already provided with the planning application, an investigation and risk assessment to assess 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site and relating to the affected area , 
whether or not it originates on the site, should then be undertaken by competent persons, and 
then a written report submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The investigation and risk assessment must include: 
If unexpected contamination, which has not been previously identified, is found at any time 
when carrying out the approved development all work must be ceased and the part of the site 
affected by the unexpected contamination along with the nature of the contamination be 
immediately reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. In addition to any assessment 
already provided with the planning application, an investigation and risk assessment to assess 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site and relating to the affected area , 
whether or not it originates on the site, should then be undertaken by competent persons, and 
then a written report submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The investigation and risk assessment must include: 

 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 

 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 

 
- human health, 
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes, 
- adjoining land, 
- groundwaters and surface waters, 
- ecological systems, 
- archeological sites and ancient monuments; 

 
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 

 

Page 200



This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

 
Review by the Local Planning Authority of the site investigation and risk assessment will 
confirm whether there is a need to undertake remediation measures. If required a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and to the natural and 
historical environment must be prepared by competent persons, and be approved in writing by 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme must then be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the re-commencement of any development on the site. 

 
The remediation scheme must include: 

 
-  all works to be undertaken 
-  proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria 
-  timetable of works and site management procedures. 

 
The scheme must ensure that following the remediation works the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two 
weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report 
that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and 
approved in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Where an approved remediation scheme 
includes a requirement for a monitoring and maintenance scheme to ensure the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over time, a report setting out monitoring and 
maintenance requirements must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when 
the remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of 
the monitoring and maintenance produced, submitted to and approved by  the Local Planning 
Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
11        The roundabout site access and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained 

for that purpose in accordance with the approved drawings subject to minor variation through 
detailed design prior to the occupation of any dwelling on the site. 

            
            Reason: In the interest of highway safety. 
 
 12       The road through the site from Tadworthy Road to Golf Links Road shall be built and made 

available for public use prior to the change in priority being made at the junction of Atlantic 
Way and Tadworthy Road. 

            
            Reason: In the interest of highway safety and the routing of traffic. 
            
13        The southern site access and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained for 

that purpose in accordance with the approved drawings subject to minor variation through 
detailed design prior to the occupation of any dwelling on Tadworthy Road. 

            
           Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to ensure the proper development of the site. 
 
 14       Any existing accesses to the site other than the approved site accesses shall be effectively 

and permanently closed in accordance with details which shall previously have been 

Page 201



submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority as soon as the new access is 
capable of use. 

            
           Reason: To prevent the use of a substandard access and to minimise the number of accesses 

on to the public highway. 
 
 15       Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway. 
            
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 
 
16        The footway on Tadworthy Road shall be constructed and made available for public use prior 

to the occupation of any dwelling accessing onto Tadworthy Road. 
            
           Reason: In the interest of highway safety. 
 
17        Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 

sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections 
indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of 
construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 

detailed proposals. 
 
18        No part of the development above floor level shall be commenced in any agreed phase until: 
           A) The access road has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course level 

for the first ten metres back from its junction with the public highway 
           B) The ironwork has been set to base course level and the visibility splays required by this 

permission laid out 
           C) The footway on the public highway frontage required by this permission has been 

constructed up to base course level 
           D) A site compound and car park have been constructed to the written satisfaction of the Local 

Planning Authority 
            
            Reason: To ensure that adequate on site facilities are available for all traffic attracted to the 

site during the construction period, in the interest of the safety of all users of the adjoining 
public highway and to protect the amenities of the adjoining residents. 

 
19        The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take place 

until the following works have been carried out to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority: 

           A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head within that 
phase shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including base 
course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes and service 
crossings completed; 

           B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths which provide that dwelling with 
direct pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable at public expense have been 
constructed up to and including base course level; 

           C) The cul-de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
           D) The street lighting for the spine road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is 

operational; 
           E) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this 

permission has/have been completed; 
           F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of the dwelling 

have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 

Page 202



           G) The street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected. 
             

Reason: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the traffic 
attracted to the site. 

 
20     The development shall proceed in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation by 

South West Archaeology (document ref: NGL21WSIv1.2, dated 16th March 2021) and 
submitted in support of this planning application.  The development shall be carried out at all 
times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that 
an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development' 

 
21 Prior to their erection, full details of the boundaries within the housing site (Parcel 1) fronting 

Golf Links Road (Type 5) and Tadworthy Road shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval. The boundary fronting Tadworthy Road shall incorporate stone and 
brick built pillar features re-using the stone from the existing wall on site. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: In order to confirm the specification and design of these boundaries in the interests of 

the character and appearance of the development.    
 
22 Notwithstanding the details shown in the application hereby permitted, prior to their 

installation, details (and/or representative samples) of the colour and texture of the facing and 
roofing materials to be used in the construction of the proposed development shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed details shall 
be implemented before the development hereby permitted is brought into use and shall 
thereafter be retained as such. 

            
           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the suitability of the materials to be 

used for the development.   
 
23        The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations and 

mitigation methods outlined in the submitted Ecological Impact Assessment received on the 
23 June 2020 and Biodiversity Position Statement received on the 15 March 2021 prepared by 
Orbis Ecology.  

            
           Reason: To ensure the interests of protected species on the site are maintained and to achieve 

biodiversity enhancement in accordance with North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Policies 
ST14 and DM08. 

 
24 Details of the numbers and locations of new bat and bird boxes and hedgehog highways, as 

recommended within the Ecological Impact Assessment received on the 23 June 2020 and 
prepared by Orbis Ecology, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The agreed details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby 
approved and retained thereafter as such. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of the ecology and biodiversity interests of the site. 
 
25        The development of the car park and open space to the north of Golf Links Road (Parcel 2) 

shall not commence until full details of the on-going operation, management and maintenance 
of these facilities and details of boundary treatments and external lighting have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall 
include times of operation and public access to and from the site and measures to secure the 

Page 203



site when not in use. Thereafter, the open space facility and car park shall only be used in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
 For the avoidance of doubt, no form of external lighting shall be erected at the site without the 

approval of the Local Planning Authority.  
            
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and the setting of the Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty to the north, neighbouring amenity, and to prevent antisocial 
behaviour at the site. 

 
26 Prior to the commencement of development of the car park and open space to the north of 

Golf Links Road (Parcel 2), a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) to detail 
how retained and proposed habitats will be managed in the long term, will be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The required management plan shall 
include conservation audit and monitoring provisions to measure the success or otherwise of 
their implementation. Thereafter, the habitats shall be managed and maintained in accordance 
with the agreed LEMP.  

 
Reason: To ensure the interests of protected species on the site are maintained and to 
achieve biodiversity enhancement in accordance with North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
Policies ST14 and DM08.             

 
27 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015, (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no 
development of the types described in Part 1, Class A-H and Part 2, Class A-C of Schedule 2, 
other than that hereby permitted shall be carried out without the further grant of planning 
permission at Plots 2-13, 36-41, 49-55, 117-130 and A-G. 

            
           Reason: In the interest of the character and appearance of the development. 
 
28 The first and second floor windows in the right side elevation of Plot 4 (1902-P.75) and left 

side elevation of Plot 3 (1902-P.32 A) shall be fitted with obscure glazing prior to occupation of 
these dwellings and retained as such thereafter.   

 
 Reason: In order to protect the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.    
 
29 The proposed boundary treatments, as shown on approved drawing 19021-P.07 D and to be 

agreed through the discharge of conditions 21 and 25, shall be implemented in accordance 
with the Phasing Plan to be secured via Condition 7. The implemented boundary treatments 
shall not at any time be removed, either in whole or in part. For the avoidance of doubt, no 
new points of pedestrian access shall be created directly onto Golf Links Road from the 
housing site (Parcel 1).   
 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the development. 

 
30 The streetlighting within the housing site (Parcel 1) shall be implemented in accordance with 

approved drawing AW/L/400/1 at those times specified in the Phasing Plan required by 
Condition 7. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the development.    
 
31 Prior to its installation a plan detailing the public open spaces approved within the housing site 

(Parcel 1) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
plan shall include details of the intended future uses of each area together with the features 
and items such as bins and seating and the play equipment it is proposed to install on the 
equipped play area. The open space shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 
details at those timings specified in the Phasing Plan to be secured via Condition 7.  

            

Page 204



           Reason: To ensure a satisfactory provision of different forms of open space throughout the 
development in the interests of the amenity of future residents. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
                          
                           

Reference Received 
  

19021 S 00 A 
101 (A4)  

09.07.2020 
23.06.2020 

   

107  23.06.2020 
   

107 P4  23.06.2020 
                           
    

19021 P 06 A  12.02.2021 
   

19021 P 07 D  14.02.2021 
         

19021 P 11  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 12  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 13  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 14  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 15  16.06.2020 
     

19021 P 17  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 18  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 19  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 20  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 21  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 22  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 23  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 24  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 25  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 26  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 27  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 28  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 29  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 30  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 32 A  16.06.2020 
     

19021 P 34  16.06.2020 
   

19021 P 54  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 55  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 56  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 57  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 58  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 59  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 60  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 61  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 62  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 63  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 64  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 65  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 66  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 67  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 68  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 69  03.07.2020 
   

Page 205



19021 P 70  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 71  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 72  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 73  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 74  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 75  03.07.2020 
   

19021 P 31 A  16.06.2020 
         

19021 P 79 
19021 P 80 
19021 P 81 
19358 100 P3  

14.02.2021 
16.02.2021 
16.02.2021 
16.06.2020 

           

19358 105 A3  16.06.2020 
   

19358 106 A3  16.06.2020 
   

19358 107 P3  16.06.2020 
   

19358 108 A1  16.06.2020 
   

19358 201 P6  16.06.2020 
                           
  

19021-P.33 G  16.02.2021 
   

19021-P.02 L  12.02.2021 
   

19021-P.02 N  16.02.2021 
   

19021-P.16 D  16.12.2020 
   

19021-P.77  16.12.2020 
   

19021-P.78  16.12.2020 
   
   

19359 101 A6  16.12.2020 
   

19359 102 A4  16.12.2020 
   

19359 103 A4  16.12.2020 
   

19359 104 A4  16.12.2020 
   

19359 109 P1  16.12.2020 
   

19359 110 P1  16.12.2020 
   

19359 1106 P1  16.12.2020 
   

19359 1200 P1  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2601 P4  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2602 P4  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2603 P3  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2604 P3  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2605 P4  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2610 P2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2611 P1  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2651_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2652_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2653_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2654_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2655_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2656_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2657_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2658_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 2659_PL A2  16.12.2020 
   

19359 500 P6  16.12.2020 
   

19359 501 P6  16.12.2020 
   

19359 550 P1  16.12.2020 
   

Page 206



19359 551 P1  16.12.2020 
   

19359 702 P2  
AW/L/400/1 

16.12.2020 
21.12.2020 

  
                          
                          
                          
                          

                          
                          
                   

Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
  
In this instance the Council required additional information and changes to be made following the 
consultation process. The need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and 
submitted for further consideration. The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive 
manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 
 

Page 207



 

 

The VOA is an Executive Agency of HM Revenue and Customs  
 

 
 
 
 

Viability Report:  
 

Land Between 
Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road 

 Westward Ho! 
 Northam Devon  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Report for: Torridge District Council 
 

Prepared by: 
xxxxxxxxxxxxx MRICS 
Principal Surveyor 
RICS Registered Valuer 
DVS 
 
Tel:  xxxxxxxxxxxx 
 

xxxxxxx@voa.gov.uk 
 
 

 Case Number: 1755806  
 
Client Reference: 1/0490/2020/FULM 
 
Date: 12 February 2021 
 

Page 208



 
 

   
  

 

 

 

 

Contents 
 
 

  Page 
1 Executive Summary………………………………………………………………….. 1 
2 Introduction……………………………………………………………………………. 2 
3 Date of assessment / Date of report……………………………………………….. 2 
4 Viability Methodology / Professional Guidance…………………………………… 2 
5 RICS Financial Viability in Planning Conduct and Reporting……………………. 3 
6 Restrictions on Disclosure / Publication…………………………………………… 4 
7 Validity…………………………………………………………………………………. 4 
8 Limits or Exclusions of Liability……………………………………………………... 4 
9 Confirmation of Standards…………………………………………………………... 5 
10 Conflict of Interest…………………………………………………………………….. 6 
11 Engagement…………………………………………………………………………… 6 
12 Status of Valuer……………………………………………………………………….. 6 
13 Assessment Details…………………………………………………………………... 6 
14 Date of Inspection…………………………………………………………………….. 7 
15 Planning Policy / Background……………………………………………………….. 7 
16 Local Plan Policy Scheme Requirements / S106 Costs………………………….. 7 
17 Development Scheme / Special Assumptions…………………………………….. 7 
18 Development Scheme information…………………………………………………. 9 
19 Benchmark Land Value (BLV) ……………………………………………………… 13 
20 Viability Assessment…………………………………………………………………. 15 
21 Conclusions…………………………………………………………………………… 16 
22 Sensitivity Analysis and Testing……………………………………………………. 16 
23 Comments and Recommendations………………………………………………… 17 
24 Appendices…………………………………………………………………………… 19 
   
   
   
   

Page 209



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 1 
 

 

1. Executive Summary 
 

Proposed Development Details: 
 
This report provides an Independent Review of a Financial Viability Appraisal in 
connection with: 

 

Proposed Development:  

Residential development of136 dwellings 
(varied) consisting of 122 houses, 14 
bungalows, allotment site and associated 
infrastructure. 

Subject of Assessment: 
Land Between Tadworthy Road and Golf 
Links Road, Westward Ho!, Northam, Devon. 

Planning Ref: 1/0490/2020/FULM 

Applicant:   NG Properties SW Ltd. 

Applicant's Viability Advisor: Belvedere Vantage Ltd 

 

 
 Non-Technical Summary of Viability Assessment Inputs 
 

Policy Compliant Inputs Agent 
DVS Viability 

Review 
Agreed 
(Y/N) 

Assessment Date December 2020 February 2021  

Scheme, Gross Internal 
Area, Site Area 

15,875 m², 7.17  
hectares 

15,875 m², 7.17 
hectares 

Y 

Development Period 50 months 40 months N 

Gross Development Value £43,003,064 £42,634,523 N 

Planning Policy / S.106 
Total  

£644,816 £644,816 Y 

Construction Cost inc. 
Prelims, External Works 
Total  

£34,491,874 £33,002,219 N 

Contingency 
3% build, 10% 
infrastructure 

3% build, 10% 
infrastructure 

Y 

Professional Fees 
7.5% build, 10% 
infrastructure 

6% build, 10% 
infrastructure 

N 

Finance Interest rates 
6% debit and 2% 
credit 

6% debit and 2% 
credit 

Y 

Other Fees 

Sales / Agency Fees 3% 2.5% N 

Legal Fees 
£600 per market 
 unit 

£600 per market 
unit 

Y 

Land Acquiring Costs 1.75% plus SDLT 1.75% plus SDLT Y 

Profit Target % 17.5% 17.5% and 6% N 

EUV  £173,300 £173,300 Y 

Benchmark Land Value  £1,329,750 £1,329,750 Y 

Page 210



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 2 
 

Viability Conclusion 
Planning Compliant 
Scheme 

Not viable Not viable Y 

Deliverable Scheme Potentially Potentially Y 

 
2  Introduction: 

 

 2.1 I refer to your instructions dated 2 December 2020 and my Terms of Engagement of the 
same date.  
 

 2.2 The opinion of the development viability of the proposed development scheme assessed 
is based on a review of the planning applicants/agents report dated December 2020.  
 

 2.3 Following my initial assessment and with the benefit of specialist quantity surveying 
advice, I have completed my viability assessment, and I am pleased to report to you as 
follows:  
 

 2.4 A copy of my Terms of Engagement dated 2 December 2020 is attached. 
 

 2.5 Identification of Client  
 
Torridge District Council 
 

 2.6 Purpose of Assessment  
 

It is understood that Torridge District Council Planning Department require an 
independent opinion on the viability information provided by Messrs Belvedere Vantage 
(BV) on behalf of the applicant in terms of the extent to which their financial viability 
assessment is fair and reasonable, and whether the assumptions made are acceptable 
and can be relied upon to determine the viability of the scheme.  
 

 2.7 Subject of the Assessment  
 
Land Between Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road, Westward Ho!, Northam, Devon  
 

3  Date of Assessment / Date of Report 

 
 3.1 The date of assessment is 12 February 2021.   

 
Please note that values change over time and that a viability assessment provided on a 
particular date may not be valid at a later date.   
 

4  Viability Methodology / Professional Guidance 
 

 4.1 The review of the applicant’s viability assessment has been prepared in accordance with 

the recommended practice set out in the National Planning Policy Framework; the NPPG 

on Viability (July 2018, updated May 2019, September 2019) and the Royal Institution of 

Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Professional Statement, Financial Viability in Planning 

(FVIP: Conduct and Reporting) (effective from 1st September 2019) and the RICS 

(FVIP) Guidance Note (1st Edition) (GN 94/2012), where applicable. 

 

Page 211



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 3 
 

 4.2 The Residual appraisal methodology is established practice for viability assessments. In 

simple terms the residual appraisal formula is: 

 

Gross Development Value less Total Development Cost (inclusive of S106 

obligations, abnormal development costs and finance) less Profit, equals the 

Residual Land Value. 

 
 4.3 The Residual Land Value is then compared to the Benchmark Land Value as defined in 

the Planning Practice Guidance on Viability. Where the Residual Land Value produced 

from an appraisal of a policy compliant scheme is in excess of the Benchmark Land 

Value the scheme is financially viable, and vice versa:  

 

Residual Land Value > Benchmark Land Value = Viable 

Residual Land Value < Benchmark Land Value = Not Viable 

 
 4.4 The appraisal can be rearranged to judge the viability of a scheme in terms of the 

residual profit, which is compared to the target profit: 

 

Residual Profit > Target Profit = Viable 

Residual Profit < Target Profit = Not Viable 

 

 4.5 For this case the DVS appraisal produces a Residual Land Value which is then 

compared to the Benchmark Land Value as defined in the Planning Practice Guidance 

on Viability. 

 

5  RICS Financial Viability in Planning Conduct and Reporting 

 

 5.1 In accordance with the above professional standard it is confirmed that: 

 

 5.2 In carrying out this viability assessment review the valuer has acted with objectivity 

impartiality, without interference and with reference to all appropriate sources of 

information.  

 

 5.3 The professional fee for this report is not performance related and contingent fees are 

not applicable.  

 

 5.4 The appointed valuer, xxxxxxxxx MRICS is not currently engaged in advising this local 

planning authority in relation to area wide viability assessments in connection with the 

formulation of future policy. 

 

 5.5 DVS are not currently engaged in advising this local planning authority in relation to area 

wide viability assessments in connection with the formulation of future policy 

 

 5.6 Neither the appointed valuer, nor DVS advised this local planning authority in connection 

with the area wide viability assessments which supports the existing planning policy. 

 

Page 212



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 4 
 

 5.7 DVS are employed to independently review the applicant's financial viability assessment, 

and can provide assurance that the review has been carried out with due diligence and in 

accordance with section 4 of the professional standard.  It is also confirmed that all other 

contributors to this report, as referred to herein, have complied with the above RICS 

requirements. 

 
6  Restrictions on Disclosure / Publication 

 
 6.1 The report has been produced for Torridge District Council only.  DVS permit that this 

report may be shared with the applicant and their advisors as listed above, as named 
third parties.  
  

 6,.2 The report should only be used for the stated purpose and for the sole use of your 
organisation and your professional advisers and solely for the purposes of the instruction 
to which it relates. Our report may not, without our specific written consent, be used or 
relied upon by any third party, permitted or otherwise, even if that third party pays all or 
part of our fees, directly or indirectly, or is permitted to see a copy of our report.  No 
responsibility whatsoever is accepted to any third party who may seek to rely on the 
content of the report. 
 

 6.3 Planning Practice Guidance for viability promotes increased transparency and 
accountability, and for the publication of viability reports. However,  it is has been agreed 
that your authority, the applicant  and their advisors will neither publish nor reproduce the 
whole or any part of this report, nor make reference to it, in any way in any publication. It 
is intended that a final report will later be prepared, detailing the agreed viability position 
or  alternatively where the stage one report is accepted  a redacted version will be 
produced, void of personal and confidential data, and that this approved document will 
be available for public consumption. 
 

 6.4 None of the VOA employees individually has a contract with you or owes you a duty of 
care or personal responsibility.  It is agreed that you will not bring any claim against any 
such individuals personally in connection with our services. 
 

 6.5 This report is considered Exempt Information within the terms of paragraph 9 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (section 1 and Part 1 of Schedule 1 to 
the Local Government (Access to Information Act 1985) as amended by the Local 
Government (access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 and your council is expected 
to treat it accordingly. 
 

7  Validity 
 

 7.1 This report remains valid for three months from its date unless market circumstances 
change or further or better information comes to light, which would cause me to revise 
my opinion.  
 

8  Limits or Exclusions of Liability 
 

 8.1 Our viability assessment is provided for your benefit alone and solely for the purposes of 
the instruction to which it relates.  Our viability assessment may not, without our specific 
written consent, be used or relied upon by any third party, even if that third party pays all 
or part of our fees, directly or indirectly, or is permitted to see a copy of our viability 

Page 213



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 5 
 

report.  If we do provide written consent to a third party relying on our viability 
assessment, any such third party is deemed to have accepted the terms of our 
engagement. 
 

 8.2 None of our employees individually has a contract with you or owes you a duty of care or 
personal responsibility.  You agree that you will not bring any claim against any such 
individuals personally in connection with our services. 
 

9  Confirmation of Standards 
 

 9.1 The viability assessment review has been prepared in accordance with paragraph 57 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, which states that all viability assessments 
should reflect the recommended approach in the National Planning Practice Guidance on 
Viability, (July 2018, updated May 2019 and September 2019). 
 

 9.2 The viability assessment review report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Professional Statement Financial Viability in Planning: Conduct and Reporting (effective 
from 1st September 2019). Regard has been made to the RICS Guidance Note “Financial 
Viability in Planning” 1st Edition (GN 94/2012), where applicable. 
 

 9.3 Valuation advice (where applicable) has been prepared in accordance with the 
professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors: RICS Valuation – 
Global Standards 2020 and RICS UK National Supplement, commonly known together 
as the Red Book. Compliance with the RICS professional standards and valuation 
practice statements gives assurance also of compliance with the International Valuations 
Standards (IVS). 
 

 9.4 Whilst professional opinions may be expressed in relation to the appraisal inputs 
adopted, this consultancy advice is to assist you with your internal decision making and 

for planning purposes, and is not formal valuation advice such as for acquisition or 
disposal purposes.  It is, however, understood that our assessment and conclusion may 
be used by you as part of a negotiation, therefore RICS Red Book professional 
standards PS1 and PS2 are applicable to our undertaking of your case instruction, 
compliance with the technical and performance standards at VPS1 to VPS 5 is not 
mandatory (PS 1 para 5.4) but remains best practice and they will be applied to the 
extent not precluded by your specific requirement. 
 

 9.5 Where relevant measurements stated will in accordance with the RICS Professional 
Statement 'RICS Property Measurement' (2nd Edition) and, the RICS Code of Measuring 
Practice (6th Edition). 
 

 9.6 The viability assessment has been prepared in accordance with the professional 
standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors: RICS Valuation – Global 
Standards and RICS UK National Supplement, commonly known together as the 
Red Book.  
  

 9.7 Compliance with the RICS professional standards and valuation practice statements 
gives assurance also of compliance with the International Valuations Standards (IVS). 
 

 9.8 As specifically requested by you, any residential property present has been reported 
upon using a measurement standard other than IPMS, and specifically Gross Internal 
Area has been used.  Such a measurement is an agreed departure from ‘RICS Property 

Page 214



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 6 
 

Measurement (2nd Edition)’.  I understand that you requested this variation because this 
measurement standard is how the applicant has presented their data, is common and 
accepted practice in the construction/ residential industry, and it has been both 
necessary and expedient to analyse the comparable data on a like for like basis. 
 

10  Conflict of Interest 
 

 10.1 In accordance with the requirements of RICS Professional Standards, DVS as part of the 
VOA has checked that no conflict of interest arises before accepting this instruction. It is 
confirmed that DVS are unaware of any previous conflicting material involvement and is 
satisfied that no conflict of interest exists. 
 

 10.2 It is confirmed that the valuer appointed has no personal or prejudicial conflict in 
undertaking this instruction. It is confirmed that all other valuers involved in the 
production of this report have also declared they have no conflict assisting with this 
instruction. Should any conflict or difficulty subsequently be identified, you will be advised 
at once and your agreement sought as to how this should be managed. 
 

11  Engagement 
 

 11.1 The DVS valuer has had limited discussions with the applicant’s viability adviser.  DVS 
Quantity Surveyor has engaged in more extensive discussions with the applicant’s 
specialist Quantity Surveyor regarding the submitted construction and infrastructure cost 
schedule. 
 

12  Status of Valuer 
 

 12.1 It is confirmed that the viability assessment has been carried out by xxxxxxxxxxx MRICS, 
Registered Valuer, acting in the capacity of an external valuer, who has the appropriate 
knowledge, skills and understanding necessary to undertake the viability assessment 
competently and is in a position to provide an objective and unbiased review. The valuer 
has been assisted by xxxxxxxxx MRICS, a Senior Quantity Surveyor. 
 

 12.2 As part of the DVS Quality Control procedure, this report and the appraisal has been 
peer reviewed by xxxxxxxxx MRICS, Registered Valuer, who has the appropriate 
knowledge, skills and understanding necessary to complete this task. 
 

13  Assessment Details 
 

 13.1 Location / Situation 
 

The subject proposed development site is located to the East of Westward Ho!, and 
comprises 2 parcels, with the main  proposed residential development area element 
bounded by Tadworthy Road to the South, Golf Links Road to the north, with established 
residential development to the East and West. An additional proposed allotments site lies 
to the North West of the main parcel, and to the North of Golf Links Road.  
 

 13.2 Description 
 
The site currently comprises largely undeveloped agricultural/amenity land.   
 

 13.3 Site Area  

Page 215



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 7 
 

 
The gross site is understood to extend to 7.174 hectares (17.73 acres) or thereabouts. 
The main proposed residential development area is understood to extend to 5.934 
hectares (14.66 acres) or thereabouts, and the proposed allotment site 1.24 hectares 
(3.07 acres) or thereabouts. 
 

14  Date of Inspection 
 

 14.1 As agreed with Torridge District Council, the property has not been inspected. 
 

15  Planning Policy / Background 
 

 15.1 The North Devon and Torridge local plan 2018 identifies the application site as allocated 
for residential development under Policy NOR04. 
 

16  Local Plan Policy Scheme Requirements / S106 Costs 
 

 16.1 The North Devon and Torridge local plan 2018 sets out (in policy ST18) the expected 
affordable planning contribution of 30% on-site units. It is understood that this provision   
should comprise a mix of 75% units for social rent, and 25% shared ownership. It is 
further understood that following consultation, a target mix of affordable units should 
comprise 10 no. 1 bed, 16 no. 2 bed, 14 no. 3 bed, and 2 no. 4 bed dwellings. 
 

 16.2 In addition to the required affordable housing contribution, it is understood that financial 
contributions are being sought under the Council’s policies in respect of education, off-
site highways, NHS, recreation, green infrastructure and legal fees.  These projected 
contribution requirement are further detailed in this report and attached appraisal 
summaries. 
 

 16.3 
 

It is contended that the proposed scheme is not financially viable in current market 
circumstances when providing the required contributions.  
 

17  Development Scheme / Special Assumptions 
 

 17.1 The following assumptions and special assumptions have been agreed with the Council 
and applied: 
 

 17.2  that your council's planning policy, or emerging policy, for affordable housing 
is up to date 

 

 17.3  There are no abnormal development costs in addition to those which the 
applicant has identified, and the applicant's abnormal costs, where 
supported, are to be relied upon to determine the viability of the scheme, 
unless otherwise stated in our report.  

 

 17.4 Scheme Floor Areas 
 
Measurements stated are in accordance with the RICS Professional Statement 'RICS 
Property Measurement' (2nd Edition), and where relevant, the RICS Code of 
Measuring Practice (6th Edition). 
 

Page 216



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 8 
 

 

 17.5 The residential development scheme assessed has been reported upon using a 
measurement standard other than IPMS, and specifically Gross Internal Area has been 
used.  Such a measurement is an agreed departure from ‘RICS Property Measurement 
(2nd Edition)’.  This variation has been agreed because this measurement standard is 
how the applicant has presented their data, is common and accepted practice in the 
construction/ residential industry, and it has been both necessary and expedient to 
analyse the comparable data on a like for like basis.  
 

 17.6 The proposed amended schedule of accommodation in respect of a 100%  market 
scheme is as follows: 
 

 17.7 
no. type beds GIA m² 

Total 
GIA m² 

  3 bungalow detached integral garage 2 82.2 246.6 

  11 bungalow detached integral garage 3 109 1199 

  21 2-storey detached integral garage 3 132.2 2776.2 

  18 2-storey mid-terrace 2 85.5 1539 

  18 2-storey end-terrace 3 96.9 1744.2 

  18 2-storey semi-detached 3 97 1746 

  23 2-storey detached integral garage 3 94.1 2164.3 

  4 3-storey detached integral garage 5 295 1180 

  3 3-storey detached integral garage 5 296.4 889.2 

  7 2-storey detached integral garage 4 152.2 1065.4 

  10 3-storey detached integral garage 3 143.4 1434 

  136    15,984 
   

In respect of a scheme delivering 30% affordable housing, 2 no. 2 bed terraced units, 2 
no. 3 bed end terraced units, and 2 no. 3 bed semi-detached units are proposed to be 
replaced by 10 no. 1 bedroom flats each extending to 45 m².  This proposal results in a 
revised 140 unit scheme, with a total GIA of 15,875 m².     
, ,  

 17.8 Mineral Stability 
 
The property is not in an underground mining area and a Mining Subsidence Report has 
not been obtained. 
 

 17.9 Environmental Factors Observed or Identified  
 
No ground investigations have been commissioned or carried out in connection with this 
report.  We are not aware that this land falls within an area at risk of subsidence caused 
by old mining activities and this report is made upon the assumption that none exist at 
the above site.  We have not been informed, nor arranged for any investigations to be 
carried out to determine, whether or not any other deleterious or hazardous material 
exists on or under the site, nor been informed of any contamination affecting the site, and 
it is assumed that no other abnormal ground conditions (including radon gas) or 
contamination exists. 
 

 17.10 The majority of the site is not shown on the Environment Agency Flood risk map as being 
liable to flooding. A small area to the North of the proposed allotment site however is 
included in an area designated as flood zone 3. 
 

Page 217



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 9 
 

 

 17.11 Tenure  
 
Assumed freehold with vacant possession.  
 

 17.12 Easements and Restrictions   
 
I have not been made aware of any specific easements or restrictions that affect the site. 
 

 17.13 It is assumed for the purposes of this assessment that mains services (with the possible 
exception of gas) will be available to the site. 
 

 17.14 Access and Highways  

 

It is understood access will be available from the made up and adopted Golf Links Road 

and Tadworthy Road. 
 

18  Development Scheme information 
 

 18.1 This report deals with each major input into the viability assessment of the proposed 
scheme. This assessment has been undertaken following my own detailed research into 
both current sales values and current costs. I have used a bespoke Microsoft Excel 
based toolkit to assess this scheme and a summary pages are attached at appendices A 
B and C to this report. 
 
I would summarise the inputs as follows: 
 

 18.2 Development Value 
 

 18.3 Private Housing Market Value: 

 
 18.4 In order to test financial viability, BV have assessed a proposed scheme of 140 

residential units, including 98 market dwellings, 32 for social rent, and 10 shared 
ownership.  A number of flats are included exclusively for affordable housing.  The 
remaining houses and bungalows have been valued on an unrestricted market basis as 
per the following schedule: 
 

 18.5 type beds GIA m² Unit value £ 
bungalow detached integral garage 2 82.2 £340,000 

bungalow detached integral garage 3 109 £395,000 

2-storey detached integral garage 3 132.2 £395,000 

2-storey mid-terrace 2 85.5 £245,000 

2-storey end-terrace 3 96.9 £280,000 

2-storey semi-detached 3 97 £280,000 

2-storey detached integral garage 3 94.1 £320,000 

3-storey detached integral garage 5 295 £737,500 

3-storey detached integral garage 5 296.4 £737,500 

2-storey detached integral garage 4 152.2 £470,000 

3-storey detached integral garage 3 143.4 £450,000 

      
 18.6 BV has calculated the market values of each unit type based on their own analysis, 

supported by the opinions of two local estate agencies, and surveyors.   

Page 218



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 10 
 

 
 18.7 I have considered all available evidence of the sales of properties in the vicinity of the 

proposed scheme.  There is a relative paucity of evidence of sales of new dwellings in 
the immediate area, and in the light of this I have also considered evidence of re-sales of 
existing stock.  When taking into account the stated quality and features of the proposed 
development, the results of my analysis suggests that the BV adopted unit values appear 
reasonably stated.  I haver therefore adopted the same in my assessments. 
 

 18.8  Affordable Housing Value: 

 
 18.9 In the light of your Authorities requirement for 30% of the scheme to comprise affordable 

housing, BV has assessed a scheme including a total of 140 units, with 42 as affordable 
dwellings, further divided as 32 for social rent (76%), and 10 shared ownership (24%). It 
is understood that BV has based the mix of unit types on discussions with your Authority 
     

 18.10 In regard to the projected completed unit value, BV has considered an offer in respect of 
the subject site from a Registered Provider (Westward Housing), and additionally sought 
advice from a specialist consultancy firm with expertise and local experience in regard to 
potentially achievable social housing unit values.  Based on advice received, BV have 
ascribed an optimistic averaged value equating to £1,400 per m² across all units on the 
assumption of a 75%/25% split of social rented  and shared ownership.  Based on the 
proposed mix of unit types as discussed with your Authority, the resulting completed 
value in respect of an overall 42 unit 30% provision amounts to £4,880,980 in their 
assessment.  
 

 18.11 I have carried out an investment valuation analysis and considered other recent cases in 
the District.  I believe that a generic rate of 35% of unrestricted value in respect of social 
rented units, and 65% in respect of shared ownership units represent fair averaged 
figures. The adopted rates equate to 36% of unrestricted value in respect of social rented 
units, and 71% in respect of shared ownership.  In the light of the similarity and more 
optimistic figures adopted by BV in their assessments, I have adopted the same in my 
assessments.   
   

 18.12 Grant funding: 
 

  In the absence of any evidence to the contrary, I have assumed that no grant funding to 
cross subsidise the affordable housing element of the scheme will be available.  Should 
a Registered Provider become involved in this scheme at any point and obtain such 
funding, this would be a material factor and may alter my conclusions.   
 

 18.13 Based on an assumed 140 unit scheme including required section 106 affordable 
housing element, the total gross development value in the BV assessment amounts to 
£43,003,064. On the same basis, the GDV in my assessment amounts to the marginally 
lower sum of £42,634,523. The difference is due to rounding in the respective 
assessments and amounts to 0.86%.   
 

 18.14 Development Costs: 
 

 18.15 Construction costs: 

 
 18.16 BV have obtained advice from Terrus Consulting (TC), an independent Quantity 

Surveying Practise.  DVS Quantity Surveyor xxxxxxxxxxx MRICS has reviewed this 

Page 219



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 11 
 

work, and has sought clarification in regard to requirement and quantities.  The resulting 
summary assessment and associated narrative is included at appendix D to this report. 
  

 18.17 The respective build cost assessments including garages and plot external works differ, 
with TC at £23,844,102 in respect of a 136 unit scheme, and DVS at £24,231,843, a 
difference of some £387,741 (1.6%) with the DVS assessment being the higher. 
 

 18.18 Site Infrastructure and ‘extra over’ costs: 
  

 18.19 TC have provided a costing in respect of projected site infrastructure and ‘extra-over 
(‘abnormal’) cost elements.  This has also been the subject of a review and assessment 
by the DVS Quantity Surveyor, and again the summary findings are detailed at appendix 
D to this report. 
   

 18.20 The respective abnormal and infrastructure cost assessments differ, with TC/BV at 
£10,647,772 in respect of a 136 unit scheme.  On the same basis, with matters excluded 
by the DVS Quantity Surveyor, our assessment is £8,770,376, a difference of some 
£1,877,456 (17.6%) with the DVS assessment being the lower. 
 

 18.22 Contingency: 
 

 18.23 BV have included a plot cost contingency of 3%, and adopted a TC infrastructure 
contingency allowance based on varying rates, totalling £1,028,653 and equating to 
9.9% on total assessed costs.   
 

 18.24 The adoption of a plot build contingency of 3% is considered reasonable in the context of 
a green field site. I have therefore adopted the same in my appraisals.  
  

 18.25 In respect of infrastructure cost contingency, TC has applied different rates (from 30% to 
0%) to different elements in their assessments.  In this particular case, the adopted 
contingencies average 9.9% of costs overall.  In the light of this, and following DVS 
Quantity Surveyor advice, I have mirrored this allowance in my appraisals. 
  

 18.26 Professional fees: 
 

 18.27 The applicants have adopted rates of 7.5% on build and 10% on abnormal costs in 
respect of professional fees.  They have also separately allowed a cost of £150,000 in 
respect of planning costs/fees.  In my recent experience, the 7.5% appears high, and I 
have adopted 6% and 10%.  I have also allowed for the same planning fees/costs 
allowance in my appraisals. 
 

Page 220



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 12 
 

 

 18.28 Section 106 costs other than affordable housing: 

 
 18.29 BV has included figures for required financial contributions in their assessments as 

follows: 
 

   136 unit scheme 140 unit scheme 
  Education £494,811 £494,811 
  Highways £177,193 £127,683 
  NHS £68,666 £68,666 
  Built recreation £320,455 £320,455 
  Green Infrastructure £600,708 £600,708 
  Council legal costs £1,500 £1,500 

  Total: £1,663,333 £1,613,823 
     

 18.30 I understand that the highways contribution has been reduced to a fixed sum of 
£124,035, and the education contribution to £451,610.  I further understand that the 
sums in respect of built recreation and green infrastructure have been excluded.  The 
sum in respect of NHS is now £69,171.  In the light of this, I have included a fixed overall 
section 106 financial contribution in my appraisals in the sum of £644,816.  I have 

assumed for the purposes of my assessment that this figure accurately reflects the 
current requirement.  If the sum is inaccurate or are likely to change, my assessments 
will need to be updated. 
 

 18.31 Sales costs: 

 
 18.32 BV has included marketing and agency costs of 3% of market unit values, legal costs at 

£600 per market unit in respect of market unit legal transfer fees, and £400 per unit in 
respect of legal transfer costs of the affordable housing to a Registered Provider.  In the 
light of my recent experience I consider the combined marketing and agency rate to be 
marginally high, and I have rather included 1% in respect of marketing, and 1.5% in 
respect of agency. In other respects, the sales costs allowances appear reasonable, and 
I have adopted the same in my assessments. 
 

 18.33 Development programme: 
 

 18.34 The applicants have assumed a development programme based on infrastructure 
provision of 4 months, followed by construction at a rate of 3.33 units per month based 
on a single phase.  Unit sales are assumed to occur at an average rate of 2.75 units per 
month. 
 

 18.35 In the light of my experience of similar scale schemes, and the phasing plan as detailed; 
I have assumed two concurrent phases, with a build rate matching a sales rate based on 
5 units per month from 2 outlets.  Sales are assumed to start and complete 6 months 
after construction.  I have allowed a pre-construction period of 4 months for planning and 
mobilisation in my appraisals. I have allowed a period of 8 months for construction of 
primary infrastructure. 
   

 18.36 Finance costs: 
 

 18.37 BV has included finance costs at 6% gross debit rate, and 2% on positive balances in 
their appraisal.  This is accepted as reasonable in my recent experience, and I have 

Page 221



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 13 
 

included the same in my appraisals. These rates have been applied to a detailed full 
scheme monthly profiled cash flow with an assumption of land acquisition at the outset. 
 

 18.38 Developers Profit:  
 

 18.39 BV have included developers return at a blended rate of 17.5% of GDV in their 
assessments, however setting the developers return as a residual against which to 
benchmark.  We normally base developers return on 6% of Affordable value, and a 
range of 17.5% to 20% of market GDV.  The most recent government guidance suggests 
an industry norm of between 15% and 20% on market GDV.  It is recognised that this 
site is challenging in terms of topography and abnormal costs, and arguably should 
justify a target profit level at the upper end of the range.  Notwithstanding this, I have 
applied 17.5% target profit level to the market gross development value element of the 
scheme, and 6% to the affordable element, which given the arguments concerning 
viability forwarded by the applicant effectively mirrors their approach.  
 

 18.40 Land acquisition costs: 
 

 18.41 The applicants have allowed for current SDLT rate, and 1.75% of the Benchmark Land 
Value in respect of professional fees in their assessment of acquisition costs.  This 
approach accords with our recent experience, and I have therefore adopted the same in 
my appraisals. 
 

19  Benchmark Land Value (BLV):  
 

 19.1 Following various appeal cases it is well established that viability assessments are 
carried out in order to calculate the residual land value that the scheme can afford which 
is then compared to the Benchmark Land Value (BLV) of the site taking account of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and The RICS Guidance note, Financial 
Viability in Planning, 1st edition. 
 

 19.2 The most up to date viability guidance published by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) in Sep 2019 states that:  
"To define land value for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value should be 
established on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land, plus a premium for 
the landowner. The premium for the landowner should reflect the minimum return at 
which it is considered a reasonable landowner would be willing to sell their land. The 
premium should provide a reasonable incentive, in comparison with other options 
available, for the landowner to sell land for development while allowing a sufficient 
contribution to fully comply with policy requirements.” 

 
 19.3 The applicants have adopted a Benchmark Land Value of £1,329,750, and this has been 

determined through the surveyors interpretation of the EUV plus methodology, with their 
opinion of EUV at £173,300, and a premium amounting to a multiplier in the region of 
7.5.   
 

 19.4 Existing Use Value (EUV) 
 

 19.5 The Applicant's EUV comprises:  
 
£173,300 
 

Page 222



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 14 
 

This is based on agricultural/amenity use at circa £24,710 per hectare and appears to 
have been based on an erroneous overall site measurement. The assumed applicant 
EUV from report narrative suggests the slightly higher sum of £177,300.  This is 
accepted as reasonable. 
 

 19.6 Premium (EUV) 
 
The Applicant's premium comprises an approximate multiplier of 7.5 against the 
assumed EUV, resulting in a BLV of £1,329,750 in their assessment. 
 

 19.7 Market Transactions 
 
The applicants have not compared the suggested BLV by reference to market evidence, 
nor provided any information in regard to any acquisition cost or negotiated price for the 
site, which is in several ownerships.  Due to the heterogeneity of development sites and 
consequent difficulty in direct comparison as recognised by the RICS, I agree with this 
approach.  In addition, I am aware that part of the site is in the ownership of your 
Authority.  I have not been made aware of any agreement as regards potential purchase 
price, and nor have I sought this information.  My assessment is based on established 
and recommended determinants of BLV in development viability testing.  
 

 19.8 Alternative Use Value (AUV) 
 
I recognise that given the planning allocation for the site, an Alternative Use Value 
approach may be applicable in this case. The AUV may be derived from a detailed 
development appraisal of a planning policy compliant permission and scheme proposal 
(on the assumption that it is the most financially efficient.  The resulting Residual Land 
Value (RLV) is indicative of an AUV, and can be compared to EUV with appropriate 
premium to incentivise development. Having carried out a development appraisal based 
on the inputs as described in this report, my assessed RLV is £nil, with an additional 
appreciable financial deficit.  On this basis, AUV does not in my view offer any excess 
over the EUV plus approach. 
 

 19.9 Benchmark Land Value Considerations 
 
The reasonableness of the applicant's £1,329,750 Benchmark Land Value has been 
considered against: 
i. the EUV of £177,300 
ii. the natural residual land value (indicative AUV) of the planning compliant scheme of 

£nil 
iii. Benchmark Land Values (BLV) as adopted and agreed between DVS and 

applicant’s advisors in other schemes involving ‘green field’ sites.  This evidence 
varies, but modally is close to £240,000 per hectare. 

 
 19.10 As the natural residual land value of the policy compliant scheme produces a figure 

which is less than the EUV, or offers an insufficient premium when compared to other 
valuation approaches, I agree with the applicant's conclusion that full policy cannot be 
provided.   
  

 19.11 Benchmark Land Value Conclusion 
 
The most recent National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) guidance suggests that 

Page 223



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 15 
 

benchmark land value (BLV) should be the minimum amount sufficient to incentivise an 
owner to release the land for development, and it is stressed that this should be Existing 
Use Value (EUV) plus, if appropriate in the circumstances, a premium.  This site is 
apparently in agricultural/amenity use, and I agree with the applicants that in the light of 
available local evidence it has an EUV in the region of £177,300.   
 

 19.12 In terms of the required premium, this is often expressed in a range of 10% to 30%, 
however most usually in cases where there is an appreciable EUV.  In the case of 
agricultural land, the EUV is relatively low, and available evidence suggests that a 
substantial premium is required to incentivise release of otherwise agricultural land for 
development.  This has been referred to in common parlance as a ‘life changing sum’.  
The suggested premium in such cases has been indicated by evidence and Homes and 
Community Agency Development Appraisal Tool guidance to be a circa 10 to 20 
multiplier over basic agricultural value. 
 

 19.13 It is recognised that in this case, the site is challenging in terms of topography, design 
requirements and abnormal costs. The adopted BLV represents a multiplier of circa 7.5 
times EUV, and this accords with a recently assessed applicant adopted green field BLV 
in the District.  It also accords with a number of assessments of ‘challenging’ green field 
site BLV in the wider region, and in my view represents a fair EUV plus premium as a 
minimum sufficient to incentivise release of the land for development as described in 
recent guidance.    
 

 19.14 I have therefore also adopted a BLV in my assessment of £1,329,750 against which to 
test financial viability.  This comprises an EUV of £173,300 plus a premium of 
£1,152,450.  It equates to £185,300 per hectare (£75,000 per acre).  It is in my view in 
excess of AUV.  
 

20  Viability Assessment 
 

 20.1 The current accepted methodology in development viability assessments is on the basis 
of current costs and values. Following professional guidance and best practise, I have 
undertaken an assessment of the proposed scheme having reviewed all the values and 
costs as set out above. 
 

 20.2 I have initially assessed the proposed 140 unit development scheme, reflecting planning 
policy required section 106 requirements (including 42 affordable housing units) as a 
starting point.  My appraisal summary sheet in this regard is attached at appendix A to 
this report. It shows that with the assumptions as stated above, the scheme generates a 
deficit in the region of -£6,151,000. 
 

 20.3 Given this finding of a lack of financial viability, I have sought to test the level of provision 
of on-site affordable housing that could in my view be viably provided in the suggested 
140 unit scheme.  My appraisal summary sheet in this regard is attached at appendix B 
to this report. It shows that with the assumptions as stated above, the scheme shows a 
lower but still significant financial deficit of circa -£2,523,000 with no affordable housing 
contribution, however with the other required section 106 contributions. 
 

 20.4 I have also assessed financial viability on the basis of an amended 136 market only unit 
scheme as suggested by the applicants.  This proposed scheme does not include flats. 
My appraisal summary sheet in this regard is attached at appendix C to this report. It 
shows that with the assumptions as stated above, the scheme shows a marginally 

Page 224



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 16 
 

smaller but still significant deficit of circa -£2,058,000 with no affordable housing 
contribution, however again with the other required section 106 contributions.  I also note 
that treating the developers return as a residual, in order to financially balance the 
developers profit will fall to 13.25% of gross development value. 
 

21  Conclusions 
 

 21.1 Following detailed analysis as set out in this report, I conclude that the majority of the 
inputs into the financial viability modelling as suggested by the applicants are fair, 
reasonable and have therefore been adopted in my assessments.  There are areas of 
divergence, although relatively minor and as detailed in this report. 
 

 21.2 The applicants have concluded that a proposed planning policy compliant 140 residential 
unit scheme returns a negative developers return, and is therefore both unviable and 
undeliverable.  
 

 21.3 Given this poor outturn, the applicants have tested a scheme of 138 dwellings, delivering 
7.2% or 10 affordable units, together with other required section 106 contributions.  
Whilst improved, this assessment demonstrates a developers return of circa 5% on 
blended gross development value, against a target of 17.5%. It is therefore also not 
considered financially viable. 
   

 21.4 The applicants also tested a 100% market unit scheme comprising 136 units, not 
including any flats.  In their analysis, this yields a residual developers return of circa 
7.18% of gross development value, which they again recognise as a sub-optimal below 
target return, indicating a lack of financial viability.   
 

 21.5 The applicants conclude that despite this apparent lack of financial viability, significant 
adjustment to build costs (10% reduction) and an improved gross development value 
(unit values increased by 5%) will result in a scheme that achieves normally accepted 
viability parameters.  
 

 21.6 Based on the outline proposed 140 unit scheme, and my appraisal summary at appendix 
A to this report, I agree with the applicants in that I conclude an appreciable deficit 
results, indicating that with industry standard assumptions, the scheme as presented is 
not financially viable or deliverable when contributing fully to required section 106 sums. 
 

 21.7 In the light of this finding, I have in common with the applicants sought to test what level 
of off-site affordable housing contribution could in my view be provided whilst maintaining 
scheme financial viability.  My conclusion is detailed in my appraisal summaries at 
appendices B and C to this report, and indicates that in my view, in order to render the 
scheme financially viable, the proposed affordable housing contribution would need to be 
removed completely, combined with a reduced developers return, which in the case of a 
proposed 136 unit scheme I calculate to be circa 13.25% against a more standard target 
of 17.5%.  
 

22  Sensitivity Analysis and Testing 
 

 22.1 As set out in the RICS Professional Standard 'Financial viability in planning: conduct and 

reporting' (effective from 1st September 2019), I have carried out sensitivity tests to test 

the robustness of the draft viability conclusion described above.  

 

Page 225



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 17 
 

 

 22.2 I have varied a number of the most sensitive inputs of the development appraisal relating 

to sales revenue, and base construction costs. I have adjusted these in upward and 

downward steps of 2.5% from the base conclusion which is shown as a scheme 

surplus/deficit in bold at the centre of the results table below:  

 
  Build Gross Development Value 

   10% 7.50% 5.00% 2.50% 0.00 -2.50% -5.00% -7.50% -10% 

  -10% £1,413,190 £347,327 £718,536 £1,784,399 £2,850,262 £3,916,125 £4,981,988 £6,047,851 £7,113,714 

  -7.50% £587,973 £477,890 £1,543,753 £2,609,616 £3,675,480 £4,741,343 £5,807,206 £6,873,069 £7,938,932 

  -5.00% £237,245 £1,303,108 £2,368,971 £3,434,834 £4,500,697 £5,566,560 £6,632,423 £7,698,286 £8,764,149 

  -2.50% £1,062,462 £2,128,325 £3,194,188 £4,260,051 £5,325,915 £6,391,778 £7,457,641 £8,523,504 £9,589,367 

  0.00% £1,887,680 £2,953,543 £4,019,406 £5,085,269 £6,151,132 £7,216,995 £8,282,858 £9,348,721 £10,414,584 

  2.50% £2,712,897 £3,778,760 £4,844,623 £5,910,486 £6,976,349 £8,042,213 £9,108,076 £10,173,939 £11,239,802 

  5.00% £3,538,115 £4,603,978 £5,669,841 £6,735,704 £7,801,567 £8,867,430 £9,933,293 £10,999,156 £12,065,019 

  7.50% £4,363,332 £5,429,195 £6,495,058 £7,560,921 £8,626,784 £9,692,648 £10,758,511 £11,824,374 £12,890,237 

  10% £5,188,550 £6,254,413 £7,320,276 £8,386,139 £9,452,002 £10,517,865 £11,583,728 £12,649,591 £13,715,454 

   Figures in red are negative 

    
 22.3 It can be seen that in order to ameliorate financial viability to the extent that the proposed 

scheme could sustain planning policy compliant contributions, gross development value 

would have to increase by a minimum of 7.5% and up to 10%, coupled with a reduction 

of build costs of by 7.5% to 10%.  Such adjustments are considered highly unlikely in the 

short to medium term. 

 

23  Comments and Recommendations:  

 
 23.1 I have concluded that the applicant’s contention that the 140 unit scheme as proposed 

cannot viably provide the required section 106 contributions is correct.   
 

 23.2 The applicant suggests that a 136 unit scheme comprising 100% market units with no 
affordable housing, however with other section 106 contributions is not financially viable 
but is deliverable on the basis that the developer will take an optimistic view that scheme 
costs can be engineered and completed unit values will improve, or otherwise that they 
will accept a much lower than industry standard level of developers return.  
 

 23.3 Based on my analysis, I agree with the contention that the proposed scheme cannot 
viably support the required affordable housing contribution. It would in my view be 
potentially deliverable however based on a nil provision of affordable housing (either on 
or off site), the proposed reduced section 106 contributions, and assuming a lower than 
standard developers return; however at a level above that which the applicants are 
considering as acceptable.   
   

 23.4 Given the sensitivity analysis findings above, if your Authority is minded to grant 
permission on the basis of less than policy required contributions, it is recommended that 
a time scale for delivery is agreed which if not met triggers a viability review. 
 

 23.5 Market Uncertainty 
 

 23.6 The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World Health 
Organisation as a “Global Pandemic” on the 11 March 2020, has impacted many aspects 

Page 226



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 18 
 

of daily life and the global economy – with some real estate markets experiencing 
significantly lower levels of transactional activity and liquidity.  As at the valuation date, in 
the case of the subject property there is a shortage of market evidence for comparison 
purposes, to inform opinions of value.  
 

 23.7 Our valuation of this property is therefore reported as being subject to ‘material valuation 
uncertainty’ as set out in VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards.  
Consequently, less certainty – and a higher degree of caution – should be attached to 
our valuation than would normally be the case.  For the avoidance of doubt, the inclusion 
of the ‘material valuation uncertainty’ declaration above does not mean that the valuation 
cannot be relied upon.  Rather, the declaration has been included to ensure 
transparency of the fact that – in the current extraordinary circumstances – less certainty 
can be attached to the valuation than would otherwise be the case.  
 

 23.8 
 

The material uncertainty clause is to serve as a precaution and does not invalidate the 
valuation.  Given the unknown future impact that COVID-19 might have on the real 
estate market and the difficulty in differentiating between short term impacts and long-
term structural changes, we recommend that you keep the valuation[s] contained within 
this report under frequent review. 
 

 

I trust this report adequately addresses your instructions.  Please let me know if you require 
any further analysis or any different permutations or clarification in regard to any aspect of the 
foregoing. 

 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
Xxxxxxxxxxxxxx MRICS 
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 
RICS Registered Valuer 
DVS 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
Xxxxxxxxxxx MRICS  
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 
RICS Registered Valuer  
DVS 
 

Page 227



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 19 
 

 
24. Appendices  

 

A Development Appraisal summary: planning required contributions  
B Development Appraisal summary: potentially viable 140 unit scheme 
C Development Appraisal summary: 136 market unit scheme 
D        DVS Quantity Surveyor report  
E        Terms of Engagement 

Page 228



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 20 
 

 
A Development Appraisal summary: planning required contributions 
 

Property

Ref: 1755806/WRG

Client Appraisal 

Date

Appraisal by 

Receipts:

No. Units Total GIA

140 m2

Private Residential 70% 98 12,395 £38,072,500 £38,072,500

Affordable Housing 30%

social rent 74% 31 2,427 £2,456,023

shared ownership 26% 11 1,053 £2,106,000

42 3480 £4,562,023 £4,562,023

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT VALUE £42,634,523

Development Costs

Acquistion Costs

Benchmark Land Value 7.17 gross hectares £185,357 per gross ha £0 £1,329,750

17.73 acres £75,012.89 per gross acre

Stamp Duty nil, 2% and 5% tranches £55,988

Agents and Legal Fees 1.75% £23,271

Planning fees £150,000 £1,559,008

Construction Costs:

DVS QS assessed plot build costs including garages and external works £24,238,323

Infrastructure £8,319,555

£450,821 £8,770,376

£33,008,699

Contingency build 3% abnormals 9.90% £1,595,417 £1,595,417

Professional Fees: build 6% infrastructure 10.00% £2,331,337 £2,331,337

Planning Contributions

Education £451,610

Highways £124,035

NHS £69,171

Built recreation £0

Green Infrastructure £0

Council legal costs £0 £644,816 £644,816

Disposal costs:

Marketing 1.00% £380,725

Agency 1.50% £571,088

legal costs market unit sales £600 per unit £58,800

legal sales fee affordable £400 per unit £16,800 £1,027,413

Finance: Interest credit rate 2.00% debit rate 6.00% £1,682,556 £1,682,556

Profit: market residential on GDV 17.50% £6,662,688

affordable on GDV 6.00% £273,721 £6,936,409

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS £48,785,655

PROFIT

Surplus/Deficit -£6,151,132

Torridge District Council

Land between Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road, Westward Ho!

Appendix A policy compliant scheme

11 February 2021WITHOUT PREJUDICE

As assessed by DVS QS

bonds, adoptions, commuted sums

DVS Property Specialists 
for the Public Sector 

 

 

Page 229



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 21 
 

 
B Development Appraisal summary: potentially viable 140 unit scheme 

Property

Ref: 1755806/WRG

Client Appraisal 

Date

Appraisal by 

Receipts:

No. Units Total GIA

140 m2

Private Residential 100% 140 15,875 £47,952,500 £47,952,500

Affordable Housing 0%

social rent #DIV/0! 0 0 £0

shared ownership #DIV/0! 0 0 £0

0 0 £0 £0

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT VALUE £47,952,500

Development Costs

Acquistion Costs

Benchmark Land Value 7.17 gross hectares £185,357 per gross ha £0 £1,329,750

17.73 acres £75,012.89 per gross acre

Stamp Duty nil, 2% and 5% tranches £55,988

Agents and Legal Fees 1.75% £23,271

Planning fees £150,000 £1,559,008

Construction Costs:

DVS QS assessed plot build costs including garages and external works £24,238,323

Infrastructure £8,319,555

£450,821 £8,770,376

£33,008,699

Contingency build 3% abnormals 9.90% £1,595,417 £1,595,417

Professional Fees: build 6% infrastructure 10.00% £2,331,337 £2,331,337

Planning Contributions

Education £451,610

Highways £124,035

NHS £69,171

Built recreation £0

Green Infrastructure £0

Council legal costs £0 £644,816 £644,816

Disposal costs:

Marketing 1.00% £479,525

Agency 1.50% £719,288

legal costs market unit sales £600 per unit £84,000

legal sales fee affordable £400 per unit £0 £1,282,813

Finance: Interest credit rate 2.00% debit rate 6.00% £1,661,799 £1,661,799

Profit: market residential on GDV 17.50% £8,391,688

affordable on GDV 6.00% £0 £8,391,688

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS £50,475,576

PROFIT

Surplus/Deficit -£2,523,076

Land between Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road, Westward Ho!

Appendix B 140 units: no affordable

11 February 2021WITHOUT PREJUDICE

As assessed by DVS QS

bonds, adoptions, commuted sums

Torridge District Council

DVS Property Specialists 
for the Public Sector 

 

 

Page 230



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 22 
 

C Development Appraisal summary: 136 market unit scheme 
 

Property

Ref: 1755806/WRG

Client Appraisal 

Date

Appraisal by 

Receipts:

No. Units Total GIA

136 m2

Private Residential 100% 136 15,984 £48,462,500 £48,462,500

Affordable Housing 0%

social rent #DIV/0! 0 0 £0

shared ownership #DIV/0! 0 0 £0

0 0 £0 £0

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT VALUE £48,462,500

Development Costs

Acquistion Costs

Benchmark Land Value 7.17 gross hectares £185,357 per gross ha £1,329,750

17.73 acres £75,012.89 per gross acre

Stamp Duty nil, 2% and 5% tranches £55,988

Agents and Legal Fees 1.75% £23,271

Planning fees £150,000 £1,559,008

Construction Costs:

DVS QS assessed plot build costs including garages and external works £24,231,843

Infrastructure £8,319,555

£450,821 £8,770,376

£33,002,219

Contingency build 3% abnormals 9.90% £1,595,223 £1,595,223

Professional Fees: build 6% infrastructure 10.00% £2,330,948 £2,330,948

Planning Contributions

Education £451,610

Highways £124,035

NHS £69,171

Built recreation £0

Green Infrastructure £0

Council legal costs £0 £644,816 £644,816

Disposal costs:

Marketing 1.00% £484,625

Agency 1.50% £726,938

legal costs market unit sales £600 per unit £81,600

legal sales fee affordable £400 per unit £0 £1,293,163

Finance: Interest credit rate 2.00% debit rate 6.00% £1,613,846 £1,613,846

Profit: market residential on GDV 17.50% £8,480,938

affordable on GDV 6.00% £0 £8,480,938

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS £50,520,160

PROFIT

Surplus/Deficit -£2,057,660

Torridge District Council

Land between Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road, Westward Ho!

appraisal: 136 unit scheme: no affordable

11 February 2021WITHOUT PREJUDICE

As assessed by DVS QS

bonds, adoptions, commuted sums

DVS Property Specialists 
for the Public Sector 

 

 

Page 231



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 23 
 

 

D        DVS Quantity Surveyor report  
 

Proposed Residential Development

Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road, Westward Ho
DV Order of Cost Estimate

CRAC No: 1755806

changes from DVS tab 4Q20

SUMMARY

GIFA 15,982                     m2

Communals -                          m2 15,982             m2 total

Submitted Costs DVS Difference % Difference

Build Cost

Development including external works £23,730,840 £24,231,843 £501,003 2.11%

Abnormals £8,195,904 £8,319,555 £123,652 1.51%

All Contingencies excluded

Valuer to Add back if required

Estimated Construction Cost at 4Q2020 31,926,744£           32,551,398£            624,654£           1.96%

£0.00 £0.00 ft2

Description

Build Cost including CSH, External Works, Prelims, 

OH&P per m²

Abnormals Cost including Prelims, OH&P per m2

Note: If percentage difference is 

greater than 5% for schemes less 

than £20m in value or 3% for 

schemes greater than £20m, 

please forward to QS Technical 

support prior to sending through to 

Valuer

Median

 
DVS QS cost appraisal Land between Tadworthy Road and Golf Links Road   
   
Please find attached my Development Appraisal, to be read in conjunction with my 
commentary below. 
  
1.0 General 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a review for the estimated construction costs 
supplied for the proposed development at the Tadworthy Road Site. 

1.2 The applicant has provided back up data and relies on a the Terrus Infrastructure Cost 
Report and Build Cost Report both dated November 2020 and prepared by Jonathan 
White. 

1.3 Briefly, the proposed development comprises the construction of 136 residential 
properties, together with associated externals, drainage and utilities. The scope of this 
report includes the associated Abnormal Costs, including land remediation.  

1.4 The attached Development Appraisal contains an independent assessment of the 
construction and abnormal costs, and compares this to the Terrus Infrastructure Cost 
Report and Build Cost Report. 

1.5 The assessment concentrates on construction costs only, 
and excludes Contingencies, Professional Fees, Site surveys and investigations, NHBC 
Certification, Section 106 contributions, Highway works bonds, Site value, Agents, legal 
and acquisition fees, Sales & marketing fees, or similar. 

  
2.0 Commentary on Developer’s Submission 

Page 232



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 24 
 

2.1 It is assumed that for the purposes of this exercise that the GIA provided by the Terrus 
Infrastructure Cost Report and Build Cost Report is correct and measured in accordance 
with the latest edition of the RICS Code of Measuring Practice. 

2.2 The applicant has provided an infrastructure and abnormal cost breakdown summary 
with sums for items such as remediation works, highways and drainage. Full details of the 
items are on the DVS tab of the Appraisal. The initial summary only included some items 
for which lump sums were shown for the item costs. On request further details were 
provided including quantities which were then used as a basis for costing the relevant 
infrastructure and abnormal items. Where items for utilities were included quotations from 
utility companies were provided. 

2.3 The applicant has a total cost of £31,926,744 (excluding VAT), which includes 
abnormal costs of £8,195,904 (excluding VAT). 

 

2.4 Generally I found the submission in support of costs was detailed enough to prepare 
costs for the proposed scheme, this included a detailed Accommodation Schedule as part 
of the Terrus Build Cost Report. The applicant provided build costs based upon an 
average of BCIS median quartile. I have used the same cost basis in my assessment, 
which has been split out in to detached, semi-detached, terraced houses and bungalows, 
with areas and numbers as advised by the applicant.  

  
3.0 VOA Assessment 

3.1 I estimate the scheme to cost £32,551,398 for the total scheme as described in 
paragraph 1.3 (excluding VAT), which include abnormal costs of £8,319,555 (excluding 
VAT). 

3.2 I would note that the Applicant and my valuation of the construction costs and 
abnormal costs are +£624,654 or 1.96% apart, mine being the higher costs.  

3.3 From the summary provided, it will be noted that my costs are higher for the build cost, 
and for the abnormal costs.  

3.4 It should be noted that we have used house types, numbers and areas, as provided in 
the Terrus Build Cost Report dated November 2020. 

3.5 It would appear that the submission uses a single rate for houses and a single rate for 
bungalows. I have used different rates for the different types of houses (terraced, semi 
and detached) and for the bungalows. I also made an allowance for garages as per the 
information provided in the Terrus Build Cost Report dated November 2020. 

4.0 VOA Assessment Commentary 

4.1 The base date for assessment purposes is at the 1Q 2021. 

4.2 The assessment utilises BCIS rates for other schemes of similar nature (where 
applicable) adjusted for location factor and base date as above. The BCIS rate adopted is 
the average of the median quartile. Rates were used for New Build, based on the last 5 
years and the location is the Torridge area on BCIS. 

4.3 The Areas used have been based on the Accommodation Schedule in the Terrus 
Build Cost Report dated November 2020. 

4.4 Please note that the Accommodation allowances in the Assessment may be subject to 
rounding errors. 

4.5 Code for Sustainable Homes – Level 3,4,5,6 allowance has not been included.  

Page 233



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 25 
 

4.6 Lifetime Homes Standards – an allowance has been made for LHS based on 
information in the Terrus Infrastructure Cost Report and Build Cost Reports dated 
November 2020. Jonathan White confirmed in his e-mail dated 10th February 2021 that 
these costs are for the carbon reduction changes. These are Building Regulation changes 
which are part of the 38% carbon reduction that is due to shortly. The same e-mail 
confirmed that the elevation enhancements are a planning obligation. 

4.7 An external works allowance of 16.7% for has been included. This is based upon a 
build-up of likely works and is considered a reasonable percentage addition for this type of 
scheme. Note that this excludes elements that the submission includes as abnormal 
costs, see note 2.2. 

4.8 Main Contractor Preliminaries and Overheads/Profit are included within BCIS rates 
at 12.5% and 4% respectively. 

4.9 There are items of abnormal works identified, I have provided my calculations on the 
DVA abnormal tab; please review for further details. Please be aware of any adjustments 
or omissions that are indicated. 

  
  
5.0 Other Cost Issues 

5.1 Professional Fees are excluded but I would consider that 5 - 10% being in the normal 
range for design fees. It is noted that the Developer’s assessment includes professional 
fees at 10%.  

5.2 Contingencies are excluded but I would consider 3-10% being the normal range. It is 
noted that the viability assessment includes these at 5%. 

  
I trust this proves acceptable, but please do not hesitate in contacting me should you have 
any queries. 
  

  

  

xxxxxxxxxxx MRICS |Senior Quantity Surveyor 

Built Environment and Mineral Surveyors 

E  @voa.gov.uk 

Whycliffe House - Green Lane - Durham - DH1 3UW 

Page 234



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
LDG31 (08.20) 

Private and Confidential 
 

Page 26 
 

 
E        Terms of Engagement 

 
 

Page 235



 
Committee Report – 1st April 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/1179/2020/ADV 

Registration date: 8 January 2021 

Expiry date:  5 March 2021 

Applicant:  Alverdiscott And Huntshaw Parish Council 
(Helen Bolton)  

Agent:   

Case Officer:  Kristian Evely 

Site Address:  Gammaton Road,  
Huntshaw,  
Devon, 
 

Proposal:  Installation of 2no. pole mounted free-standing 
signs 

Recommendation: Refuse 

 
 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 236

Agenda Item 7d



Reason for referral: 

 
This application was called-in by Cllr Lock so that members can consider the following:  
 
a) Wider public safety and associated safety benefits of the signage 
b) Impact on the landscape 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

LB/0179/2019 Repair and Maintenance to 
fingerpost sign at Gammaton 
Cross 

XPE 15.04.2019 

   

LB/0377/2020 Repairs to fingerpost XPE 19.06.2020 
       

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
This application relates to the installation of two signs on two separate sites along Gammaton Road. 
Sign one would be located roughly one kilometre to the east of Huntshaw Water adjacent to 'Twitchen 
Cross'. Sign 2 would be located roughly 1.75 kilometres to the west of Hunstaw Water by 'Gammaton 
Cross'.   
 
The signage would be 60cm wide x 80 cm tall and would be on a post 2.5 metres high. The posts will 
be installed within hedgebanks and not on the public highway. The signage includes a picture of an 
articulated lorry with a red strikethrough and reads "Artics no sat nav route through here". 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Huntshaw Parish/Town Council:  
No comments received on the date officer report. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
I can confirm that I have been in discussions with the Devon County Council Traffic Management 
Team regarding this matter given the type of signs that are being proposed as well as their location. 
They have advised me of the following points. 
 
In the first instance, I would point out that any signing or lining to be placed on the public highway 
should conform to The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016. This type of sign is not 
included within that document. 
 
I do appreciate that the land proposed for these signs is private. However, in the Traffic Signs Manual 
Chapter 1 it states: 
 
Traffic authorities should consider requiring the removal of any object or device erected privately on 
land adjacent to their roads which has the apparent or express intention of guiding, warning or 
directing road users. 
 
I would also add under Sections 69 and 70 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, the national 
authority has powers to ensure the removal of any unlawful or badly deployed traffic sign, object or 
device for the direction or guidance of people using the roads. 
 
As I result, I have to conclude that given the legislation available, the proposed signage causes an 
unacceptable distraction to motorists and I raise highway objections on this basis. 
 
Recommendation: Refuse for the following reason 

Page 237



 
The proposed sign would be likely to distract and confuse drivers and therefore create conditions of 
danger to all users of the road contrary to Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
The Environmental Protection Team has no objections. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
This will affect the setting of the listed post and if the large lorries get to this point then the signage 
needs to put up before this point. 
 
There is an issue with the proliferation of signs here as the County seem to be overlooking their 
responsibility in maintaining the fingerpost and just putting up an addition sign (which got hit) and 
needs more maintenance than the finger post. 
 
This signage is not in the right place and will cause more confusion. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  5  Number of letters of support:  2 
Number of representations received:  2 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
3rd party representation is summarised below: 
 
- The road surface condition and signage on this road is poor, whilst the number of heavy good 

vehicles has increased (leading to safety issues). 
- This section of road should be limited to a weight limit. 
- This application doesn’t go far enough. 
- The signage is in the correct place and should be at the start of the road (Bideford) 
- Increasing HGV’s are making the road dangerous.  
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031: 
 
DM05 (Highways); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM04 (Design Principles); DM08A 
(Landscape and Seascape Character);  
 
Government Policy and Guidance: 
 
Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The application must be determined in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. The National Planning Practice Guidance provides 
further guidance on the determination of applications for Advertisement Consent. Both documents 
identify that the key considerations for the Local Planning Authority are: 
 
1: Public Safety 
2: Amenity   
 

Page 238



In addition, Regulation 3 of the Advertisement Regulations 2007 requires that Local Planning 
Authorities take into account the provisions of the development plan, in so far as they are material. 
The mains consideration are discussed below: 
 
1: Public Safety: 
The Advertisement Regulations identify the factors relevant to public safety which include - 
 

"(i)the safety of persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or aerodrome 
(civil or military); 
 
(ii)whether the display of the advertisement in question is likely to obscure, or hinder the ready 
interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or aid to navigation by water or air; 
 
(iii)whether the display of the advertisement in question is likely to hinder the operation of any 
device used for the purpose of security or surveillance or for measuring the speed of any 
vehicle." 

 
Having regards to the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) Policy DM05 is relevant which 
notes: 
 

"(1) All development must ensure safe and designed vehicular access and egress, adequate 
parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highways users including 
cyclists and pedestrians. 
 
(2) All development shall protect and enhance existing public rights of way, footpaths, cycle 
ways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide new connections to 
these routes where practical to do so." 

 
Devon County Council were consulted on this application and raise objections to the scheme. In 
particular because the signage does not conform to The Traffic Signs Regulations and General 
Directions 2016 yet has the intention of guiding/directing road users. As a result, the signage has the 
potential to confuse and distract drivers.  
 
The Planning Officer does empathise with the Parish Council and Parishioners who are proposing the 
signage and understands that HGV movements along narrow country roads can be a nuisance (and 
in some circumstance may cause highways danger). Nonetheless, the Planning Officer has reviewed 
Devon County Council's collision data between the proposed signs and notes there was only one 
recorded collision in the last 5 years, which is recorded as a 'slight accident' and only involves one 
vehicle. Therefore, whilst the current situation may not be ideal, there are only limited collisions 
recorded.  
 
In addition, the Planning Officer concurs with the recommendation of the Highways Authority, and 
considers that a driver cannot be expected to follow a road sign which attempts to direct road users, 
yet does not feature in any documentation regarding traffic safety (such as the Traffic Signs 
Regulations, Department For Transport’s 'Know Your Traffic Signs', or driving theory test supporting 
documentation) 
 
Of equal concern to the Planning Officer is the location of 'Sign 2'. If a lorry driver with no prior 
knowledge of this highway started driving this route from Bideford, they would see the sign too late. If 
the lorry driver were then to interpret this sign as 'you shall not pass', a very difficult and dangerous 
manoeuvre would need to be undertaken at the junction of Gammaton Cross (unless they were to 
reverse 2.5 kilometres back to Bideford). This would be more dangerous than simply driving through 
Huntshaw Water. This view is supported by 3rd party representation (albeit the comment is generally 
supportive of the signage) and the Councils Conservation Officer. This also highlights why correct and 
official road signage is important so that it is not left to interpretation. 
 
 

Page 239



It should also be pointed out that these signs will not prevent lorries from taking this route. If members 
of the public were to interpret these signs as such, it may lead to additional complaint and conflict 
between residents and users of the highway. In other words, these signs will not be the solution to an 
ongoing problem.  
  
For the reasons given above, it is recommended that the signage is refused on public safety grounds.  
 
Amenity: 
As set out in the Advertisement Regulations, the factors relevant to amenity include: 
 

“the general characteristics of the locality, including the presence of any feature of historic, 
architectural, cultural or similar interest” 

 
In relation to planning policy, policies ST04 (improving the quality of development) and DM04 (design 
considerations) of the NDTLP are relevant. These which require new developments to be well related 
to their surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to be sympathetic to 
the character and appearance of the local area. In addition, DM08A relates to the protection of 
landscape character and should be considered. 
 
The proposed advertisements appear as highways signs on/nearby existing junctions. In the opinion 
of the Planning Officer, the signs will add additional clutter into this rural location, however, on its own 
this harm would not warrant a reason for refusal.  
 
It also needs to be mentioned that sign 2 is nearby the Grade II Listed Gammaton Cross Fingerpost 
(approximately 35 metres away). Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP, and Part 16 of the NPPF, 
require that great weight is given to the conservation of heritage assets, with any harm caused to the 
heritage asset or its setting to be outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. 
 
In this case the Council’s Conservation Officer was consulted on the scheme and raises objection to 
the scheme as it impacts on the setting of the Listed Signpost (as well as being in the wrong place).  
 
Thus, because the proposed signage impacts on the setting of a listed structure, is unnecessary, and 
does not create public benefit (if anything it is harmful) the proposal does not comply with ST15 or 
DM07.   
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed advertisements are considered to be contrary to the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 and policies DM05, DM07 and ST15 of the 
NDTLP due to the potential impact on public safety, and the impact on the setting of the listed 
signpost. Refusal is recommended.  
 
Other considerations: 
This proposal includes the installation of posts within a hedgerow. If members are minded to approve 
this application it is recommended that an informative is included within any decision notice, advising 
the applicants of their legal responsibilities to protect wildlife, as set out in the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Recommendation 

 
REFUSE for the following reasons:  
 
 1         The proposed signage would be likely to distract and confuse drivers and therefore create 

conditions of danger to all users of the road. In addition, the location of 'Sign 2' may result in 

Page 240



unsafe manoeuvring of an articulated vehicle. As such, the proposal is considered contrary to 
The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007, 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP, and the Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
 2         The proposed signage impacts on the setting of the Grade II listed Gammaton Cross 

Fingerpost and adds unnecessary and additional signage clutter to the area around 
Gammaton Cross without any significant public benefit. Therefore, the proposal is contrary to 
policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP. 

 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

Location Plan  07.01.2021 
   

Sign 1 Location  07.01.2021 
   

Sign 2 Location  07.01.2021 
   

Signage Details  16.12.2020 
  

 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
            
The applicant entered into pre-application discussions where key issues were identified. The 
documents submitted have failed to address the issues raised at a pre-application stage therefore no 
further discussion was deemed necessary at application stage, as these issues has not been 
adequately addressed. 
 

Page 241



 
Committee Report – 1st April 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/1134/2020/FUL 

Registration date: 8 December 2020 

Expiry date:  2 February 2021 

Applicant:  Mr Tony Robinson  

Agent:  Ian Coote Architecture 

Case Officer:  Mr Peter Stapley 

Site Address:  Appletree Cottage,  
Chope Road,  
Northam, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 3QE 

Proposal:  Alterations & extensions to existing dwelling 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 242

Agenda Item 7e



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been called-in by Cllr Leather for the following reasons: 
 
‘What was a small 2-bed bungalow is now proposed to be a large 4-bed two storey house.  Scale and 
massing with potential overlooking and loss of amenity for neighbouring dwellings.  Full Ecological 
report needed to assess wildlife on site. Rather than alterations and extensions, it is to all intents and 
purposes, a new build.’  
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0015/1985 ERECTION OF 
REPLACEMENT DOMESTIC 
GARAGE 

PER 25.02.1985 

     

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
The application site (Appletree Cottage) is located within the development boundary of Northam, 
which is designated as a ‘Main Centre’ in the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP).  
The site does not fall within any allocated land designation and is located approximately 100 metres 
to the west of Northam’s Conservation Area and the closest protected heritage assets.  
 
The application site measures approximately 0.12 hectares and consists of a detached bungalow with 
a garage and off-street parking to the front of the property and the main private amenity space to the 
rear.  The existing bungalow has a floor area of approximately 136 square metres and is of the 
architectural design typical of the mid-late 20th Century.   
 
The site is located within a residential area known as ‘Chope Road’, and therefore is neighboured by 
residential properties to the north, south and west; with the main access from the unclassified 
highway to the east. In addition to this, the application site falls within a Zone 1 Flood Risk and 
therefore it has less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river flooding and is considered at low risk of 
flooding. 
 
Proposed Development 
The application seeks full planning permission for the redevelopment of the existing bungalow, 
including extension to the front and rear and a first-floor extension.  As a result of the proposed works, 
the dwelling will measure approximately 13.5 metres in width by 15.5 metres in length, with a total 
floor area of approximately 378 square metres, providing a larger living accommodation and four 
bedrooms.  The proposed dwelling will have a maximum ridge height of 7.6 metres with an eaves 
height of 5 metres.  
 
The dwelling will be of a contemporary design and be constructed with the following materials: painted 
rendered masonry; natural slate roof tiles; and grey uPVC windows. 
 
It should be noted that an original scheme was submitted to the local planning authority, which 
included the provision of two additional floors and would have measured 13.5 metres in width by 15.5 
metres in length, with a total floor area of 553 square metres.  The previous scheme proposed a ridge 
height of 9.2 metres with an eaves height of 6.4 metres.  The revised scheme was submitted after 
discussions with the agent, where concerns were raised with regards to the scale of the proposal and 
the potential impact to the amenities of the neighbouring properties.  
 
 

Page 243



Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Town Council:  
Recommend approval subject to no overlooking. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
No observations.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections in principle. 
Due to the close proximity of existing dwellings, there is the potential for detriment to amenity from the 
construction works associated with the propose development if control measures are not in place. 
Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition 
of a condition restricting construction works and site deliveries to 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to 
Friday and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays only with no works permitted on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays in order to protect residential amenity.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  12  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  11 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  11  

 
The public representations, during the initial consultation period, are summarised below: 
Objection Comments 

• Loss of privacy; 

• Overlooking; 

• Loss of light; 

• Overbearing Impact; 

• Out of character (scale); 

• Impact on wildlife and ecology; and 

• Land ownership 
 
The public representations, during the re-consultation period, are summarised below: 
Objection Comments 

• Overlooking; 

• Out of character (scale); 

• Loss of light; 

• Overbearing impact; and 

• Extent of works. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST06 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); ST08 (Scale and 
Distribution of New Development in Northern Devon); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST14 (Enhancing 
Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM04 
(Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 (Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity); DM25 (Residential Extensions and Ancillary Development); NOR (Northam Spatial 
Vision and Development Strategy) 
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981)  
 

Page 244



 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning consideration for this application are: 

1. Principle of Development; 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance; 
3. Impact on Amenity; 
4. Access, Parking and Highway Safety; 
5. Ecology;  
6. Other Matters; and 
7. Conclusion. 

 
1. Principle of Development 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 states that key consideration in the 
determination of a planning application is the development plan.  Applications should be determined 
in accordance with the development plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise.  
For the purpose of the development plan the statutory development plan is comprised of the North 
Devon & Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (NDTLP). 
 
In planning terms, the site is located within the development boundary of Northam and therefore is 
guided by Policy ST06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP).  The policy states that 
development will be supported within the development boundary of the 'Main Centres'.  The policy 
supports appropriate levels of growth that will increase the towns' capacities to increase self-
containment, to meet their own needs and those of surrounding communities where such is sought 
through the local vision.    
 
Policy DM25 offers broad planning policy support for ancillary development and extensions for 
residential properties, beyond which are enabled through permitted development, as long as it meets 
three tests: 

(a) The form, scale, setting and design of the proposal respects the existing development, 
its context, setting and surroundings; 

(b) Adequate residential amenity space and parking provision being maintain; and 
(c) There being no significant adverse impact on the amenity of the occupants of 

neighbouring properties. 
 
Northam Town Council were consulted during the application process and recommended that the 
application be approved, subject to no overlooking.  
 
As stated above, the application site is located within the development boundary of Northam 
(including Appledore and Westward Ho!), therefore the proposal for alterations and significant 
extensions to the existing residential property are considered acceptable in principle under these 
policies, providing there is compliance with the other material planning considerations.  
 
Notwithstanding the above position, after assessing the history of the site the permitted development 
rights remain intact.  Consequently, the existing bungalow could be enlarged by an additional storey 
on the topmost storey of the dwellinghouse, to a maximum height of 8.8 metres under permitted 
development, subject to the development meeting the criteria as set out in Class AA of The Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) (Amendment) (No. 2) Order 2020 
(GPDO). 
 
The proposed development which is the subject of the application would not comply with the criteria 
as the additional storey would not be immediately above the topmost storey and the materials used in 
the exterior would be materially different to those used in the construction of the exterior of the 
existing dwellinghouse.  
 

Page 245



However, the 2017 Court of Appeal Judgement (Mansell Vs Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council 
[2017] EWCA Civ 1314) clarified when a fall-back development may be a material planning 
consideration for an alternative development.  The basic principle of the fall-back position is that for a 
prospect to be a real prospect it does not have to be probable or likely, a possibly will suffice. Given 
discussions with the agent during the pre-application enquiry, the intent to make use of permitted 
development rights available has been established. 
 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
The Local Plan policies on design are relevant - Policy ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development) 
and Policy DM04 (Design Principles), which both aim to achieve high quality, inclusive and 
sustainable design.  
 
Policy ST04 supports development proposal that achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable 
design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places.  Design will be based on a clear process 
that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding 
area taking full account of the principles of design found in Policy DM04. 
 
Policy DM04 supports developments with good design and the policy seeks to guide overall scale, 
density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials, access and appearance of new developments.  
It seeks not just to manage land use but support the creation of successful places and respond to the 
challenges of climate change. The policy lists 13 design principles that proposals must meet in order 
to be supported by the policy. 
 
Policy DM25 supports the residential extensions provided the form, scale, setting and design of the 
proposal respects the existing development, its context, setting and surroundings. 
 
The NPPF also strongly emphasises the need for well-designed places, and Part 12 is solely 
dedicated to this aim.  Paragraph 124 of the NPPF notes 'the creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development proves should achieve. Good design is 
a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work, and helps 
make development acceptable to communities'.  Part 12 of the framework, lists 6 key design 
principles that are required to be met in order to demonstrate the design is of high quality.   
 
In addition to this, the National Design Guide is considered to be the most up to date national 
guidance in relation to design.  The design addresses the question of how we recognise well-
designed places and outline and illustrates priorities providing ten characteristics that should be 
considered in any forthcoming design and decision making. 
 
The application site currently consists of a detached, two bed, bungalow with a detached garage 
within a sizeable building plot.  The architectural style is typical of a mid-late 20th Century bungalow.  
The design is not considered to be of relatively high quality and there is no heritage or special 
architectural interest in the building.  In addition to this, the built form of the surrounding area exhibits 
a variety of architectural styles, forms and housing types. As such, it cannot be argued that the 
surrounding area has any local distinctiveness, key characteristics or special qualities. 
 
The existing building footprint sits forward from the building line of the neighbouring property, known 
as ‘Heathfield’ and is at a higher ground level than the adjacent highway. The site benefits from a high 
boundary hedge along the north and east boundary. 
 
The proposal is for the redevelopment of the existing bungalow, including extension to the front and 
rear and a first-floor extension.  As a result of the proposed works, the dwelling will measure 
approximately 13.5 metres in width by 15.5 metres in length, with a total floor area of approximately 
378 square metres, providing spacious living accommodation and four bedrooms.  The proposed 
dwelling will have a maximum ridge height of 7.6 metres with an eaves height of 5 metres.  
 
The dwelling will be of a contemporary design and be constructed with the following materials: painted 
rendered masonry; natural slate roof tiles; and grey uPVC windows. 
 

Page 246



A number of the public representations have been received objecting to the proposed scheme. More 
specifically, concerns were raised regarding the impact of the proposed two-storey dwelling on the 
character and appearance of the area. 
 
The proposed design is considered to be a more modern addition to the building fabric of the 
surrounding area.  However, as previously stated, there is a range of architectural styles, ages and 
housing types within the vicinity and therefore a two-storey dwelling cannot be said to be out of 
context with the surrounding area. 
 
The proposed development is considered to be appropriately designed in relation to the context of the 
surrounding area and proposal would not result in an overdevelopment of the site with adequate 
levels of private amenity space being retained to the rear.  
 
Given the elevated position of the dwelling, it is considered that the proposal would increase the 
presence of the built form on the street scene.  However, the dwelling is located approximately 22 
metres from the highway and although it is positioned forward of the neighbouring property, the ridge 
line is considerably lower and therefore the proposed dwelling would be seen in the context of the 
wider built form and would not be seen as an overly dominant or alien feature in the street scene. 
 
As such, the design and form are considered to be appropriate when seen against the scale of the 
application site and its surrounding context, and as a result is considered to be compliant with policies 
ST04, DM04 and DM25 of the NDTLP.  In addition to this, the proposed development is considered a 
betterment to what could be achieved in the fall-back position of an additional storey, under Class AA 
of the GDPO. 
 
3. Impact on Amenity 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 

(a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; 
and 

(b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result 
of the existing or allocated uses. 

 
Policy DM04 also aims to ensure the amenities of existing and future neighbouring occupiers are 
safeguarded. Policy DM25 also notes that the extension of a residential dwelling will be supported as 
long as there is no significant adverse impact on the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring 
properties.  
 
DM02 of the NDTLP, states that development will only be supported where it does not result in 
unacceptable impacts to: 

(a) Atmospheric pollution by gas or particulates, including smell, fumes, dust, grit, 
smoke and soot; 

(b) Pollution of surface or ground water including rivers, canals, other watercourses, 
water bodies, wetlands, water gathering grounds including catchment areas, 
aquifers, groundwater protection areas, harbours, estuaries or the sea; 

(c) Noise or vibration; and 
(d) Light pollution where light overspills on to areas not intended to be lit.  

 
In addition to this, one of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  
 
Part H1 of the National Design Guide states that ‘good design promotes quality of life for the occupant 
and users of buildings.  This includes function […] comfort, safety, security, amenity, privacy, 
accessibility and adaptability.’ 
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection team were consulted during the application process and had 
no objections to the principle of the development but commented ‘due to the close proximity of 
existing dwellings, there is the potential for detriment to amenity from the construction works 

Page 247



associated with the propose development if control measures are not in place. Should planning 
consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of a condition 
restricting construction works and site deliveries to 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0800 to 
1300 hours on Saturdays only with no works permitted on Sundays and Bank Holidays in order to 
protect residential amenity.’ 
 
The application site is located within the residential area for Northam and is neighboured by 
properties immediately to the north, south and west of the site.  Northam Parish Council 
recommended that the application is approved, subject to overlooking. In addition to this, a number of 
public representations were received from the neighbouring properties which raised concerns with the 
potential loss of privacy from overlooking; loss of light from overshadowing; and the overbearing 
impact of the development. 
 
The proposal includes a first-floor extension, increasing the ridge height of the dwelling to 
approximately 7.6 metres (+2 metres) and an eaves height to 5 metres (+2.75 metres).  The proposal 
provides spacious living accommodation on the ground floor and four bedrooms at first floor.   
 
The south elevation is considered the most sensitive elevation with regards to the neighbouring 
properties, and includes three windows at first floor level. The proposed dwelling is located forward of 
the building line of Heathfield and therefore the first-floor windows will overlook the front garden and 
driveway of the property.  With that being said, two of these windows are located within the en-suite 
bathrooms and are to be frosted to maintain privacy, while the third window is located within bedroom 
four.  Although the proposed window would overlook the neighbouring front garden and driveway, the 
main private amenity space for the neighbouring property is to the rear and therefore the introduction 
of the first-floor window in the bedroom is considered acceptable and would not significantly harm the 
amenities of the neighbouring property. 
 
Concerns were also raised from the properties to the north with regards to the potential 
overshadowing, overlooking and overbearing impact of the proposed development. The existing site 
benefits from a well-established high boundary hedge along the north boundary and the proposal 
seeks to retain this.  Additionally, the properties and ground level to the north sits at approximately 1.9 
metres above the ground level of the application site.  
 
Immediately to the north of the dwelling is the domestic garage of 10 Bay View Court and therefore 
any overshadowing will not harm living accommodation associated with this property. The rear 
elevation and private amenity space for 11 Bay View Court does directly adjoin the north boundary of 
the site.  A contextual site section was provided in support of the application which demonstrates the 
proposed development would fall well within the 25-degree angle and given the existing high 
boundary hedge, the proposal would not be an overly dominating feature.  Consequently, it is 
considered that the proposal would not significantly harm the amenities of this neighbouring property 
from overshadowing. 
 
The rear elevation does introduce a number of window openings at first floor level and therefore it 
would potentially increase the level of overlooking to the rear amenity spaces of the neighbouring 
properties to the north.  With that being said, the rear amenity spaces already have some level of 
overlooking from adjacent properties in Bay View Court and any overlooking between the rears of 
these dwellings would be an angle. Furthermore, the site benefits from an extensive boundary hedge 
and tree line along the north with Bay View Court and it is recommended that a condition be included 
to ensure this boundary is retained in its current form. The main outlook from the property is 
considered to be west into the rear garden of the application site and the proposed use of the rooms 
(bedrooms) are such that it is not considered to result in a significant harmful increase in the level of 
overlooking. In addition, the closest residential properties to the east and west are approximately 46 
metres and 67 metres, respectively. Given the sufficient distance between the properties it is 
considered that the proposal would not significantly impact these properties from overlooking.  
 
In light of the above, the impacts of the proposed development are not considered to be significantly 
detrimental to visual or residential amenity and would be suitably designed for the intended purpose. 
As such the development is in accordance with policies DM01, DM04 and DM25 of the NDTLP. 

Page 248



 
 
4. Access, Parking and Highways 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. In addition, Paragraph 110 notes that 
development should minimise the scope for conflict between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, 
respond to local character and design standards, allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access 
by service and emergency vehicles. 
 
Policy ST10 of the NDTLP, sets out the transport strategy for Northern Devon.  It aims to reduce the 
environmental and social impact of transport by ensuring that access to new developments is safe 
and appropriate. 
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP relates to highways and states: 

(1) All development must ensure the safe and well-designed vehicular access and 
egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of 
all highway users including cyclists and pedestrians. 

(2) All development shall protect and enhance public rights of way, footways, 
cycleways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide new 
connections to these routes where practical to do so. 

 
In addition to this, Policy DM06 of the NDTLP relates to parking provision and states: 

(1) Development proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and range 
of parking provision to meet anticipated needs, having regard to: 

(a) Accessibility and sustainability of the site; 
(b) Availability of public transport; 
(c) Provisions of safe walking and cycle routes; and  
(d) Specific sale, type and mix of development. 

(2) Proposals must encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport through 
careful design, layout and integration of the existing built form. 

 
The existing vehicle parking and turning provision for the dwelling is to the front of the property, within 
the detached garage and sizeable driveway.  The proposal does not impact on the existing parking or 
highway access and would not result in a significant increase in volume of traffic to the site. 
 
Furthermore, the application site is considered a sustainable urban location with many of the desired 
services and access to public transport routes within walking distance, as defined by the National 
Design Guide. 
 
In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development would not result in a severe 
cumulative impact on the road network or highway safety and therefore is in accordance with Policies 
ST10, DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP. 
 
5. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within NDTLP through Policies DM08 and ST14 which state that all developments must 
ensure that the importance of habitats and designated sites are taken into account.   
 
The local planning authority also has a duty under Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006 to have regard to biodiversity in exercising its functions. This duty 
includes the requirement to have regard to protected species.  
 
Development proposals should avoid adverse impacts on existing features as a first principle and 
enable net gains by designing biodiversity features and enhancements and opportunities for 

Page 249



geological conservation alongside new developments, however where adverse impacts are 
unavoidable they must be adequately and proportionately mitigated. 
 
The public representations received raised concerns about the potential harm to wildlife and ecology 
as a result of the proposed works. Originally, the application was not supported by a full ecological 
impact assessment, hence the call-in reason requesting a ‘full Ecological report needed to assess 
wildlife on site’.  
 
Subsequently, a Phase 1 bat and nesting bird survey report was carried out by Devon and Cornwall 
Ecology and a report submitted in support of the application was received on the 24th February 2021. 
The report identified a small number of features with limited potential for bats. Given the nature of 
these features it was considered unlikely bats or bat roosts are present and no phase 2 emergence 
surveys are required. Additionally, the proposed development will also require the removal of areas of 
ornamental, introduced shrubs. While these plants comprise common and widespread garden species 
of low ecological value, they do also provide potential nesting opportunities for birds. 
 
The report includes a series of recommendations as a precautionary approach, these 
recommendations are outlined in Section 5 of the report.  Consequently, providing the proposal is 
carried out in line with the mitigation recommended, it is not considered the development would result 
in any significant adverse impacts to any protected habitats or species. As such, the proposed 
development is considered to be in accordance with the above legislation and policies ST14 and 
DM08 of the NDTLP. 
 
6. Other Matters 
A number of objection comments have been received by the Council, in which some of the concerns 
raised will not have been addressed previously in this report. The following section will attempt to 
clarify these matters.  
 
Land Ownership 
Concerns were raised by the neighbouring property, with regards to the accuracy of the red outline on 
the initially submitted block plan and location plan.  After discussions with the agent, it was agreed 
that the plans were inaccurate and revised plans were submitted illustrating the true ownership of the 
land.  
 
Extent of Works 
Concerns were raised with regards to the extent of works to be undertaken and whether the proposed 
works would go beyond what is considered an extension and alteration. While it is noted that the 
proposed works are significant the Council considered the description of works appropriate at the 
validation stage.  The provision of an additional storey with associated engineering works can be 
considered an enlargement to an existing dwellinghouse and, in any case, the principle of a 
replacement dwellinghouse in this location would be considered acceptable and the same material 
planning considerations would apply.  As such, it was not considered necessary for the applicant to 
resubmit the application or amend the description of development.    
 
7. Conclusion 
The proposed development is considered to result in an acceptable impact on the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area; would not result in a harmful impact on the amenities of the 
neighbouring properties; provides suitable access, parking and turning; and the development would 
not result in a harmful impact on protected species.  
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
 
 
 

Page 250



Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
        
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                                                                              
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
 3 The operating hours of construction works, including deliveries, shall be restricted to Monday 

to Friday 0700 to 1900 hours and Saturday 0800 to 1300 hours with no works permitted on 
Sunday or Bank Holidays. 

                       
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
 4 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015, (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no 
development of the types described in Parts 1 and 2; of Schedule 2, other than that hereby 
permitted shall be carried out without the further grant of planning permission. 

                       
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties.  
 
 5 The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations and mitigation 

measures set out in the submitted 'Phase 1 bat and nesting bird survey report' prepared by 
Devon and Cornwall Ecology, received 24th February 2021. 

                                                                                         
           Reason: To ensure that the development does not result in a harmful impact on protected 

species. 
 
6 The existing hedgerow and trees along the northern boundary of the site shall be retained in 

perpetuity, and shall not at any time be removed, either in whole or in part.   
            

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity.  
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

2009.P.01 B 02.03.2021 
   

2009.P.02 B 02.03.2021 
       

2009.P.06 C 24.02.2021 
   

2009.P.07 C 02.03.2021 
   

2009.P.08 B 17.03.2021 
  

 

Page 251



Informatives 

 
01. If you are planning a new development or extending an existing property over, or within 3 

metres of public assets you need to contact South West Water. 
   
 Note: we will not permit building within 4.5 metres of public water mains, sewage rising mains 

or sewers on a new development or redevelopment site.  For more information please refer to 
the information on our website: 

     
 Clean water - https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/water-services-and-

connections/building-near-water-mains/  
     
 Waste water - https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/buildover 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
  
In this instance the applicant did enter into pre-application discussions with the Council, for a similar 
scheme. In addition to this, the Council worked in a positive and pro-active way with the applicant and 
had looked for solutions to enable the granting of planning permission.  This has included negotiations 
to secure a reduction in scale and massing of the proposal.   
 

Page 252



 
Committee Report – 1st April 2021 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0033/2021/FUL 

Registration date: 13 January 2021 

Expiry date:  10 March 2021 

Applicant:  Mrs. Breeze  

Agent:  GW Architects Ltd 

Case Officer:  Debbie Fuller 

Site Address:  Hillside  
Broadwoodwidger  
Lifton 
Devon 
PL16 0JH   

Proposal:  First floor side extension 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 253

Agenda Item 7f



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 

Cllr. Watson has called the application in, on behalf of Broadwoodwidger Parish Council, if 
the officer is minded to approve, for the following reasons: - 
 

1. Over development of this site. 
2. The increased roof area and position of the soakaway would increase problems with 
water discharge onto the road which is 5 metres below the property. 
3. Some small landslips have occurred in recent months and we have concerns about the 
stability of the earth bank adjacent to the road. 
4. Neighbouring properties gardens could also be de-stabilised by the proximity of the 
foundations of the proposed extension. 

 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/1901/2000 ERECTION OF 
CONSERVATORY 

PER 10.01.2001 

   

1/0391/2007/FUL Construction of a first floor 
pitch roof extension 

PER 28.06.2007 

   

1/0685/2008/FUL Construction of a single 
storey pitched roof extension 

PER 29.07.2008 

   

1/0073/2019/FUL Erection of Single-storey 
Rear Extension to Replace 
Existing Conservatory 

PER 22.03.2019 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
'Hillside' is a detached residential property on the south east fringe of 'Broadwoodwidger,' 
approximately five miles from 'St. Giles on the Heath.' The property is located at an elevated level and 
reached via a shared access drive, sloping up south to north.  A detached garage is at the entrance to 
the property, with parking space to the front of the garage.  
 
The dwelling has had previous planning approval for a UPVC conservatory on the south east 
elevation, (facing the road), (planning reference 1/1901/2000), and a first floor extension on the north 
west elevation, (planning reference 1/0391/2007/FUL). A 'single storey pitched roof extension,' has 
been approved on the south west elevation, (garden side), (planning reference 1/0685/2008/FUL), but 
has not been constructed. More recently, the property has gained approval for the 'Erection of Single-
storey Rear Extension to Replace Existing Conservatory,' (planning reference 1/0073/2019/FUL), and 
the proposed extension wraps around to the south west elevation, to create a front door to the south 
west side, (garden side), and these works have commenced. 
 
There are residential properties to the west 'Oakleigh' and 'Lanes End,' and a Grade II listed church is 
80 metres to the north west, and 'Church Terrace,' (Grade II listed) is 42 metres away to the north. 
Because of the difference in levels only the top half of this terrace can be seen from the garden of 
Hillside. The dwelling is sat lower, with a bank to the northern side, and another bank on top of that, 
which is the boundary, with the land then sloping upwards towards the terrace. The southern 
elevation can be seen from the road below the property - leading out of the village, which is a 
classified road. 
 
 

Page 254



Proposal 
The proposal is for a first floor extension to provide a fourth bedroom (with en-suite), which would see 
the first floor on top of the bank, using the bank, with brick plinth underneath. 
 
The proposed materials are black brick and timber cladding, slate for the roof, aluminium windows, 
and doors. 
 
In addition, the curtilage is extended to the northern side of the application site, to include a strip of 
land, which measures approximately 30 metres in length and between 3 and 5 metres in width. It is 
proposed to retain the existing hedge along this boundary. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Broadwoodwidger Parish/Town Council:  
'We do not support this application as we feel it would be an over development of this site. The 
increased roof area and the position of the soakaway would increase the problems of water discharge 
onto the road which is 5M below the property. Some small land slips have accrued in recent months 
and we have concern about the stability of the earth bank next to the road. Neighbouring property 
gardens could also be destabilised by the proximity of the foundation of the proposed extension.' 
 
The Environment Agency:  
No response received.  
 
South West Water:  
I refer to the above application and would advise that South West Water has no objection.  
 
Conservation Officer:  
The proposal to add a first floor bathroom which is effectively cut into the hillside (the house is aptly 
named). 
 
The proposal is well located in relation to the original dwelling and within views into the settlement 
would have minimal visual impact. The house is set above the road and views of this part of the 
house are limited by the topography and the well-established hedges and boundaries. As such while 
the scheme is close to the listed terrace at Church cottages, the gradient of the land limits the visual 
impact of the proposal on the listed terrace and church. 
 
The proposal does not impact on the setting of the nearby listed buildings over and above the new 
dwellings approved in proximity to the Listed Terrace at Oakleigh and Lanes end. These are the 
legacy of the earlier local plan which designated a development boundary for Broadwood settlement.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  5  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  6 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  3  

 
Three representors have objected, with one person objecting four times, and includes the following: - 
 
- Overdevelopment / with regards to the applicants letter the 2019 approved application already has a 

proportionate living accommodation; 
- The application details that the first floor extension will replace a structure. Currently this is air 

space, there is no structure there to replace. 
- The land to the north, included within the application boundary/plan is a disputed (and ancient), 

Right-of-Way (R/W); 
- The site plan existing access is incorrect. 
- The "existing hedge retained" is the gardens of 1,3 and 4 Church Terrace, not the property of the 

applicant. 

Page 255



- The proposed extension will be an obstruction to the R/W; 
- The proposed extension is too close to a neighbour's garage, (foundations); 
- Danger of hedge collapsing (north), and subsidence to the disputed R/W; 
- The builders have been on site for months already; 
- There has been no consultation and/or no notifications of deliveries of building materials; 
- There has been illegal obstruction of the lane and considerable damage to the access of properties 

up the joint lane; 
- A fence has been erected blocking the owners of three cottages access for maintenance of hedges 

along the disputed R/W, and restricting the width of the joint lane/preventing access, (i.e. for oil 
tankers); 

- Access to maintain a main sewer is blocked; 
- The surface water soakaway does not vent anywhere; 
- Substantial effect on the setting of the listed properties / proposed extension 3-6 metres of the listed 

property's boundary; 
- Request that the application goes to Committee to ensure that the objections are properly 

addressed/considered and in particular the preservation of the ancient access R/W which is 
currently in dispute. 

 
These concerns will be considered during the planning consideration section of the Report. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening 
Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for 
Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage 
Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM04 (Design 
Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM25 (Residential 
Extensions and Ancillary Development). 
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities) and WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981).  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main issues in the determination of this application are: 
1. Principle 
2. Character and Appearance 
3. Impact on designated heritage assets 
4. Impacts on the amenity of local residents 
5. Ecology 
6. Access, Parking and Highways 
7. Drainage 
 
Principle 
In planning terms, the site is considered to be located in the open countryside, outside of any 
recognised settlement. Policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Joint Local Plan is considered 
relevant. Policy ST07 provides a settlement hierarchy for Northern Devon's rural area to direct where 
development should be distributed, by specifying areas falling within Local Centres, Villages and 
Rural Settlements. Locations falling outside these would be considered to be an open countryside 
location. Part 4 of Policy ST07 states that in the Countryside, development will be limited to that which 
is enabled to meet local economic and social need, rural building reuse and development which is 
necessarily restricted to a Countryside location. Alterations to a residential property, such a residential 
extension is not considered to result in any detrimental harm to the character of the Countryside.  
 

Page 256



In addition, Policy DM25 of the NDTLP provides in principle support for alterations and extensions to 
an existing dwelling, subject to (a) the form, scale, setting and design of the proposal respecting 
existing development, its context, setting and surroundings, (b) adequate residential amenity space 
and parking provision being maintained, and (c) there being no significant adverse impact on the 
amenity of the occupants of neighbouring properties.' 
 
Therefore, the proposal is acceptable in principle providing it is in accordance with other policies 
contained within the development plan. 
 
Character and Appearance 
The Local Plan policies on design are relevant - Policy DM04: Design Principles and Policy ST04: 
'Improving the Quality of Development' which aim to achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable 
design. 
 
Policy DM04 seeks to guide overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials 
access and appearance of development. The policy requires development to be appropriate and 
sympathetic to setting in terms of scale, density, massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, 
materials and relationship to buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood. Policy 
ST04 states 'design will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the 
characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding area taking full account of the 
principles of design found in DM04.' 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), (specifically Part 12), attaches great importance to 
the design of the built environment and states that planning decisions should ensure that 
developments 'are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change. Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions.' 
 
With regards to the Parish Council’s concerns in relation to 'overdevelopment of the site,' the 
proposed first floor extension, which is the subject of this planning application, creates approximately 
20 square metres of new floor area, once the former porch, is considered. In terms of the other works, 
that are currently started, these have been approved, (planning reference 1/0073/2019/FUL), and the 
part facing the garden, is similar to an approved single storey extension, which has not been 
constructed, (planning reference 1/0685/2008/FUL).  
 
The total footprint at ground floor level, including the proposed extension, (which is the subject of this 
application), is approximately 144 square metres. Nearby properties have a footprint of 200 square 
metres, (to the west 'Oakleigh'), and 95 square metres, ('Lanes End,' to the north west).  
 
However, it is considered that the proposed extension is commensurate with the host dwelling, and 
the additional extensions have been designed well, with the levels of the land, and are balanced 
either side of the main dwelling and create a front elevation to the property. 
 
Local Plan policy DM08A, expects development to be of an appropriate scale, mass and design that 
respects landscape character of both designated and undesignated landscapes. 
 
The dwelling is in countryside, and although the property will be viewed from the highway, the 
extension, which is subject to this planning application, will not be seen from more distant views 
and/or the street. It is the same height as the roof, and behind the host dwelling. There are no 
landscape designations on this site. The proposed brick and cladding is in contrast to the main part of 
the host building, but this is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the character of the main 
house, and as above, under 'design,' is considered to balance the appearance with the approved 
extensions. Overall, the proposed is considered to be designed in a sensitive and sympathetic 
manner that preserves and enhances the original character of the dwelling and the surrounding area.  
 
 
 

Page 257



Impact on designated heritage assets 
Policy ST15: Conserving Heritage Assets of the Local Plan aims to preserve and enhance northern 
Devon's historic environment, and Policy DM07 supports proposals which conserve and enhance 
heritage assets and their settings. 
 
The NPPF, (specifically Part 16), states that 'Local Planning Authorities should identify and assess 
the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by 
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and 
any necessary expertise.' 
 
The property itself is not a Listed Building. There are Listed Buildings to north. A Grade II listed 
church is 80 metres to the north west, and 'Church Terrace,' (Grade II listed) is 42 metres away to the 
north. These are some distance away and while the scheme is close to the listed terrace at Church 
cottages, as stated by the Local Authority’s Conservation Officer, the gradient of the land limits the 
visual impact of the proposal on the listed terrace and church. The proposed extension, as above, is 
considered acceptable in terms of design, materials and relationship with the existing building, its 
setting, and surroundings. The scale and materials are not considered to be detrimental to the 
character of the main dwelling and/or the surrounding area.  
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
Policy DM01 states that development will be supported where it would not significantly harm the 
amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses, and the intended occupants of the proposed 
development would not be harmed as a result of existing or allocated uses. Policy DM04: Design 
Principles has a criterion related to amenities of existing and future neighbouring occupiers.  
 
Policy DM25 of the NDTLP provides in principle support for alterations and extensions to an existing 
dwelling, subject to (b) adequate residential amenity space and parking provision being maintained, 
and (c) there being no significant adverse impact on the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring 
properties.' 
 
No windows are proposed on the extension on elevations which face towards other residential 
properties. The hedge to the north is shown as 'to be retained,' on the plans, but it is a bank, and has 
no hedge on this part of it. It is considered that there is no requirement for a hedge to screen the 
proposed extension, as the distance between the proposed extension and the neighbouring 
properties to the north ('Church Terrace') is adequate, and there are no windows to allow overlooking 
into the neighbour’s garden. The occupiers of neighbouring occupants have the choice to erect a 
fence like that of properties further to the west, but without a fence, the proposed development is 
considered to not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers. 
 
The bank is the end of the gardens of 'Church Terrace,' and the Parish Council have concerns that, 
'Neighbouring properties gardens could also be de-stabilised by the proximity of the foundations of 
the proposed extension.' The foundations and stability of land is not a material planning consideration. 
However, Building Control have been consulted and comment: - 'From what I can see on the plans 
the new extension at the rear should not impact on the neighbouring garden bank provided the 
ground levels are not reduced. Once the excavations are complete and backfilled there will be no 
change to the ground conditions in terms of levels and support. Obviously when any excavation takes 
place there are no guarantees on ground conditions and there will be a short period of time between 
the excavations being carried out and the trenches filled again. If the proposal requires the rear 
garden area to be reduced this may impact the garden bank and retaining walls may be required.'  
 
There is adequate amenity space and parking remaining, and the proposal accords with Policy DM25 
of the Local Plan. 
 
In terms of the material planning considerations, the proposed development will not cause a lack of 
privacy, lack of light or overbearing impact on any neighbours. The distances between residential 
properties and the lack of opportunities for overlooking, leads to the conclusion that the development 
would not result in significant harm to the amenities of the occupiers of the surrounding properties. 
The proposed therefore accords with Policies DM01, DM04 (criteria i) and DM25 of the Local Plan.  

Page 258



 
Ecology 
Policies ST14 and DM08 of the Local Plan require that development ensures the protection and 
enhancement of biodiversity.  
 
The proposed extension does trigger the need for a wildlife report. An Ecological Impact Assessment 
by J. L Ecology Ltd, (dated January 2021), has been submitted, and concludes 'No signs of bats were 
associated with any internal or external elements of the building,' and 'No signs of nesting birds were 
associated with the building.' No further surveys are required. 
 
Given the minor nature there is no requirement for a net gain in biodiversity. The proposal therefore 
accords with Policies DM08 and ST14 of the Local Plan. 
 
Access, Parking and Highways 
Policy DM05: 'Highways' in the Local Plan requires development to have safe and well designed 
vehicular access and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and 
accessibility of all highway users including cyclists and pedestrians, and all development shall protect 
and enhance existing public rights of way, footways, cycleways, and bridleways and facilitate 
improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes where practical to do so. Policy 
DM06: 'Parking Provision,' states that proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and 
range of parking provision to meet anticipated needs. Policy DM25 of the NDTLP provides in principle 
support for alterations and extensions to an existing dwelling, subject to (b) adequate residential 
amenity space and parking provision being maintained. 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual 
cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
With regards to the Right of Way (R/W), it is not a 'Public' Right of Way, and this is a Civil issue, and 
not a material planning consideration. It has however been raised with the planning agent and the 
applicants are aware. The concerns relating to vehicles blocking the road is also a civil issue, which 
residents will need to discuss with Police or Highway Authority. 
 
The proposed arrangement for access and parking is acceptable and not altered from the previously 
approved, (planning reference 1/0073/2019/FUL). Policies DM05, DM06 and DM25 are satisfied. 
 
Drainage 
Policy ST03 of the NDTLP notes that development should 'adopt effective water management 
including Sustainable Drainages Systems, water quality improvements, water efficiency measures 
and the use of rainwater'. In addition, policy DM04 notes development should provide effective water 
management including Sustainable Drainage Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of 
rainwater. Policy DM02 'Environmental Protection' states, amongst other aspects, that development 
will not be supported where it does not result in acceptable impacts to pollution of surface or ground 
water. 
 
The Site Plan details a soakaway on the plans, which will deal with the runoff. This is the same 
location as the approved application, (planning reference 1/0073/2019/FUL). 
 
The Parish Council have concerns about the increased roof area, and, that the position of the 
soakaway would increase problems with water discharge onto the road which is five metres below the 
property. Some small landslips have occurred in recent months and the Parish Council has concerns 
about the stability of the earth bank adjacent to the road. Concerns have also been raised about 
underground springs and watercourses potentially undermining foundations, and/or increasing the 
chances of causing the hillside to slip. 
 
In terms of stability of the land, as stated above, in the residential amenity section, this is not a 
material planning consideration. However, drainage and stability are potentially linked. Building 
Control have therefore been consulted and comment that they are aware of the previous slippage, 

Page 259



(08/10/2020), and have advised that 'the excavations be taken down 1500mm deep and widened to 
900mm.' They also comment that 'If a spring is found in the excavations an Engineer can design the 
foundations to take account of this with the spring diverted with pipework.' 
 
South West Water (SWW) have been consulted and have no objections. The Environment Agency 
(EA) have been consulted and have not responded, which is common as it is a minor development. 
 
The agent has confirmed, (email dated 5th March 2021), that the 'increase in impermeable area of the 
proposed extension does not increase surface water, as currently rainwater is allowed to saturate the 
ground where the extension is going, but once the extension is built the rainwater will be collected via 
the gutter to the roof and directed under ground to a soakaway as shown on the drawings.' Building 
Control will inspect the foundations and drainage.  
 
The agent advises, (email dated 5th March 2021), 'Under building regulations the soakaway will have 
to be positioned in an area that has the required percolation rate and designed to hold the relevant 
amount of rainwater collected allowing for a 1 in 100 year flood. The applicants own a very large 
section of garden to the south which is away from the village and other properties and this is the area 
we have shown the soakaway to be positioned but further detailed discussions will be carried out with 
building control if and when the above application has been approved.' 
 
In terms of material planning considerations, the proposal makes adequate provision for surface 
water, and it is considered that the proposed development will not increase surface water. 
 
Conclusion 
This proposal is deemed to be development, which does not cause harm on the surrounding area, 
and/or neighbouring amenity. The plans for drainage is acceptable. Therefore, it is recommended that 
this application be approved. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions: - 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

0310-01  13.01.2021 
   

0310-02  13.01.2021 
   

0310-03  13.01.2021 
      

 

Informatives 

 
01. If bats are found during works that work must stop and the applicants contact Natural England 

for further advice. This is a legal requirement under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and further protection is given by Regulation 39(1) of the Conservation (Natural 
Habitats &c.) Regulations 1994. This applies to whoever carries out the work. All contractors 
on site should be made aware of this requirement and given the relevant contact number for 
Natural England, which can be obtained from the Bat Conservation Trust. 

 
02. If you are planning a new development or extending an existing property over, or within 3 

metres of public assets you need to contact South West Water (SWW). They will not permit 
building within 4.5 metres of public water mains, sewage rising mains or sewers on a new 
development. For more information, please see their website: - 

  
 Clean water - https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/water-services-and-

connections/building-near-water-mains/   
  
 Waste water - https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/buildover'  
 

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as submitted 
is considered to accord with the development plan. In such ways the Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning 
application. 
 

Page 261

https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/water-services-and-connections/building-near-water-mains/
https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/water-services-and-connections/building-near-water-mains/
https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/buildover


 
Committee Report – 1st April 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0104/2021/LA 

Registration date: 12 February 2021 

Expiry date:  9 April 2021 

Applicant:  Torridge District Council  

Agent:   

Case Officer:  Tracey Blackmore 

Site Address:  Unit 24,  
Farm Road,  
Caddsdown Industrial Park, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 3BE 

Proposal:  Part retrospective application for two existing 
storage containers and the installation of two 
further storage containers. 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 262

Agenda Item 7g



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
This application is called before Plans Committee due to the land being within the ownership of 
Torridge District Council. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0756/1990 HAULAGE DEPOT, 
INDUSTIAL AND 
COMMERCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT 
INCLUDING FOUL AND 
SURFACE WATER 
DRAINAGE SYSTEMS AND 
RETENTION OF 
FARMHOUSE AND 
BUILDINGS 

PER 22.01.1993 

     

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description: 
 
The application site relates to Unit 24 at Caddsdown Industrial Park in Bideford. The site comprises of 
a business support unit that benefits from permission for a mixed use of B1, B2 and B8.  
 
The site is level and screened by mature trees to the southern and western boundary.  
 
Unit 24 is to be used for storage purposes by ‘Josie Interiors Ltd’ a furniture and home accessories 
business.  The retail shop for this business being in Cooper Street, Bideford. 
 
Proposed Development: 
 
The application seeks retrospective planning permission for two existing storage containers and the 
installation of two further storage containers. 
  
The storage containers are to be located to the west and south west of the business unit.  Two of the 
four storage containers are currently present on site, one being located directly adjacent to the unit (to 
the west) and the other storage container located to the side/front curtilage of the unit (to the south 
west).  The applicant has confirmed the two additional storage containers are to be positioned to the 
side/front curtilage of the unit (adjacent to the existing container, positioned here).   
 
Each storage container measures 6.10 metres in length, 2.44 metres in width, with a height of 2.59 
metres and is constructed of corrugated steel.  
 
The containers are to be used for storage purposes, in association with the use of Unit 24, for the 
storage of furniture and home accessories.   
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Bideford Town Council:  
RESOLVED: That the application is approved. 
 

Page 263



Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  2  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
No representations received. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST06 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); ST11 (Delivering 
Employment and Economic Development); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity 
Considerations); BID (Bideford Spatial Vision and Development Strategy); DM01 (Amenity 
Considerations); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM12 (Employment 
Development at Towns, Local Centres and Villages);  
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations for this application are: 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
3. Impact on Amenity 
4. Highways 
5. Ecology 
 
1. Principle of Development 
 
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 
Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions.   
 
The site is located within the built-up area of Bideford, which is designated as a Strategic Centre in 
the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP).   As a result, the provisions of NDTLP Policy 
ST06 are relevant, which state that Bideford will provide a focus for housing and employment 
development with significant levels of development being accommodated consistent within its scale 
and its complementary role to Barnstaple.  Policy ST06 encourages sustainable opportunities to 
increase self–containment and achieve balanced development to enable the town to meet its own 
needs and those of the surrounding area. 
 
NDTLP Policy ST11 (Delivering Employment and Economic Development) supports employment 
growth to deliver quantitative and qualitative improvements in job opportunities throughout northern 
Devon. Specifically, part 1 supports employment generating opportunities to meet identified needs 
and locally determined growth aspirations; part 2 allows a flexible approach to employment land 
release in response to relocation or expansion proposals that will contribute to improvements in the 
economy of northern Devon; part 6 confirms that support will be given to existing sectors to ensure 

Page 264



that they continue to flourish and grow in a sustainable manner and that the modernisation of 
employment sites will be encouraged in order to meet current and future business needs.  
 
Policy DM12 (Employment Development at Towns, Local Centres and Villages) supports economic 
development on existing and allocated employment land within settlements identified by Policy ST06 
(e.g. Bideford). DM12 (c) requires such proposals to be carried out without detriment to residential 
amenity, public highway users, town centre vitality, landscape character and the environment 
generally. Part (d) requires proposals to provide adequate and safe access and to contribute to the 
general aim of reducing the need to travel by private car.    
 
The proposed development is for the installation of four containers for storage purposes, in 
association with the use of Unit 24 as a storage facility (under a B8 Use Class) for furniture and home 
accessories. The proposed storage containers provide a secure means of storage necessarily 
restricted to the site in which it relates and is appropriate in this location.   The principle of this 
development is therefore considered acceptable under Policy ST06, ST11 and ST12, if it complies 
with the other material considerations. 
 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
 
The Local Plan policies on design are relevant - Policy ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development) 
and Policy DM04 (Design Principles), which both aim to achieve high quality, inclusive and 
sustainable design.  
 
Policy ST04 supports development proposal that achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable 
design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places.  Design will be based on a clear process 
that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding 
area taking full account of the principles of design found in Policy DM04. 
 
Policy DM04 supports developments with good design and the policy seeks to guide overall scale, 
density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials, access and appearance of new developments.  
It seeks not just to manage land use but support the creation of successful places and respond to the 
challenges of climate change. The policy lists 13 design principles that proposals must meet in order 
to be supported by the policy. 
 
The proposed provision of storage containers would be seen against the existing industrial park and is 
seen as a natural extension to the use of the site.  There are a number of mature trees to the western 
and southern boundary of the site which would act as a natural screen to this development.   The self-
contained nature of the storage containers and the lack of footings or foundations does have the 
benefit that, if they are no longer required, they can be removed without significant lasting impact.    
 
In light of the above the proposed storage containers are considered to be appropriately sited and 
designed for its setting and purpose in accordance with Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
3. Impact on Amenity 
 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 
 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 
b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 
DM04 also aims to ensure the amenities of existing and future neighbouring occupiers are 
safeguarded. In addition to this, one of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality 
design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  
 

Page 265



Given the nature and scale of the proposed development, it would not significantly harm the amenities 
of the neighbouring properties (which is primarily a commercial/industrial use) and would be in 
accordance with Policies DM01 and DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
4. Highways 
 
NDTLP Policies DM05 and DM06 states that development must ensure safe and well designed 
vehicular access and egress, with appropriate levels of parking provision within a well designed 
layout. Policy DM14 (e) requires that ‘the scale of employment is appropriate to the accessibility of the 
site and the standard of the local highway network’. 
 
The proposal site is served by an existing access. On the basis there are no proposed changes to the 
existing access arrangements, the provision of storage containers, to provide storage ancillary to the 
existing business use, will not significantly change the nature and volume of traffic accessing the site.  
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policies DM05 and DM06 of 
the NDTLP.  
 
5. Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within NDTLP through Policies DM08 and ST14, which state that development proposals 
should conserve and, where possible, enhance biodiversity interests. 
 
A Wildlife Trigger List was submitted as part of the planning application which concluded that there 
will be no effect on protected species as a result of this scheme.   
 
As such the proposal is considered to fulfil the above statutory duties and the provision of policies 
DM08 and ST14 and the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1        The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
         
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
  
 
 2        The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 

Page 266



                                                                                         
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3       Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2015 

and Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 7 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting these Orders) the storage 
containers hereby approved shall be used for B8 storage, ancillary to the main business 
('Josies Interiors'.) only and for no other purpose without the further grant of planning 
permission. 

                                             
           Reason: To restrict the use of the premises to one which is compatible with the surrounding 

area and to comply with the development plan. 
 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

Location Plan  05.02.2021 
   

Site Plan  29.01.2021 
   

Site Plan with Images  29.01.2021 
   

Elevations  05.02.2021 
   

Floor Plans  05.02.2021 
  

 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as submitted 
is considered to accord with the development plan.  In such ways the Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning 
application. 
 

Page 267



 
Committee Report – 1st April 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0057/2021/LBC 

Registration date: 1 February 2021 

Expiry date:  29 March 2021 

Applicant:  Mr Anthony Inch  

Agent:   

Case Officer:  Sarah Chappell 

Site Address:  Flat 2,  
4 Bridge Street,  
Bideford, 
Devon, 
EX39 2BU,   
 

Proposal:  Replacement of existing window with wooden 
window at front of the property 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

Page 268

Agenda Item 7h



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The Applicant is a Councillor. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0150/2014/FUL Conversion of NO.4 Bridge 
Street into two self-contained 
residential apartments. 

PER 21.05.2014 

   

1/0151/2014/LBC Conversion of No.4 Bridge 
Street into two self-contained 
residential apartments 

PER 14.04.2014 

   

1/0573/2014/LBC Conversion to two 
apartments 

PER 25.07.2014 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
The Site. 
The property known as 4, Bridge Street is now divided into upper and lower floor flats.  The property 
which was formerly Burrows electrical shop. was assimilated into the public house known as the 
Tavern in the Port and subsequently sub- divided into residential units when the public house ceased 
trading. 
 
The property forms part of the built-up frontage along the south side of Bridge Street and is a grade II 
listed building within the Conservation area designated for Bideford. 
 
The Proposal. 
The proposal seeks listed building consent to remove an unauthorised UPVC window and replace it 
with a timber window. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Bideford Town Council:  
RESOLVED: That the application is approved. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
The property known as 4, Bridge Street was converted to flats under applications 1/0150/2014/FUL 
and 1/0151/2014/LBC. 
 
The upper window to the flat has been replaced with a upvc unit which is considered inappropriate 
within the listed building. 
 
The proposal to replace the window with a timber unit which has 2 top lights as the original, is 
welcome and there are no objections to the scheme.  I would suggest that the window is fitted 
recessed slightly more than the current window to give a deeper shadow line and match other 
windows on the frontage. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  11  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

Page 269



 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
None  
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981).  
 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations in this case are: 
 
1. Impact on the heritage asset 
2. Impact on protected species. 
 
1.The impact on the heritage asset 
 
The duty of the Council as a Local Planning Authority is set out in paragraph 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  The duty in relation to Listed Buildings is to 
preserve its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which the building may 
possess.  Additionally, the Local Planning Authority must take account of the guidance contained 
within the NPPF.  Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance. 
 
The Conservation Officer has visited the building and there are no objections to the scheme which is 
a simple change of window to replace a Upvc unit installed without consent and of a different style 
than the earlier timber window. 
 
In this case the proposal is considered to cause "less than substantial harm to the significance of the 
heritage asset" as set out in Paragraph 196 of the NPPF. The harm should therefore be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal.   
  
The public benefit is the continued residential use of this heritage asset and to be able to retain the 
security of this dwelling.  
 
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable under Sections 16 and 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and paragraphs 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF.  
 
2.The impact on protected species. 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a listed building application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).   
 
The application is supported by a wildlife trigger list and in this case the works are limited to changing 
a window within an urban setting. The opportunities for protected species in not considered to be 
altered in this case. 
 

Page 270



In this case your officers are content that the duty under the above legislation has been met. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The works to which this consent relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three 

years beginning with the date on which this consent is granted. 
       
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the requirements of 

Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
  
 2         The works hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed 

in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the works are carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
             
 3         All windows and doors hereby permitted shall be recessed within the window reveals by at 

least 5 cm unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
                                  
            Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the listed building. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

LOCATION PLAN  01.02.2021 
   

 014/2014/001  01.02.2021 
   

window elevation proposed  15.01.2021 
   

Cross section window proposed.  15.01.2021 
  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development and in this case the 
works seek to rectify inappropriate works to a listed building. 
   
The Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems 
arising in relation to the consideration of the regularisation of unauthorised works 
      
     
  
 

Page 271



 
 

APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 
Committee 1 April 2021  

 
Appeal decisions for the period 19.02.2021 – 18.03.2021 

Application No. 
 

Address/Proposal 
 

Appeal 
Decision 
 

Officer 
Recommendation 
 
 

Committee/ 
Delegated 
 

Costs 
 

1/0320/2020/AGMB Barn At Grid Reference 237741 122133 
Parkham 
Devon 
 
Prior notification for the change of use of 
agricultural building to 1 dwelling under Class Q 
and associated operational development 

Allowed Refused Delegated  

1/0371/2020/AGMB Agricultural Shed Near The Beeches 
Yarnscombe 
Barnstaple 
Devon 
EX31 3LW 
 
Prior notification for the change of use of 
agricultural building to 1 no. dwellinghouse and 
associated building operations under class Q 

Dismissed Refused Delegated  

 

P
age 272

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site Visit made on 16 February 2021  
by T Gethin  BA (Hons), MSc, MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 4 March 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/20/3262087 
Barn 2, Broad Parkham Farm, Parkham, Bideford, Devon EX39 5PJ  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval required under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 3, 
Class Q of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 (as amended). 

• The appeal is made by Mr Jason Lang against the decision of Torridge District Council. 
• The application Ref 1/0320/2020/AGMB, dated 16 April 2020, was refused by notice 

dated 15 June 2020. 
• The development proposed is described as Barn 1 has already been developed under 

Class Q. Please see site plan.  

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and prior approval is deemed to be granted under the 

provisions of Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q(a) and Q(b) of the 

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 

2015 (as amended) for prior notification for the change of use of agricultural 
building to 1 dwelling under Class Q and associated operational development at 

Barn 2, Broad Parkham Farm, Parkham, Bideford, Devon EX39 5PJ in 

accordance with the terms of the application Ref 1/0320/2020/AGMB, dated 16 

April 2020, and the details submitted with it, pursuant to Article 3(1) and 
Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q, paragraphs Q(a) and Q(b). The approval is subject 

to the condition that the development must be completed within a period of 3 

years from the date of this decision in accordance with paragraph Q.2(3) of the 
above Order, and subject to the following additional conditions: 

(1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans: Site Location Plan; Annotated Site 

Location Plan (received by the Council on 20 April 2020); Barn 2 survey 

drawing (Drawing No 100); Barn 2 proposed floor plans & elevations 
(Drawing No 102); and Barn 2 site layout (Drawing No 110). 

(2) Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the 

building labelled ‘A’ on the Annotated Site Location Plan (received by the 

Council on 20 April 2020) shall permanently cease being used for any 

livestock, slurry, sludge or manure storage, and shall only be used for 
agricultural storage, the storage of agricultural machinery and/or the 

storage of crops/harvested crops. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The proposal’s description is taken from the Council’s decision notice, which 

better captures the development’s scope than that on the application form. 

Page 273

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3262087

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

3. An additional drawing (Barn 2 site layout, Drawing No 110), showing the 

proposed private amenity space and parking spaces, was submitted with the 

appeal. Providing additional detail, the drawing does not materially alter the 
nature of the appeal proposal nor make it different in substance from that for 

which the application was made. The Council had the opportunity to comment on 

it in their appeal statement and interested parties were also able to view and 

comment on it. Consequently, I am satisfied that accepting the additional 

drawing would not prejudice the interests of interested parties and have 
therefore taken the drawing into account in reaching my decision.  

4. The Council considers that the development accords with the requirements set 

out in Paragraph Q.1 of Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the General Permitted 

Development Order 2015 (as amended) (GPDO). There is no evidence before 

me to the contrary. 

5. After the Council issued its decision notice, the GPDO was amended to include 

the requirement under paragraph Q.2(1)(g) of Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q 
relating to the provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the 

dwellinghouse(s). However, the requirement only applies to prior approval 

applications made on or after 1 August 2020, which is not the case here. I have 
therefore determined the appeal on this basis. 

Background and Main Issues 

6. Paragraph Q.2 of Schedule 2, Part 3 of the GPDO sets out that where the 

development proposed is under Class Q(a) together with development under 
Class Q(b), development is permitted subject to an application to the local 

planning authority for a determination as to whether their prior approval is 

required in relation to the matters set out in paragraph Q.2(1). 

7. The evidence before me indicates that the Council do not consider that their 

prior approval is required in relation to the matters set out in Q.2(1)(a) to (d). 
On the basis of the submitted evidence, I have no reason to disagree. 

Accordingly, the main issues are: 

• whether the location or siting of Barn 2 would make its conversion 

undesirable, with particular regard to the effect of Barn G on the living 

conditions of occupiers of the proposed development; and 

• whether the conversion of Barn 2 would be undesirable and represent 

poor design, with particular regard to the layout and location or siting of 
the building in relation to the provision of private amenity space and its 

relationship with existing occupiers.  

Reasons 

Living conditions 

8. The building the subject of the appeal proposal, Barn 2, is attached to the 

existing main farmhouse and located near to a variety of agricultural barns and 

other buildings. Situated to the north-west, Barn G has an unrestricted 

agricultural use, is currently used for keeping livestock, including calves, and 
contained a number of cattle at the time of my site visit. The barn and the 

stables closest to the appeal site (identified respectively as Barn A and building 

B on the annotated site location plan) shield Barn 2 from the remaining 

Page 274

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3262087

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

agricultural barns and other buildings situated to the west and north-west of 

the site, including Barn G.  

9. Although Barn G is only approximately 20 metres away from the site, the 

distance between the two and the screening presence of the intervening 

buildings means that there is a good degree of spatial and physical separation 
between them. Barn G also faces south rather than towards the site and has a 

ventilation system. In addition, it seems to me that the size of Barn G, which is 

not particularly significant, also provides a natural limit on the potential 
intensity of its use and, for example, the number of livestock that it could 

accommodate. 

10. I am therefore satisfied that the living conditions of future occupiers of the 

proposed development would not be unacceptable in relation to noise, odours 

and flies arising from the use of Barn G. On my site visit, I also observed that 
the relationship between Barn 2 and the agricultural buildings – including Barn 

G – on the holding would not be significantly different to that of the existing 

farmhouse or Barn 1, which is attached to the other end of the farmhouse, 

relatively close to Barn 2, and is currently being converted under prior approval 
to a residential use. 

11. My attention has been drawn to two appeal decisions involving proposed Class 

Q conversions of agricultural buildings to dwellinghouses within active 

farmsteads. Although I have noted both cases, the details before me indicate 

that the circumstances of each are sufficiently at variance to be not particularly 
comparable to the appeal proposal. For example, the appeal at Heath Farm 

involved the proposed conversion of a barn immediately adjacent to a sizeable 

livestock building while the proposed dwellings in the appeal at Hill View would 
have fronted directly onto a working farmyard. Accordingly, I have judged this 

appeal proposal on its own merits. 

12. For the above reasons, I conclude that the location and siting of Barn 2 would 

not make its conversion undesirable, with particular regard to the effect of Barn 

G on the living conditions of occupiers of the proposed development. 
Furthermore, the muck heap related to the horses kept on the wider farmstead 

(identified as location J on the annotated site location plan) is sufficiently 

distant from the appeal site. 

Amenity space and existing occupiers  

13. Like the existing farmhouse and Barn 1, Barn 2 would face onto the residential 

courtyard that sits between the three units. There would therefore be a 

relatively close relationship between their front elevations and the occupiers of 
each unit. However, the layout and siting would not be particularly unusual for 

properties in a courtyard setting. As shown on the Barn 2 site layout drawing, 

the proposed development would also have private amenity space at the rear. 

14. Although the area would be relatively small, it nevertheless represents a 

reasonable area of curtilage for Barn 2 and would provide future occupiers of 
the appeal scheme with an acceptable area of useable private outdoor space. 

With the area extending along the rear of Barn 2 and ending before the kitchen 

window of the farmhouse, there would also be sufficient separation for Barn 2 
to function as a separate, independent unit of accommodation from the 

occupiers of the existing farmhouse and Barn 1. 

Page 275

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3262087

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

15. For the above reasons, I conclude that the conversion of Barn 2 would neither 

be undesirable nor represent poor design, with particular regard to the layout, 

location and siting of the building in relation to the provision of private amenity 
space and its relationship with existing occupiers. 

Other matters 

16. The Environmental Protection Officer’s comments on the prior approval 

application included reference to foul drainage. However, the Council has not 
alleged that the proposed development would be unacceptable in relation to 

this matter, it has not been put to me that any requirements or conditions are 

necessary, and the evidence before me does not indicate otherwise. 

Conclusion and Conditions 

17. For the above reasons, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed and prior 

approval is deemed to be granted. 

18. Any planning permission granted for the change of use of agricultural buildings 

to dwellinghouses under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q(a) and 
Q(b) of the GPDO is subject to the condition Q.2(3) which specifies that the 

development shall be completed within a period of 3 years starting with the 

prior approval date. Paragraph W(13) of Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO also 

allows the granting of prior approval unconditionally or subject to conditions 
reasonably related to the subject matter of the prior approval. In the interests 

of certainty, I have imposed a condition requiring that the development is 

carried out in accordance with the relevant approved plans.  

19. The Council suggested conditions relating to land contamination and restricting 

the use of various agricultural buildings in the vicinity of the site. Given the 
proximity of Barn A to the appeal site, a condition restricting its use is 

necessary in the interests of the living conditions of future occupiers of the 

proposed development. However, on the basis of my above findings relating to 
Barn G and the degree of separation between the site and Barn F (the covered 

yard area), conditions restricting the use of Barns F and G are neither 

necessary nor reasonable. A condition covering contamination is also not 
necessary because contamination issues are commonly covered by other 

legislation and I also have little substantive evidence that the site could be 

contaminated. I have therefore declined to impose these conditions.  

T Gethin 

INSPECTOR 

Page 276

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 24 February 2021 

by Matthew Jones BA(Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 10 March 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/20/3260270 

Agricultural Shed Near The Beeches, Yarnscombe, Devon EX31 3LW 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant approval required under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Crocker against the decision of Torridge District Council. 
• The application Ref 1/0371/2020/AGMB, dated 4 May 2020, was refused by notice 

dated 9 July 2020. 
• The development proposed is conversion of The Shed, Near The Beeches, Yarnscombe 

to a residential dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Main Issue 

2. It is common ground that the proposal meets the requirements of paragraph 

Q.1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (the GPDO) such that it would constitute development 

permitted under Class Q, subject to the prior approval of certain matters. There 

is no dispute between the parties regarding these prior approval matters, aside 
from whether or not the location or siting of the development makes it 

impractical or undesirable for the use of the building to change.  

3. As such, the main issue is whether or not the location or siting of the building 

make it impractical or undesirable for the building to change to the proposed 

dwellinghouse, in terms of the effect on the living conditions of future occupiers. 

Reasons 

4. The Planning Practice Guidance advises that a reasonable ordinary dictionary 

meaning should be applied to ‘undesirable’ as it appears in the GPDO to reflect 

that the location in question would be ‘harmful or objectionable’.   

5. Paragraph W(10)(b) of Schedule 2, Part 3 of the GPDO requires that regard be 
had to the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) so far as 

relevant to the subject matter of the prior approval as if considering a planning 

application. Paragraph 127 of the Framework, amongst other things, states 

that decisions should ensure that developments promote health and well-being, 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.    

6. The shed comprising the appeal site sits between the two distinct but adjacent 

farmsteads at Lower Northchurch Farm and Northchurch Farm, which are to the 

west and east respectively. Whilst Lower Northchurch Farm is closer, its 

farmyard is separated from the site by solid concrete walls, and I observed that 
much of its buildings were in use for storage, with little evidence of livestock. 

Page 277

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3260270 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Moreover, the farmhouse at Lower Northchurch Farm shares a similar situation 

to the appeal site and it is unlikely that its occupants would allow themselves to 

be exposed to harmful or objectionable effects from their own farming activity.   

7. However, the nearest part of the farmstead at Northchurch Farm contains a 

large livestock shed, in use at the time of my visit. Whilst its frontage faces 
away from the site, its rear walls are formed of hit and miss timber boarding 

which logically provides ventilation. In my view, this proximity, size, form and 

use of the shed creates a high likelihood of unpleasant animal smells and other 
objectionable disturbances such as flies being experienced at the appeal site.  

8. The proposed dwelling would have its main living area at first floor to its east 

side, with outlook over the livestock shed via windows aside a large opening. 

Its outdoor amenity space would also be to the east and south of the building. 

Whilst I accept that a prospective purchaser would be aware of the potential for 
disturbance, in my view the resultant relationship between the proposal and 

Northchurch Farm would lead to unacceptable living conditions at the property. 

This would also raise the potential for complaints which could lead to 

impositions being placed upon the operation of Northchurch Farm. Whilst I note 
that occupants of The Beeches, to the south of the farm, have seen no reason 

to complain, this is no guarantee that this would also be the case here. 

9. The appellant has directed me to a granted residential barn conversion which 

would be closer to the livestock building1, and other schemes which would be 

as close or closer to farm buildings elsewhere2. However, distance is not the 
only factor which influences this type of relationship, and it is evident that the 

barn for conversion at Northchurch Farm is separated from the livestock shed 

by an intervening building. Ultimately, each case must be assessed on its own 
individual merits, and the limited details I have of these other schemes does 

not aid the proposal to achieve compliance with the GPDO.  

10. Farmers retain a degree of control over the effects of farming on their homes. 

In the hypothetical event that either farmhouse at the farms adjacent to the 

site was to be sold off, I do not agree that any resultant harmful relationship 
between the farm and third parties should justify the undesirable situation that 

would arise here. Whilst I recognise the appellant’s intention for the conversion 

to be occupied by someone used to agricultural smells, this is not a situation I 

can be certain will happen, nor could I rely on it not to change if it did.  

11. Drawing my findings together, the location and siting of the building makes it 
undesirable for the building to change to the proposed dwellinghouse, in terms 

of its effect on the living conditions of future occupiers. 

Conclusion 

12. For the reasons given above, and taking all other matters raised into account, I 

conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Matthew Jones 
INSPECTOR 

 
1 Ref 1/1197/2018/FUL 
2 Ref 1/0354/2020/AGMB and an unreferenced scheme at Bishops Tawton 

Page 278

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

AGMB DECISIONS 19.02.2021 – 18.03.2021 
 

Application Number Address/Proposal Decision 
 

 
1/0968/2020/AGMB 

The Old Dairy 
Barton Gate 
Pancrasweek 
Devon 
EX22 7JT 
 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under Class Q 

 
Approved 

1/1178/2020/AGMB Barns At East Meddon Farm 
Meddon 
Devon 
 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to 2 no. 
dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under Class Q 

 
Approved 

 

Page 279

Agenda Item 10



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 19.02.2021 and 18.03.2021 

 

List of Applications 
 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

Permitted 
 

1/0390/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Demolition of Existing Cottage and 
Erection of 9 Apartments - Land Off 
Calf Street/Juries Lane, Calf Street, 
Torrington. 

Tamar Land & 
Property 
Company Ltd 

PER 
09.03.2021 

 
1/0059/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Service roads to provide access to 
existing pheasant rearing huts - 
Land At Oakmead, Dolton, Devon. 

Mr T Elliott PER 
08.03.2021 

 
1/0380/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Erection of commercial building with 
associated yard area to include 
parking and landscaping - Land At 
Grid Reference 262282 109555, 
Winkleigh, Devon. 

Silverline UK 
Limited 

PER 
25.02.2021 

 
1/0589/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Retention of dwelling house 
previously constructed under 
application and decision number 
1/0180/2011/FUL - The Old 
Showrooms, 23 Fore Street, 
Hartland. 

Billy Wickfield PER 
22.02.2021 

 
1/0629/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed conversion of 
garage/store to ancillary 
accommodation - The Old Rectory, 
Fairy Cross, Bideford. 

Mr and Mrs Neil 
Rothney 

PER 
12.03.2021 

 
1/0683/2020/
NMAT 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Retrospective non-material 
amendment to application 
1/0251/2013/FULM - orientation of 
the MUGA (Amended description) - 
Land At Buckleigh Road, Westward 
Ho!, Devon. 

Wainhomes 
(South West) 
Limited 

PER 
12.03.2021 

 
1/0807/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Creation of 3 additional holiday let 
properties and an ancillary 
communal games room 
(incorporating a cycle hire facility) 
and associated car parking. - 
Springfield Meadows, Halwill 
Junction, Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Dimmock 

PER 
12.03.2021 

 
Page 280

Agenda Item 11



1/0854/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Part retrospective application for the 
widening of existing access, 
installation of access tracks and 2 
no. Quail buildings - Land At Dolton 
Beacon, Dolton, Devon. 

T Elliott Ltd PER 
02.03.2021 

 
1/0948/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Change of use of one barn to two 
dwellings 
 - Barns At Higher Horslett, Clawton, 
Holsworthy. 

Terra Amet Ltd PER 
01.03.2021 

 
1/0953/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Insertion of a brass 
descriptive/information inscribed 
plaque on water pump - Pyramid 
Water Trough At Grid Reference 
263190 108110, Fore Street, 
Winkleigh. 

Winkleigh 
Parish Council 

PER 
11.03.2021 

 
1/0959/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Proposed new single storey garage. 
- Odun Grange, Odun Road, 
Appledore. 

Mrs E Morris PER 
25.02.2021 

 
1/0968/2020/
AGMB 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under Class Q - 
The Old Dairy, Barton Gate, 
Pancrasweek. 

Mr Arthur 
Carter 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/0974/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Installation of 1no. new CCTV 
camera. - HSBC, Alexandra House, 
11 The Quay. 

HSBC 
Corporate Real 
Estate 

PER 
25.02.2021 

 
1/0994/2020/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

First floor extension - 8 Trewyn 
Park, Holsworthy, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs Bruce 
Cologne-
Brookes 

PER 
26.02.2021 

 
1/1007/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of two storey dwelling with 
parking and associated works - 
Land Off St Peters Well Lane, 
Bradworthy, Devon. 

Mrs Jennifer 
Bond 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/1012/2020/
FULM 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Change of use of land from 
agricultural to recreation for the 
purpose of camping and 
retrospective works of on site tracks 
- The Ultimate Adventure Centre, 
Abbotsham, Bideford. 

Mr Russell 
Johns 

PER 
10.03.2021 

 
1/1034/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of free standing canopy - 
GTS Academy Trust, Great 
Torrington School, Calvesford Road. 

Great 
Torrington 
School 

PER 
22.02.2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 281



1/1038/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Conversion of barn to one dwelling, 
erection of cabin and change of use 
of yard area to residential garden - 
in lieu of Class Q permission (2no 
dwellings 1/0690/2018/AGMB) - 
Barn At Grid Reference 250827 
110309, Petrockstowe, Devon. 

Michael & 
Sarah Atherton 

PER 
22.02.2021 

 
1/1048/2020/
OUT 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Outline application for no.1 dwelling 
associated, off road parking and 
private amenity space with all 
matters reserved except access, 
layout and scale - Land At Grid 
Reference 245708 126200, Torridge 
Close, Bideford. 

Mr Ian & David 
Cox & 
Chumbley 

PER 
25.02.2021 

 
1/1078/2020/
REMM 

Helen 
Smith 

Reserved matters application for 
appearance, access, landscaping, 
layout & scale pursuant to planning 
approval 1/0111/2016/OUTM for the 
erection of 26 residential dwellings, 
associated infrastructure and open 
space. - Land East & West Of 
Manteo Way, East-The-Water, 
Bideford. 

Baker Estates 
Ltd 

PER 
26.02.2021 

 
1/1086/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Change of use of land from 
agricultural to equestrian, 
conversion of barn to stables, and 
the creation of all-weather riding 
area for private use. - Land At 
Higher Shorston, Staddon Road, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Walker PER 
25.02.2021 

 
1/1100/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Two storey rear extension, 
extension to existing porch and 
garage. - Kenmar, 5 Cottingham 
Crescent, Bideford. 

Mr Stephen 
Beckley 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/1109/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Two storey side and rear extension - 
Staddon Farmhouse, Staddon 
Road, Holsworthy. 

Ms Pauline 
Knox 

PER 
25.02.2021 

 
1/1119/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed change of use of a stand-
alone, single storey, building from 
annexe accommodation for a 
named elderly dependent relative to 
a holiday letting & erection of a 
carport - Little Worden Farm, 
Shebbear, Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs S 
Lawrence 

PER 
11.03.2021 

 
1/1128/2020/
CPE 

Kristian 
Evely 

Certificate of Existing lawful use for 
use of property as a residential 
dwelling - Mutton Lane Nursery, 
Mutton Lane, Little Torrington. 

Ms Alice Nowell PER 
23.02.2021 

 
 
 

Page 282



1/1131/2020/
FULM 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed Solar PV Farm and 
associated infrastructure (Variation 
of condition 5 of planning 
permission 1/0218/2011/FULM) - 
Extension to operational life - Solar 
Farm At Grid Reference 232907 
103376, Holsworthy, Devon. 

Lightsource 
Radiate 2 
Limited 

PER 
04.03.2021 

 
 
1/1142/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Demolition of existing garage and 
lean to conservatory and erection of 
new double garage with annexe 
accommodation above, single 
storey rear extension and widening 
of existing access. - Outwood 
Cottage, Peters Marland, 
Torrington. 

Mr Ian Gibbons PER 
24.02.2021 

 
1/1143/2020/
LA 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Improvements to the existing access 
road adjacent to Sandymere "lake". 
- The Burrows, Sandymere Road, 
Northam. 

Torridge District 
Council 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/1155/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Three proposed commercial fishing 
lakes, amenity building, parking and 
access. - Land At Higher 
Ashmansworthy, Woolsery, Devon. 

Mr and Mrs S 
Pomeroy 

PER 
26.02.2021 

 
1/1170/2020/
FULM 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

 Proposed agricultural covered 
silage clamp, storage building and 
associated works - Alfords Villavin, 
Roborough, Winkleigh. 

Ben Pincombe PER 
15.03.2021 

 
1/1160/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed holiday accommodation - 
2no units - Venn Farm , 
Pancrasweek, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs C 
Allen 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/1173/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Change of use of ground floor from 
retail to cafe/restaurant and 
associated operational development 
- 49 Mill Street, Bideford, Devon. 

Mrs L Ashley PER 
23.02.2021 

 
1/1178/2020/
AGMB 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 2 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under Class Q - 
Barns At East Meddon Farm, 
Meddon, Devon. 

Mrs A Bland PER 
25.02.2021 

 
1/1183/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed agricultural shed for 
sheep handling and dung store - 
Lower Tinacre Farm, Clawton, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Anthony 
Barriball 

PER 
01.03.2021 

 
1/1185/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of an agricultural building 
for the housing of livestock - Boxs 
Shop Farm, St Giles On The Heath, 
Launceston. 

Mr Mervyn 
Hutchings 

PER 
26.02.2021 

Page 283



 
1/1188/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Installation of 2 x roofs to create 
covered yard areas. - Land At Furze 
Farm, Torrington, Devon. 

Mr John Heard PER 
11.03.2021 

 
1/1193/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed extensions and alterations 
- Walland Barn, Bucks Cross, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Braund-Phillips 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/1196/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Conversion of stone barn to dwelling 
- Lutsford Farm, Edistone, Bideford. 

Mr G Heard PER 
24.02.2021 

 
1/1199/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Part-retrospective field access track 
and turning area - Land At Grid 
Reference 238741 099431, 
Clawton, Devon. 

Mr Ross 
Fitzpatrick 

PER 
26.02.2021 

 
1/0002/2021/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Extension to existing garage to 
create first floor accommodation 
above, proposed terrace to rear and 
associated alterations to dwelling - 
Rose Cottage, Pump Lane, 
Abbotsham. 

Brennan 
Lascelles 

PER 
08.03.2021 

 
1/0013/2021/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Single storey side extension - 52 
Taylor Crescent, Westward Ho!, 
Bideford. 

Mrs Rogers 
And Mr Hellyer 

PER 
09.03.2021 

 
1/0012/2021/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Change of use of land to residential 
and erection of single storey 
extension - 91 Honestone Street, 
Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Steven 
Hammond 

PER 
11.03.2021 

 
1/0020/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed agricultural machinery 
storage building - Land East Of 
Alwington Village Hall, Fairy Cross, 
Devon. 

Mr Chris Tolley PER 
01.03.2021 

 
1/0023/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Creation of small doorway into an 
existing partition wall to connect two 
bedrooms and alterations to existing 
mezzanine for creation of third 
bedroom - East Sedgetts, Farmer 
Franks Lane, Winkleigh. 

Sarah Cowan PER 
11.03.2021 

 
1/0035/2021/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of summerhouse in rear 
garden. - 53 Brooks Avenue, 
Holsworthy, Devon. 

Mr Fred Shaw PER 
16.03.2021 

 
1/0026/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Internal alterations including 
replacement of stud partition walls 
and new structural first floor with 
steel beams - 10 Meeting Street, 
Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr Barry 
Edwards 

PER 
11.03.2021 

 
1/0027/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed first floor extension - 2 
Northway Cottages, Horns Cross, 
Bideford. 

Mr Robin 
Tithecott 

PER 
10.03.2021 

Page 284



 
1/0028/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Change of use of land from 
agricultural to equestrian and 
creation of arena for private use - 
Cresta, West Putford, Holsworthy. 

Mrs Ruth 
Warrington 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/0036/2021/
TCA 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Felling of 1x Pine due to close 
proximity to property causing 
excessive shading - The Old 
Vineyard, Merton, Okehampton. 

Mr Mcalughlan PER 
22.02.2021 

 
1/0037/2021/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Two storey extension - 38 Newton 
Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs G 
Stevens 

PER 
11.03.2021 

 
1/0041/2021/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Proposed conversion of redundant 
agricultural barn to dwelling & 
associated works (Re-submission of 
1/0672/2020/FUL) - Luckymoor, 
Yarnscombe, Barnstaple. 

Mr and Mrs 
Kelly 

PER 
12.03.2021 

 
1/0042/2021/
CPL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Certificate of proposed lawful 
development for a replacement 
single storey extension - Larnaca, 
Clawton, Holsworthy. 

Mrs E Nunn PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/0046/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Demolition of garage and single 
storey extension - Church View, 
Cookbury, Holsworthy. 

Mrs Denise 
Devereux 

PER 
04.03.2021 

 
1/0050/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of shed over an existing 
silage clamp. - Hole Farm, Bradford, 
Holsworthy. 

DJ & WR Oke PER 
15.03.2021 

 
1/0052/2021/
FUH 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Proposed 2no. single storey 
extensions - 55 Swanswood 
Gardens, Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Bishop 

PER 
15.03.2021 

 
1/0055/2021/
CPL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Placement of Caravan/Log Cabin 
within the residential curtilage of the 
property for ancillary purposes - 
Southbourne, Whimble Hill, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr E 
McGranaghan 

PER 
09.03.2021 

 
1/0059/2021/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Part retrospective conservatory to 
the rear of the existing dwelling - 7 
Appletree Mews, Appledore, 
Bideford. 

Mr and Mrs 
Clements 

PER 
16.03.2021 

 
 
1/0061/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed two storey extension to 
provide additional living space - 
Green Cottage, Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Needs 

PER 
05.03.2021 

 
1/0062/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed extensions and alterations 
- Crenham Mill, Hartland, Bideford. 

Mrs Kate 
Bingham 

PER 
17.03.2021 

 
 
 

Page 285



1/0064/2021/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Extension over existing garage - 15 
Ford Crescent, Bradworthy, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr John 
Sampson 

PER 
23.02.2021 

 
1/0067/2021/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Proposed replacement of 
fenestration and bargeboards  
 - Hoopers Farm, High Bickington, 
Umberleigh. 

Ms Jacqueline 
Anderson 

PER 
16.03.2021 

 
1/0079/2021/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Raise roof height of existing 
bungalow to allow loft conversion 
incorporating rear dormer, Velux 
"balcony" window - 22 Staddon 
Road, Appledore, Bideford. 

Richard Tricker PER 
15.03.2021 

 
1/0087/2021/
NMAT 

Kristian 
Evely 

Non Material Amendment to 
application 1/0020/2020/FUL 
(Reduction of footprint, internal 
alterations and amendment to 
balcony - Hylward , Golf Links Road, 
Westward Ho!. 

Mia & Kalen Ltd PER 
22.02.2021 

 
1/0091/2021/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed 2 storey extension to west 
elevation and change of use from 
agricultural land to residential (C3) - 
Furze House, Shebbear, Beaworthy. 

Mr Stephen 
Woollacott 

PER 
16.03.2021 

 
1/0002/2021/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non-material amendment pursuant 
to permission 1/1228/2009/FUL - 
Amendment to approved lodge 
design - Plots FL11, FL12 & FL13 - 
Forest Lakes, Woolsery, Devon. 

Atrium Leisure 
Ltd. 

PER 
24.02.2021 

 
1/0003/2021/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non-material amendment pursuant 
to permission 1/0284/2020/FUL - 
Amendment to approved lodge 
design - Plots FL17 & FL18 - Forest 
Lakes, Woolsery, Devon. 

Mr Alan 
Cartwright 

PER 
24.02.2021 

 
1/0100/2021/
AGR 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

General purpose agricultural 
storage and machinery building - 
Hollacombe Barton, Hollocombe, 
Chulmleigh. 

Mr Kevin 
Stevens 

PER 
26.02.2021 

 
1/0112/2021/
CPE 

Laura 
Davies 

Certificate of Existing Lawfulness for 
use of dwelling in breach of 
agricultural restriction condition - 
Buckhorn Bungalow, Clawton, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Luke 
Furse 

PER 
08.03.2021 

 
1/0113/2021/
CPE 

Laura 
Davies 

Certificate of Existing Lawfulness for 
use of dwelling in breach of 
agricultural restriction condition - 
Beechcroft, Clawton, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Luke 
Furse 

PER 
08.03.2021 

 
 
 
 

Page 286



1/0122/2021/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Extension above existing garage. - 
21 Middleton Road, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mr Christopher 
Braund 

PER 
17.03.2021 

 
1/0145/2021/
AGR 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Agricultural workshop building - 
Land At Higher Stowford Farm, 
Halwill, Beaworthy. 

DF, ER, AD & R 
James 

PER 
09.03.2021 

 
1/0146/2021/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Extension to existing steel portal 
frame building. - Land At Fairholme, 
Woolsery, Devon. 

Mr C Jenn PER 
04.03.2021 

 
 
1/0176/2021/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non material amendment to 
1/0921/2020/FUL - Change in 
external materials from stone to 
brick on single storey aspect - Damn 
View (Land At Grid Reference 
244465 124751), Coach Drive, 
Bideford. 

Mrs C Bott PER 
16.03.2021 

 
1/0204/2021/
AGR 

Kristian 
Evely 

Agricultural storage building - Land 
At Grid Reference 241984 096443, 
Halwill, Devon. 

Mr S Westaway PER 
15.03.2021 

 
1/0232/2021/
TRE5 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Removal of ash trees - 1 Church 
End, Buckland Brewer, Bideford. 

Mr. Mark Aldis PER 
03.03.2021 

 
1/0034/2021/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Excavation of lower ground floor to 
create a self-contained unit of 
accommodation (retrospective) - 
Banks Cottage, Lakenham Hill, 
Northam. 

Mr and Mrs 
Connors 

REF 
10.03.2021 

 
 

Page 287


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	7a Application No. 1/1126/2020/FULM
	7ai - Appendix to Brunswick

	7b Application No. 1/0073/2021/OUT
	7c Application No. 1/0490/2020/FULM
	7ci - Appendix to Tadworthy application 1-0490-2020-fulm

	7d Application No. 1/1179/2020/ADV
	7e Application No. 1/1134/2020/FUL
	7f Application No. 1/0033/2021/FUL
	7g Application No. 1/0104/2021/LA
	7h Application No. 1/0057/2021/LBC
	8 Appeal Decisions Summary
	8a - Appeal 1-0320-2020-AGMB
	8b - Appeal 1-0371-2020-AGMB

	10 Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications
	11 Planning Decisions

